Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine

Edited by

Mariana Quezado, Whocely Victor de Castro, Masamitsu Kanada, Adriano Sabino and Elaine Leite

Published in Frontiers in Pharmacology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-5408-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-5408-1

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine

Topic editors

Mariana Quezado — Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil Whocely Victor de Castro — Universidade Federal de São João del-Rei, Brazil Masamitsu Kanada — Michigan State University, United States Adriano Sabino — Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil Elaine Leite — Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

Citation

Quezado, M., de Castro, W. V., Kanada, M., Sabino, A., Leite, E., eds. (2024). *Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-5408-1



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine Adriano Sabino, Masamitsu Kanada, Elaine Leite, Mariana Quezado and Whocely Victor de Castro
- 08 Roles of Exosome Genomic DNA in Colorectal Cancer Xiaoshuai Li, Qiushi Wang and Rui Wang
- 17 Case Report: Fluzoparib for multiple lines of chemotherapy refractory in metastatic cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma with BRCA2 pathogenic mutation

Xin Sun, Wenjuan Chen, Xiujuan Qu and Ying Chen

24 Causes of death in women with breast cancer: a risks and rates study on a population-based cohort

Paolo Contiero, Roberto Boffi, Alessandro Borgini, Sabrina Fabiano, Andrea Tittarelli, Michael Mian, Fabio Vittadello, Susi Epifani, Antonino Ardizzone, Claudia Cirilli, Lorenza Boschetti, Stefano Marguati, Giuseppe Cascone, Rosario Tumino, Anna Clara Fanetti, Paola Giumelli, Giuseppa Candela, Tiziana Scuderi, Maurizio Castelli, Salvatore Bongiorno, Giulio Barigelletti, Viviana Perotti, Chiara Veronese, Fabio Turazza, Marina Crivaro, Giovanna Tagliabue and the MAPACA Working Group

- 36 Intraoperative parameters and postoperative follow-up of foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC) Carolina Khosrawipour, Jakub Nicpoń, Zdzisław Kiełbowicz, Przemysław Prządka, Bartłomiej Liszka, Said Al-Jundi, Veria Khosrawipour, Shiri Li, Hien Lau, Joanna Kulas, Agata Diakun, Wojciech Kielan, Mariusz Chabowski and Agata Mikolajczyk-Martinez
- 44 A synthetic notch (synNotch) system linking intratumoral immune-cancer cell communication to a synthetic blood biomarker assay

YangHao Fu, TianDuo Wang and John A. Ronald

- 54 Potential applications of JAK inhibitors, clinically approved drugs against autoimmune diseases, in cancer therapy Xiao-Huan Wei and Yuan-Yuan Liu
- 63 Ferroptosis and the ubiquitin-proteasome system: exploring treatment targets in cancer Muhammad Azhar Ud Din, Yan Lin, Naijian Wang, Bo Wang and Fei Mao
- 77 What are the benefits of therapeutic drug monitoring in the optimization of adalimumab therapy? a systematic review and meta-analysis up to 2022

Yun Li, Cheng Xie, Xiaoliang Ding, Ziyang Wu, Jingjing Zhang, Jianguo Zhu and Liyan Miao

- 89 The story of clobenpropit and CXCR4: can be an effective drug in cancer and autoimmune diseases?
 Mitra Abbasifard, Kowsar Bagherzadeh and Hossein Khorramdelazad
- 113 Association of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score with risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors: NHANES 1999-2018 Jixin Fu, Xiaohan Yue, Yanan Zou, Jian Zhang, Xinjian Wang and Dianliang Zhang

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Filippo Drago, University of Catania, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Adriano Sabino, 🛙 adriansabin01@gmail.com

RECEIVED 08 August 2024 ACCEPTED 16 August 2024 PUBLISHED 27 August 2024

CITATION

Sabino A, Kanada M, Leite E, Quezado M and de Castro WV (2024) Editorial: Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine. *Front. Pharmacol.* 15:1477963. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2024.1477963

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Sabino, Kanada, Leite, Quezado and de Castro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine

Adriano Sabino¹*, Masamitsu Kanada^{2,3,4}, Elaine Leite⁵, Mariana Quezado⁶ and Whocely Victor de Castro⁷

¹Department of Clinical and Toxicological Analysis, Faculty of Pharmacy, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ²Institute for Quantitative Health Science and Engineering (IQ), Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States, ³Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States, ⁴College of Hurman Medicine, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, United States, ⁵Department of Pharmaceutical Products, Faculty of Pharmacy, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁶Department of Biochemistry and Immunology, Institute of Biological Sciences, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil, ⁷Pharmaceutical Sciences Program, Federal University of São João del-Rei, São João del Rei, Brazil

KEYWORDS

cancer, inflamatory diseases, therapy, precision medicine, pharmacology

Editorial on the Research Topic

Cancer and inflammatory diseases research: from the basics to the precision medicine

1 Introduction

The field of pharmacology is rapidly evolving, with significant advancements in our understanding of cancer and inflammatory diseases. This editorial highlights nine groundbreaking studies exemplifying the transition from basic research to precision medicine, offering novel insights and potential therapeutic strategies for these challenging conditions.

1.1 Exosomes and colorectal cancer

Exosomes, extracellular vesicles rich in bioactive substances such as DNA, RNA, lipids, and proteins, play a crucial role in cell-to-cell communication and the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer (CRC). A comprehensive review focuses on the relatively unexplored area of exosomal genomic DNA (gDNA) and its significance in CRC. Exosome gDNA, which includes clinically relevant tumor-specific mutation genes, is pivotal in liquid biopsy applications for early diagnosis and treatment. Additionally, exosome gDNA influences immune and metabolic functions in CRC, positioning it as a critical target for future research and clinical interventions (Li et al.).

1.2 PARP inhibitors in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma

Poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitors (PARPis) have been effective in treating BRCA1/2 mutation-related cancers. A case study of a 40-year-old man with metastatic cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC) with a BRCA2 mutation demonstrated the efficacy of PARPi fluzoparib. This treatment resulted in tumor stability and progression-free survival of 5 months, suggesting that PARPis can be a viable option for cSCC patients with BRCA mutations, thereby expanding the therapeutic options for this patient population (Sun et al.).

1.3 Mortality analysis in breast cancer patients

An extensive study on breast cancer patients highlights the importance of understanding mortality from various causes to improve healthcare planning and clinical predictions. The research, involving 12,742 women, revealed that breast cancer is the leading cause of death, followed by cardiovascular disease. Notably, the contribution of breast cancer to overall mortality varied significantly by age and disease stage, emphasizing the need for age-specific and stagespecific survivorship care models that incorporate multidisciplinary approaches (Contiero et al.).

1.4 Foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy

Innovative approaches in drug delivery, such as foambased intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC), are being explored to improve treatment efficacy and safety. A study on swine models demonstrated the feasibility and safety of using doxorubicin in FBIC. The results showed promising intraoperative and postoperative outcomes without significant complications, suggesting that FBIC could be a viable alternative to traditional liquid solutions for intraperitoneal chemotherapy, pending further long-term studies (Khosrawipour et al.).

1.5 Monitoring cellular immunotherapy with synthetic notch receptors

Cellular immunotherapy, particularly CAR T cell therapy, has revolutionized cancer treatment. However, monitoring these therapies remains challenging. Researchers have developed a synthetic Notch (synNotch) receptor system that links immune-cancer cell interactions to a simple blood test. This system allows for the detection of intratumoral activity via a secreted reporter, providing a convenient and effective method to monitor the efficacy of immunotherapies and potentially improving patient-specific treatment strategies (Fu et al.).

1.6 Janus kinase inhibitors: from autoimmune diseases to cancer therapy

Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors, initially developed for autoimmune diseases, have shown promise in cancer therapy due to their role in cytokine signaling pathways involved in tumorigenesis. A systematic review of JAK inhibitors highlighted their anti-tumor potential and clinical applicability. The review underscores the importance of further studies to optimize their use in oncology, potentially offering new therapeutic avenues for cancer patients (Wei and Liu).

1.7 Therapeutic drug monitoring of adalimumab

Adalimumab, a widely used biologic for inflammatory diseases, benefits from therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) to optimize treatment outcomes. A systematic review assessed the impact of TDM on adalimumab therapy, finding that proactive TDM can guide dose adjustments and improve clinical responses. However, the evidence was not statistically significant, highlighting the need for more robust studies to validate the role of TDM in managing adalimumab therapy effectively (Li et al.).

1.8 Ferroptosis and the ubiquitinproteasome system in cancer

Ferroptosis, an iron-dependent form of cell death, has emerged as a potential target for cancer therapy. Recent research explores the interplay between ferroptosis and the ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS), which regulates protein stability. The study highlights key regulators of ferroptosis, such as GPX4 and NRF2, and their modulation by the UPS. Understanding this relationship could lead to novel therapeutic strategies that harness ferroptosis to combat cancer (Din et al.).

1.9 Clobenpropit and the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis

Clobenpropit, a histamine H3 receptor antagonist, has shown potential in treating autoimmune diseases and cancer by inhibiting the CXCR4 receptor. The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is crucial in various biological processes, including cell proliferation, migration, and inflammation. A review of Clobenpropit's effects on this pathway suggests that it could be an effective therapeutic agent for managing diseases like juvenile idiopathic arthritis and certain cancers, providing a new avenue for targeted therapy (Abbasifard et al.).

2 Conclusion

The articles featured in this Research Topic highlight the diverse and innovative approaches being explored in cancer and inflammatory disease research. From the molecular mechanisms of exosomes and ferroptosis to the clinical applications of PARPis and JAK inhibitors, these studies underscore the importance of integrating basic research with clinical practice. As precision medicine continues to evolve, these advancements will play a crucial role in developing more effective and personalized treatments, ultimately improving patient outcomes and transforming healthcare.

Author contributions

AS: Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. MK: Writing-review and editing. EL: Writing-review and editing. MQ: Writing-review and editing. WC: Writing-review and editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.



Roles of Exosome Genomic DNA in Colorectal Cancer

Xiaoshuai Li¹, Qiushi Wang¹ and Rui Wang²*

¹Department of Blood Transfusion, Shengjing Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ²Department of Stem Cells and Regenerative Medicine, Key Laboratory of Cell Biology, National Health Commission of China, and Key Laboratory of Medical Cell Biology, Ministry of Education of China, China Medical University, Shenyang, China

Exosomes are extracellular vesicles that mediate cell-to-cell communication. Bioactive substances such as DNA, RNA, lipids, and proteins are present in it, and they play an essential role in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer (CRC). The role of RNA and protein in exosomes has been extensively studied. Exosome DNA has recently attracted the attention of a great deal of scientists. According to studies, exosome DNA mainly contains genomic DNA (gDNA) and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), of which exosome gDNA is widely used in liquid biopsy of CRC. It includes a variety of clinically relevant tumor-specific mutation genes. In addition to liquid biopsy, researchers find that exosome gDNA regulates immune and metabolic functions in CRC, making it an important research object. However, the primary research on exosome gDNA is still limited. Here, we describe the occurrence and composition of exosomes. Summarize the essential characteristics and mode of action of exosome gDNA. Remarkably, this paper constitutes a comprehensive summary on the role of exosome gDNA on CRC with the intent of providing a theoretical basis and reference for early diagnosis and clinical treatment of cancer.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marco Ragusa, University of Catania, Italy

Reviewed by:

Jafar Rezaie, Urmia University of Medical Sciences, Iran Faezeh Vakhshiteh, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

*Correspondence:

Rui Wang rwang@cmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

> Received: 19 April 2022 Accepted: 18 May 2022 Published: 01 June 2022

Citation:

Li X, Wang Q and Wang R (2022) Roles of Exosome Genomic DNA in Colorectal Cancer. Front. Pharmacol. 13:923232. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.923232 Keywords: colorectal cancer, exosome, genomic DNA, liquid biopsy, tumor immunity

INTRODUCTION

CRC is the third most common malignant tumor in the world. Every year one million people worldwide will develop CRC (Franke et al., 2019; Keum and Giovannucci, 2019). It is a heterogeneous intestinal epithelial disease characterized by the accumulation of mutations and disordered immune responses (Janney et al., 2020; Lichtenstern et al., 2020; Stoffel and Murphy, 2020). Currently, the choice of treatment scheme for CRC is mostly determined by tissue biopsy. Despite tissue biopsy being the gold standard for diagnosis, classification, and treatment decision-making, it is not always available. Tumor tissue also exhibits solid spatial heterogeneity due to the uneven distribution of tumor subclones. Tumor molecular compositions may change dynamically in response to micro-environmental stimuli and therapeutic pressure, making tissue biopsy an unreliable method of diagnosis. Therefore, liquid biopsy is becoming increasingly popular (Dekker and Rex, 2018). A liquid biopsy is a non-invasive procedure in which samples of blood or other body fluids are collected to analyze exosomes, circulating tumor cells, and ctDNA (Marcuello et al., 2019). In the early stages of CRC, there are no obvious symptoms. Most patients with CRC are found in the advanced stage. Liquid biopsy provides a more accurate picture of tumor details in real time, which is particularly important for early detection of cancer and reduction of mortality from it (Marcuello et al., 2019; Kolencik et al., 2020; Martini et al., 2020; Rodriguez-Casanova et al., 2021). Nevertheless, the key

8

to prolonging the survival time of CRC patients is not only to make early diagnosis of the disease, but also to understand the tumor progression (Ogunwobi et al., 2020; Sveen et al., 2020). The identification of a sensitive biomarker is important for observing the immune response and metabolism during the treatment of CRC and assessing the drug resistance and heterogeneity further (Marcuello et al., 2019; Kolencik et al., 2020; Martini et al., 2020; Rodriguez-Casanova et al., 2021).

Exosomes are extracellular nano-sized vesicles containing DNA, RNA, lipids, and protein (Pegtel and Gould, 2019; Jafari et al., 2020; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2020; Ahmadi and Rezaie, 2021; Liu et al., 2021; Yu et al., 2021; Rezaie et al., 2022; Vahabi et al., 2022). CRC exosomes have the ability to transport their contents to recipient cells in the tumor microenvironment, thereby playing an important role in cell-to-cell communication. It plays a vital role in tumor immunity, tumor survival, tumor chemotherapy resistance, and metastasis (Xiao et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021; Chang et al., 2021). In CRC exosomes, there are a variety of active substances. DNA is one of the most stable substances (Jeppesen et al., 2019). However, there is little research on exosome DNA compared to proteins and RNA. Essentially, exosome DNA is derived from normal DNA metabolism or damage induction, primarily from gDNA from the nucleus and mtDNA from the mitochondria (Kahlert et al., 2014; Thakur et al., 2014; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2016). The gDNA of exosomes contains DNA fragments from multiple chromosomes, including mutant DNA fragments, and is mainly found in body fluids or the genome of some immune cells (Thakur et al., 2014; Waldenstrom et al., 2012) (Table 1). gDNA from exosomes is widely used in liquid biopsy, it also affects tumor immunity and metabolism (Lian et al., 2017; Vanpouille-Box et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2018; Sharma and Johnson, 2020; Zhao et al., 2021). In this review, we discuss the relevance of exosome gDNA in the early detection, development and prognosis, immune response, and drug resistance of CRC.

OVERVIEW OF EXOSOMES

Exosomes are extracellular nano-sized bilayer membrane vesicles with an average diameter of 30-150 nm (Pegtel and Gould, 2019; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2020; Yu et al., 2021). It is produced in the cytoplasm by the classical endosomal sorting complex. It is formed by the inward budding of cell membranes containing ubiquitinated surface receptors, leading to the formation of early endosomes. With the help of the Golgi apparatus, these early endocorpuscles become late endocorpuscles and intracavitary vesicles. Intracavitary vesicles accumulate in endosomes, leading to the formation of multivesicular bodies (MVB). MVB is ultimately transported into lysosomes for degradation or fuses with the cytoplasmic membrane, releasing its contents (including exosomes) into the extracellular space (He et al., 2018; Doyle and Wang, 2019; Zhang and Yu, 2019; Rezaie et al., 2021) (Figure 2). Exosomes are identified by classical molecular markers, such as tetrapeptide (CD63, CD9, CD81), FLOTILIN-1, and heat shock 70 protein (Liang et al., 2021). Numerous literature has been extensively studied to reveal the detailed mechanism of exosome biogenesis.

Exosomes can be found in almost all cells and body fluids, including blood, sweat, tears, urine, saliva, breast milk, ascites, and cerebrospinal fluid (Liang et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2021). Exosomes carry various macromolecules from different tissues and organs, loaded with nucleic acids (DNA and RNA), structural components of cells (protein and lipids), and cell metabolites. It is a part of the intercellular communication system, which carries and transmits signal molecules that regulate the physiological state of cells, participates in antigen presentation, cell differentiation, growth, and tumor immunity, and is closely related to the occurrence and development of various diseases (Pegtel and Gould, 2019; Liu et al., 2021). After different active substances in exosomes are thrown out of cells, functional protein, RNA, and DNA fragments can be transferred to recipient cells, resulting in cascade changes in the genome and non-genome (Liu et al., 2021; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2020) (Table 2).

TABLE 1 | Exosome gDNA as biomarkers for diagnosis of diseases. Disease Mutantion Detection mode Biofluid Reference Pancreatic Cancer KRAS TP53 ddPCR Plasma (Kahlert et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2017) Glioma EGFR Conventional PCR Cerebrospinal fluid Vaidya and Sugaya, (2020) non-small cell lung cancer EGFR PNA-PCR Alveolar lavage fluid and Plasma Hur et al. (2018) Lung Adenocarcinoma EGFR PNA-PCR Pleural effusion Lee et al. (2018) Pancreatic cancer KRAS **ddPCB** Plasma Allenson et al. (2017) ddPCR Bronchial Washing Park et al. (2020) Pulmonary adenocarcinoma EGFR RET HIF2A VHL SDHB Conventional PCR Plasma Wang et al. (2018) Glioma ddPCR non-small cell lung cancer EGFR Plasma Castellanos-Rizaldos et al. (2018) non-small cell lung cancer EGFR ddPCR plasma and pleural fluid Kim et al. (2021) Lung Adenocarcinoma EGFR Quantitative PCR Pleural Effusions Qu et al. (2019) BRAF Quantitative PCR Plasma Degli et al. (2021) Neuroblastoma Bladder cancer KRAS ddPCR Urine Zhou et al. (2021) prostate cancer PTEN TP53 Quantitative PCR Plasma Lazaro-Ibanez et al. (2014) ddPCR KRAS Plasma Lucchetti et al. (2021) Colorectal cancer PNA-PCR non-small cell lung cancer EGFR bronchoalveolar lavage fluid Hur et al. (2019) non-small cell lung cancer EGFR **ddPCR** Plasma Krug et al. (2018) Pancreatic cancer KRAS ddPCR Plasma Bernard et al. (2019) ddPCR Plasma Garcia-Romero et al. (2017) Glioma IDH1

Donor cell	Receptor cell	Exosome gDNA	Integrated into the genome	Reference
Cardiomyocyte	Fibroblast	Non specicial	Not sure	Waldenstrom et al. (2012)
Colon cancer cell	Fibroblast and epithelial cells	HRAS	No	Lee et al. (2016)
Glioma cells	Fibroblast	c-Myc	Yes	Balaj et al. (2011)
K562	HEK293	AT1	Yes	Cai et al. (2013)
SW480	In vivo	KRAS RAB	Not sure	Trejo-Becerril et al. (2012)
hBMSC	hMSC	A.tplasmid	Yes	Fischer et al. (2016)
H-ras-driven Intestinal epithelial cells	RAT-1	HRAS	No	Lee et al. (2014)
K562	Neutrophils	BCR/ABL	Yes	Cai et al. (2014)

TABLE 2 | Exosome gDNA transfer between cells.

Various bioactive molecular substances in exosomes are cell signaling effectors and valuable tools for tumor diagnosis. Exosomes can monitor the occurrence and development of tumors and provide new targets and strategies for tumor treatment and diagnosis (Liang et al., 2021; Lin et al., 2021).

ORIGIN AND CHARACTERISTICS OF EXOSOME GENOMIC DNA

Exosomes contain many bioactive substances. However, compared with proteins and RNA in exosomes, there is little research on exosome DNA. Essentially, mammalian cells can excrete harmful cytoplasmic DNA through exosomes, thus avoiding cell aging and death (Takahashi et al., 2017). However, tumor cells often accumulate damaged DNA fragments of the cytoplasm because of their aging or abnormal leakage of DNA during division, autophagy, oxidative stress (Riches et al., 2014; Yokoi et al., 2019). For these reasons, tumor cells can secrete more exosomes to avoid the accumulation of nuclear and mitochondrial DNA fragments in the cytoplasm induced by metabolic stress, thus releasing more soluble DNA fragments (Parolini et al., 2009; Whiteside, 2016; Yokoi et al., 2019). There are single-stranded and doublestranded DNA in tumor exosomes (Balaj et al., 2011; Cai et al., 2013; Hur and Lee, 2021), and gDNA, mtDNA, and plasmid DNA all have been found in tumor exosomes (Erdmann et al., 2017; Sansone et al., 2017; Lazaro-Ibanez et al., 2019; Elzanowska et al., 2021).

After analyzing the exosomes in the supernatants of various tumor cell lines and non-tumor-related fibroblasts, scientists found that the exosome DNA in tumor cells are more abundant (Kahlert et al., 2014; Thakur et al., 2014; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2016). Genome-wide sequencing showed that tumor exosomes contained large double-stranded gDNA fragments ranging from 100bp to 20kbp, which could cover the whole chromosome range and reflect the mutation state of tumor parent cells (Kahlert et al., 2014; Thakur et al., 2014; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2016). This gDNA is packed in exosomes in the form of nucleosomes or supercoils. As exosomes contain larger gDNA fragments and originate from living cells, which is more conducive to mutation detection by PCR, they may have advantages over circulating cfDNA (Kahlert et al., 2014; Thakur et al., 2014; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2016). Some of its

tumor-related mutations can reflect the progress and prognosis of many kinds of tumors (Table 1), used for molecular map analysis of tumors. As the double-stranded gDNA is very stable. The membrane of the exosome can protect the nucleic acid substances inside it from degradation induced by nuclease. It is also reported that exosome gDNA in serum can remain stable for 1 week at 4°C and 1 day at room temperature, even after repeated freezing and thawing cycles (Jin et al., 2016), so exosome gDNA is more stable. Based on these advantages, scientists can do more in-depth research on it, whether it is screening for early diseases, monitoring drug resistance, or evaluating prognosis, which has its significance.

EXTRACTION, DETECTION, AND FUNCTIONAL MECHANISM OF EXOSOME GENOMIC DNA

As the study of exosome gDNA has attracted extensive attention from scientists, the exosome separation and subsequent exosome gDNA detection still require more specialized studies to ensure optimal performance. When analyzing the gDNA inside exosomes, digestion outside of exosomes by DNase I should be the first procedure. DNase I can reduce the residue of cfDNA in samples and the pollution of DNA outside of exosomes (Spada et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020) (Figure 1). It has been reported that the number of mutant DNA will be increased if DNase I is not pretreatment. Next, gDNA was extracted from exosomes which were treated with DNase I. The genomic DNA kit for tissues, cells, and blood can be used to extract gDNA from exosomes. Scientists using the Qiagen kit could get a higher concentration of exosome gDNA, but the Qiagen kit may be a bit expensive (Thakur et al., 2014; Kalluri and Lebleu, 2016; Spada et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Our laboratory found that applying the inexpensive Tiangen kit can also successfully obtain a higher concentration of exosome gDNA. Typically, extracting 200 µl exosome according to the instructions will yield at least 20 ng/µl gDNA. After removing gDNA from exosomes, mutation detection of exosome gDNA is carried out. Most detection methods are digital PCR and fluorescence PCR to ensure more accurate mutation detection (Table 1). However, when the mutation to be detected is a point mutation, Sanger sequencing should be adopted as far as



possible, and then T-A clones obtained a large number of clones for follow-up detection.

Exosomes are an essential form of intercellular communication. Exosomes can deliver both RNA and protein as well as DNA (Kalluri and Lebleu, 2020) (Table 2). The transferred exosome gDNA affects the function of recipient cells by increasing mRNA transcription and protein translation (Cai et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2016). The schematic diagram of the release of exosome gDNA is displayed in Figure 2. In addition to the open reading frame, exosomes should also contain the 5' promoter region and 3' untranslated region elements necessary for the transcription mechanism so that the delivered DNA can perform its function. It has been reported that there are DNA fragments in exosomes, including the 5' promoter region, 3' untranslated region, and active retrotransposon, which indicates that exosome gDNA may play a role in the genetic instability of receptor cells (Balaj et al., 2011; Cai et al., 2013). It has also been confirmed that exosome gDNA can be located in the recipient nucleus through late endosomal transport related to nuclear membrane invagination (Waldenstrom et al., 2012; Cai et al., 2013). According to these viewpoints, it shows that the function of oncogenes in tumor cells is not only to accumulate in the genome of tumor cells but also to transfer exosome gDNA and spread in tumor and normal cells (Table 2), which may lead to the tumorigenic transformation of normal cells and accelerate the progress of diseases. However, whether the tumor exosome gDNA can be horizontally transmitted to the recipient cells or the changes in the function of the recipient cells caused by the horizontal transmission are still controversial. In terms of the types of recipient cells, it has been reported that not all recipient cells can be horizontally transmitted. When the recipient cells are tumor cells, fibroblasts, or endothelial cells, the exosome gDNA can be easily shared, but it cannot

be transmitted when the recipient cells are dormant cells such as epithelial cells (Lee et al., 2016); In the aspect of functional changes after horizontal transmission, some reports suggest that the gDNA transmitted to the recipient cells can be integrated into the genome of the recipient cells for a long time (Balaj et al., 2011; Cai et al., 2013; Cai et al., 2014; Fischer et al., 2016). Some reports suggest that the transmitted gDNA enters the recipient cells only for an instant function and loses its position after 1 month (Trejo-Becerril et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2016). There is also a report suggests that the transmitted gDNA is a driving factor rather than an initial factor, and only obtaining this driving factor can make the recipient cells deteriorate (Stefanius et al., 2019). The specific mechanism needs further study. From these perspectives, exosome gDNA horizontally may represent a new method of gene transfer and signal transduction between cells, which may be an essential mechanism of tumor occurrence, development, and metastasis, and provide a new direction for discovering new disease mechanisms and developing new treatment strategies.

COLORECTAL CANCER MICROENVIRONMENT PLAYS AN ESSENTIAL ROLE ON EXOSOME GENOMIC DNA PACKAGING AND TRANSMISSION

Hypoxia and acidification stimulate the tumor microenvironment, further activate the cell stress response mechanism, and increase the production of exosomes (Hoshino et al., 2013; Khaksar et al., 2018; Panigrahi et al., 2018; Soraya et al., 2021). At the same time, it may promote the package of gDNA into exosomes, and transfer it to the recipient cells, thus enhancing the ability of exosomes to induce malignant transformation of the recipient cells (Nemeth et al., 2017).

It has been reported that TP53 mutation in the recipient cells increased after the treatment factors affected the tumor microenvironment, and the transcription in colon epithelial cells and liver cells increased. The difference in mutant TP53 between colon epithelial cells and liver cells was also observed. It seems that liver cells are less likely to absorb mutant genes carried by exosomes than colon epithelial cells. The author also proved that LPS activated TLR4 of colon cancer cell SW480 and promoted the packaging of mutant TP53 in exosomes but could not promote the selective packaging of the KRAS gene. It indicates that the mechanism of gDNA packaging to exosomes is not random (Domenis et al., 2021). More and more experiments proved that exosomes derived from primary tumors could be loaded with specific molecules (Stobiecka et al., 2019; Baris et al., 2021), and the expression or lack of these molecules is helpful to the phenotype transformation of recipient cells. These results indicate that the tumor microenvironment increases the possibility of tumor gene integration by promoting exosome metastasis. Although the integration of mutant genes is still considered a rare event, it



with the same biological mutation as glioblastoma (Wang et al., 2018; Vaidya and Sugaya, 2020). In addition, the corresponding driving mutation was also found in the exosomes of prostate cancer (Lazaro-Ibanez et al., 2014). The genome-wide sequencing of exosomes of these tumor patients may provide information for diagnosis and prediction results.

In CRC, KRAS and BRAF mutation was detected from the serum exosomes of CRC patients with higher sensitivity and specificity (Hao et al., 2017; Lucchetti et al., 2021). In addition, it

Frontiers in Pharmacology | www.frontiersin.org





may be a related phenomenon *in vivo*. Further studies are needed to evaluate the effect of tumor-driven genes transferred through the exosome on malignant transformation and their role in tumor progression of microenvironmental stimulation.

EXOSOME GENOMIC DNA AS A TOOL FOR COLORECTAL CANCER LIQUID BIOPSY

Due to the lack of mismatch repair function in CRC, genome instability often leads to the accumulation of frameshift mutation in the microsatellite region. And CRC in an early stage can be prevented and cured, so it is necessary to explore non-invasive tools to help with early detection and treatment monitoring (Janney et al., 2020; Stoffel and Murphy, 2020). A liquid biopsy is a dynamic tool for the non-invasive detection of tumor heterogeneity and mutation over time. Studies have shown that compared with the healthy group, the circulating exosome gDNA may provide information about tumor-specific mutations. The relationship between mutated gDNA and types of body fluids is summarized below (**Table 1**). Therefore, detecting exosome gDNA mutations in tumor progression can help diagnosis early-stage, drug selection, and prognosis analysis.

EGFR mutation was seen in exosomes of malignant pleural effusion (Lee et al., 2018), and T790M mutation was also detected in exosomes of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with nonsmall cell lung cancer (Park et al., 2020). The exosome gDNA isolated from ascites of ovarian cancer patients reflects the copy number variation of primary tumors (Crow et al., 2017; Giannopoulou et al., 2019). KRAS mutation is also confirmed in exosomes of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma in the early stage and the late phase (Allenson et al., 2017). The serum exosomes of glioma patients also carry the gDNA sequence has been reported that transforming growth factor receptor 2 (TGFR2) is a part of the key signal pathway in colon epithelial cells. Its double allele frameshift mutation occurs repeatedly in most colorectal tumors, which is thought to drive colorectal cancer. It has been found that the frameshift mutation in the microsatellite region of TGFR2 is wrapped in the exosome derived from CRC cells. Although it can be detected at the DNA level, the author has not observed any frameshift protein in the exosome protein group. And then, acting on the receptor cells can up-regulate the expression of cytokines (Fricke et al., 2017). It has also been reported that the level of exosome gDNA of patients with KRAS mutation in CRC increases significantly in the course of the disease and shows more changes after treatment. Moreover, in CRC patients who meet the surgical conditions, the tumor size is related to the copy number of KRAS mutation. The copy number and abundance score of KRAS mutation in exosomes of patients with liver metastasis is significantly increased. The author also confirmed that KRAS mutation disappeared rapidly after the first chemotherapy cycle. However, it is necessary to closely monitor secondary drug resistance after anti-EGFR treatment to stop this treatment as soon as possible (Lucchetti et al., 2021). Therefore, exosome gDNA can be used as an innovative tool to monitor the diagnosis, drug resistance, and prognosis of CRC patients during treatment.

EXOSOME GENOMIC DNA REGULATES IMMUNITY AND METABOLISM OF COLORECTAL CANCER

Tumor immunosuppression is a sign of cancer progression, signaled by immune checkpoints on immune cell subsets (Nikfarjam et al., 2020). In recent years, targeted checkpoint immunotherapy has therapeutic effects on cancer patients (Li et al., 2016; Li et al., 2018). Exosomes play a significant role in tumor immunity by paracrine signal regulators. Among many components of exosomes, exosome gDNA can be used as a potent regulator of the STING pathway, which can regulate tumor immunity. During radiotherapy, gDNA fragments accumulated in the cytoplasm of tumor cells can induce an IFN-1 response and then activate dendritic cells through paracrine to trigger an anti-tumor response. This process is regulated by the feedback loop that DNA exonuclease Trex1 degrades cytosolic DNA fragments to prevent anti-tumor reactions. However, to avoid this phenomenon, tumor cells can export gDNA pieces to the exosome. Once the exosome gDNA is internalized by tumor-infiltrated dendritic cells, it will activate the STING signal path in dendritic cells. Once dendritic cells are activated by exosome gDNA, they will produce IFN-1 and recruit more CD8+T lymphocytes to prevent tumor growth further (Vanpouille-Box et al., 2017). Crohn's disease is related to the risk of colorectal cancer. Exosome gDNA internalized into macrophages can activate the STING signal path. The research also shows that exosome gDNA can't work after inhibiting STING, which further confirms the importance of the STING pathway in exosome

gDNA. It shows that exosome gDNA plays a vital role in the immunity of CRC and can be used as a potential biomarker and therapeutic target for Crohn's disease (Zhao et al., 2021). Reports suggest CRC will produce intestinal syndrome after being treated with irinotecan and fluorouracil, and the severity of diarrhea is closely related to the content of exosome gDNA. It is suggested that drug therapy can trigger the release of gDNA by intestinal epithelial cells through exosomes. Then the AIM2 inflammasome in immune cells will be activated, which will promote the body's inflammatory response. Therefore, exosome gDNA is not only a direct tumor immunomodulatory but also can affect the inflammatory reaction related to chemotherapy (Lian et al., 2017). Exosomes gDNA can indeed destroy the influence of checkpoint inhibitors. Therefore, in drug development, we should pay more attention to the signal of cell autonomic paracrine. In CRC, KRAS mutation will participate in metabolism in vitro and vivo by inducing glucose transporter 1 (Zhang et al., 2018). However, it is not sure if the exosome gDNA works, which needs further study in tumor metabolism.

FURTHER PERSPECTIVE

The discovery of high-frequency tumor mutant genes in exosome gDNA has attracted the attention of clinicians and basic researchers. Exosome gDNA is long and stable so that it can be used as excellent biomaterials for liquid biopsy (Jin et al., 2016) (Table 1). Many experts predict that in the near future, liquid biopsy based on exosome gDNA may improve the individualized treatment and prognosis of patients, especially for CRC patients, as the essential feature of CRC patients is the accumulation of mutations (Lichtenstern et al., 2020). Exosome gDNA can also be transferred from one cell to another by endocytosis or fusion. The transferred exosome gDNA can increase mRNA and protein expression in recipient cells and affect the function of recipient cells (Table 2). This may explain new pathogenesis of CRC and provide a new method for diagnosis or treatment in the future. However, it is necessary to conduct a larger-scale clinical study on these markers and targeted substances to verify the transformation of exosome gDNA into high-throughput practical solutions in the clinical environment.

Before exosome gDNA is officially applied in the clinic, it needs to meet the repeatable and verifiable conditions. However, due to the small amount of gDNA in exosomes and the different extraction methods, there is no uniform extraction and detection method, so its application is limited. Some hospitals have set up some large-scale analysis platforms to analyze it, which can provide helpful information for doctors' diagnoses and make it possible to specialize in the analysis of exosome gDNA.

However, if we don't know the mechanism of exosome gDNA, we can't get the clinical effect. Therefore, the primary research on the packaging of exosome gDNA is the premise of developing the clinical treatment of exosome gDNA. Finally,

further studies on the length, base composition, and stability of exosome gDNA under different physiological conditions will open up a new field for the diagnosis and treatment of colorectal cancer.

CONCLUSION

This article systematically reviewed the origin, mode of action of exosome gDNA, and its relationship with diagnosis, drug resistance, prognosis, immunity, and metabolism of CRC. The schematic diagram of the function of exosome gDNA is displayed in **Figure 3**. So far, we may have only seen the tip of the iceberg, and most of it is unknown. Therefore, more research is needed to reveal anonymous information about the

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi, M., and Rezaie, J. (2021). Ageing and Mesenchymal Stem Cells Derived Exosomes: Molecular Insight and Challenges. *Cell biochem. Funct.* 39 (1), 60–66. doi:10.1002/cbf.3602
- Allenson, K., Castillo, J., San Lucas, F. A., Scelo, G., Kim, D. U., Bernard, V., et al. (2017). High Prevalence of Mutant KRAS in Circulating Exosome-Derived DNA from Early-Stage Pancreatic Cancer Patients. *Ann. Oncol.* 28 (4), 741–747. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdx004
- Balaj, L., Lessard, R., Dai, L., Cho, Y. J., Pomeroy, S. L., Breakefield, X. O., et al. (2011). Tumour Microvesicles Contain Retrotransposon Elements and Amplified Oncogene Sequences. *Nat. Commun.* 2, 180. doi:10.1038/ncomms1180
- Baris, I. C., Hacioglu, S., Turk, N. S., Cetin, G. O., Zencir, S., Bagci, G., et al. (2021). Expression and DNA Methylation Profiles of EZH2-Target Genes in Plasma Exosomes and Matched Primary Tumor Tissues of the Patients with Diffuse Large B-Cell Lymphoma. *Clin. Transl. Oncol.* 23 (6), 1152–1166. doi:10.1007/ s12094-020-02504-6
- Bernard, V., Kim, D. U., San Lucas, F. A., Castillo, J., Allenson, K., Mulu, F. C., et al. (2019). Circulating Nucleic Acids Are Associated with Outcomes of Patients with Pancreatic Cancer. *Gastroenterology* 156 (1), 108–e4. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2018.09.022
- Cai, J., Han, Y., Ren, H., Chen, C., He, D., Zhou, L., et al. (2013). Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Transfer of Donor Genomic DNA to Recipient Cells Is a Novel Mechanism for Genetic Influence between Cells. J. Mol. Cell Biol. 5 (4), 227–238. doi:10.1093/jmcb/mjt011
- Cai, J., Wu, G., Tan, X., Han, Y., Chen, C., Li, C., et al. (2014). Transferred BCR/ ABL DNA from K562 Extracellular Vesicles Causes Chronic Myeloid Leukemia in Immunodeficient Mice. *PLoS One* 9 (8), e105200. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0105200
- Castellanos-Rizaldos, E., Grimm, D. G., Tadigotla, V., Hurley, J., Healy, J., Neal, P. L., et al. (2018). Exosome-Based Detection of EGFR T790M in Plasma from Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 24 (12), 2944–2950. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3369
- Chang, Y.-C., Chan, M.-H., Li, C.-H., Fang, C.-Y., Hsiao, M., and Chen, C.-L. (2021). Exosomal Components and Modulators in Colorectal Cancer: Novel Diagnosis and Prognosis Biomarkers. *Biomedicines* 9 (8), 931. doi:10.3390/ biomedicines9080931
- Crow, J., Atay, S., Banskota, S., Artale, B., Schmitt, S., and Godwin, A. K. (2017). Exosomes as Mediators of Platinum Resistance in Ovarian Cancer. *Oncotarget* 8 (7), 11917–11936. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.14440
- Degli Esposti, C., Iadarola, B., Maestri, S., Beltrami, C., Lavezzari, D., Morini, M., et al. (2021). Exosomes from Plasma of Neuroblastoma Patients Contain Doublestranded DNA Reflecting the Mutational Status of Parental Tumor Cells. *Ijms* 22 (7), 3667. doi:10.3390/ijms22073667
- Dekker, E., and Rex, D. K. (2018). Advances in CRC Prevention: Screening and Surveillance. Gastroenterology 154 (7), 1970–1984. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2018.01.069

application of exosome gDNA in the diagnosis and treatment of CRC.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RW contributed to the text and tables, QW contributed to revise the review manuscript, and XL contributed to the figures in the review manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Double First-class Fund from the Educational Department of Liaoning Province.

- Domenis, R., Cifù, A., Mio, C., Fabris, M., and Curcio, F. (2021). Pro-Inflammatory Microenvironment Modulates the Transfer of Mutated TP53 Mediated by Tumor Exosomes. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22 (12). doi:10.3390/ijms22126258
- Doyle, L. M., and Wang, M. Z. (2019). Overview of Extracellular Vesicles, Their Origin, Composition, Purpose, and Methods for Exosome Isolation and Analysis. *Cells* 8 (7). doi:10.3390/cells8070727
- Elzanowska, J., Semira, C., and Costa-Silva, B. (2021). DNA in Extracellular Vesicles: Biological and Clinical Aspects. *Mol. Oncol.* 15 (6), 1701–1714. doi:10.1002/1878-0261.12777
- Erdmann, S., Tschitschko, B., Zhong, L., Raftery, M. J., and Cavicchioli, R. (2017). A Plasmid from an Antarctic Haloarchaeon Uses Specialized Membrane Vesicles to Disseminate and Infect Plasmid-free Cells. *Nat. Microbiol.* 2 (10), 1446–1455. doi:10.1038/s41564-017-0009-2
- Fischer, S., Cornils, K., Speiseder, T., Badbaran, A., Reimer, R., Indenbirken, D., et al. (2016). Indication of Horizontal DNA Gene Transfer by Extracellular Vesicles. *PLoS One* 11 (9), e0163665. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0163665
- Franke, A. J., Skelton, W. P., Starr, J. S., Parekh, H., Lee, J. J., Overman, M. J., et al. (2019). Immunotherapy for Colorectal Cancer: A Review of Current and Novel Therapeutic Approaches. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 111 (11), 1131–1141. doi:10.1093/ jnci/djz093
- Fricke, F., Lee, J., Michalak, M., Warnken, U., Hausser, I., Suarez-Carmona, M., et al. (2017). TGFBR2-dependent Alterations of Exosomal Cargo and Functions in DNA Mismatch Repair-Deficient HCT116 Colorectal Cancer Cells. *Cell Commun. Signal.* 15 (1), 14. doi:10.1186/s12964-017-0169-y
- García-Romero, N., Carrión-Navarro, J., Esteban-Rubio, S., Lázaro-Ibáñez, E., Peris-Celda, M., Alonso, M. M., et al. (2017). DNA Sequences within Glioma-Derived Extracellular Vesicles Can Cross the Intact Blood-Brain Barrier and Be Detected in Peripheral Blood of Patients. *Oncotarget* 8 (1), 1416–1428. doi:10. 18632/oncotarget.13635
- Giannopoulou, L., Zavridou, M., Kasimir-Bauer, S., and Lianidou, E. S. (2019). Liquid Biopsy in Ovarian Cancer: the Potential of Circulating miRNAs and Exosomes. *Transl. Res.* 205, 77–91. doi:10.1016/j.trsl.2018.10.003
- Hao, Y. X., Li, Y. M., Ye, M., Guo, Y. Y., Li, Q. W., Peng, X. M., et al. (2017). KRAS and BRAF Mutations in Serum Exosomes from Patients with Colorectal Cancer in a Chinese Population. Oncol. Lett. 13 (5), 3608–3616. doi:10.3892/ol.2017.5889
- He, C., Zheng, S., Luo, Y., and Wang, B. (2018). Exosome Theranostics: Biology and Translational Medicine. *Theranostics* 8 (1), 237–255. doi:10.7150/thno.21945
- Hoshino, D., Kirkbride, K. C., Costello, K., Clark, E. S., Sinha, S., Grega-Larson, N., et al. (2013). Exosome Secretion Is Enhanced by Invadopodia and Drives Invasive Behavior. *Cell Rep.* 5 (5), 1159–1168. doi:10.1016/j. celrep.2013.10.050
- Hur, J. Y., Kim, H. J., Lee, J. S., Choi, C. M., Lee, J. C., Jung, M. K., et al. (2018). Extracellular Vesicle-Derived DNA for Performing EGFR Genotyping of NSCLC Patients. *Mol. Cancer.* 17 (1), 15. doi:10.1186/s12943-018-0772-6
- Hur, J. Y., Lee, J. S., Kim, I. A., Kim, H. J., Kim, W. S., and Lee, K. Y. (2019). Extracellular Vesicle-Based EGFR Genotyping in Bronchoalveolar Lavage Fluid from Treatment-Naive Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients. *Transl. Lung Cancer Res.* 8 (6), 1051–1060. doi:10.21037/tlcr.2019.12.16

- Hur, J. Y., and Lee, K. Y. (2021). Characteristics and Clinical Application of Extracellular Vesicle-Derived DNA. *Cancers (Basel)* 13 (15). doi:10.3390/ cancers13153827
- Jafari, R., Rahbarghazi, R., Ahmadi, M., Hassanpour, M., and Rezaie, J. (2020). Hypoxic Exosomes Orchestrate Tumorigenesis: Molecular Mechanisms and Therapeutic Implications. J. Transl. Med. 18 (1), 474. doi:10.1186/s12967-020-02662-9
- Janney, A., Powrie, F., and Mann, E. H. (2020). Host-microbiota Maladaptation in Colorectal Cancer. Nature 585 (7826), 509–517. doi:10.1038/s41586-020-2729-3
- Jeppesen, D. K., Fenix, A. M., Franklin, J. L., Higginbotham, J. N., Zhang, Q., Zimmerman, L. J., et al. (2019). Reassessment of Exosome Composition. *Cell* 177 (2), 428–e18. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2019.02.029
- Jin, Y., Chen, K., Wang, Z., Wang, Y., Liu, J., Lin, L., et al. (2016). DNA in Serum Extracellular Vesicles Is Stable under Different Storage Conditions. BMC Cancer 16 (1), 753. doi:10.1186/s12885-016-2783-2
- Kahlert, C., Melo, S. A., Protopopov, A., Tang, J., Seth, S., Koch, M., et al. (2014). Identification of Double-Stranded Genomic DNA Spanning All Chromosomes with Mutated KRAS and P53 DNA in the Serum Exosomes of Patients with Pancreatic Cancer. J. Biol. Chem. 289 (7), 3869–3875. doi:10.1074/jbc.C113. 532267
- Kalluri, R., and Lebleu, V. S. (2016). Discovery of Double-Stranded Genomic DNA in Circulating Exosomes. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 81, 275–280. doi:10.1101/sqb.2016.81.030932
- Kalluri, R., and Lebleu, V. S. (2020). The Biology, Function, and Biomedical Applications of Exosomes. *Science* 367 (6478). doi:10.1126/science.aau6977
- Keum, N., and Giovannucci, E. (2019). Global Burden of Colorectal Cancer: Emerging Trends, Risk Factors and Prevention Strategies. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 16 (12), 713–732. doi:10.1038/s41575-019-0189-8
- Khaksar, M., Sayyari, M., Rezaie, J., Pouyafar, A., Montazersaheb, S., and Rahbarghazi, R. (2018). High Glucose Condition Limited the Angiogenic/ cardiogenic Capacity of Murine Cardiac Progenitor Cells in *In Vitro* and *In Vivo* Milieu. *Cell biochem. Funct.* 36 (7), 346–356. doi:10.1002/cbf.3354
- Kim, Y., Shin, S., and Lee, K. A. (2021). Exosome-based Detection of EGFR T790M in Plasma and Pleural Fluid of Prospectively Enrolled Non-small Cell Lung Cancer Patients after First-Line Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor Therapy. *Cancer Cell Int.* 21 (1), 50. doi:10.1186/s12935-021-01761-x
- Kolenčík, D., Shishido, S. N., Pitule, P., Mason, J., Hicks, J., and Kuhn, P. (2020). Liquid Biopsy in Colorectal Carcinoma: Clinical Applications and Challenges. *Cancers (Basel)* 12 (6). doi:10.3390/cancers12061376
- Krug, A. K., Enderle, D., Karlovich, C., Priewasser, T., Bentink, S., Spiel, A., et al. (2018). Improved EGFR Mutation Detection Using Combined Exosomal RNA and Circulating Tumor DNA in NSCLC Patient Plasma. *Ann. Oncol.* 29 (3), 700–706. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdx765
- Lázaro-Ibáñez, E., Lässer, C., Shelke, G. V., Crescitelli, R., Jang, S. C., Cvjetkovic, A., et al. (2019). DNA Analysis of Low- and High-Density Fractions Defines Heterogeneous Subpopulations of Small Extracellular Vesicles Based on Their DNA Cargo and Topology. J. Extracell. Vesicles 8 (1), 1656993. doi:10.1080/ 20013078.2019.1656993
- Lázaro-Ibáñez, E., Sanz-Garcia, A., Visakorpi, T., Escobedo-Lucea, C., Siljander, P., Ayuso-Sacido, A., et al. (2014). Different gDNA Content in the Subpopulations of Prostate Cancer Extracellular Vesicles: Apoptotic Bodies, Microvesicles, and Exosomes. *Prostate* 74 (14), 1379–1390. doi:10.1002/pros.22853
- Lee, J. S., Hur, J. Y., Kim, I. A., Kim, H. J., Choi, C. M., Lee, J. C., et al. (2018). Liquid Biopsy Using the Supernatant of a Pleural Effusion for EGFR Genotyping in Pulmonary Adenocarcinoma Patients: a Comparison between Cell-free DNA and Extracellular Vesicle-Derived DNA. *BMC Cancer* 18 (1), 1236. doi:10.1186/ s12885-018-5138-3
- Lee, T. H., Chennakrishnaiah, S., Audemard, E., Montermini, L., Meehan, B., and Rak, J. (2014). Oncogenic Ras-Driven Cancer Cell Vesiculation Leads to Emission of Double-Stranded DNA Capable of Interacting with Target Cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 451 (2), 295–301. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc. 2014.07.109
- Lee, T. H., Chennakrishnaiah, S., Meehan, B., Montermini, L., Garnier, D., D'Asti, E., et al. (2016). Barriers to Horizontal Cell Transformation by Extracellular Vesicles Containing Oncogenic H-Ras. *Oncotarget* 7 (32), 51991–52002. doi:10. 18632/oncotarget.10627

- Li, X., Shao, C., Shi, Y., and Han, W. (2018). Lessons Learned from the Blockade of Immune Checkpoints in Cancer Immunotherapy. J. Hematol. Oncol. 11 (1), 31. doi:10.1186/s13045-018-0578-4
- Li, Y., Li, F., Jiang, F., Lv, X., Zhang, R., Lu, A., et al. (2016). A Mini-Review for Cancer Immunotherapy: Molecular Understanding of PD-1/PD-L1 Pathway & Translational Blockade of Immune Checkpoints. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 17 (7). doi:10. 3390/ijms17071151
- Lian, Q., Xu, J., Yan, S., Huang, M., Ding, H., Sun, X., et al. (2017). Chemotherapyinduced Intestinal Inflammatory Responses Are Mediated by Exosome Secretion of Double-Strand DNA via AIM2 Inflammasome Activation. *Cell Res.* 27 (6), 784–800. doi:10.1038/cr.2017.54
- Liang, Y., Lehrich, B. M., Zheng, S., and Lu, M. (2021). Emerging Methods in Biomarker Identification for Extracellular Vesicle-Based Liquid Biopsy. J. Extracell. Vesicles 10 (7), e12090. doi:10.1002/jev2.12090
- Lichtenstern, C. R., Ngu, R. K., Shalapour, S., and Karin, M. (2020). Immunotherapy, Inflammation and Colorectal Cancer. *Cells* 9 (3). doi:10. 3390/cells9030618
- Lin, B., Lei, Y., Wang, J., Zhu, L., Wu, Y., Zhang, H., et al. (2021). Microfluidic-Based Exosome Analysis for Liquid Biopsy. Small Methods 5 (3), e2001131. doi:10.1002/smtd.202001131
- Liu, J., Ren, L., Li, S., Li, W., Zheng, X., Yang, Y., et al. (2021). The Biology, Function, and Applications of Exosomes in Cancer. *Acta Pharm. Sin. B* 11 (9), 2783–2797. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2021.01.001
- Lucchetti, D., Zurlo, I. V., Colella, F., Ricciardi-Tenore, C., Di Salvatore, M., Tortora, G., et al. (2021). Mutational Status of Plasma Exosomal KRAS Predicts Outcome in Patients with Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Sci. Rep.* 11 (1), 22686. doi:10.1038/s41598-021-01668-7
- Marcuello, M., Neves, V., Duran-Sanchon, R. P. L., Vedeld, S., Tham, H. M., van Dalum, E., et al. (2019). Circulating Biomarkers for Early Detection and Clinical Management of Colorectal Cancer. *Mol. Asp. Med.* 69, 107–122. doi:10.1016/j. mam.2019.06.002
- Martini, G., Dienstmann, R., Ros, J., Baraibar, I., Cuadra-Urteaga, J. L., Salva, F., et al. (2020). Molecular Subtypes and the Evolution of Treatment Management in Metastatic Colorectal Cancer. *Ther. Adv. Med. Oncol.* 12, 1758835920936089. doi:10.1177/1758835920936089
- Németh, A., Orgovan, N., Sódar, B. W., Osteikoetxea, X., Pálóczi, K., Szabó-Taylor, K. É., et al. (2017). Antibiotic-induced Release of Small Extracellular Vesicles (Exosomes) with Surface-Associated DNA. Sci. Rep. 7 (1), 8202. doi:10.1038/ s41598-017-08392-1
- Nikfarjam, S., Rezaie, J., Kashanchi, F., and Jafari, R. (2020). Dexosomes as a Cellfree Vaccine for Cancer Immunotherapy. J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 39 (1), 258. doi:10.1186/s13046-020-01781-x
- Ogunwobi, O. O., Mahmood, F., and Akingboye, A. (2020). Biomarkers in Colorectal Cancer: Current Research and Future Prospects. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21 (15). doi:10.3390/ijms21155311
- Panigrahi, G. K., Praharaj, P. P., Peak, T. C., Long, J., Singh, R., Rhim, J. S., et al. (2018). Hypoxia-induced Exosome Secretion Promotes Survival of African-American and Caucasian Prostate Cancer Cells. *Sci. Rep.* 8 (1), 3853. doi:10. 1038/s41598-018-22068-4
- Park, J., Lee, C., Eom, J. S., Kim, M. H., and Cho, Y. K. (2020). Detection of EGFR Mutations Using Bronchial Washing-Derived Extracellular Vesicles in Patients with Non-small-cell Lung Carcinoma. *Cancers (Basel)* 12 (10). doi:10.3390/ cancers12102822
- Parolini, I., Federici, C., Raggi, C., Lugini, L., Palleschi, S., De Milito, A., et al. (2009). Microenvironmental pH Is a Key Factor for Exosome Traffic in Tumor Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 284 (49), 34211–34222. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.041152
- Pegtel, D. M., and Gould, S. J. (2019). Exosomes. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 88, 487–514. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-013118-111902
- Qu, X., Li, Q., Yang, J., Zhao, H., Wang, F., Zhang, F., et al. (2019). Double-Stranded DNA in Exosomes of Malignant Pleural Effusions as a Novel DNA Source for EGFR Mutation Detection in Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Front. Oncol.* 9, 931. doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.00931
- Rezaie, J., Ahmadi, M., Ravanbakhsh, R., Mojarad, B., Mahbubfam, S., Shaban, S. A., et al. (2022). Tumor-derived Extracellular Vesicles: The Metastatic Organotropism Drivers. *Life Sci.* 289, 120216. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2021.120216
- Rezaie, J., Aslan, C., Ahmadi, M., Zolbanin, N. M., Kashanchi, F., and Jafari, R. (2021). The Versatile Role of Exosomes in Human Retroviral Infections: from

Immunopathogenesis to Clinical Application. Cell Biosci. 11 (1), 19. doi:10. 1186/s13578-021-00537-0

- Riches, A., Campbell, E., Borger, E., and Powis, S. (2014). Regulation of Exosome Release from Mammary Epithelial and Breast Cancer Cells - a New Regulatory Pathway. *Eur. J. Cancer.* 50 (5), 1025–1034. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2013.12.019
- Rodriguez-Casanova, A., Costa-Fraga, N., Bao-Caamano, A., López-López, R., Muinelo-Romay, L., and Diaz-Lagares, A. (2021). Epigenetic Landscape of Liquid Biopsy in Colorectal Cancer. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9, 622459. doi:10. 3389/fcell.2021.622459
- Sansone, P., Savini, C., Kurelac, I., Chang, Q., Amato, L. B., Strillacci, A., et al. (2017). Packaging and Transfer of Mitochondrial DNA via Exosomes Regulate Escape from Dormancy in Hormonal Therapy-Resistant Breast Cancer. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 114 (43), E9066–E9075. doi:10.1073/pnas.1704862114
- Sharma, A., and Johnson, A. (2020). Exosome DNA: Critical Regulator of Tumor Immunity and a Diagnostic Biomarker. J. Cell. Physiol. 235 (3), 1921–1932. doi:10.1002/jcp.29153
- Soraya, H., Sani, N. A., Jabbari, N., and Rezaie, J. (2021). Metformin Increases Exosome Biogenesis and Secretion in U87 MG Human Glioblastoma Cells: A Possible Mechanism of Therapeutic Resistance. *Arch. Med. Res.* 52 (2), 151–162. doi:10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.10.007
- Spada, S., Rudqvist, N. P., and Wennerberg, E. (2020). Isolation of DNA from Exosomes. *Methods Enzymol.* 636, 173–183. doi:10.1016/bs.mie.2020.01.012
- Stefanius, K., Servage, K., de Souza Santos, M., Gray, H. F., Toombs, J. E., Chimalapati, S., et al. (2019). Human Pancreatic Cancer Cell Exosomes, but Not Human Normal Cell Exosomes, Act as an Initiator in Cell Transformation. *eLife* 8. doi:10.7554/eLife.40226
- Stobiecka, M., Ratajczak, K., and Jakiela, S. (2019). Toward Early Cancer Detection: Focus on Biosensing Systems and Biosensors for an Anti-apoptotic Protein Survivin and Survivin mRNA. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 137, 58–71. doi:10.1016/j. bios.2019.04.060
- Stoffel, E. M., and Murphy, C. C. (2020). Epidemiology and Mechanisms of the Increasing Incidence of Colon and Rectal Cancers in Young Adults. *Gastroenterology* 158 (2), 341–353. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2019.07.055
- Sveen, A., Kopetz, S., and Lothe, R. A. (2020). Biomarker-guided Therapy for Colorectal Cancer: Strength in Complexity. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 17 (1), 11–32. doi:10.1038/s41571-019-0241-1
- Takahashi, A., Okada, R., Nagao, K., Kawamata, Y., Hanyu, A., Yoshimoto, S., et al. (2017). Exosomes Maintain Cellular Homeostasis by Excreting Harmful DNA from Cells. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 15287. doi:10.1038/ncomms15287
- Thakur, B. K., Zhang, H., Becker, A., Matei, I., Huang, Y., Costa-Silva, B., et al. (2014). Double-stranded DNA in Exosomes: a Novel Biomarker in Cancer Detection. *Cell Res.* 24 (6), 766–769. doi:10.1038/cr.2014.44
- Trejo-Becerril, C., Pérez-Cárdenas, E., Taja-Chayeb, L., Anker, P., Herrera-Goepfert, R., Medina-Velázquez, L. A., et al. (2012). Cancer Progression Mediated by Horizontal Gene Transfer in an *In Vivo* Model. *PLoS One* 7 (12), e52754. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0052754
- Vahabi, A., Rezaie, J., Hassanpour, M., Panahi, Y., Nemati, M., Rasmi, Y., et al. (2022). Tumor Cells-Derived Exosomal CircRNAs: Novel Cancer Drivers, Molecular Mechanisms, and Clinical Opportunities. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 200, 115038. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115038
- Vaidya, M., and Sugaya, K. (2020). DNA Associated with Circulating Exosomes as a Biomarker for Glioma. *Genes (Basel)* 11 (11). doi:10.3390/genes11111276
- Vanpouille-Box, C., Alard, A., Aryankalayil, M. J., Sarfraz, Y., Diamond, J. M., Schneider, R. J., et al. (2017). DNA Exonuclease Trex1 Regulates Radiotherapy-Induced Tumour Immunogenicity. *Nat. Commun.* 8, 15618. doi:10.1038/ ncomms15618
- Waldenström, A., Gennebäck, N., Hellman, U., and Ronquist, G. (2012). Cardiomyocyte Microvesicles Contain DNA/RNA and Convey Biological

Messages to Target Cells. PLoS One 7 (4), e34653. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0034653

- Wang, L., Li, Y., Guan, X., Zhao, J., Shen, L., and Liu, J. (2018). Exosomal Double-Stranded DNA as a Biomarker for the Diagnosis and Preoperative Assessment of Pheochromocytoma and Paraganglioma. *Mol. Cancer.* 17 (1), 128. doi:10. 1186/s12943-018-0876-z
- Wang, Z. Y., Wang, R. X., Ding, X. Q., Zhang, X., Pan, X. R., and Tong, J. H. (2020). A Protocol for Cancer-Related Mutation Detection on Exosomal DNA in Clinical Application. *Front. Oncol.* 10, 558106. doi:10.3389/fonc.2020.558106
- Whiteside, T. L. (2016). Tumor-Derived Exosomes and Their Role in Cancer Progression. Adv. Clin. Chem. 74, 103–141. doi:10.1016/bs.acc.2015.12.005
- Xiao, Y., Zhong, J., Zhong, B., Huang, J., Jiang, L., Jiang, Y., et al. (2020). Exosomes as Potential Sources of Biomarkers in Colorectal Cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 476, 13–22. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2020.01.033
- Yang, S., Che, S. P., Kurywchak, P., Tavormina, J. L., Gansmo, L. B., Correa de Sampaio, P., et al. (2017). Detection of Mutant KRAS and TP53 DNA in Circulating Exosomes from Healthy Individuals and Patients with Pancreatic Cancer. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 18 (3), 158–165. doi:10.1080/ 15384047.2017.1281499
- Yokoi, A., Villar-Prados, A., Oliphint, P. A., Zhang, J., Song, X., De Hoff, P., et al. (2019). Mechanisms of Nuclear Content Loading to Exosomes. *Sci. Adv.* 5 (11), eaax8849. doi:10.1126/sciadv.aax8849
- Yu, W., Hurley, J., Roberts, D., Chakrabortty, S. K., Enderle, D., Noerholm, M., et al. (2021). Exosome-based Liquid Biopsies in Cancer: Opportunities and Challenges. Ann. Oncol. 32 (4), 466–477. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2021.01.074
- Zhang, L., and Yu, D. (2019). Exosomes in Cancer Development, Metastasis, and Immunity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Rev. Cancer* 1871 (2), 455-468. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.04.004
- Zhang, Q., Jeppesen, D. K., Higginbotham, J. N., Demory Beckler, M., Poulin,
 E. J., Walsh, A. J., et al. (2018). Mutant KRAS Exosomes Alter the Metabolic
 State of Recipient Colonic Epithelial Cells. *Cell Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*5 (4), 627–e6. doi:10.1016/j.jcmgh.2018.01.013
- Zhao, F., Zheng, T., Gong, W., Wu, J., Xie, H., Li, W., et al. (2021). Extracellular Vesicles Package dsDNA to Aggravate Crohn's Disease by Activating the STING Pathway. *Cell Death Dis.* 12 (9), 815. doi:10.1038/s41419-021-04101-z
- Zhou, X., Kurywchak, P., Wolf-Dennen, K., Che, S. P. Y., Sulakhe, D., D'Souza, M., et al. (2021). Unique Somatic Variants in DNA from Urine Exosomes of Individuals with Bladder Cancer. *Mol. Ther. Methods Clin. Dev.* 22, 360–376. doi:10.1016/j.omtm.2021.05.010

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Li, Wang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY S. Paul Gao, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, United States

REVIEWED BY

Nicholas Pavlidis, University of Ioannina, Greece Chenguang Yang, Shaanxi Provincial Hospital of Traditional Chinese Medicine, China

*CORRESPONDENCE

Ying Chen, dongyechenying@126.com, orcid.org/0000-0002-0022-4034, Xiujuan Qu, xjqu@cmu.edu.cn, orcid.org/0000-0002-3135-8772

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Pharmacology of Anti-Cancer Drugs, a section of the journal Frontiers in Pharmacology

RECEIVED 13 June 2022 ACCEPTED 15 July 2022 PUBLISHED 12 August 2022

CITATION

Sun X, Chen W, Qu X and Chen Y (2022), Case Report: Fluzoparib for multiple lines of chemotherapy refractory in metastatic cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma with BRCA2 pathogenic mutation. *Front. Pharmacol.* 13:968060. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2022.968060

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Sun, Chen, Qu and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case Report: Fluzoparib for multiple lines of chemotherapy refractory in metastatic cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma with BRCA2 pathogenic mutation

Xin Sun¹, Wenjuan Chen¹, Xiujuan Qu^{1,2,3,4}* and Ying Chen^{1,2,3,4}*

¹Department of Medical Oncology, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ²Key Laboratory of Anticancer Drugs and Biotherapy of Liaoning Province, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China, ³Liaoning Province Clinical Research Center for Cancer, Shenyang, China, ⁴Key Laboratory of Precision Diagnosis and Treatment of Gastrointestinal Tumors, Ministry of Education, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China

Background: Poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitors (PARPis) are widely used for patients with BRCA1/2 mutations. However, until now, there is no available evidence reported for the efficiency of PARPis in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC).

Case presentation: We presented a case of a 40-year-old man diagnosed with metastatic cSCC, relapsing after multiple lines of chemotherapy. Liquid biopsy detected a BRCA2 pathogenic germline mutation (c.3109C > T), indicating PARPis might be effective for this patient. The patient achieved tumor stability, and progression-free survival was five months without severe adverse effects after taking fluzoparib.

Conclusion: This result confirmed that PARPis were effective for metastatic cSCC patients with germline BRCA2 pathogenic mutations and provided a new treatment option for this group of patients.

KEYWORDS

cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma, PARPi, fluzoparib, BRCA2 germline mutation, case report

Introduction

The main types of skin cancers include basal cell carcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma, melanoma, and Merkel cell carcinoma (Garbe et al., 2022; Lebbe et al., 2015; Leiter et al., 2020). Among these, cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC) accounts for 20% of nonmelanoma skin cancer cases and is the second most common type of skin cancer (Leiter et al., 2020). It may originate from the keratinocytes of the epidermis or its appendages and is a local invasion and likely to metastasize to other organs (Motley

et al., 2002). Surgical excision is the treatment of choice for cSCC (Leiter et al., 2020). Ten-year survival after surgery exceeds 90% for cSCC but drops significantly when metastases occur (Varra et al., 2018). Chemotherapy, targeted therapy such as cetuximab, and immunotherapy have been adopted to treat cSCC patients, but the response rates of targeted therapy and chemotherapy were relatively low, and the duration of response was short (Weis et al., 2022).

Evidence from studies indicated that pathogenic or likely pathogenic BRCA1/2 germline mutations occurred in many cancers, including breast cancer (Borg et al., 2010; Kwong et al., 2012), ovarian cancer (Azribi et al., 2021), urothelial cancer (Carlo et al., 2020; Nassar et al., 2020), prostate cancer (Ghose et al., 2021), and so on. In prostate cancer, a study has shown that BRCA2 pathogenic mutations are connected with some clinicopathological parameters and indicated a poor prognosis (Ghose et al., 2021). In skin cancers, recent studies showed that BRCA1/2 mutations could be found in cutaneous melanoma (Johansson et al., 2019). Few studies reported BRCA1/ 2 mutations in cSCC. Thus, although poly ADP-ribose polymerase inhibitors (PARPis) have been successfully applied to treat ovarian cancer (Mirza et al., 2016), hereditary breast cancer (Han et al., 2018), and prostate cancer (Boussios et al., 2021b) with BRCA1/2 germline mutations, whether PARPis are effective in cSCC patients carrying BRCA1/2 germline mutations remains unclear, as no study has been conducted in cSCC.

In this case, we first reported the treatment of fluzoparib for metastatic cSCC patients with a BRCA2 pathogenic germline mutation and found remission to fluzoparib. This study first provided evidence for the efficiency of PARPis in treating metastatic cSCC.

Case description

A 40-year-old man first presented to the hospital with a mass in the left inguinal area in July 2018. It was about 2.0 cm * 3.0 cm, hard, and unpainful. The boundary of the mass was clear to some extent; however, the degree of the activity was poor. Extended resection was performed. The pathology demonstrated carcinosarcoma, which was mainly squamous cell carcinoma, and vascular tumor thrombus was positive. The patient denied any medical history and family history of cancer. The treatment after surgery was standard chemotherapy regimens combined with ifosfamide (2.5 g, every 21 days) with pirarubicin (30 mg, every 21 days) for seven cycles and combined cis-platinum (60 mg, every 21 days) with pirarubicin (30 mg, every 21 days) for the final cycle from August 2018 to May 2019. No adverse reaction occurred. In October 2018, the patient happened to find a mass in the palm of the right hand, which was shrunk during subsequent chemotherapy. However, in November 2019, the mass was suddenly enlarged to about 5.5 cm * 5.3 cm, painful, swollen, itchy, and accompanied by skin ulceration. The pathology after mass resection suggested well and moderately differentiated squamous cell carcinoma in the palm of the right hand, and it was difficult to identify the tumor tissue and normal tissue clearly. Immunohistochemistry (IHC) showed positive for P40, P63, and CK5/6; Ki67 was 50% positive. In February 2020, a mass appeared in the right forearm, and it was about 4.0 cm * 4.0 cm and ulcerated. After a series of examinations, excisional surgery for the right forearm and axillary lymph node extirpation was performed. The pathology suggested well and moderately differentiated squamous cell carcinoma, as found in relation to the mass in the palm. Furthermore, muscle tissue invasion, neural invasion, and lymph node metastasis (5/7) were also found upon pathological inspection. IHC showed positive for P40, P63, S-100, D2-40, CD34, and CK5/6; Ki67 was 40% positive. To get promising anti-tumor activity with less toxicity, postoperative chemotherapy on this occasion was combined with docetaxel (100 mg, every 21 days) and lobaplatin (50 mg, every 21 days) for six cycles from March 2020 to July 2020. During the treatment, grade 2 to 4 adverse effects were not observed. In January 2021, the patient began to cough with gradually increasing sputum and blood. Enhanced computed tomography (CT) in March 2021 revealed multiple pulmonary nodules in the right middle lobe and subpleural region of the left upper lobe (the largest one was about 1.9 cm), which were partially larger than those of a month before. The pathological consultation of the right palm and right forearm indicated squamous cell carcinoma (Figure 1). The patient was finally diagnosed with cSCC with inguinal area and pulmonary metastasis (stage IV) after a multi-disciplinary team discussion. Additional IHC of tumor in the left inguinal area showed negative expression of PD-L1 (combined positive score, CPS <1, by 22C3 pharmDx assay, Dako, Carpinteria, CA, United States), indicating immunotherapy was less effective for this patient. Then, the patient underwent a chemotherapy regimen consisting of albumin-bound paclitaxel (200 mg, d1/ d8 of 3 weeks) and gemcitabine (2,000 mg, d1/d8 of 3 weeks) for eight cycles from March 2021 to September 2021. During treatment, enhanced CT showed significant tumor shrinkage of pulmonary nodules, and the best clinical efficacy reached partial remission. However, the patient presented grade 3 neutropenia, which was improved by pegylated recombinant human granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (PEG-rhG-CSF). In October 2021, enhanced CT implied disease progression. Her-2 was negative. Detection of BRCA1/2 germline mutations and other homologous recombination repair related genes for the patient in blood identified BRCA2 germline mutation (c.3109C > T) (Table 1), and all relative genes detected are listed in Supplementary Table S1. Considering there was no standard treatment for the patient, the patient was advised to take fluzoparib. The patient agreed and regularly took fluzoparib (150 mg orally twice a day) from November 2021. A month later, the patient achieved a stable state of tumor in enhanced CT. Three months later, pulmonary nodules were in regression again



FIGURE 1

Pathological results of the right palm and right forearm. (A) Pathology of the right palm (40x): there are a lot of multinucleated giant cells and inflammatory cells in the tissue. Fibrosis occurs, and cells are swelling and deformed. These are the changes after chemotherapy. (B) Pathology of the right forearm (40x). (C) Pathology of the right palm (100x). (D) Pathology of the right forearm (100x).

TABLE 1 Detection result of BRCA1/2 germline mutations in a blood sample.

Tumor-specific mutations

Gene	Nucleotide variation	Amino acid variation	Mutation type	Germline/somatic mutation
BRCA2(NM_000059.3)	c.3109C>T	p.(Gin 1037Ter)	Heterozygous mutation	Germline mutations

(Figure 2). Also, no severe adverse effects occurred. Tumor markers remained normal during the patient's treatment. The patient has been progression-free for five months after fluzoparib treatment at the last follow-up in April 2022 (Figure 3).

Discussion

To our best knowledge, this case first proved successful treatment by PARPis in a patient with cSCC subjected to multi-line treatments.

One of the highlights in this case was that the initial symptom of the patient was atypical until the diagnosis of the cSCC in the right palm. It has been reported that approximately 3% of melanomas lack an identifiable primary, otherwise known as melanoma of unknown primary (Boussios et al., 2021a). However, for SCC, it usually shows a hard nodular keratinizing tumor or crusted tumor which could ulcerate. Sometimes, it could show as a non-keratinized ulcer. For this patient, he first showed a mass in the left inguinal area without any other symptoms. Examinations and pathology demonstrated SCC of the left inguinal area without other abnormalities.



FIGURE 2

Tumor response to fluzoparib. (A): Lung lesions before using fluzoparib. (B): Lung lesions a month after using fluzoparib. (C): Lung lesions three months after using fluzoparib. The red circles represent the target lesion.



10.3389/fphar.2022.968060

Considering that cancer may derive from either primary or secondary tumors, standard chemotherapy was used for the patient. During treatment, the development of cSCC in the right palm was observed, proving that cSCC might be the primary tumor for this patient and the mass in the left inguinal area arose from metastasis. A clear diagnosis provided evidence for subsequent therapy.

Another valuable finding in the case was that a pathogenic BRCA2 germline mutation (c.3109C>T) was observed in this patient, which is rarely reported in cSCC. This mutation occurs at 3109 bp of BRCA2, with a base "C" changing to "T", transforming glutamine to a stop codon. This mutation terminates the protein coding in advance, further affecting the degradation of mRNA and tumor development. Except for BRCA1/2, other genomic alterations related to homologous recombination deficiency have been recognized, including Fanconi anemia genes (BRIP1 and PALB2), the core RAD genes (RAD51C and RAD51D), and genes involved in homologous recombination pathways either directly (BARD1, NBN, and ATM) or indirectly (CDK12) (Ramus et al., 2015; Shah et al., 2022). Recent studies have reported that PAPRi therapy shows good efficiency in patients with homologous recombination deficiency (mainly BRCA1/2 mutations), and some targeted drugs have been approved by The United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat malignant cancers. For example, olaparib for treating ovarian and breast cancer was approved (Kim et al., 2015), and the III-phase NOVA trial showed niraparib could be used for ovarian patients with recurrence through treatment with platinum-based chemotherapy (Mirza et al., 2016). In high-grade ovarian cancer, the III-phase ARIEL3 trial showed patients who had ever responded to platinum-based chemotherapy could benefit from the maintenance of rucaparib (Coleman et al., 2017). In prostate cancer, olaparib was approved for metastatic castrationresistant prostate cancer patients with deleterious BRCA1/ 2 mutations with disease progression following androgen receptor signaling inhibitor treatment (Boussios et al., 2021b). PARPis for gastrointestinal cancers are also underway (Pilie et al., 2019). Some clinical studies have shown that PARPis could provide important benefits with acceptable toxicities when they were used for maintenance therapy after responding to platinum-based chemotherapy (Pilie et al., 2019). For this patient, he has suffered from multi-line treatments, but the disease was in progression. Expression of PD-L1 was low, suggesting he was unlikely to benefit from immunotherapy. BRCA2 was a pathologic mutation that was likely to benefit from PARPis. The patient exhibited platinum sensitivity because the metastasis occurred around six months after platinum-based chemotherapy. These suggest that the patient might benefit from PARPis in this scenario.

Fluzoparib is a type of novel PARPi on the basis of olaparib. It could inhibit the PARP1 enzyme and further could induce DNA double-strand breaks, G2/M arrest, and apoptosis in homologous recombination repair (HR)-deficient cells (Wang et al., 2019). It also showed good pharmacokinetics and stable anti-tumor activity, as well as a favorable toxicity profile for the treatment of many cancers (Wang et al., 2019; Li et al., 2022). A phase-II trial about ovarian cancer observed that patients with platinum-sensitive and BRCA1/2-mutant showed a 69.9% for objective response rate, The median follow-up duration was 15.9 months by 21 March 2020 (Lee, 2021; Li et al., 2021); fuzuloparib is also used to treat cancers of the pancreas, prostate, breast, and lungs in some phase-II or phase-III clinical trials (Lee, 2021). Moreover, fuzuloparib, used for treating ovarian cancer (including fallopian tube cancer or primary peritoneal cancer), has been approved in China. Although clinical trials by using PARPis in cSCC have not been conducted in China, the patient was willing to take an investigational therapy with strict informed consent, providing strong evidence for PARPi prescription.

Liquid biopsy of blood has been widely used to diagnose and treat lung cancer (Paweletz et al., 2016), gastric cancer (Shoda et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2006), breast cancer (Wallwiener et al., 2015; Mayor et al., 2017), and urothelial cancer (Agarwal et al., 2018). Studies also found that liquid biopsy could be used in oropharyngeal SCC (Haring et al., 2022) and cSCC (Haring et al., 2022). In this case, a liquid biopsy of blood detected the alterations in mutational status without invasion, providing evidence for the use of fluzoparib.

The strength of the case was that we presented a rare case in which the symptom of the patient was uncommon in cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC). Moreover, we first showed a case using fluzoparib to treat cSCC patients with BRCA2 germline mutations, and the patient achieved a stable state. Our patient also thought he was benefiting from the regime in therapeutic effect, economy, and convenience. This might provide clues for similar patients. However, this is just a case report, and there are individual differences in response. The efficacy of PARPis in cSCC treatment remains to be confirmed by clinical trials.

In conclusion, our study first proved that cSCC patients, with BRCA2 pathogenic germline mutations and sensitivity to platinum-based chemotherapy, responded well to fluzoparib, suggesting that PARPis may be used for treating cSCC patients carrying BRCA1/2 germline or somatic mutations; detecting mutations is necessary for identifying the correct therapeutic regime.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material; further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

XS and WC contributed to collecting the data and drafting the manuscript. YC and XQ helped design and revise the manuscript.

Funding

The present study was supported by Shenyang Clinical Medical Research Center for Cancer Comprehensive Therapy.

Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the patient for his participation.

References

Agarwal, N., Pal, S. K., Hahn, A. W, Nussenzveig, R. H, Pond, G. R., Gupta, S. V., et al. (2018). Characterization of metastatic urothelial carcinoma *via* comprehensive genomic profiling of circulating tumor DNA. *Cancer* 124 (10), 2115–2124. doi:10. 1002/cncr.31314

Azribi, F., Abdou, E., Dawoud, E., Ashour, M., Kamal, A., Al Sayed, M., et al. (2021). Prevalence of BRCA1 and BRCA2 pathogenic sequence variants in ovarian cancer patients in the gulf region: The PREDICT study. *BMC cancer* 21 (1), 1350. doi:10.1186/s12885-021-09094-8

Borg, A., Haile, R. W., Malone, K. E., Capanu, M., Diep, A., Törngren, T., et al. (2010). Characterization of BRCA1 and BRCA2 deleterious mutations and variants of unknown clinical significance in unilateral and bilateral breast cancer: The WECARE study. *Hum. Mutat.* 31 (3), E1200–E1240. doi:10.1002/humu.21202

Boussios, S., Rassy, E., Samartzis, E., Moschetta, M., Sheriff, M., Pérez-Fidalgo, J. A., et al. (2021a). Melanoma of unknown primary: New perspectives for an old story. *Crit. Rev. Oncol. Hematol.* 158, 103208. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103208

Boussios, S., Rassy, E., Shah, S., Ioannidou, E., Sheriff, M., and Pavlidis, N. (2021b). Aberrations of DNA repair pathways in prostate cancer: A cornerstone of precision oncology. *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 25 (5), 329–333. doi:10.1080/14728222.2021.1951226

Carlo, M., Ravichandran, V., Srinavasan, P., Bandlamudi, C., Kemel, Y., Ceyhan-Birsoy, O., et al. (2020). Cancer susceptibility mutations in patients with urothelial malignancies. J. Clin. Oncol. 38 (5), 406–414. doi:10.1200/JCO.19.01395

Coleman, R., Oza, A., Lorusso, D., Aghajanian, C., Oaknin, A., Dean, A., et al. (2017). Rucaparib maintenance treatment for recurrent ovarian carcinoma after response to platinum therapy (ARIEL3): A randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 390 (10106), 1949–1961. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32440-6

Garbe, C., Amaral, T., Peris, K., Hauschild, A., Arenberger, P., Basset-Seguin, N., et al. (2022). European consensus-based interdisciplinary guideline for melanoma. Part 1: Diagnostics: Update 2022. *Eur. J. Cancer* 170, 236–255. doi:10.1016/j.ejca. 2022.03.008

Ghose, A., Moschetta, M., Pappas-Gogos, G., Sheriff, M., and Boussios, S. (2021). Genetic aberrations of DNA repair pathways in prostate cancer: Translation to the clinic. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22 (18), 9783. doi:10.3390/ijms22189783

Han, H., Diéras, V., Robson, M., Palácová, M., Marcom, P., Jager, A., et al. (2018). Veliparib with temozolomide or carboplatin/paclitaxel versus placebo with carboplatin/paclitaxel in patients with BRCA1/2 locally recurrent/metastatic

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors, and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar. 2022.968060/full#supplementary-material

breast cancer: Randomized phase II study. Ann. Oncol. 29 (1), 154–161. doi:10. 1093/annonc/mdx505

Haring, C., Dermody, S., Yalamanchi, P., Kang, S., Old, M., Chad Brenner, J., et al. (2022). The future of circulating tumor DNA as a biomarker in HPV related oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* 126, 105776. doi:10.1016/j. oraloncology.2022.105776

Johansson, P., Nathan, V., Bourke, L., Palmer, J., Zhang, T., Symmons, J., et al. (2019). Evaluation of the contribution of germline variants in BRCA1 and BRCA2 to uveal and cutaneous melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* 29 (5), 483–490. doi:10.1097/CMR.00000000000013

Kim, G., Ison, G., McKee, A., Zhang, H., Tang, S., Gwise, T., et al. (2015). FDA approval summary: Olaparib monotherapy in patients with deleterious germline BRCA-mutated advanced ovarian cancer treated with three or more lines of chemotherapy. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 21 (19), 4257–4261. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-15-0887

Kwong, A., Ng, E. K., Wong, C. L., Law, F. B., Au, T., Wong, H. N., et al. (2012). Identification of BRCA1/2 founder mutations in Southern Chinese breast cancer patients using gene sequencing and high resolution DNA melting analysis. *PLoS One* 7 (9), e43994. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043994

Lebbe, C., Becker, J. C., Grob, J. J., Malvehy, J., del Marmol, V., Pehamberger, H., et al. (2015). Diagnosis and treatment of Merkel Cell Carcinoma. European consensus-based interdisciplinary guideline. *Eur. J. Cancer* 51 (16), 2396–2403. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2015.06.131

Lee, A. (2021). Fuzuloparib: First approval. Drugs 81 (10), 1221-1226. doi:10. 1007/s40265-021-01541-x

Leiter, U., Heppt, M. V., Steeb, T., Amaral, T., Bauer, A., Becker, J. C., et al. (2020). S3 guideline for actinic keratosis and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (cSCC) - short version, part 2: Epidemiology, surgical and systemic treatment of cSCC, follow-up, prevention and occupational disease. *J. Dtsch. Dermatol Ges.* 18 (4), 400–413. doi:10.1111/ddg.14072

Li, N., Bu, H., Liu, J., Zhu, J., Zhou, Q., Wang, L., et al. (2021). An open-label, multicenter, single-arm, phase II study of fluzoparib in patients with germline BRCA1/2 mutation and platinum-sensitive recurrent ovarian cancer. *Clin. cancer Res. official J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* 27 (9), 2452–2458. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-20-3546

Li, N., Zhang, Y., Wang, J., Zhu, J., Wang, L., Wu, X., et al. (2022). Fuzuloparib maintenance therapy in patients with platinum-sensitive, recurrent ovarian

carcinoma (FZOCUS-2): A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled, phase III trial. *J. Clin. Onco* 40 (22), 2436–2446. doi:10.1200/jco.21. 01511

Mayor, P., Gay, L., Lele, S., and Elvin, J. J. G. o. r. (2017). BRCA1 reversion mutation acquired after treatment identified by liquid biopsy. *Gynecol. Oncol. Rep.* 21, 57–60. doi:10.1016/j.gore.2017.06.010

Mirza, M., Monk, B., Herrstedt, J., Oza, A., Mahner, S., Redondo, A., et al. (2016). Niraparib maintenance therapy in platinum-sensitive, recurrent ovarian cancer. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 375 (22), 2154–2164. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1611310

Motley, R., Kersey, P., and Lawrence, C. (2002). Multiprofessional guidelines for the management of the patient with primary cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma. *Br. J. Dermatol* 146 (1), 18–25. doi:10.1046/j.0007-0963.2001.04615.x

Nassar, A., Abou Alaiwi, S., AlDubayan, S., Moore, N., Mouw, K., Kwiatkowski, D., et al. (2020). Prevalence of pathogenic germline cancer risk variants in high-risk urothelial carcinoma. *Genet. Med.* 22 (4), 709–718. doi:10.1038/s41436-019-0720-x

Paweletz, C., Sacher, A., Raymond, C., Alden, R., O'Connell, A., Mach, S., et al. (2016). Bias-corrected targeted next-generation sequencing for rapid, multiplexed detection of actionable alterations in cell-free DNA from advanced lung cancer patients. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 22 (4), 915–922. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1627-T

Pilié, P. G., Tang, C., Mills, G. B., and Yap, T. A. (2019). State-of-the-art strategies for targeting the DNA damage response in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 16 (2), 81–104. doi:10.1038/s41571-018-0114-z

Ramus, S. J., Song, H., Dicks, E., Tyrer, J. P., Rosenthal, A. N., Intermaggio, M. P., et al. (2015). Germline mutations in the BRIP1, BARD1, PALB2, and NBN genes in women with ovarian cancer. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 107 (11), djv214. doi:10.1093/jnci/djv214

Shah, S., Cheung, A., Kutka, M., Sheriff, M., and Boussios, S. (2022). Epithelial ovarian cancer: Providing evidence of predisposition genes. *Ijerph* 19 (13), 8113. doi:10.3390/ijerph19138113

Shoda, K., Ichikawa, D., Fujita, Y., Masuda, K., Hiramoto, H., Hamada, J., et al. (2017). Monitoring the HER2 copy number status in circulating tumor DNA by droplet digital PCR in patients with gastric cancer. *Gastric Cancer* 20 (1), 126–135. doi:10.1007/s10120-016-0599-z

Varra, V., Woody, N., Reddy, C., Joshi, N., Geiger, J., Adelstein, D., et al. (2018). Suboptimal outcomes in cutaneous squamous cell cancer of the head and neck with nodal metastases. *Anticancer Res.* 38 (10), 5825–5830. doi:10.21873/anticanres. 12923

Wallwiener, M., Hartkopf, A., Riethdorf, S., Nees, J., Sprick, M., Schönfisch, B., et al. (2015). The impact of HER2 phenotype of circulating tumor cells in metastatic breast cancer: A retrospective study in 107 patients. *BMC Cancer* 15, 403. doi:10. 1186/s12885-015-1423-6

Wang, L., Yang, C., Xie, C., Jiang, J., Gao, M., Fu, L., et al. (2019). Pharmacologic characterization of fluzoparib, a novel poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor undergoing clinical trials. *Cancer Sci.* 110 (3), 1064–1075. doi:10.1111/cas.13947

Weis, J., Grote, C., Weichenthal, M., and Hauschild, A. (2022). Complete response of advanced cutaneous squamous cell and basal cell carcinomas with sequential cemiplimab and sonidegib therapy. *J. Eur. Acad. Dermatol Venereol.* 36, 66–69. doi:10.1111/jdv.17403

Wu, C., Lin, S., Yu, F., Wu, D., Pan, Y., Hsieh, J., et al. (2006). Development of a high-throughput membrane-array method for molecular diagnosis of circulating tumor cells in patients with gastric cancers. *Int. J. Cancer* 119 (2), 373–379. doi:10. 1002/ijc.21856

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Dexiang Gao, University of Colorado Denver, United States

REVIEWED BY

Masamitsu Kanada, Michigan State University, United States Thalita Basso Scandolara, National Cancer Institute (INCA), Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Alessandro Borgini

alessandro.borgini@istitutotumori.mi.it

RECEIVED 01 August 2023 ACCEPTED 09 October 2023 PUBLISHED 01 November 2023

CITATION

Contiero P, Boffi R, Borgini A, Fabiano S, Tittarelli A, Mian M, Vittadello F, Epifani S, Ardizzone A, Cirilli C, Boschetti L, Marguati S, Cascone G, Tumino R, Fanetti AC, Giumelli P, Candela G, Scuderi T, Castelli M, Bongiorno S, Barigelletti G, Perotti V, Veronese C, Turazza F, Crivaro M, Tagliabue G and the MAPACA Working Group (2023) Causes of death in women with breast cancer: a risks and rates study on a population-based cohort. *Front. Oncol.* 13:1270877. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1270877

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Contiero, Boffi, Borgini, Fabiano, Tittarelli, Mian, Vittadello, Epifani, Ardizzone, Cirilli, Boschetti, Marguati, Cascone, Tumino, Fanetti, Giumelli, Candela, Scuderi, Castelli, Bongiorno, Barigelletti, Perotti, Veronese, Turazza, Crivaro, Tagliabue and the MAPACA Working Group. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Causes of death in women with breast cancer: a risks and rates study on a population-based cohort

Paolo Contiero¹, Roberto Boffi², Alessandro Borgini^{1*}, Sabrina Fabiano³, Andrea Tittarelli³, Michael Mian⁴, Fabio Vittadello⁵, Susi Epifani⁶, Antonino Ardizzone⁶, Claudia Cirilli⁷, Lorenza Boschetti⁸, Stefano Marguati⁸, Giuseppe Cascone⁹, Rosario Tumino⁹, Anna Clara Fanetti¹⁰, Paola Giumelli¹⁰, Giuseppa Candela¹¹, Tiziana Scuderi¹¹, Maurizio Castelli¹², Salvatore Bongiorno¹², Giulio Barigelletti³, Viviana Perotti³, Chiara Veronese², Fabio Turazza¹³, Marina Crivaro¹³, Giovanna Tagliabue³ and the MAPACA Working Group

¹Environmental Epidemiology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy, ²Respiratory Disease Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale Tumori, Milan, Italy, ³Cancer Registry Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy, ⁴Innovation, Research and Teaching Service, Hospital of Bolzano (SABES-ASDAA), Teaching Hospital of the Paracelsus Medizinischen Privatuniversität (PMU), Bozen, Italy, ⁵Explora, Research and Statistical Analysis, Padova, Italy, ⁶Statistics and Epidemiology Unit, ASL Brindisi, Brindisi, Italy, ⁷Servizio di Epidemiologia e Comunicazione del Rischio-Unità Funzionale di Modena, Registro Tumori Regione, Modena, Italy, ⁶Pavia Cancer Registry, Public Health Agency of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, ⁹Ragusa Cancer Registry Unit, Azienda Sanitaria Provinciale di Ragusa (ASP), Ragusa, Italy, ¹⁰ATS della Montagna, S.S. Epidemiologia, Sondrio, Italy, ¹¹Trapani and Agrigento Cancer Registry, Trapani, Italy, ¹²Dipartimento di Prevenzione Azienda USL Valle d'Aosta Loc, Quart, Italy, ¹³Cardiology Unit, Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy

Introduction: The increasing survival of patients with breast cancer has prompted the assessment of mortality due to all causes of death in these patients. We estimated the absolute risks of death from different causes, useful for health-care planning and clinical prediction, as well as cause-specific hazards, useful for hypothesis generation on etiology and risk factors.

Materials and methods: Using data from population-based cancer registries we performed a retrospective study on a cohort of women diagnosed with primary breast cancer. We carried out a competing-cause analysis computing cumulative incidence functions (CIFs) and cause-specific hazards (CSHs) in the whole cohort, separately by age, stage and registry area.

Results: The study cohort comprised 12,742 women followed up for six years. Breast cancer showed the highest CIF, 13.71%, and cardiovascular disease was the second leading cause of death with a CIF of 3.60%. The contribution of breast cancer deaths to the CIF for all causes varied widely by age class: 89.25% in women diagnosed at age <50 years, 72.94% in women diagnosed at age 50–69 and 48.25% in women diagnosed at age \geq 70. Greater CIF variations were

observed according to stage: the contribution of causes other than breast cancer to CIF for all causes was 73.4% in women with stage I disease, 42.9% in stage II–III and only 13.2% in stage IV. CSH computation revealed temporal variations: in women diagnosed at age \geq 70 the CSH for breast cancer was equaled by that for cardiovascular disease and "other diseases" in the sixth year following diagnosis, and an early peak for breast cancer was identified in the first year following diagnosis. Among women aged 50–69 we identified an early peak for breast cancer followed by a further peak near the second year of follow-up. Comparison by geographic area highlighted conspicuous variations: the highest CIF for cardiovascular disease was more than 70% higher than the lowest, while for breast cancer the highest CIF doubled the lowest.

Conclusion: The integrated interpretation of absolute risks and hazards suggests the need for multidisciplinary surveillance and prevention using community-based, holistic and well-coordinated survivorship care models.

KEYWORDS

cardio-oncology, geographic variation, breast cancer, cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, cause-specific death, competing-risk model, population-based cancer registries

1 Introduction

In 2020 an estimated 2.26 million new cases of breast cancer were diagnosed across the globe (1). For women diagnosed during 2010–2014, the five-year survival for breast cancer was reported to range from 89.5% in Australia and 90.2% in the USA to 66.1% in India (2). The combination of high incidence and high survival has led to an increased interest in non-breast-cancer deaths following a breast cancer diagnosis. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is an important cause of death following breast cancer: 1.6% to 10.4% of all women with breast cancer died of CVD (3), not only due to the high prevalence of CVD in the general population but also because of the overlapping risk factors between breast cancer and CVD and the adverse cardiovascular effects of cancer treatments.

A systematic review (3) showed that only a limited number of studies investigated the risk of CVD mortality following breast cancer, and these studies were heterogeneous in design, study populations and study periods and selection by age and stage of the women included in the analysis (4–11). Specific causes of cancer-related death other than breast cancer included ovarian and endometrial cancer, while pulmonary and gastrointestinal diseases were prominent among non-cancer causes (12–14).

The analysis of cause-specific deaths requires specific attention because of the competition between different causes of death. In breast cancer patients the mortality from a specific cause of death, for example CVD, is strongly influenced by breast cancer mortality, as the occurrence of breast cancer death precludes the possibility for a person to die from other diseases.

The analysis of competing mortality is useful in two main settings. The first is clinical resource allocation and predictive

research; in this case the need is to estimate the absolute risk of dying in patients with a specific disease. The second is the setting of etiology studies, where it is important to study the instantaneous rate of occurrence of the event of interest in subjects still at risk of the event in every instant (hazard). The recommendation from the literature is to use cumulative incidence functions (CIFs) and risk ratios for the estimation of absolute risks, and cause-specific hazards (CSHs) and cause-specific hazard ratios (CSHRs) for the investigation of instantaneous rates (15-20). CIF describes the proportion of patients with a certain event over the course of time, and in the simplest case refers to the number of individuals initially enrolled in the study. For example, it could be the proportion of all patients in a breast cancer cohort who develop breast cancer recurrences in 10 years from diagnosis, e.g., 12% of the total of women initially included in the observation. CSH is a function of time and describes the instantaneous rate of occurrence of the event of interest in subjects who are still at risk of the event. For example, in a breast cancer cohort it is the rate at which patients develop recurrences during the second year of observation considering patients who survived until the beginning of the second year, for example one woman in 50 in one year. While many studies have investigated CIFs, very few have studied CSHs, and not a single paper has been published presenting the results of both metrics together. We therefore considered that a step forward in the knowledge and interpretation of the causes of death in women affected by breast cancer could be a study that analyzed hazards (CSHs) and absolute risks (CIFs) side by side, following the indications of leading authors according to whom this is the most rigorous scientific approach to evaluate competing risk data such as cause-specific deaths (21). By adopting this approach we were able

to study the cumulative proportion of patients dying from a certain disease during the entire follow-up time along with the variations in the risk of death in different periods.

As a further study objective we decided to analyze the geographic variations of CIFs and CSHs. To our knowledge only the paper by Ho et al. (22) reported on this topic, concluding that other studies with both individual and county-level information are needed to inform public health interventions in this field.

We designed a competing-mortality study taking into account breast cancer deaths, other cancer-related deaths, CVD deaths, respiratory-disease deaths, and deaths from other causes than the above listed. We included all women with breast cancer regardless of age and disease stage. We decided to analyze the data in a relatively recent time span to be able to provide an up-to-date picture of the causes of death following breast cancer. We used a retrospective cohort design based on population-based registries, thereby avoiding any selection bias.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Breast cancer cases

This was a retrospective study on a cohort of women diagnosed with primary breast cancer. The cases were archived in the following population-based cancer registries: Aosta Valley (2010-2013), Brindisi (2010-2013), Pavia (2010-2013), Modena (2014-2017), Ragusa and Caltanissetta (2010-2013), Sondrio (2010-2016), South Tyrol (2010-2016) and Trapani (2010-2013). Selection using the site code C50 and malignant epithelial morphology codes M8010-M8575 of the International Classification of Diseases for Oncology (ICD-O-3) (23) retrieved a total of 12,742 primary breast cancer cases diagnosed in the predetermined study period and meeting our selection criteria. All 12,742 cases were used in the analysis. Causes of death were categorized by the following ICD-10 codes (24): C50 (breast cancer), I00-I99 (CVD), C00-C97 except C50 (cancers other than breast), J00-J99 (respiratory diseases), and other causes than the ones listed. Disease stage was specified according to the sixth edition of the TNM classification of malignant tumors (25).

2.2 Statistical analysis

This study was based on the computation of two functions: CIF and CSH. CIF is generally used to estimate the absolute risk of the occurrence of an event of interest up to a follow-up time point t and refers to the number of individuals enrolled in the study. In a simplified case – observation without censoring – CIF at time t can be computed as the fraction D/N, where N is the number of individuals under study at time 0 and D is the number of persons who die or develop a disease in a specified time period, from 0 to t. CSH estimates the instantaneous probability at time t of an event, considering as denominator the population surviving up to time point t, thereby providing a picture of the instantaneous modifications in the risk under study. While CIF refers to the

initial number of patients, CSH refers to patients surviving at time t. The CSH analysis results are useful to intercept variations in rates, taking into account at every time point the number of people surviving up to that moment and thereby making it possible to analyze determinants in the causes of disease development or progression rates. In survival analysis, risk takes the denomination of CIF and rate is substituted by CSH. We estimated CIFs and CSHs, taking all cases of the cohort together and separately by registry to investigate the extent of geographic variation. We also analyzed CIFs and CSHs separately by age (0-50, 50–69 and \geq 70 years), stage (local, regional and metastatic) and registry. Differences in CSH were determined by log-rank test and those in CIF with Gray's test (26). We used cubic splines to estimate CSH curves, exploring possible changes over time since the breast cancer diagnosis. We ran multivariate Cox proportional hazards models to estimate CSHRs with 95% confidence intervals (CI) of cause-specific deaths to analyze differences by registry, introducing into the model a variable for each of the eight cancer registries under analysis and stratifying the model for age as a potential confounding factor. Time to event or end of follow-up was calculated from the date of diagnosis. The hazard proportionality was tested by analysis of scaled Schoenfeld residuals. To explore the effect of competing causes of death on CIFs we estimated subdistribution hazard ratios (SHRs) with the Fine-Gray model, which adjusts for the influence of other causes of death that may prevent cause-specific deaths from being observed. The analyses were performed according to the methods described in the competing risk literature (15–21), using the R statistical package (version 4.2.2) and the add-on packages Epi, cmprsk, crr-addson and splines (27-29). Differences were considered significant at P < 0.05.

3 Results

3.1 Cohort characteristics

The median age at diagnosis of the cohort of 12,742 patients was 63 years (interquartile range 51–74). Stage information was available for 9131 (71.66%) women; the breakdown by stage I, II–III (grouped together for the study) and IV was 4024 (31.58%), 4418 (34.67%) and 689 (5.41%), respectively. A total of 2760 women died during the first six years, 1630 (12.79% of cohort, 59.06% of deaths) of breast cancer, 288 (2.3% of cohort, 10.43% of deaths) of cancers other than breast, 415 (3.2% of cohort, 15.04% of deaths) of CVD, 76 (0.59% of cohort, 2.75% of deaths) of respiratory diseases, and 351 (2.75% of cohort, 12.72% of deaths) of causes other than the above listed.

3.2 Analysis of cumulative incidence

To illustrate the absolute risk of mortality in this breast cancer cohort, Figure 1 and Table 1 show the CIFs (%) for every cause under analysis by the year from diagnosis to six years of follow-up. Breast cancer presented the highest CIF (13.71%) and CVD ranked second (3.60%). CIF amounted to 3.10% for other diseases, 2.50%



for other cancers and 0.66% for respiratory diseases. For CVD the most represented ICD-10 categories were cerebrovascular disease (n=117), chronic ischemic heart disease (n=61), hypertensive disease (n=58) and acute myocardial infarction (n=35). The main contributors to the "other diseases" category of deaths were diseases of the digestive system (n=55), mental and behavioral disorders (n=34), certain infectious and parasitic diseases (n=31), endocrine, nutritional and metabolic diseases (n=30, of which n=25 diabetes mellitus) and diseases of the nervous system (n=29). Malignant neoplasms of the bronchus and lung (n=35), colon (n=34), pancreas (n=27), liver and intrahepatic bile ducts (n=26), stomach (n=21) and ovary (n=16), multiple myeloma and malignant plasma cell neoplasm (n=11) were the largest contributing causes of death for the "other cancers" category. Among respiratory disease deaths pneumonia (n=37) was the most common cause.

Gray's test reported statistically significant differences of CIFs by age and stage for all five causes-of-death groups. This finding led us to explore CIFs separately for age and stage. CIFs by age are presented in Table 1 and Figures 2A-C and CIFs by stage in Table S1 (Additional file 1) and Figures 2D-F. The proportion for every specified cause of death with respect to the total CIF (all causes) showed variations according to age. In women diagnosed at age <50 years the CIF for breast cancer mortality was predominant, accounting for 89.25% of the total CIF (resulting from the ratio between the two CIFs, 9.22% and 10.33%, respectively). Likewise, the CIF for CVD accounted for only 0.77% of the total CIF. In women diagnosed at age 50-69, the CIF for breast cancer mortality was 72.94% and the CIF for CVD mortality was 7.36% of the total CIF, a marked increase with respect to the CIF in the <50-year age class. For women diagnosed at age ≥70 the CIF for breast cancer mortality diminished with respect to that of the younger age classes, accounting for only 48.25% of the total CIF, while the CIF for CVD mortality increased, accounting for 20.92% of the total CIF. Also the CIFs for other diseases varied according to age: the CIFs for death from respiratory diseases went from 0.66% (age <50) to 1.79% (age \geq 70), for death from other cancers from 0.42% (age <50) to 4.89% (age \geq 70), and for death from other diseases from 0.57% (age <50) to 6.85% (age \geq 70). The CIFs for each disease group were markedly different in each stage group. The CIF for CVD mortality at six years from diagnosis was similar to that of breast cancer (1.59% and 1.90%, respectively) in women with stage I disease, while in stage II-III the CIF for breast cancer mortality was much higher (12.90%) than that for CVD mortality (3.54%). In women with stage IV disease breast cancer became by far the leading cause of death (71.64%), while the CIF for CVD deaths was 2.94%. The CIF for causes of death other than breast cancer accounted for 73.4% of the total CIF in women with stage I disease, while in stage II-III it was 42.9% and in stage IV only 13.2%.

We also performed specific analyses by different combinations of the staging variables T (primary tumor), N (regional lymph nodes) and M (distant metastases), and age (data not shown). The most interesting result was that in older women (\geq 70 years at diagnosis) with small-size cancers (T1) and no metastases at presentation the CIF for CVD mortality at six years from diagnosis was higher than that for breast cancer, 6.03% versus 5.68%, respectively.

3.3 Analysis of cause-specific hazards

Table 2 and Figure 3 describe how CSHs in women with a breast cancer diagnosis varied by time since diagnosis for different age and stage groups. We observed a peak in breast cancer CSH in women diagnosed at age <50 (Figure 3A) occurring two to three years since

TABLE 1 Cumulative incidence of cause-specific deaths by years of follow-up for all ages and by age class.

Cumulative incidence (%)							
Deaths	1у	2у	Зу	4y	5y	6у	95% CI at 6y
Cardiovascular	disease						
All ages	0.66	1.29	1.78	2.43	2.91	3.60	3.26-3.95
<50	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.04	0.08	0.08	0.02-0.28
50-69	0.16	0.20	0.33	0.53	0.62	0.76	0.54-1.04
≥70	1.66	3.39	4.60	6.17	7.39	9.17	8.30-10.08
Respiratory dise	ase	-	1		1		
All ages	0.10	0.24	0.32	0.39	0.56	0.66	0.53-0.82
<50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.04	0.01-0.24
50-69	0.00	0.02	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.01-0.13
≥70	0.29	0.64	0.89	1.06	1.51	1.79	1.42-2.24
Breast cancer		I	1		1		
All ages	3.84	6.31	8.54	10.50	12.29	13.71	13.09-14.34
<50	1.18	2.76	4.59	6.13	7.92	9.22	8.11-10.42
50-70	1.88	3.71	5.54	7.25	8.63	9.81	9.00-10.66
≥70	7.82	11.61	14.54	17.08	19.37	21.13	19.90-22.38
Other cancers							
All ages	0.48	0.87	1.28	1.59	2.05	2.50	2.23-2.81
<50	0.11	0.11	0.19	0.23	0.27	0.42	0.21-0.77
50-69	0.16	0.42	0.72	0.86	1.21	1.57	1.24-1.95
≥70	1.09	1.88	2.62	3.29	4.14	4.89	4.26-5.59
Other diseases							
All ages	0.47	0.92	1.38	1.87	2.47	3.10	2.79-3.43
<50	0.07	0.18	0.30	0.37	0.46	0.57	0.33-0.94
50-69	0.13	0.27	0.48	0.66	1.01	1.27	0.98-1.62
≥70	1.13	2.15	3.14	4.24	5.44	6.85	6.09-7.67
All causes		·					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
All ages	5.55	9.64	13.31	16.79	20.29	23.57	22.8-24.35
<50	1.36	3.05	5.12	6.77	8.77	10.33	9.16-11.59
50-69	2.33	4.62	7.09	9.34	11.51	13.45	12.51-14.42
≥70	11.98	19.68	25.79	31.85	37.85	43.83	42.28-45.38

the diagnosis. The CSH for CVD was very low during the whole observation period of six years. Among women diagnosed at age 50–69 (Figure 3B), we identified an early peak for breast cancer followed by a further peak between the second and third years of follow-up, almost at the same time as the peak observed in younger women. We identified a peak in the CSH of CVD in the first year after breast cancer diagnosis. The CSH for CVD ranked second near the diagnosis, while near the end of the follow-up period the CSH for the diagnostic group of other diseases ranked second. Among women diagnosed at age \geq 70 (Figure 3C) we identified a strong early peak (first year after diagnosis) for breast cancer. Interestingly, by the sixth year following diagnosis the CSH for breast cancer deaths was matched by those for death from CVD and from the "other diseases" group.

CSH estimates by stage are presented in Figures 3D–F. The pattern of the diseases under analysis varied greatly by stage. In women with stage I breast cancer the contribution of breast cancer deaths was comparable to that of the group of "other diseases" at six



years from diagnosis. We performed a further analysis splitting CVD into cerebrovascular and other cardiovascular diseases for women diagnosed at age 50–69 and at age \geq 70. (We excluded women <50 years because of the low CVD CSH in this age class.) The results are shown in Figures 3G, H. Differences by age were as follows: in women diagnosed at age 50–69, the CSH for other cardiovascular diseases peaked in the first year after diagnosis and both CVD subgroups showed a peak at the third year of follow-up and an increase in the last years of observation; in women diagnosed at age \geq 70 the CSH for cerebrovascular disease showed a peak at the end of the first year after diagnosis, while the CSHs for the two CVD subgroups increased from the fifth year onward.

3.4 Comparison of CIFs and CSHs between registries

Gray's test for subdistribution hazards revealed statistically significant differences in CIF by registry for all five causes-of-death groups, prompting us to compute CIFs by registry (Supplementary Table S2). Interestingly, the highest CIF value among registries for all-cause deaths (26.49%) was almost 25% higher than the lowest (21.22%). The two highest CIFs for CVD (4.24% and 4.19%) were more than 70% higher than the lowest (2.43%). The highest CIF at six years for breast cancer (18.50%) was 2.2 times the lowest (8.16%). The CIFs for other cancers ranged from 1.46% to 3.60% and those for

TABLE 2 Cause-specific hazards by years of follow-up for all ages and by age class.

Cause-specific hazards per 10,000 person years							
Deaths	1у	2у	Зy	4y	5y	бу	95% CI at 6y
Cardiovascular c	lisease	<u></u>					
All ages	65.18	68.21	56.68	75.46	58.87	87.75	68.42-112.55
<50	0.00	0.00	3.89	0.00	4.78	0.00	NA
50-69	16.65	3.78	13.75	21.68	9.76	14.58	6.07-35.03
≥70	170.33	205.61	159.18	218.96	186.01	302.01	232.96-391.54
Respiratory disea	ase						
All ages	9.78	14.50	9.90	8.05	20.78	11.32	5.66-22.64
<50	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.78	0.00	NA
50-69	0.00	1.89	0.00	2.17	0.00	0.00	NA
≥70	28.79	42.18	31.84	23.58	68.74	42.39	21.20-84.76
Breast cancer		1		1			
All ages	351.18	267.74	252.81	230.40	219.31	179.75	151.06-213.90
<50	111.13	162.26	190.81	165.32	196.05	137.21	91.96-204.70
50-69	186.86	189.24	194.43	186.49	153.69	137.07	102.99-182.44
≥ 70	719.71	450.76	384.93	350.34	347.75	296.71	228.34-385.56
Other cancers							
All ages	47.26	42.63	45.88	36.22	56.56	58.03	42.73-78.81
<50	7.41	0.00	7.79	4.24	4.78	17.15	5.53-53.18
50-69	14.80	26.49	31.42	15.18	39.03	40.83	24.18-68.94
≥70	115.15	94.90	95.51	94.32	129.40	127.16	85.23-189.72
Other causes							
All ages	44.81	48.60	52.18	57.35	72.72	79.26	61.00-102.99
<50	7.41	11.32	11.68	8.48	9.56	11.43	2.86-45.72
50-69	11.10	15.14	21.60	19.52	39.03	29.16	15.69-54.20
≥70	112.75	121.26	127.34	154.96	181.96	233.13	173.49-313.28
All causes	·						
All ages	518.21	441.69	417.45	407.48	428.23	416.11	371.17-466.51
<50	125.94	173.58	214.17	178.04	219.96	165.79	115.21-238.58
50-69	229.42	236.55	261.20	245.03	241.51	221.65	177.02-277.53
≥70	1146.74	914.70	798.79	842.17	913.86	1001.41	868.35-1154.86

respiratory diseases from 0.14% to 2.28%. CIFs for the "other diseases" category ranged from 1.73% to 6.63%.

Similarly to the analysis of CIFs, computation of CSHs at the sixth year for CVD by registry (Supplementary Table S3) showed highest values (143.15 and 132.47) that were markedly higher than the lowest (21.70 and 68.18). For breast cancer the highest CSH was 294.54 and the lowest 90.90. For the category "other cancers" the highest CSH was 66.11 and the lowest 33.66. The highest CSH for respiratory diseases was 67.33, while the CSH for this disease category was 0 in three registries. Fine-Gray SHR models were

run with the inclusion of a covariate for age and taking the cancer registry of Trapani as the reference (Supplementary Table S4). The risk excesses identified by the computation of SHRs for CVD, with highest values of 1.65 (1.06–2.58) and 1.63 (1.01–2.62), match the comparison of CIFs by registry, where the highest CIFs were more than 70% higher than the lowest. Computation of the other SHRs confirms the results obtained in the comparison between CIFs. Cox models were run including a covariate for age (Supplementary Table S5) and taking the cancer registry of Trapani as the reference. The highest CSHRs for CVD, 1.69 (1.08–2.63) and 1.64 (1.02–2.63),



FIGURE 3

Cause-specific hazards by different causes-of-death groups. (A) Age <50 years. (B) Age 50–69 years. (C) Age \geq 70 years. (D) Women with stage I breast cancer. (E) Women with stage II–III breast cancer. (F) Women with stage IV breast cancer. (G) CVD divided into cerebrovascular and other CVDs in women diagnosed at age 50–69. (H) CVD divided into cerebrovascular and other CVDs in women diagnosed at age \geq 70. py, person years.

confirm the differences in CSHs by registry, where the highest CSHs were more than 70% higher than the lowest.

4 Discussion

This study was designed to give a complete epidemiologic picture of the event dynamics of causes of death in a competing-mortality setting analyzing absolute risks (CIFs) and hazards (CSHs) side by side. Important CIF variations for different causes of death were identified by age class and stage, and the relevance of causes of death other than breast cancer was demonstrated. Analysis of CSHs revealed marked variations during the follow-up period, identifying peaks that were useful to understand the development of all diseases that may affect women with a diagnosis of breast cancer. This information completes the analysis of CIFs, because it shows that diseases other than breast cancer that contribute significantly to the absolute risk of dying (CIF) do not act uniformly during the follow-up period but are more likely to present in specific moments in time.

These results support our hypothesis that side-by-side computation of CIFs and CSHs may provide a more complete epidemiologic picture of causes of death following a breast cancer diagnosis. With regard to CIF (a measure of absolute risks), our results pointed in the same direction as studies using similar metrics. Clèries et al. (14), despite differences in the structure of their study with respect to ours, obtained similar results. For example, in women with stage I breast cancer we both found that the non-cancer mortality surpassed breast cancer deaths after some years from diagnosis. We are also in agreement with the main result of the study by Afifi et al. (12), according to which causes of death other that breast cancer (mainly heart and cerebrovascular diseases) account for a significant number of deaths among patients with a breast cancer diagnosis.

The computation of absolute risks allowed us to identify CVD as the second leading cause of death over a six-year follow-up with a CIF of 3.60%, amounting to 15.27% of CIFs for all causes. These results are similar to what Gernaat et al. reported in their review (3), according to which deaths from CVD ranged from 1.6% to 10.4%. Comparing our results with those of the studies included in the review is difficult due to differences in the composition of the cohorts; for example, the studies by Hooning et al. (6) and Solanki et al. (30) selected women with stage I-III breast cancer, while our cohort consisted of women with infiltrating breast cancer regardless of stage. In addition, the studies included in the review were performed in earlier periods than ours. Nevertheless, all of them identified CVD as the leading cause of competing mortality with respect to breast cancer. The study by Abdel-Qadir et al. (11) on women with a diagnosis of early-stage breast cancer concluded that CVD death is an important competing risk in older women with early-stage breast cancer, which is in agreement with our results.

The other principal metric we computed was CSH, analyzing it over time since diagnosis. To our knowledge only a paper by Colzani et al. (31) reported similar CSH computations. Like Colzani et al. we observed a breast cancer CSH peak in women aged <50 and 50–69 two to three years from the breast cancer diagnosis, but we failed to see such a peak in women aged ≥70 years. This difference may be due to the different selection criteria of the Colzani study, which included only women aged ≤75 years without metastases at diagnosis. We identified a peak in CSH for CVD in women aged 50–69 years, while Colzani et al. observed a peak in the 65–74-year age class. Demicheli et al. (32) identified peaks similar to ours when analyzing disease progression in breast cancer.

The results of this paper may also be useful to generate hypotheses about disease progression following a breast cancer diagnosis. Breast cancer metastases have been shown to appear at variable intervals (33), and two hypotheses have been proposed to explain this. The first postulated uninterrupted tumor growth, while the second hypothesized tumor progression as a discontinuous process alternating states of dormancy followed by rapid growth. In our study we did not analyze metastatic spread but mortality, which depends also on treatments after the occurrence of metastases. However, some common inferences might be drawn. Although our study was not designed to test these two hypotheses on progression, the presence of multiple peaks in the time trend of some CSHs and the discontinuities we observed favor the dormancy hypothesis. To analyze which factors prompt the onset of tumor growth, *ad hoc* studies will be needed.

The differences we observed in CIFs and CSHs could be explored by taking into account exposure to different diets and environmental pollutants. However, these aspects are beyond the scope of this paper, which aims to present the first population-based analysis in Europe using CSHs and CIFs. Further analysis will be performed on the dataset to explain risk factors.

A further aim of our study was to investigate the geographic variations of CIF and CSH. CIFs and CSHs showed remarkable differences. For example, the CIF for CVD in the cancer registry with the highest value was more than 70% higher than the CIF for CVD in the cancer registry with the lowest value. To our knowledge the only study that reported variations in cause-specific deaths according to geographic region was the one by Ho et al. (22). They drew similar conclusions to ours, identifying an association of geographic factors at breast cancer diagnosis with an increased CVD mortality risk. Since no studies have been published about the geographic distribution of causes of death other than breast cancer and CVD following a breast cancer diagnosis, we cannot compare our study to others in this respect. From a methodological point of view, this study confirms the notion, shared with many experts on prevention, that cancer is a disease showing marked geographical heterogeneity. The implications are relevant from a public health point of view because they highlight the need for nuanced and geographically specific rather than generalized policies, a belief we share with other authors (34). In the area we observed, further investigations are needed to address, for example, the death hazards for CDV in South Tyrol and Ragusa-Caltanissetta with respect to those of the Trapani province, and the breast cancer death rates of Trapani with respect to those of other provinces.

A limitation of our study is the presence of "R99" (Ill-defined and unknown cause of mortality) (n=115) among the ICD-10 mortality codes; however, its percentage, 0.9% of the whole cohort, can hardly be considered to invalidate the results. The analysis of cause-specific mortality may be challenging because of the possible misclassification of causes of death. A study in Italy (35) on a population-based cohort re-evaluated causes of death as classified by death certificates, revealing only a slight overestimate of deaths attributed to breast cancer. A study in Belgium (36) reported a fair agreement (84.7%) between death certificates and medical files for women with a breast cancer diagnosis treated at University Hospitals Leuven. A paper by Schaffar et al. (37) reported a high overall agreement comparing the causes of death by official death certificates and those revised by personnel of the population-based cancer registry of Genève (Switzerland). Considering the results of these studies we can assume that the bias related to misclassification of specific causes of death in our study was minimal.

A further limitation of the study is that information on breast cancer stage was available for only 71.7% of cases.

We decided to observe the follow-up until the sixth year from diagnosis in order to use the most up-to-date data available, which allowed us to describe the most recent epidemiology of the causes of death. However, this choice precluded us from observing what happened from the sixth year onward.

A major strength of our study is that for the first time, to our knowledge, CIFs and CSHs were analyzed side by side, enabling us to measure absolute risks and rate variations at the same time. A further strength is the population-based design, which allowed us to describe what happened in the general population of a vast area, taking into account women at whichever age and whichever breast cancer stage. This prevented the introduction of selection bias and enhanced the generalizability of our results. Likewise, we analyzed for the first time in Europe and to our knowledge the second time worldwide geographic variations in the risks and rates of causespecific mortality. Geographic variations in risks are very important to identify because they may point to a different distribution of modifiable risk factors. The availability of such information may prompt changes in the clinical follow-up of patients and indicate regional differences in the pathologic features of breast cancer. It can also direct etiologic research and be used in the planning of geographically tailored preventive and clinical strategies and resource allocation.

The results of this study also suggest considerations in the setting of tertiary prevention because of the weight of non-breast-cancer deaths among women with a breast cancer diagnosis. The first two causes of death we observed were breast cancer and CVD. The risk of disease progression in breast cancer is associated with modifiable factors such as cigarette smoking, obesity, metabolic syndrome and diabetes, high blood pressure and a sedentary lifestyle, with some studies also identifying a link with atmospheric particulate matter exposure (38-40). Breast cancer progression shares these risk factors with CVD and other cancers such as colorectal cancer, suggesting common prevention pathways. For example, in the setting of physical activity and exercise it has been proposed to extend the Cardiac Rehabilitation model to a Cardio-Oncology Rehabilitation (CORE) model (40), defined as "an exercise-based multicomponent intervention to improve the care and prognosis of a patient's cancer". The model encourages the use of existing, ready-to-use resources, including a network of professionals dedicated to cardiac rehabilitation.

The need to take into account causes of death other than breast cancer in women with a breast cancer diagnosis is also related to survivorship care models. Some authors (41–44) proposed the use of innovative models for effective clinical governance of survivorship care based on a possible role of the "community oncologist", defined as a trained health professional acting as a link between hospital specialists, who are frequently overburdened, and general practitioners. The results of our study encourage the application of new methods for the management of survivorship.

5 Conclusions

The results of our competing-cause analysis show that causes of death other than breast cancer are important in women with a diagnosis of breast cancer, especially women aged \geq 50 years and those with stage I–III cancer, and that causes of death vary with time and also between registry areas. These results underscore the need for oncologists to balance the types and intensity of breast cancer treatment, taking into account possible cardiovascular and other side effects and the application of differential follow-up pathways. Furthermore, the observed geographic differences warrant research into the association of such differences with risk factors. The integrated interpretation of absolute risks and hazards highlights the necessity of surveillance and prevention by a multidisciplinary approach, and the need for community-based, holistic and well-coordinated survivorship care models.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because In respect to privacy legislation the dataset could not be accessed. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to alessandro.borgini@istitutotumori.mi.it.

Ethics statement

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Fondazione IRCCS Istituto Nazionale dei Tumori, Milan, Italy. Record number 155/19.

Author contributions

AB: Data curation, Investigation, Validation, Writing - original draft. PC: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Methodology, Supervision, Writing - original draft. RB: Conceptualization, Writing - review & editing. SF: Data curation, Investigation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. AT: Data curation, Investigation, Writing - original draft. MM: Data curation, Validation, Writing review & editing. FV: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. SE: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. AA: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. CC: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. LB: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. SM: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. GCas: Data curation, Validation, Writing review & editing. RT: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. AF: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. PG: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. GCan: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. TS: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. MC: Data curation, Validation, Writing - review & editing. SB: Data curation, Validation, Writing review & editing. GB: Investigation, Software, Writing - review & editing. VP: Validation, Writing - review & editing. CV: Validation, Writing - review & editing. FT: Validation, Writing - review & editing. MC: Validation, Writing - review & editing. GT: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Writing - review & editing.

Group members of the MA.PA.CA Working Group (WG)

Emma Cozzi¹, Lucia Elena De Lorenzis¹, Fernanda Lucia Lotti¹, Maria Carmela Pagliara¹, Ausilia Sferrazza², Spata Eugenia², Concetta Rollo², Ivan Cometti³, Mariuccia Sala³, Gianfabrizio Ferrari³

¹Statistics and Epidemiology Unit, ASL Brindisi, Brindisi, Italy ²Ragusa Cancer Registry Unit, Azienda Sanitaria Provinciale di Ragusa (ASP), Italy

³ATS della Montagna, S.S. Epidemiologia, Sondrio, Italy

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This

research was funded by: Italian Ministry of Health "Ricerca Corrente" funds.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Marije de Jager for help with the English and for critically reading the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc.2023.1270877/ full#supplementary-material

References

1. IARC: Global Cancer Observatory. Available at: https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/20-Breast-fact-sheet.pdf.

2. Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Nikšić M, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000-14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. *Lancet* (2018) 391(10125):1023–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)33326-3

3. Gernaat SAM, Ho PJ, Rijnberg N, Emaus MJ, Baak LM, Hartman M, et al. Risk of death from cardiovascular disease following breast cancer: a systematic review. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (2017) 164(3):537–55. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4282-9

4. Stoltzfus KC, Zhang Y, Sturgeon K, Sinoway LI, Trifiletti DM, Chinchilli VM, et al. Fatal heart disease among cancer patients. *Nat Commun* (2020) 11:1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-15639-5

5. Patnaik JL, Byers T, DiGuiseppi C, Dabelea D, Denberg TD. Cardiovascular disease competes with breast cancer as the leading cause of death for older females diagnosed with breast cancer: a retrospective cohort study. *Breast Cancer Res* (2011) 13 (3):R64. doi: 10.1186/bcr2901

6. Hooning MJ, Aleman BM, van Rosmalen AJ, Kuenen MA, Klijn JG, van Leeuwen FE. Cause-specific mortality in long term survivors of breast cancer: a 25-year followup study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* (2006) 64:1081–91. doi: 10.1016/ j.ijrobp.2005.10.022

7. Haque R, Yood MU, Geiger AM, Kamineni A, Avila CC, Shi J, et al. Long-term safety of radiotherapy and breast cancer laterality in older survivors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* (2011) 20:2120–6. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-11-0348

8. Weberpals J, Jansen I, Müller OJ, Brenner H. Long-term heart-specific mortality among 347 476 breast cancer patients treated with radiotherapy or chemotherapy: a registrybased cohort study. *Eur Heart J* (2018) 39(43):3896–903. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehy167

9. Agha A, Wang X, Wang M, Lehrer EJ, Horn SR, Rosenberg JC, et al. Long-term risk of death from heart disease among breast cancer patients. *Front Cardiovasc Med* (2022) 9:784409. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2022.784409

10. Ramin C, Schaeffer ML, Zheng Z, Connor AE, Hoffman-Bolton J, Lau B, et al. All-cause and cardiovascular disease mortality among breast cancer survivors in CLUE II, a long-standing community-based cohort. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2021) 113(2):137–45. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djaa096

11. Abdel-Qadir H, Austin PC, Lee DS, Amir E, Tu JV, Thavendiranathan P, et al. A population-based study of cardiovascular mortality following early-stage breast cancer. *JAMA Cardiol* (2017) 2(1):88–93. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2016.3841

12. Afifi AM, Saad AM, Al-Husseini MJ, Elmehrath AO, Northfelt DW, Sonbol MB. Causes of death after breast cancer diagnosis: A US population-based analysis. *Cancer* (2020) 126(7):1559–67. doi: 10.1002/cncr.32648

13. Ameijide A, Clèries R, Carulla M, Buxó M, Marcos-Gragera R, Martínez JM, et al. Cause-specific mortality after a breast cancer diagnosis: A cohort study of 10,195 women in Girona and Tarragona. *Clin Transl Oncol* (2019) 21:1014–25. doi: 10.1007/s12094-018-02015-5

14. Clèries R, Ameijide A, Buxó M, Vilardell M, Martínez JM, Font R, et al. Ten-year probabilities of death due to cancer and cardiovascular disease among breast cancer patients diagnosed in north-eastern Spain. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* (2022) 20 (1):405. doi: 10.3390/ijerph20010405

15. Lau B, Cole SR, Gange SJ. Competing risk regression models for epidemiologic data. Am J Epidemiol (2009) 170(2):244–56. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwp107

16. Austin PC, Lee DS, Fine JP. Introduction to the analysis of survival data in the presence of competing risks. *Circulation* (2016) 133(6):601–9. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.017719

17. Dignam JJ, Zhang Q, Kocherginsky M. The use and interpretation of competing risks regression models. *Clin Cancer Res* (2012) 18(8):2301–8. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2097

18. de Glas NA, Kiderlen M, Vandenbroucke JP, de Craen AJ, Portielje JE, van de Velde CJ, et al. Performing survival analyses in the presence of competing risks: A clinical example in older breast cancer patients. *J Natl Cancer Inst* (2015) 108(5):djv366. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv366

19. Satagopan JM, Ben-Porat L, Berwick M, Robson M, Kutler D, Auerbach AD. A note on competing risks in survival data analysis. *Br J Cancer* (2004) 91(7):1229–35. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602102

20. Wolbers M, Koller MT, Stel VS, Schaer B, Jager KJ, Leffondré K, et al. Competing risks analyses: objectives and approaches. *Eur Heart J* (2014) 35(42):2936–41. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu131

21. Latouche A, Allignol A, Beyersmann J, Labopin M, Fine JP. A competing risks analysis should report results on all cause-specific hazards and cumulative incidence functions. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2013) 66(6):648–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.09.017

22. Ho KL, Shiels MS, Ramin C, Veiga LHS, Chen Y, Berrington de Gonzalez A, et al. County-level geographic disparities in cardiovascular disease mortality among US breast cancer survivors, 2000-2018. *JNCI Cancer Spectr* (2023) 7(1):pkac083. doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkac083

23. Fritz A, Percy C, Jack A, Shanmugarathan K, Sobin L, Parkin D, et al. *International Classification of Diseases for Oncology. 3rd ed.* Geneva: World Health Organization (2013). first revision.

24. World Health Organization. *ICD-10 Version* (2016). Available at: http://apps. who.int/classifications/icd10/browse/2016/en.

25. Sobin LH, Wittekind C. International Union Against Cancer (UICC) TNM Classification of Malignant Tumours. 6th edn. New York: Wiley-Liss (2002).

26. Dignam JJ, Kocherginsky MN. Choice and interpretation of statistical tests used when competing risks are present. J Clin Oncol (2008) 26(24):4027–34. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.12.9866

27. R Development Core Team R. A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing (2007). Available at: http://www.rproject.org.

28. The Epi package for epidemiological analysis with R. Available at: http://bendixcarstensen.com/Epi.

29. Scrucca L, Santucci A, Aversa F. Regression modeling of competing risk using R: An in depth guide for clinicians. *Bone Marrow Transplant* (2010) 45(9):1388–95. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2009.359

30. Solanki PA, Ko NY, Qato DM, Calip GS. Risk of cancer specific, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality among Asian and Pacific Islander breast cancer survivors in the United States, 1991–2011. *Springerplus* (2016) 5:82. doi: 10.1186/s40064-016-1726-3

31. Colzani E, Liljegren A, Johansson AL, Adolfsson J, Hellborg H, Hall PF, et al. Prognosis of patients with breast cancer: causes of death and effects of time since diagnosis, age, and tumor characteristics. *J Clin Oncol* (2011) 29(30):4014–21. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.32.6462

32. Demicheli R, Abbattista A, Miceli R, Valagussa P, Bonadonna G. Time distribution of the recurrence risk for breast cancer patients undergoing mastectomy:

further support about the concept of tumor dormancy. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* (1996) 41(2):177-85. doi: 10.1007/BF01807163

33. Demicheli R, Hrushesky W, Retsky M, Biganzoli E. Interpreting breast cancer survival data by the hazard function: remarkable findings from event dynamics. *Medicina (Kaunas)* (2020) 56(9):468. doi: 10.3390/medicina56090468

34. Vineis P, Wild CP. Global cancer patterns: causes and prevention. *Lancet* (2014) 383(9916):549–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)62224-2

35. Goldoni CA, Bonora K, Ciatto S, Giovannetti L, Patriarca S, Sapino A, et al. IMPACT Working Group. Misclassification of breast cancer as cause of death in a service screening area. *Cancer Causes Control* (2009) 20(5):533–8. doi: 10.1007/s10552-008-9261-3

36. Izci H, Tambuyzer T, Vandeven J, Xicluna J, Wildiers H, Punie K, et al. Cause of death for patients with breast cancer: discordance between death certificates and medical files, and impact on survival estimates. *Arch Public Health* (2021) 79(1):111. doi: 10.1186/s13690-021-00637-w

37. Schaffar R, Rapiti E, Rachet B, Woods L. Accuracy of cause of death data routinely recorded in a population-based cancer registry: impact on cause-specific survival and validation using the Geneva Cancer Registry. *BMC Cancer* (2013) 13:609. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-609

38. Jones LW, Habel LA, Weltzien E, Castillo A, Gupta D, Kroenke CH, et al. Exercise and risk of cardiovascular events in women with nonmetastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* (2016) 34(23):2743–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.6603

39. Tagliabue G, Borgini A, Tittarelli A, van Donkelaar A, Martin RV, Bertoldi M, et al. Atmospheric fine particulate matter and breast cancer mortality: A population-based cohort study. *BMJ Open* (2016) 6(11):e012580. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012580

40. Venturini E, Iannuzzo G, D'Andrea A, Pacileo M, Tarantini L, Canale ML, et al. Oncology and cardiac rehabilitation: An underrated relationship. *J Clin Med* (2020) 9 (6):1810. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061810

41. Halpern MT, Viswanathan M, Evans TS, Birken SA, Basch E, Mayer DK. Models of cancer survivorship care: overview and summary of current evidence. *J Oncol Pract* (2015) 11:e19–27. doi: 10.1200/JOP.2014.001403

42. Tralongo P, Gebbia V, Mercadante S, Bordonaro R, Ferraù F, Barni S, et al. Cancer: new needs, new models. Is it time for a community oncologist? Another brick in the wall. *Cancers (Basel)* (2021) 13(8):1919. doi: 10.3390/cancers13081919

43. Zhao Y, Brettle A, Qiu L. The effectiveness of shared care in cancer survivors—a systematic review. *Int J Integr Care* (2018) 18:2. doi: 10.5334/ijic.3954

44. Ke Y, Ng T, Chan A. Survivorship care models for breast cancer, colorectal cancer, and adolescent and young adult (AYA) cancer survivors: a systematic review. *Support Care Cancer* (2018) 26:2125–21241. doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4197-y
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Elaine Leite, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Giuseppe Vizzielli,

University of Udine, Italy Masamitsu Kanada, Michigan State University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Agata Mikolajczyk-Martinez, agata.mikolajczyk-martinez@ upwr.edu.pl

RECEIVED 12 August 2023 ACCEPTED 31 October 2023 PUBLISHED 14 November 2023

CITATION

Khosrawipour C, Nicpoń J, Kiełbowicz Z, Prządka P, Liszka B, Al-Jundi S, Khosrawipour V, Li S, Lau H, Kulas J, Diakun A, Kielan W, Chabowski M and Mikolajczyk-Martinez A (2023), Intraoperative parameters and postoperative follow-up of foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC). *Front. Pharmacol.* 14:1276759. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1276759

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Khosrawipour, Nicpoń, Kiełbowicz, Prządka, Liszka, Al-Jundi, Khosrawipour, Li, Lau, Kulas, Diakun, Kielan, Chabowski and Mikolajczyk-Martinez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is

permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Intraoperative parameters and postoperative follow-up of foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC)

Carolina Khosrawipour¹, Jakub Nicpoń², Zdzisław Kiełbowicz², Przemysław Prządka², Bartłomiej Liszka², Said Al-Jundi³, Veria Khosrawipour³, Shiri Li⁴, Hien Lau⁵, Joanna Kulas⁶, Agata Diakun⁷, Wojciech Kielan⁷, Mariusz Chabowski^{8,9} and Agata Mikolajczyk-Martinez¹⁰*

¹Faculty of Medicine, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland, ²Department of Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Wroclaw, Poland, ³Department of Surgery, Petrus-Hospital Wuppertal, Teaching Hospital of the Medical University Düsseldorf, Wuppertal, Germany, ⁴Division of Colon and Rectal Surgery, Department of Surgery, New York Presbyterian Hospital, Weill-Cornell College of Medicine, New York, NY, United States, ⁵Department of Surgery, University of California-Irvine (UCI), Irvine, CA, United States, ⁶Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Wroclaw, Poland, ⁷2nd Department of Surgery, 4th Military Hospital, Wroclaw, Poland, ⁹Faculty of Medicine, Wroclaw University of Science and Technology, Wroclaw, Poland, ¹⁰Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Wroclaw University of Science and Technology, Wroclaw, Poland, ¹⁰Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Veterinary Sciences, Wroclaw, Poland

Background: For decades, intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC) has been delivered into the abdominal cavity as a liquid solution. Recently the concept of foam as a carrier-solution for IPC was suggested. This *in-vivo* swine study aims to evaluate the safety, intraoperative parameters, limitations and postoperative complications of foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC).

Methods: Three 65-day-old swine received FBIC with doxorubicin in a laparoscopy setting. Intraoperative parameters were monitored throughout the procedure and an extensive postoperative laboratory monitoring was conducted for 7 days. At day seven an autopsy was performed for further evaluation.

Results: The insufflation of FBIC caused a temporary rise in blood pressure and a simultaneous drop in heart rate. Capnography detected a continuous increase in end-tital CO_2 levels. A temporary drop of intraabdominal temperature was noted. Postoperative blood and serum laboratory results did not indicate any organ failure. No indication of intraperitoneal infections was noted and no structural tissue changes were visible in the autopsy.

Discussion: The application of FBIC appears to be a feasible approach regarding intraoperative anesthesiology and postoperative surgical management. A lack of postoperative structural changes on the seventh day were a promising sign of

safety and biocompatibility. Surgical reintervention would have been possible. To discuss a possible clinical application, further studies are required to investigate long-term safety, pharmacodynamics and the antitumoral potential of FBIC.

KEYWORDS

foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy, chemotherapy, doxorubicin, peritoneal metastasis, laparoscopy

1 Introduction

Decades of clinical and experimental research on the management of Peritoneal Metastasis (PM) have not significantly changed the overall poor prognosis rate. Due to the rapid progression of PM median survival rates are only about 3–4 months (Sadeghi et al., 2000; Goéré et al., 2017; Gelli et al., 2018). Patients suffering from PM endure a lot of morbidities. Significant contributions have been made in an attempt to improve the outcome of peritoneal surface malignancies. The current research focuses on a wide variety of topics such as molecular biology (Cheng et al., 2019; Shao et al., 2023), pharmacological enhancements (Schubert et al., 2019; Khosrawipour T. et al., 2020; Mikolajczyk et al., 2022) and clinically established concepts like HIPEC and cytoreductive surgery (Souadka et al., 2022; Patel et al., 2023). One of the main areas of PM research is the improvement and the better understanding of locoregional and intraperitoneal chemotherapy (IPC).

In the previous decades IPC has been delivered into the abdominal cavity as a liquid solution. However, a range of limitations were witnessed when "classic" liquid chemo solutions were used. Therefore, Pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) had been proposed as a new and improved concept (Khosrawipour et al., 2018; Khosrawipour V. et al., 2020). Since then, the delivery of aerosolized chemotherapy has been used for a selected groups of patients who would otherwise not qualify for Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) and Cytoreductive surgery (CRS) (Khosrawipour et al., 2017). The advantage of PIPAC delivery is due to the physics behind its aerosolized application method (Göhler et al., 2017; Mikolajczyk et al., 2018a; Khosrawipour et al., 2019). Furthermore, a large amount of research has been conducted to try to further improve this technology (Lau et al., 2020; Diakun et al., 2022a; Diakun et al., 2022b; Diakun et al., 2022c; Hwang et al., 2022).

Foam has some unique characteristics. Some possible advantages of foam are slow degradation which allows for an extended drug contact time in the peritoneum. The expansion of foam is multidirectional and more homogenous. This means that the contact of a concentrated drug with peritoneal tissue can be expanded without diluting drug volume. Foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC) could be a feasible option for the treatment of PM. Therefore, it has been proposed as a drug carrier for intraperitoneal chemo applications (Schubert et al., 2020). Our invivo study aims to evaluate FBIC as a new vehicle for IPC delivery. The focus of this study is about the consequences on the cardiovascular system, pulmonary system and the postoperative laboratory parameters. The effects of FBIC will be evaluated by postoperative data which will also be helpful for further clinical application.

2 Methods

2.1 The laparoscopic *in-vivo* swine model

The study includes three 65-day-old swine. A laparoscopy was planned, all swine were prepared for anesthesia and ventilation. The swine received an intramuscular injection of midazolam (0.3 mg/kg, WZF Polfa S.A., Warsaw, Poland), medetomidine (0.02 mg/kg, Cepetor 1 mg/mL, CP-Pharma Handelsgesellschaft, Burgdorf, Germany) and ketamine (9 mg/kg, Ketamine 100 mg/mL, Biowet Puławy sp. z o.o., Warsaw, Poland). Additionally, all swine received analgesia with propofol at 1 mg/kg. The swine were intubated, and anesthesia was continued with isoflurane 1%. Additional analgesia was provided with fentanyl 2 µg/kg. A continuous intravenous fluid line was established, and crystalloid fluid was given at 0,2-0,3 µg/kg/ min. Before surgery all swine were placed in a supine position. An infra-umbilical mini laparotomy was performed. A 10 mm trocar (Kii®Balloon Blunt Tip System, Applied Medical, Rancho Santa Margarita, CA, USA) was inserted through the mini laparotomy. Under visual guidance A 5 mm trocar was placed at a distance to the first trocar. The abdominal cavity was insufflated with CO2 to maintain a capnoperitoneum (Olympus UHI-3 insufflator, Olympus medical life science and industrial divisions, Olympus, Shinjuku, Tokio Japan). A full diagnostic laparoscopy was performed using a 5 mm camera system (Karl Storz 5mm/30° Laparoscope/Tuttlingen, Germany) (Figures 1A-C). After visual confirmation of no pathologies the "foam-insufflation" tube was introduced into the 10 mm trocar. After the tube was inserted and its positioning was confirmed via visual imaging. Afterwards the laparoscope was removed. Then a temperature probe was inserted through the trocar into the abdomen. The CO₂ from the capnoperitoneum was evacuated. For the measurement of the central body temperature, a temperature probe was placed in the esophagus. Another probe was placed outside the abdomen fixed with adhesive tape. An invasive arterial pressure line was placed and ECG electrodes monitored the heart rate.

2.2 Postoperative monitoring

One operative procedure was performed per day. All swine were kept together and were monitored for the next 7 days for behavior changes, feeding habits, indication of pain and surgical site infection. At postoperative days 1, 3 and 7 (1 d, 3 d, 7 d) blood was taken for a blood count and serological measurements. On the last postoperative day (7 d) an autopsy was performed (Figure 1D).



(A). Birds eye view onto a *in-vivo* laparoscopy while foam based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC) is applied. Disinfected operative field is colored red (iodine). Surgical entrance site is visible: a large 10mm trocar is placed periumbilical and a small 5 mm trocar is placed epigastral. Additional temperature sensors are placed to monitor temperature development during the procedure. (B). Transversal section of FBIC delivery. (C). Model of surface interaction of FBIC in the peritoneum. FBIC degradation on the peritoneal surface with highly concentrated doxorubicin fluid-film (large green-arrow). (D). Birds eye view: laparotomy and exploration after autopsy at postoperative day 7.

2.3 Euthanization

The swine were premedicated with an intramuscular injection of midazolam (0.1 mg/kg, Midanium 5 mg/mL), medetomidine (0.02 mg/kg, Cepetor 1 mg/mL) and ketamine (8 mg/kg, Ketamine 100 mg/mL) mixture. After that, they were euthanized according to recommendations (Garber et al., 2011) with an intravenous injection by Sodium Pentobarbital with Pentobarbital (50 mg/kg with 12 mg/kg, Morbital 133,3 mg/mL + 26,7 mg/mL).

2.4 The bicarbonate-based foam carrier

The ratio of foam ingredients for the bicarbonate-foam were mathematically and experimentally predetermined. The basic chemical reactions were analyzed and quantified in order to determine the most suitable molar combination. The major components of foam are citric acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA) and sodium bicarbonate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). Doxorubicin hydrochloride (PFS[®], 2 mg/mL, Pfizer, Sandwich, United Kingdom) was added as a chemotherapeutic component (1,5 mg/meter² body surface). Furthermore, iodide-based contrast media was used for CT (AccupaqueTM 350 mg J/ml, GE Healthcare, Chicago USA).

2.5 Statistical analyses

Experiments were independently performed. The statistical analyses were done with GraphPad Prism [GraphPad Software Inc., version 8.0.2 (263)]. Descriptive statistics included mean, median and percentiles. Probability (p) values were calculated via one factorial ANOVA (parametric) test results include: *p < 0.05 and **p < 0.005, and #p > 0.05, with p-value <0.05 considered to be statistically significant.

2.6 Ethical approval and regulations

An Approval of the Local Board on Animal Care was obtained for the *in-vivo* swine experiments (UCHWALA NR 029/2021/P1) according to Polish regulations and European Union law. The data in the study displays a multi-stage study on *in-vivo* FBIC.

3 Results

The *in-vivo* experiments on the three swine were successfully conducted. No intraoperative or postoperative complications were detected. No major anesthesiologic complications were observed. There was no indication of anaphylaxis or cardiovascular collapse and no problems concerning intubation or extubation of the swine occurred. No (general) hypothermia or respiratory depression was noted. 30 min into the procedure all swine were successfully extubated. 20 min after insufflation a camera was inserted into the peritoneum in order to visualize the abdominal cavity. The intraabdominal foam did not interfere with the diagnostic overview. After a total of 30 min the trocars were removed and the mini laparotomy was sutured. No surgical problems or complications were observed during and after surgery. All animals survived the following postsurgical recovery. After the procedure all swine drank and ate adequately. No pain or behavioral changes were observed during the days of recovery.



Intraoperative data from temperature probes, capnometry and respiratory rate. The mean values calculated from all three swine are represented by the data points. (A). Data from the three temperature probes at various locations: skin probe on the abdomen, intraabdominal probe and central body temperature (esophageal probe). (B). Expiratory CO_2 -levels in the capnometry in mmHg.



Intraoperative data concerning (A). heart rate and (B). blood pressure (via invasive measurement). The mean values calculated from all three swine are represented by the data points. (A). Mean heart rate from three swine with the standard deviation. (B). Mean blood pressure from all three swine with standard deviation. Extubating phase and postoperative monitoring are marked in grey.

3.1 Development of central body temperature, abdominal cavity and skin temperature

Within the cavity a rapid reduction of temperature can be observed during the insufflation of the bicarbonate foam. Within the first 5 min the medium temperature drops down to 20,6°Celsius and then steadily increases again (Figure 2A). After 15 min, it is above 35°Celsius. During the procedure the skin temperature on the abdomen decreases. It reaches its lowest point 15 min into the procedure when it drops to 32,5°Celcius (mean). After that it increases slowly and reaches around 35,4°Celsius (mean). During the whole procedure the central body temperature remains stable and does not change significantly.

The capnography shows an increase in mean end-tital CO_2 (Figure 2B). The initial level of 74 mmHg CO_2 increases to around 94–95 mmHg. This increase happens within the first 15 min and plateaus afterwards.

3.2 Results on heart rate and blood pressure

In the first 5 min of the procedure the mean heart rate decreases from a baseline of 123 ± 6 beats per minutes down to 95 ± 6 . 20 min into the procedure the heart rate then increases again and reaches its initial level (Figure 3). After this the heart rate remains stable.

The blood pressure increases from the beginning of the foam insufflation and reaches its peak at about 10 min into the procedure where it is 134 ± 12 mmHg. After this the pressure declines continuously. This can be observed for the systolic, diastolic and the mean blood pressure.

3.3 Development of intraoperative and postoperative blood count

The red blood count could be gathered form the intraoperative measurements at 0 min and at 30 min into the procedure.



Blood work-up one, three and 7 days after surgery. The mean values calculated from all three swine are represented by the data points. Listed below are red blood cell count (left) (A) inclusive intraoperative measurements at 0* and 30* minutes into surgery and also white blood cell count (middle) (B) and platelet count (right) (C). Medium and standard deviations are presented. Red and green lines indicate the normal reference levels (95% Interval - red: upper limited and green: lower limit) for the parameters. The *p* values are indicated as *p < 0.05, **p < 0.005, and #p > 0.05, with *p*-value <0.05 considered to be statistically significant.

Furthermore, data was gathered on the first, third and seventh postoperative day. The red blood count did not change and remained within the reference levels of above 5 million per microliter. The white blood count remains at the upper reference level of around 22.000 per microliter. Although no significant changes could be observed there was a peak within the values on the third(3 d) postoperative day (Figures 4A–C). The postoperative platelet count varied a lot on the first (1 d) ($5,5 \pm 1,6$) ×106/µl, 3 d ($4,7 \pm 0,8$) ×106/µl and seventh day (7d) ($5,8 \pm 1,3$) ×106/µl. The platelet count did not exceed the upper reference which is around 3-7 ×106/µl.

3.4 Development of postoperative serum parameters

The kidney related parameters remained mostly stable. The creatinine level did not change significantly (p < 0.05) from the first day 0,7 ± 0,1 mg/dL to 7d 0,77 ± 0,15 mg/dL although a slight mean increase was noted. The maximum level for creatinine at 2,1 mg/dL was not reached (Figures 5A–C). The blood urea levels peaked on the third day with 13,7 ± 5,1 mg/dL but decreased again on the seventh day with 7 ± 1 mg/dL. The maximum physiological level for blood urea 30 mg/dl was not reached. While the white blood count was slightly above the upper reference range, the levels of C-reactive protein remained below the upper reference limit of \leq 0,4 mg/dL. Therefore, no indications of an extensive tissue infection were present.

3.5 Development of postoperative liver parameters

The blood levels of two liver enzymes were measured. One was Alanine Aminotransferase (ALT) and the other one was Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP) (Figures 5D, E). The mean ALT level was at $81,7 \pm 13,3$ U/L for the first day, $85,7 \pm 23,6$ U/L for the third day and $87,7 \pm 28,1$ U/L for the seventh day. During these 3 days the ALT level was stable but still higher than the refence range of 9–43 U/L. No levels of ALT were available from before the procedure, so no comparison was possible.

The ALP level was at 284,7 \pm 89,2 U/L for the first day, 302 \pm 43,2 U/L for the third day and 260,7 \pm 51,7 U/L for the seventh day. During all 3 days the levels of ALP were close to the upper reference level of 294 U/L. There is no indication of an increase or decrease of ALP levels during the observed interval. For the ALP no preoperative levels were available, so a comparison was not possible.

4 Discussion

The intraperitoneal administration of chemotherapeutic solution is an established treatment of PM. The local instillation of chemotherapeutic solution increases cell toxicity when it is in direct contact with the cancer nodules of the peritoneal cavity. Even though extensive attempts have been made to improve IPC delivery (Mikolajczyk et al., 2020; Buggisch et al., 2022; Khosrawipour et al., 2023a) limitations still exist in both liquid instillations as well as aerosol-based systems (Dedrick and Flessner, 1997; Sugarbaker and Ryan, 2012; Khosrawipour et al., 2016a; Bellendorf et al., 2018). These limitations include inhomogeneous drug distribution and limited penetration into PM. Novel substances have also been used for intraperitoneal delivery however some show limited drug tissue penetration (Mikolajczyk et al., 2018b). Therefore, new delivery methods have been presented to improve IPC (Buggisch et al., 2022; Hwang et al., 2022). For the patients to have a better outcome, new physical methods of drug delivery have been used to enhance the antitumoral effect of IPC (Khosrawipour et al., 2016b; Khosrawipour et al., 2023a). One of these new physical methods is FBIC (Schubert et al., 2020).



Blood work-up one, three and 7 days after surgery. The mean values calculated from all three swine are represented by the data points. Uppersection: listed are (A). creatinine, (B). blood urea level and (C). C-reactive protein. Medium and standard deviations are presented. Liver parameters are listed in the lower section with (D). alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and (E). Alkaline Phosphatase (ALP). Mean and standard deviations are presented. Green lines indicate the lower limit and red lines indicate the upper limit for the parameters. The *p* values are indicated as **p* < 0.05, ***p* < 0.005, and #*p* > 0.05, with *p*-value <0.05 considered to be statistically significant.

In this study we were able to demonstrate that FBIC is a feasible concept. The data on intraoperative vital parameters, capnography, body temperature and respiratory rate indicate that the insufflation of FBIC is compatible with total anesthesia under external ventilation. Analyses of the postoperative blood work reveal no major changes on the red and white blood cell count and no changes on the platelet cell count. The postoperative time was limited to 7 days which shortened the observation of pathologies in the swine. However, within this period the large exposure to citric acid did not cause liver tissue necrosis.

Although the ALT was slightly above the upper reference range, ALP levels were not increased. This observation is relevant for FBIC because it shows that there is only limited damage to the liver. Citric acid at higher dosages can cause oxidative damage of hepatocytes by decreasing the activity of antioxidative enzymes. This has been studied on *in-vivo* mice models after intraperitoneal delivery with exposure to large amounts of citric acid (120–480 mg/kg-body weight) (Chen et al., 2014). However, no final conclusions regarding liver toxicity could be made because preoperative levels of ALT and ALP were not available. This needs to be reexamined in follow up studies.

CRP and white blood count show no signs of infection or inflammation. This is highly relevant as FBIC could have induced local inflammation, perforation or necrosis on large surfaces such as the peritoneum. This is important because of the effects that barium sulfate can have when it gets into contact with the peritoneal cavity. Although barium sulfate is a safe and non-toxic substance for oral intake it causes severe inflammation (Williams and Harned, 1991) upon entering the peritoneal cavity.

At the beginning, it was not possible to exclude a similar reaction on the peritoneal surface with the intraperitoneal delivery of FBIC. Due to this, it was important to evaluate the interaction of FBIC with the peritoneal surface. Therefore, on the seventh day the swine were autopsied. A thorough examination revealed no intraabdominal macroscopic pathologies nor signs of "changes" in the peritoneum (Figure 1D). This was also supported by histopathological analyses of the peritoneal tissue at various locations which is currently studied (Khosrawipour et al., 2023b). The core body temperature did not change even though the intraabdominal temperature decreased. At this point it is important to mention that the chemical reaction of bicarbonate and citric acid is endotherm. Looking forward we want to establish a better understanding of the temperature and distribution profile of FBIC. These aspects have been studied for the HIPEC in more detail (Cianc et al., 2018).

However, based on the presented data we can assume that the bicarbonate carrier system does not cause significant local toxicity and inflammation.

Intraoperative and early postoperative systemic effects of FBIC could potentially be more critical than concerns over local tissue biocompatibility.

The limited number of swine for the pilot project were set by the animal ethic commission. We hope that the current results will enable us to receive approval for a larger study series where more parameters can be analyzed. The postoperative observation was limited to 7 days. Increasing the overall observation time to 30 days or even 6 weeks would be helpful for a more substantial evaluation of the procedure. However, the combination of FBIC with a surgical procedure such as partial intestinal resection with anastomosis is feasible and could be considered in a follow-up study.

After further studies potential systemic effects could be addressed. However, it is very promising that we do not observe any adverse reactions 7 days into the procedure. Although we only had three swine in this study no postoperative complications and kidney, liver and pulmonary failures could be observed 7 days postoperatively.

The safety of this method needs to be confirmed by other studies involving more subjects. The evaluation of toxicity in an *in-vivo* setting and the pharmacological and antitumoral potentials of FBIC must be studied as well.

5 Conclusion

The unique characteristics of foam might be significantly advantageous for IPC treatment in PM. From an anesthesiologic perspective, if intraperitoneal foam is applied the challenges involving abdominal expansion and intraperitoneal degradation are manageable. The early postoperative organ functions do not seem to be critically impaired by the particular carrier-system. Although the current results are encouraging further research needs to be conducted to evaluate pharmacological and antitumoral potentials of FBIC as well as safety beyond the postoperative period of 7 days.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The animal study was approved by the Ethic Committee Name: Bioethics Committee of the Hirszfeld Institute of Immunology and Experimental Therapy Approval Code: 029/2021/P1 Approval Date: 19.05.2021r. The study was conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

CK: Investigation, Methodology, Writing-original draft. JN: Conceptualization, Project administration, Writing-original draft. ZK: Conceptualization, Project administration, Writing-review and editing. PP: Writing-review and editing, Investigation, Methodology. BL: Investigation, Methodology, Writing-review and editing. SA-J: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Writing-review editing. VK: Conceptualization, and Methodology, Writing-original draft. SL: Conceptualization, Writing-review editing. Formal Analysis, and HL: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Writing-review and editing. JK: Software, Visualization, Writing-review and editing. AD: Investigation, Validation, Writing-review and editing. WK: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing-review and editing. MC: Conceptualization, Methodology, Writing-review and editing. AM-M: Conceptualization, Investigation, Supervision, Writing-original draft.

Funding

The authors declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. The APC is financed/co-financed by Wroclaw University of Environmental and Life Sciences.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The authors declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Bellendorf, A., Khosrawipour, V., Khosrawipour, T., Siebigteroth, S., Cohnen, J., Diaz-Carballo, D., et al. (2018). Scintigraphic peritoneography reveals a non-uniform 99mTc-Pertechnetat aerosol distribution pattern for Pressurized Intra-Peritoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy (PIPAC) in a swine model. *Surg. Endosc.* 32 (1), 166–174. doi:10. 1007/s00464-017-5652-4

Buggisch, J. R., Göhler, D., Sobilo, J., Lerondel, S., Rezniczek, G. A., Stintz, M., et al. (2022). Development and technical validation of an ultrasound nebulizer to deliver intraperitoneal pressurized aerosols in a rat colon cancer peritoneal metastases model. *BMC Cancer* 22 (1), 570. doi:10.1186/s12885-022-09668-0

Chen, X., Lv, Q., Liu, Y., and Deng, W. (2014). Study on injury effect of food additive citric acid on liver tissue in mice. *Cytotechnology* 66 (2), 275–282. doi:10.1007/s10616-013-9567-1

Cheng, J., Zhao, L., Zhang, Y., Qin, Y., Guan, Y., Zhang, T., et al. (2019). Understanding the mechanisms of resistance to CAR T-cell Therapy in malignancies. *Front. Oncol.* 9, 1237. doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.01237

Cianci, S., Vizzielli, G., Fagotti, A., Pacelli, F., Di Giorgio, A., Tropea, A., et al. (2018). A novel HIPEC technique using hybrid CO2 recirculation system: intra-abdominal diffusion test in a porcine model. *Updat. Surg.* 70 (4), 529–533. doi:10.1007/s13304-018-0557-x

Dedrick, R. L., and Flessner, M. F. (1997). Pharmacokinetic problems in peritoneal drug administration: tissue penetration and surface exposure. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 89, 480–487. doi:10.1093/jnci/89.7.480

Diakun, A., Khosrawipour, T., Mikolajczyk-Martinez, A., Nicpoń, J., Thelen, S., Kiełbowicz, Z., et al. (2022a). Safety, feasibility, and application of intraperitoneal gasbased hyperthermia beyond 43°C in the treatment of peritoneal metastasis: an *in-vivo* pilot study. *Front. Oncol.* 12, 953920. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.953920

Diakun, A., Khosrawipour, T., Mikolajczyk-Martinez, A., Kuropka, P., Nicpoń, J., Kiełbowicz, Z., et al. (2022b). In-vivo thermodynamic exploration of gas-based intraperitoneal hyperthermia. *Front. Oncol.* 12, 925724. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.925724

Diakun, A., Khosrawipour, T., Mikolajczyk-Martinez, A., Nicpoń, J., Kiełbowicz, Z., Prządka, P., et al. (2022c). The onset of *in-vivo* dehydration in gas -based intraperitoneal hyperthermia and its cytotoxic effects on colon cancer cells. *Front. Oncol.* 12, 927714. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.927714

Garber, J. C., Barbee, R. W., Bielitzko, J. T., Clayton, L. A., Donovan, J. C., Hendriksen, C.F. M., et al. (2011). *Guide for the Care and use of laboratory animals: eighth edition.* Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press. Available from: http://www.nap.edu/catalog/12910 (Accessed June, 2023).

Gelli, M., Huguenin, J. F. L., de Baere, T., Benhaim, L., Mariani, A., Boige, V., et al. (2018). Peritoneal and extraperitoneal relapse after previous curative treatment of peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: what survival can we expect? *Eur. J. Cancer* 100, 94–103. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2018.04.015

Goéré, D., Passot, G., Gelli, M., Levine, E. A., Bartlett, D. L., Sugarbaker, P. H., et al. (2017). Complete cytoreductive surgery plus HIPEC for peritoneal metastases from unusual cancer sites of origin: results from a worldwide analysis issue of the Peritoneal Surface Oncology Group International (PSOGI). *Int. J. Hyperth.* 33 (5), 520–527. doi:10. 1080/02656736.2017.1301576

Göhler, D., Khosrawipour, V., Khosrawipour, T., Diaz-Carballo, D., Falkenstein, T. A., Zieren, J., et al. (2017). Technical description of the microinjection pump (MIP[®]) and granulometric characterization of the aerosol applied for pressurized intraperitoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). *Surg. Endosc.* 31 (4), 1778–1784. doi:10.1007/s00464-016-5174-5

Hwang, D. W., Lee, E. J., Chung, J. Y., Lee, E. J., Kim, D., Oh, S. H., et al. (2022). Optimal nozzle position and patient's posture to enhance drug delivery into the peritoneum during rotational intraperitoneal pressurized aerosol chemotherapy in a swine model. *J. Pers. Med.* 12 (11), 1799. doi:10.3390/jpm12111799

Khosrawipour, V., Khosrawipour, T., Falkenstein, T. A., Diaz-Carballo, D., Förster, E., Osma, A., et al. (2016a). Evaluating the effect of Micropump® position, internal pressure and doxorubicin dosage on efficacy of pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) in an *ex vivo* model. *Anticancer Res.* 36 (9), 4595–4600. doi:10. 21873/anticanres.11008

Khosrawipour, V., Giger-Pabst, U., Khosrawipour, T., Pour, Y. H., Diaz-Carballo, D., Förster, E., et al. (2016b). Effect of irradiation on tissue penetration depth of doxorubicin after pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) in a novel ex-vivo model. *J. Cancer* 7 (8), 910–914. doi:10.7150/jca.14714

Khosrawipour, T., Khosrawipour, V., and Giger-Pabst, U. (2017). Pressurized Intra Peritoneal Aerosol Chemotherapy in patients suffering from peritoneal carcinomatosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. *PLoS One* 12 (10), e0186709. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0186709

Khosrawipour, V., Mikolajczyk, A., Schubert, J., and Khosrawipour, T. (2018). Pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) via endoscopical microcatheter system. *Anticancer Res.* 38 (6), 3447–3452. doi:10.21873/anticanres.12613 Khosrawipour, T., Schubert, J., Khosrawipour, V., Chaudhry, H., Grzesiak, J., Arafkas, M., et al. (2019). Particle stability and structure on the peritoneal surface in pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC) analysed by electron microscopy: first evidence of a new physical concept for PIPAC. *Oncol. Lett.* 17 (6), 4921–4927. doi:10. 3892/ol.2019.10162

Khosrawipour, T., Schubert, J., Kulas, J., Migdal, P., Arafkas, M., Bania, J., et al. (2020a). Creating nanocrystallized chemotherapy: the differences in pressurized aerosol chemotherapy (PAC) via intracavitary (IAG) and extracavitary aerosol generation (EAG) regarding particle generation, morphology and structure. *J. Cancer* 11 (6), 1308–1314. doi:10.7150/jca.39097

Khosrawipour, V., Mikolajczyk, A., Paslawski, R., Plociennik, M., Nowak, K., Kulas, J., et al. (2020b). Intrathoracic aerosol chemotherapy via spray-catheter. *Mol. Clin. Oncol.* 12 (4), 350–354. doi:10.3892/mco.2020.1999

Khosrawipour, C., Diakun, A., Li, S., Lau, H., Kulas, J., Khosrawipour, V., et al. (2023a). Triple-therapy of peritoneal metastasis-partial-dehydration under hyperthermic condition combined with chemotherapy: the first preliminary in-vitro results. *Pharm. (Basel)* 16 (5), 763. doi:10.3390/ph16050763

Khosrawipour, C., Nicpoń, J., Kiełbowicz, Z., Prządka, P., Liszka, B., Khosrawipour, V., et al. (2023b). Drug distribution and penetration of foam-based intraperitoneal chemotherapy (FBIC). *Pharm. (Basel)* 16, 1393. [accepted for publication]. doi:10.3390/ph16101393

Lau, H., Khosrawipour, T., Mikolajczyk, A., Frelkiewicz, P., Nicpon, J., Arafkas, M., et al. (2020). Intraperitoneal chemotherapy of the peritoneal surface using highintensity ultrasound (HIUS): investigation of technical feasibility, safety and possible limitations. *J. Cancer* 11 (24), 7209–7215. doi:10.7150/jca.48519

Mikolajczyk, A., Khosrawipour, V., Schubert, J., Chaudhry, H., Pigazzi, A., and Khosrawipour, T. (2018a). Particle stability during pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). *Anticancer Res.* 38 (8), 4645–4649. doi:10.21873/anticanres. 12769

Mikolajczyk, A., Khosrawipour, V., Schubert, J., Grzesiak, J., Chaudhry, H., Pigazzi, A., et al. (2018b). Effect of liposomal doxorubicin in pressurized intra-peritoneal aerosol chemotherapy (PIPAC). *J. Cancer* 9 (23), 4301–4305. doi:10.7150/jca.26860

Mikolajczyk, A., Khosrawipour, T., Kulas, J., Migdal, P., Arafkas, M., Nicpon, J., et al. (2020). The structural effect of high intensity ultrasound on peritoneal tissue: a potential vehicle for targeting peritoneal metastases. *BMC Cancer* 20 (1), 481. doi:10.1186/ s12885-020-06981-4

Mikolajczyk, A., Khosrawipour, V., Lau, H., Li, S., Migdal, P., Labbé, M. K., et al. (2022). Exploring the potential of taurolidine in inducing mobilization and detachment of colon cancer cells: a preliminary in-vitro study. *BMC Pharmacol. Toxicol.* 23 (1), 38. doi:10.1186/s40360-022-00572-8

Patel, M., Arora, A., Mukherjee, D., and Mukherjee, S. (2023). Effect of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy on survival and recurrence rates in advanced gastric cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. J. Surg.* 109, 2435–2450. Epub ahead of print. doi:10.1097/JS9.00000000000457

Sadeghi, B., Arvieux, C., Glehen, O., Beaujard, A. C., Rivoire, M., Baulieux, J., et al. (2000). Peritoneal carcinomatosis from non-gynecologic malignancies: results of the EVOCAPE 1 multicentric prospective study. *Cancer* 88 (2), 358–363. doi:10.1002/(sici) 1097-0142(2000115)88:2<358:aid-cncr16>3.0.co;2-0

Schubert, J., Khosrawipour, T., Pigazzi, A., Kulas, J., Bania, J., Migdal, P., et al. (2019). Evaluation of cell-detaching effect of edta in combination with oxaliplatin for a possible application in HIPEC after cytoreductive surgery: a preliminary in-vitro study. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 25 (45), 4813–4819. doi:10.2174/1381612825666191106153623

Schubert, J., Khosrawipour, T., Reinhard, S., Arafkas, M., Martino, A., Bania, J., et al. (2020). The concept of foam as a drug carrier for intraperitoneal chemotherapy, feasibility, cytotoxicity and characteristics. *Sci. Rep.* 10 (1), 10341. doi:10.1038/ s41598-020-67236-7

Shao, M. M., Pei, X. B., Chen, Q. Y., Wang, F., Wang, Z., and Zhai, K. (2023). Macrophage-derived exosome promotes regulatory T cell differentiation in malignant pleural effusion. *Front. Immunol.* 14, 1161375. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2023.1161375

Souadka, A., Essangri, H., Majbar, M. A., Benkabbou, A., Boutayeb, S., You, B., et al. (2022). Hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy and cytoreductive surgery in ovarian cancer: an umbrella review of meta-analyses. *Front. Oncol.* 12, 809773. doi:10.3389/fonc.2022.809773

Sugarbaker, P. H., and Ryan, D. P. (2012). Cytoreductive surgery plus hyperthermic perioperative chemotherapy to treat peritoneal metastases from colorectal cancer: standard of care or an experimental approach? *Lancet Oncol.* 13 (8), e362–e369. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70210-3

Williams, S. M., and Harned, R. K. (1991). Recognition and prevention of barium enema complications. *Curr. Probl. Diagn Radiol.* 20, 123–151. doi:10.1016/0363-0188(91)90017-v

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Masamitsu Kanada, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY

Adriano Sabino, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil Shahryar Khoshtinat Nikkhoi, Dana–Farber Cancer Institute, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE John A. Ronald, is jronald@robarts.ca

RECEIVED 29 September 2023 ACCEPTED 27 November 2023 PUBLISHED 07 December 2023

CITATION

Fu Y, Wang T and Ronald JA (2023), A synthetic notch (synNotch) system linking intratumoral immune-cancer cell communication to a synthetic blood biomarker assay. *Front. Pharmacol.* 14:1304194. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1304194

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Fu, Wang and Ronald. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A synthetic notch (synNotch) system linking intratumoral immune-cancer cell communication to a synthetic blood biomarker assay

YangHao Fu¹, TianDuo Wang¹ and John A. Ronald^{1,2*}

¹Imaging Laboratories, Department of Medical Biophysics, Robarts Research Institute, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada, ²Lawson Health Research Institute, London, ON, Canada

Introduction: Cellular immunotherapy has greatly improved cancer treatment in recent years. For instance, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cell therapy has been proven highly effective in treating hematological malignancies, and many CAR cell designs are being explored for solid tumors. However, many questions remain why responses differ across patients and some tumor types are resistant. Improved and relatively inexpensive ways to monitor these cells could provide some answers. Clinically, blood tests are regularly used to monitor these therapies, but blood signals often do not reflect the activity of immune cells within the tumor(s). Here, using the synthetic Notch (synNotch) receptor that tethers antigen binding to customized transgene expression, we linked intratumoral immune-cancer cell communication to a simple secreted reporter blood test. Specifically, we engineered immune cells with a CD19-targeted synNotch receptor and demonstrated that binding to CD19 on cancer cells *in vivo* resulted in the production of secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) at levels that are readily detected in the blood.

Methods and Results: Jurkat T cells were engineered via sequential lentiviral transduction of two components: an anti-CD19 synNotch receptor and a synNotch response element encoding SEAP. Co-culture of engineered cells with CD19⁺, but not CD19⁻, Nalm6 cells, resulted in significantly elevated SEAP in media. Nod-scid-gamma (NSG) mice were subcutaneously injected with either CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ Nalm6 cells. Intratumoral injection of engineered T cells (1x10⁷) resulted in significantly elevated blood SEAP activity in mice bearing CD19⁺ tumors (n = 7), but not CD19⁻ tumors (n = 5).

Discussion: Our synNotch reporter system allows for the monitoring of antigendependent intratumoral immune-cancer cell interactions through a simple and convenient blood test. Continued development of this system for different target antigens of interest should provide a broadly applicable platform for improved monitoring of many cell-based immunotherapies during their initial development and clinical translation, ultimately improving our understanding of design considerations and patient-specific responses.

KEYWORDS

cancer, immunotherapy, blood test, synthetic biology, synthetic notch receptor, secreted reporter gene

1 Introduction

Cell-cell communication plays a vital role in human development, homeostasis, and pathogenesis (Schultz, 1985; Wilson et al., 2000; Trosko and Ruch, 2003). The advent of therapeutic cells specifically designed to interact and communicate with diseased cells has ushered in a new era in the treatment of numerous medical conditions. This approach has already shown promising results for infectious diseases (Zumla et al., 2016), immunologic deficiency syndromes (Arnold and Heimall, 2017; Schlabe and Rockstroh, 2018), neurodegenerative and movement disorders (Lunn et al., 2011), as well as cancer (June et al., 2018; Mehta et al., 2018).

T cells have been extensively used in cell-based cancer immunotherapies due to their cytotoxic capabilities, and the ability to home to and proliferate within tumors upon adoptive transfer (Sadelain et al., 2003; Porter et al., 2011; Maude et al., 2014; Weber et al., 2020). Specifically, T cells can elicit cytotoxic effects through interactions between endogenous or engineered receptors with molecular targets on cancer cells (Grakoui et al., 1999; Huppa and Davis, 2003). Although these therapies have been transformative for the treatment of numerous malignancies, their ineffectiveness in some individuals often stem from poor tumor homing, a hostile tumor microenvironment, tumor heterogeneity, and antigen loss or escape (El-Sayes et al., 2021; Miao et al., 2021). Moreover, on-target/offtumor toxicities can sometimes result in detrimental and even lifethreatening side effects (Zhang et al., 2016; Graham et al., 2018; Cao et al., 2019; Penack and Koenecke, 2020; Akhoundi et al., 2021). To better understand the effects of these therapies in individual patients, assays to monitor therapeutic cells over time would be of great benefit to develop safer and more robust immunotherapies.

Affordable and minimally invasive blood assays offer convenient ways to monitor in vivo biological events. For instance, blood tests using quantitative PCR or flow cytometry have been used to directly monitor the levels and persistence of adoptively transferred immune cells over time (Demaret et al., 2021). However, there is often a disconnect between circulating blood measures of immune cell numbers and how many there are in tumors, the site of action. For instance, quantitative measures of intratumoral chimeric antigen receptor T (CAR-T) cells using PET reporter gene imaging was shown to not correlate with blood levels of CAR-T cells in mice (Minn et al., 2019). Moreover, current blood assays do not easily reflect the activity and behavior of intratumoral T cells. Here we sought to develop an assay that links antigen-specific T cell interactions with cancer cells within tumors to an easily measurable synthetic biomarker in the blood. Specifically, we leveraged an activatable synthetic biology system called the synthetic Notch (synNotch) receptor to relay intratumoral immune cell-cancer cell communications into the blood activity levels of a secreted reporter gene.

The synNotch system was described in a series of papers in 2016 as a general platform for building novel cell-cell contact signaling pathways (Roybal et al., 2016a; Morsut et al., 2016; Cho et al., 2018). This system is composed of both the synNotch receptor and the synNotch response element (RE), which are co-engineered into the same cell. Traditionally, like clinically-used CARs, the extracellular domain of the synNotch receptor is comprised of the single-chain variable fragment (scFv). Upon binding to the target antigen, this interaction triggers the cleavage of the GAL4-VP64 intracellular domain of the receptor. Subsequently, the GAL4-VP64 fusion protein binds to the upstream activation sequence (UAS) located within a minimal promoter. This binding event leads to the activation of transcription, thereby driving the expression of transgenes of interest encoded in the RE. By maintaining the Notch core regulatory region but appending a customized extracellular input recognition and intracellular output transcription activator module, novel cell-to-cell contact signaling pathways that carry out user-defined functionalities can be established (Roybal et al., 2016a). We have recently linked synNotch antigen binding with the transcriptional activation of imaging reporter genes to monitor immune cell-cancer cell communication in vivo with both bioluminescence and clinically relevant magnetic resonance imaging (Wang et al., 2023). Similarly, a next-gen synNotch system has been linked to positron emission tomography (PET) reporter gene expression and antigen-activation has been detected using PET (Shin et al., 2023). However, while imaging provides important spatial information, the ability to perform repetitive imaging can be expensive, especially in patients. To complement our imaging system, we developed a synNotch system where the output is a convenient blood assay using a human-derived secreted reporter gene called secreted embryonic alkaline phosphatase (SEAP) (Figure 1A).

SEAP stands out as the most widely utilized secretable reporter protein due to its distinct characteristics. It is a truncated form of human placental alkaline phosphatase that is expressed specifically during embryogenesis, with minimal post-natal expression (Berger et al., 1988; Tannous and Teng, 2011; Ronald et al., 2015), rendering it a highly specific blood reporter. SEAP exhibits heat stability, specifically, the heating of serum samples to 65°C enables its selective detection in assays without detecting other phosphatases that may be present in the blood (Bronstein et al., 1994; Wang et al., 2001). Commercial SEAP detection assays are also extremely sensitive over at least a 4-log order concentration range, with detection limits in the picogram per milliliter range. Additionally, murine SEAP showed no immunogenic potential in mice, implying that human-derived SEAP is safe for clinical translation, and has already been successfully used in the clinic (Wang et al., 2001; Kemp et al., 2008). For the antigen target of our synNotch receptor we chose CD19 as a proof-of-concept due to its effectiveness as a target for CAR-T cell therapies against B cell leukemia and lymphomas (Davila et al., 2015; Hay and Turtle, 2017).

In this study we developed and validated a novel synNotch system to provide specific readouts of intratumoral CD19-triggered immunecancer cell communication by measuring blood SEAP activity levels. Continued development of this cell-cell communication blood assay, and merger with other readouts such as imaging, has the potential to provide extended insight on the efficacy of T cell immunotherapy during both its development and clinical integration.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Lentiviral design and production

A lentiviral transfer plasmid encoding encoding an anti-CD19 synNotch receptor driven by pPGK was acquired from Addgene (pHR_PGK_antiCD19_synNotch_Gal4VP64 was a gift from Wendell Lim; Addgene plasmid # 79125; http://n2t.net/addgene: 79125; RRID:Addgene_79125).



samples. (B) T cells were first transduced with a response element (RE) containing SEAP and a constitutively expressed blue fluorescence protien (BFP) driven by the phosphoglycerate kinase 1 promoter (pPGK) for cell sorting. (C) Flow cytometry of naïve and twice transduced T cells post-sorting, assessing the expression of RE (BEP⁺) and synNotch (Myc⁺). (D) Relative growth rates of T cell populations at 24- and 48-hours post-seeding (n = 3). Data presented as meam \pm SD.

A response element (RE) construct was made by also acquiring a lentiviral transfer plasmid containing the GAL4-VP64 inducible upstream activation sequence from Addgene (pHR_5x Gal4 UAS was a gift from Wendell Lim (Addgene plasmid # 79119; http://n2t. net/addgene:79119; RRID:Addgene_79119). The SEAP transgene from our previously developed plasmid pSurvivin-SEAP-WPRE (Wang et al., 2021) was cloned into pHR_5x GAL4 UAS using In-Fusion HD cloning (Takara Bio, CA, United States) to make pHR_5x Gal4 UAS SEAP. A constitutively expressed blue fluorescence protein (BFP) driven by the phosphoglycerate kinase promoter (pPGK) was inserted further downstream of the same reporter cassette via the same cloning kit to make pHR_5x Gal4 UAS SEAP pPGK BFP.

A second-generation lentiviral packaging plasmid (pCMV delta R8.2, #12263), and envelope plasmid (pMD2. G, #12259) were acquired from Addgene (pCMV delta R8.2 and pMD2. G were gifts from Didier Trono (Addgene plasmid # 12263; http://n2t.net/addgene:12263; RRID: Addgene_12263 and Addgene plasmid # 12259; http://n2t.net/addgene: 12259; RRID:Addgene_12259). Lentiviral production involved co-transfection of transfer, packaging, and envelope plasmids into human embryonic kidney (HEK 293T) cells using Lipofectamine 3,000 according to the manufacturer's instructions (ThermoFisher Scientific, MA, United States). Cell supernatant containing lentivirus was collected at 24 and 48 h, filtered through a 0.45 μm filter, concentrated using a Lenti-X Concentrator (TakaraBio), and stored at $-80^\circ C$ prior to transduction.

2.2 Cell culture and engineering

Human Jurkat T cells (clone E6-1) and human CD19⁺ Nalm6 lymphoblastic leukemia cells (clone G5) were purchased from ATCC (VA, United States). Cells were grown in RPMI-1640 medium (Wisent Bioproducts, QC, Canada) supplemented with 10% (v/v) Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) and 5% (v/v) Antibiotic-Antimycotic at 37°C in 5% CO2. The absence of *mycoplasma* contamination in cell cultures was frequently validated using the MycoAlert *Mycoplasma* Detection Kit (Lonza, NY, United States).

The generation of engineered T cells involved the initial transduction of naïve (non-engineered) Jurkat cells with the pHR_5x Gal4 UAS SEAP pPGK BFP lentivirus with 8 µg/mL polybrene for 6 h. Cells that expressed BFP were deemed "RE only" cells and were sorted using a FACSAria III fluorescence-activated cell sorter (BD Biosciences, CA, United States; RRID:SCR_016695). Sequentially, RE only cells were transduced with pHR_PGK_antiCD19_synNotch_Gal4VP64

10.3389/fphar.2023.1304194

lentivirus, again with 8 μ g/mL polybrene for 6 h. Cells that were both Myc- and BFP-positive were sorted to obtain "SynNotch + RE" cells. The expression of each engineered component was validated pre- and post-sort by staining Jurkat cells with an anti-Myc antibody (#2233S, NEB, MA, United States; RRID:AB_823474), followed by performing flow cytometry on a FACSCanto (BD Biosciences; RRID:SCR_018055). All flow cytometry results were analyzed using FlowJo v10 software (FlowJo LLC, BD Biosciences; RRID:SCR_008520).

As SEAP expression is activatable, T cells were also engineered with lentivirus to constitutively express zsGreen and Gaussia Luciferase (GLuc), the latter of which is also a secreted reporter protein detectable in culture media. This allowed the relative number of live cells in culture to be assayed at the same time as SEAP.

We used CRISPR/Cas9 to generate CD19⁻ Nalm6 cells, as previously described (Wang et al., 2023).

2.3 In vitro validation

CD19-targeted SynNotch + RE, RE only, and naïve Jurkat cells were co-cultured with either CD19⁻ or CD19⁺ Nalm6 cells. Within each well of a 96-well round bottom plate, 105 T cells were seeded with equal number of Nalm6 cells in a total volume of 125 µL media per well. Cocultures were then centrifuged for 5 min at 400 × g to encourage cells to come into proximity. Prior to collecting media on each day, plates were spun down at 400×g for 5 min, then 120 µL of media was collected from each well, fresh media was added, and plates were centrifuged again. The collected supernatant was centrifuged at 10,000×g for 10 min and stored at -20°C until assayed. SEAP activity in supernatant (25 µL) was measured using the Great EscAPe SEAP Chemiluminescence Assay kit 2.0 (Clontech, Fremonet, CA). The GLuc activity in supernatant (20 µL) was measured using the Gaussia Luciferase Assay reagent (Targeting Systems, San Diego, United States). The luminescence signal from both assays was measured using the Glomax 20/ 20 luminometer from Promega (Madison, WI).

2.4 In vivo evaluation in tumor model

All animal procedures were performed as approved by the University Council on Animal Care at the University of Western Ontario (Protocol #2020–025) and follow the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) and Ontario Ministry of Agricultural, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) guidelines. For all animal work, 4–6 weeks old female NOD. Cg-Prkdc^{scid} Il2rg^{tm1WjI}/SzJ (NSG) mice were obtained from an in-house breeding colony at Western University. These immunodeficient mice were chosen to establish tumors expressing either CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ phenotypes. Tumors were initiated by subcutaneously injecting 10⁶ CD19⁺ (n = 7) or CD19⁻ (n = 5) Nalm6 cells in 50 μ L of PBS and 50 μ L of Matrigel (Corning, NY, United States) into the right flank of each mouse. Tumor volumes were periodically calculated using caliper measurements and the following formula:

$$V = \frac{\pi}{6} \left(l \times w \times h \right)$$

Once tumors reached ~100 mm³ (~3–5 weeks post inoculation), mice received an intratumoral injection of 10^7 SynNotch + RE T cells suspended in 100 μ L of PBS (Day 0). On days –1, 2, 4, and 7 postdelivery of immune cells, 70 μ L of blood was collected from the saphenous vein from each mouse and stored in blood-collection tubes containing heparin and gel-barrier for anticoagulation and plasma separation (Becton Dickinson, ON, CA). Immediately following the blood collection, each blood sample was centrifuged at 10,000 × g for 10 min to isolate blood plasma. SEAP assays were performed on 25 μ L of the isolated plasma for each mouse, following the SEAP assay protocol described above.

2.5 Histology and immunostaining

At the study endpoint, mice were euthanized using an overdose of isoflurane. Each mouse was pressure perfused via the left ventricle using a solution of 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA). Tumors were carefully excised, submerged in 4% PFA for a period of 24 h, and subsequently stored in PBS at 4 °C before being prepared for sectioning and staining. To facilitate sectioning, the tumors underwent a series of sucrose gradients ranging from 10% to 30% and were then frozen using optimal cutting temperature medium (Sakura Finetek). Ten-micron sections were obtained, fixed in 4% PFA for 10 min at room temperature, and stained with DAPI. Fluorescence images of zsGreen (T cells) and DAPI were acquired using an EVOS FL Auto 2 microscope (ThermoFisher).

2.6 Statistics

All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 9.0 software (GraphPad Software Inc., CA, United States; RRID: SCR_002798). For *in vitro* cell proliferation assay and SEAP activity, a two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used. For quantifying total *in vitro* SEAP activity over 4 days, area under the curve calculations were performed. A one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used to assess GLuc activity across samples. In the case of the *in vivo* SEAP assay, a two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used for analysis. Differences between groups in the *in vivo* SEAP assay data, represented as area under the curve, were measured using an unpaired *t*-test. A nominal *p*-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant for all statistical analyses.

3 Results

3.1 Engineering of immune cells with synNotch blood reporter system

Naïve T cells were first engineered with a response element (RE) encoding the secreted reporter gene SEAP (RE only cells), and then a subset of these were sequentially engineered with a synNotch receptor targeted to CD19 (SynNotch + RE cells) (Figures 1B, C). Following cell sorting, 98% of engineered cells expressed their intended components, no notable differences in BFP was observed between RE only and synNotch + RE populations (Figure 1C). No significant difference in proliferation rates over 48 h were found when comparing naïve, RE and SynNotch + RE T cells (Figure 1D).



In vitro assessment antigen-specificity of synNotch secreted reporter system. SEAP activity values obtained from co-culturing naive, RE only, and SynNotch + RE T cells with CD19⁺ and CD19⁻ cells at 1:1 ratio (n = 3) at 24 h and 48 h respectively, **** represent p < 0.0005, ns represent No Significant difference. Data are presented as mean \pm SD.

3.2 SEAP activation via synNotch receptor based on antigen-dependent cell-cell interactions

To first evaluate our system, SEAP activity in media over time was measured in co-cultures of SynNotch + RE, RE only, or naïve T cells with CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ Nalm6 leukemia cells at an effector: target (E:T; T cell:cancer cell) ratio of 1:1 (Figure 2). SEAP activity was significantly higher in CD19⁺ versus CD19⁻ co-cultures at both 24 and 48 h (p < 0.0005), and SEAP was elevated to the same degree at both time points (Figure 2C). Co-cultures of CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ Nalm6 cells with RE Only or naïve T cells did not show any significant increases in SEAP activity (Figures 2A, B). Compared to these other control conditions, a marginal but non-significant increase in SEAP activity was seen when SynNotch + RE cells were co-cultured with CD19⁻ Nalm6 cells.

Next, to model the sensitivity of this system, we varied the E:T ratio for co-cultures of SynNotch + RE cells with CD19⁺ Nalm6 cells and assessed SEAP activity over 4 days (Figure 3). First, we kept a constant number of target Nalm6 cells (10 (Arnold and Heimall, 2017) cells) and looked at the impact of increasing the number of effector cells in the co-cultures on SEAP activity in media (Figure 3A). T cells constitutively expressed GLuc, and the increases in effector cell number were confirmed via increasing GLuc activity measurements in media. Cumulative SEAP activity also increased linearly with the number of effector T cells ($R^2 = 1.0$), with SEAP activity plateauing beyond 5×104 effector cells (an E:T of 0.5:1; Figure 3A). In opposition, when increasing the number of target Nalm6 cells while keeping effector numbers constant (10 (Arnold and Heimall, 2017) cells; the GLuc activity remained constant), the total SEAP activity increases with greater target number, however this time plateauing at 10⁴ target cells (an E:T of 1:1; Figure 3B).

3.2 Antigen-dependent synNotch activation in tumors results in increased blood SEAP activity

To evaluate the synNotch system in vivo, subcutaneous CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ Nalm6 tumors were formed on the right flank of 4-6 weeks old female nod-scid-gamma mice. Once tumors were ~100 mm³, 10⁷ SynNotch + RE T cells were injected intratumorally, blood samples were collected, and SEAP activity in blood was measured over time (Figure 4A). Prior to T cell delivery, SEAP activity was at assay background levels for both CD19⁺ and CD19⁻ groups (Figure 4B). At 48 h post-T cell injection, mice carrying CD19+ tumors showed significantly elevated blood SEAP activity compared to their CD19⁻ counterparts (p < 0.05). SEAP activity at 96 and 168 h in the CD19⁺ cohort decreased significantly from 48 h but remained significantly higher that from the CD19⁻ cohort (Figure 4B). TO measure the total SEAP production over 7 days, area under the curve measurements of SEAP activity over time was calculated from the longitudinal data in Figure 4B and was significantly higher for the mice bearing CD19⁺ versus CD19⁻ tumors (p < 0.01; Figure 4C).

At endpoint, fluorescence microscopy was utilized to visualize zsGreen-positive T cells. Qualitatively, a similar number of zsGreen cells were observed in both tumor cohorts (Figure 5). This finding suggests that differences in SEAP expression were not attributable to insufficient delivery or survival of the engineered T cells across tumor types. Instead, it provides evidence supporting the persistence of the T cells post-delivery for up to 7 days.

4 Discussion

It is attractive to utilize and customize a cell's ability to translate extracellular triggers into the intracellular signals, as this would allow



(****p < 0.0005, ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05, ns for No Significant difference).

for the development of better diagnostics, therapeutics, and theranostics in patients (Cho et al., 2018; P Teixeira and Fussenegger, 2019; Zhao et al., 2023). Cell-cell communication plays a critical role in cellular immunotherapies, such as CAR-T cells, which rely heavily on interactions of the CAR with target antigens to carry out their therapeutic effects. Unfortunately, unintended interactions between immune cells and antigens on normal tissues can result in unwanted side effects and reduce treatment efficacy (Gargett and Brown, 2014; Flugel et al., 2023). Moreover, heterogeneity in antigen density exists, where some cancer cells express the target antigens at a density that is lower than required to induce T cell cytotoxicity (Chen et al., 2018; Kailayangiri et al., 2020). To address these issues and improve cellular therapies, it is crucial to understand adoptive cell behavior in a minimally-invasive manner. In this study, we developed an antigen-activatable secreted reporter system that allows for the detection of direct immune-cancer cell interactions within tumors via detectable signals in the blood.

We engineered human T cells with an activatable blood reporter system, utilizing the synNotch receptor system expressing SEAP in the response element. This system consists of two essential components: the CD19-directed receptor and the secreted reporter SEAP, with the latter being activated by the release of the transcription activator Gal4-VP64 upon antigen binding. To evaluate the engineered system, we tested its leakiness and target-dependent activatable nature. Through co-culturing naïve, RE only, and SynNotch + RE T cells with CD19⁺ or CD19⁻ cancer cells, we were able to observe baseline SEAP activity in the RE only group. Even in the presence of CD19, T cells did not express detectable SEAP without the synNotch receptor. In contrast, the SynNotch + RE group demonstrated significantly elevated SEAP activity in CD19⁺ co-cultures, while CD19⁻ co-cultures exhibited minimally elevated SEAP activity. This minimal activity may be from residual CD19 from incomplete knockout of our Nalm6 cells. These results demonstrated the dependence on both the engineered receptor and target to express SEAP, and overall shows high target specificity with little system leakiness (Figure 2).

We next aimed to investigate the dynamics of SEAP activity after antigen binding in our closed *in vitro* system and how varying the number of target or effector cells influenced SEAP expression. First, we maintained CD19⁺ Nalm6 and SynNotch + RE T cell co-cultures using the same number of each cell type over 2 days and observed



Evaluation of synNotch blood reporter system in mouse cancer model. (A) Experimental timeline for tumor establishment, T cell injection, and blood collection. (B) Average blood SEAP activity measured from mice bearing CD19⁺ (n = 7) or CDI 9⁻ (n = 5) tumors before and after the delivery of SynNotch + RE T cells. (C) Cumulative blood SEAP activity over 7 days (area under curve: AUC) between CD19⁺ and CDI 9⁻ cohorts. Data are presented as mean \pm SD (****p < 0.0005, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05, ns for No Significant difference).



FIGURE 5

Endpoint tumor histology to visualize reporter-expressing cells. Fluorescence microscopy images (10x magnification) showcase CD19+ and CD19- Nalm6 tumors containing SynNotch + RET cells expressing ZsGreen. Sections were counterstained with DAPI to visualize cell nuclei. The scale bar in the images corresponds to 200 μ m.

similar elevated levels of SEAP activity at both the 24- and 48-h mark. Due to high cell density in the 96-well plates, we observed cell death due to over confluency beyond the 48 h time point. These results provided valuable insights into the optimal SEAP activation period for our in vivo experiments. Given that the activation of the synNotch system depends on physical cell-cell contact, it is important to explore the impact of varying the engineered T cell and cancer cell ratio on SEAP activity. When the number of T cells were increased at a constant cancer cell number, SEAP activity rose linearly until the number of T cells was 50% the number of cancer cells (an E:T of 0.5:1). Even when more T cells were added (an E:T of 1:1) this did not increase SEAP further, suggesting that some T cells did not interact with the cancer cells due to the possible restrictions in the proximity between them. However, having double the number of target cells (an E:T of 1:2) in our co-cultures did not increase SEAP activity further. These results raise important parameters for interpreting SEAP blood levels in vivo that are discussed further below and will need to be explored in future studies.

We next evaluated our synNotch blood reporter system in subcutaneous Nalm6 tumors in NSG mice. Due to the influence of E:T ratio on the amount of SEAP produced in vitro, we chose to inject a standard number of T cells (10 (Lunn et al., 2011)) into tumors of a standard volume (~100 mm3). Significantly elevated blood SEAP activity was only observed in mice carrying the CD19⁺ tumor following intratumoral delivery of SynNotch + RE T cells. SEAP activity peaked at 48 h and marginally declined thereafter up to 7 days. As the blood half-life of SEAP is 3 h (Tannous and Teng, 2011), the continued elevation of SEAP over the 7 days is likely due to continued GAL4-VP64 binding to the response element after synNotch cleavage and/or additional synNotch interactions with CD19 over time. The length of RE activation after synNotch-antigen binding is unknown and could provide a better understanding of RE transgene expression over time. Fluorescence microscopy for T cells was used to confirm that the persisting SEAP signal was due to continued T cell presence in the tumor. Qualitative assessment of CD19+ and CD19- tumors showed similar numbers of immune cells, indicating that the difference in SEAP expression between the two groups was due to the presence of the target CD19, not variations in T cell survival.

Measurements of SEAP activity were ended at 7 days due to reaching heavy tumor burden (endpoint >1.6 cm tumor diameter), however literature has reported persisting synNotch-driven CAR and luciferase expression in mice for up to 11 days following intravenous injection of T cells (Roybal et al., 2016b). Compared to our findings, this could be attributed to differences in T cell persistence within the tumor between intratumoral and intravenous delivery methods (Sridhar and Petrocca, 2017). We hypothesis that intratumoral delivery results in immediate activation of the synNotch receptor in the target-expressing tumor, while systemic delivery involves T cell traffic to the tumor, resulting in gradual and sustained reporter expression (Fu et al., 2021). To fully understand the dynamics of synNotch expression and optimize its in vivo potential, it will be valuable to investigate the rate of replenishment of new synNotch receptors on the cell surface. Additionally, in future studies, it will be valuable to understand whether intratumoral delivery causes proteolytic cleavage of synNotch receptors at a rate that outpaces their replenishment.

SEAP is a useful reporter for monitoring immune cell activity with minimal invasiveness and can potentially provide a single

measure of all the immune-cancer interactions in the whole body. However, in the context of multi-organ metastatic diseases, it is likely also important to obtain more spatial intertumoral information on the activity of immune cells. Non-invasive imaging tools like MRI and PET-based reporter genes can be used for this purpose as we and another group have recently demonstrated (Shin et al., 2023; Wang et al., 2023). Future work to build response elements that encode both imaging and secreted reporter genes would allow both spatial information to be acquired with infrequent and relatively expensive imaging, and more frequent whole-body monitoring with relatively low-cost blood tests.

A significant limitation of the detection system described in this study is the challenge of accurately reporting the live T cell and cancer cell numbers in vivo. While the system demonstrated its ability to specifically report the amount of local immune-cancer cell communications, translating the use of GLuc as a measurement of live T cells in vivo was a major obstacle. Several reasons contribute to this limitation, particularly the reliability of detecting GLuc within blood samples due to its short half-life, and the clearance rate of GLuc through urine, making it difficult to establish consistent output (Tannous, 2009). Additionally, it would be valuable to monitor cancer cell numbers simultaneously with T cell numbers. Although the Jurkat T cells used in this study lacked cytotoxic abilities to focus on establishing a detection system, monitoring cancer cell numbers would be crucial in future studies where this system is combined with other cell-based therapies. Estimating cancer cell numbers through tumor volume measurement may not be accurate in future studies involving immunocompetent mice due to the infiltration of various immune cells (Vera et al., 2018).

An alternative and more optimal preclinical approach would be to incorporate different imaging reporter genes into both T cells and cancer cells during the engineering process. Imaging reporters like bioluminescence imaging (BLI), MRI-contrast, and PET reporter genes have been previously applied in the study of many cell- or gene-based therapies (Liu et al., 2021; Shalaby et al., 2022a; Shalaby et al., 2022b). Among these options, BLI is frequently applied in pre-clinical small animal studies of cell-based therapies (Liu et al., 2021). By using different imaging reporters, we can overcome the limitations associated with using GLuc and improve our ability to accurately monitor and quantify live T cells and cancer cells *in vivo*. This advancement will significantly enhance the utility and effectiveness of the detection system for future studies and potential therapeutic applications.

A potential hurdle in adapting our synNotch system from Jurkat cells to primary immune cells for clinical applications is the limited capacity of lentiviral vectors. While sequential transduction of cells might be feasible, using separate vectors for the synNotch receptor and the response element (RE), is suboptimal due to the potential to increase cellular stress, toxicity, and the complexity and time required for the process. Currently, the aggregate size of these elements surpasses the capacity of standard lentiviral vectors, making a single-step transduction unfeasible. To circumvent these issues, we propose employing transposon systems, which have a higher capacity for larger genetic payloads, potentially allowing for the integration of the complete synNotch + RE system in a single vector (Li et al., 2011). Further, recent innovations like the development of more compact synNotch receptors, exemplified by SNIPR, offer promising avenues for primary cell applications through either viral or transposon systems (I et al., 2022). These advances highlight the opportunity

10.3389/fphar.2023.1304194

for future research to refine and adapt these methods, establishing our study with Jurkat T cells as a critical foundational work that lays the groundwork for the clinical translation of these sophisticated cellular engineering approaches. The activatable secreted reporter system described in the study offers a novel approach to measure local immune-cancer cell interactions beyond conventional methods in vivo. It can potentially aid in the development and monitoring of novel cell therapies by allowing minimally-invasive and rapid interrogation of cell behavior. Moreover, when coupled with other imaging systems, it has the potential to provide insights into the reasons for the failure of certain cell-based immunotherapies in patients. Additionally, this system can be broadly applicable in preclinical research, enabling the study of cellular behavior during development, normal physiology, and disease progression. Overall, it represents a promising tool that can advance cell-based therapies and contribute to more effective and targeted treatments in the future.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below [figshare repository]: https://doi.org/ 10.6084/m9.figshare.24213249.v1.

Ethics statement

Ethical approval was not required for the studies on humans in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements because only commercially available established cell lines were used. The animal study was approved by the University Council on Animal Care at the University of Western Ontario and follow the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC) and Ontario Ministry of Agricultural, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA) guidelines. The study was conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements.

Author contributions

YF: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources,

References

Akhoundi, M., Mohammadi, M., Sahraei, S. S., Sheykhhasan, M., and Fayazi, N. (2021). CAR T cell therapy as a promising approach in cancer immunotherapy: challenges and opportunities. *Cell Oncol.* 44, 495–523. doi:10.1007/s13402-021-00593-1

Arnold, D. E., and Heimall, J. R. (2017). A review of chronic granulomatous disease. *Adv. Ther.* 34, 2543–2557. doi:10.1007/s12325-017-0636-2

Berger, J., Hauber, J., Hauber, R., Geiger, R., and Cullen, B. R. (1988). Secreted placental alkaline phosphatase: a powerful new quantitative indicator of gene expression in eukaryotic cells. *Gene* 66, 1–10. doi:10.1016/0378-1119(88)90219-3

Bronstein, I., Fortin, J. J., Voyta, J. C., Juo, R. R., Edwards, B., Olesen, C. E., et al. (1994). Chemiluminescent reporter gene assays: sensitive detection of the GUS and SEAP gene products. *Biotechniques* 17 (172–4), 172–174.

Software, Validation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. TW: Conceptualization, Data curation, Methodology, Project administration, Writing-review and editing. JR: Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Resources, Supervision, Validation, Writing-review and editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This research received funding provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, led by JR (Grant #202104PJT-462838).

Acknowledgments

We extend our gratitude to John Kelly and Ying Xia for their invaluable contributions to animal procedures and the generation of CD19⁻ Nalm6 cells. Special thanks also go to Kristin Chadwick, the manager of the London Regional Flow Cytometry Facility, for her expert guidance in cell sorting. We acknowledge the use of generative AI technology in the preparation of this manuscript. The technology used was ChatGPT, based on the GPT-3.5 architecture, and sourced from OpenAI.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Cao, J.-X., Gao, W. J., You, J., Wu, L. H., Liu, J. L., and Wang, Z. X. (2019). The efficacy of anti-CD19 chimeric antigen receptor T cells for B-cell malignancies. *Cytotherapy* 21, 769–781. doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2019.04.005

Chen, N., Li, X., Chintala, N. K., Tano, Z. E., and Adusumilli, P. S. (2018). Driving CARs on the uneven road of antigen heterogeneity in solid tumors. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 51, 103–110. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2018.03.002

Cho, J. H., Okuma, A., Al-Rubaye, D., Intisar, E., Junghans, R. P., and Wong, W. W. (2018). Engineering Axl specific CAR and SynNotch receptor for cancer therapy. *Sci. Rep.* 8, 3846. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-22252-6

Davila, M. L., Sauter, C., and Brentjens, R. (2015). CD19-targeted T cells for hematologic malignancies: clinical experience to date. *Cancer J.* 21, 470–474. doi:10. 1097/PPO.00000000000153

Demaret, J., Varlet, P., Trauet, J., Beauvais, D., Grossemy, A., Hégo, F., et al. (2021). Monitoring CAR T-cells using flow cytometry. *Cytom. Part B Clin. Cytom.* 100, 218–224. doi:10.1002/cyto.b.21941

El-Sayes, N., Vito, A., and Mossman, K. (2021). Tumor heterogeneity: a great barrier in the age of cancer immunotherapy. *Cancers* 13, 806. doi:10.3390/ cancers13040806

Flugel, C. L., Majzner, R. G., Krenciute, G., Dotti, G., Riddell, S. R., Wagner, D. L., et al. (2023). Overcoming on-target, off-tumour toxicity of CAR T cell therapy for solid tumours. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 20, 49–62. doi:10.1038/s41571-022-00704-3

Fu, R., Li, H., Li, R., McGrath, K., Dotti, G., and Gu, Z. (2021). Delivery techniques for enhancing CAR T cell therapy against solid tumors. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* 31, 2009489. doi:10.1002/adfm.202009489

Gargett, T., and Brown, M. P. (2014). The inducible caspase-9 suicide gene system as a "safety switch" to limit on-target, off-tumor toxicities of chimeric antigen receptor T cells. *Front. Pharmacol.* 5, 235. doi:10.3389/fphar.2014.00235

Graham, C., Hewitson, R., Pagliuca, A., and Benjamin, R. (2018). Cancer immunotherapy with CAR-T cells – behold the future. *Clin. Med. (Lond)* 18, 324–328. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.18-4-324

Grakoui, A., Bromley, S. K., Sumen, C., Davis, M. M., Shaw, A. S., Allen, P. M., et al. (1999). The immunological synapse: a molecular machine controlling T cell activation. *Science* 285, 221–227. doi:10.1126/science.285.5425.221

Hay, K. A., and Turtle, C. J. (2017). Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells: lessons learned from targeting of CD19 in B-cell malignancies. *Drugs* 77, 237–245. doi:10.1007/ s40265-017-0690-8

Huppa, J. B., and Davis, M. M. (2003). T-cell-antigen recognition and the immunological synapse. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 3, 973–983. doi:10.1038/nri1245

I, Z., Liu, R., Garcia, J. M., Hyrenius-Wittsten, A., Piraner, D. I., Alavi, J., et al. (2022). Modular design of synthetic receptors for programmed gene regulation in cell therapies. *Cell* 185, 1431–1443.e16. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2022.03.023

June, C. H., O'Connor, R. S., Kawalekar, O. U., Ghassemi, S., and Milone, M. C. (2018). CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science* 359, 1361–1365. doi:10. 1126/science.aar6711

Kailayangiri, S., Altvater, B., Wiebel, M., Jamitzky, S., and Rossig, C. (2020). Overcoming heterogeneity of antigen expression for effective CAR T cell targeting of cancers. *Cancers (Basel)* 12, 1075. doi:10.3390/cancers12051075

Kemp, T. J., García-Piñeres, A., Falk, R. T., Poncelet, S., Dessy, F., Giannini, S. L., et al. (2008). Evaluation of systemic and mucosal anti-HPV16 and anti-HPV18 antibody responses from vaccinated women. *Vaccine* 26, 3608–3616. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.04.074

Li, M. A., Turner, D. J., Ning, Z., Yusa, K., Liang, Q., Eckert, S., et al. (2011). Mobilization of giant piggyBac transposons in the mouse genome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, e148. doi:10.1093/nar/gkr764

Liu, S., Su, Y., Lin, M. Z., and Ronald, J. A. (2021). Brightening up biology: advances in luciferase systems for *in vivo* imaging. *ACS Chem. Biol.* 16, 2707–2718. doi:10.1021/acschembio.1c00549

Lunn, J. S., Sakowski, S. A., Hur, J., and Feldman, E. L. (2011). Stem cell technology for neurodegenerative diseases. *Ann. Neurology* 70, 353–361. doi:10.1002/ana.22487

Maude, S. L., Frey, N., Shaw, P. A., Aplenc, R., Barrett, D. M., Bunin, N. J., et al. (2014). Chimeric antigen receptor T cells for sustained remissions in leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 371, 1507–1517. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1407222

Mehta, R. S., Randolph, B., Daher, M., and Rezvani, K. (2018). NK cell therapy for hematologic malignancies. Int. J. Hematol. 107, 262–270. doi:10.1007/s12185-018-2407-5

Miao, L., Zhang, Z., Ren, Z., Tang, F., and Li, Y. (2021). Gene-edited Interleukin CAR-T cells therapy in the treatment of malignancies: present and future. *Front. Immunol.* 12, 718686. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.718686

Minn, I., Rowe, S. P., and Pomper, M. G. (2019). Enhancing CAR T-cell therapy through cellular imaging and radiotherapy. *Lancet Oncol.* 20, e443–e451. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30461-9

Morsut, L., Roybal, K. T., Xiong, X., Gordley, R. M., Coyle, S. M., Thomson, M., et al. (2016). Engineering customized cell sensing and response behaviors using synthetic notch receptors. *Cell* 164, 780–791. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.012

Penack, O., and Koenecke, C. (2020). Complications after CD19+ CAR T-cell therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* 12, E3445. doi:10.3390/cancers12113445

Porter, D. L., Levine, B. L., Kalos, M., Bagg, A., and June, C. H. (2011). Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells in chronic lymphoid leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 365, 725–733. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1103849

P Teixeira, A., and Fussenegger, M. (2019). Engineering mammalian cells for disease diagnosis and treatment. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* 55, 87–94. doi:10.1016/j.copbio.2018. 08.008

Ronald, J. A., Chuang, H.-Y., Dragulescu-Andrasi, A., Hori, S. S., and Gambhir, S. S. (2015). Detecting cancers through tumor-activatable minicircles that lead to a detectable blood biomarker. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 112, 3068–3073. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1414156112

Roybal, K. T., Rupp, L. J., Morsut, L., Walker, W. J., McNally, K. A., Park, J. S., et al. (2016b). Precision tumor recognition by T cells with combinatorial antigen-sensing circuits. *Cell* 164, 770–779. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.01.011

Roybal, K. T., Williams, J. Z., Morsut, L., Rupp, L. J., Kolinko, I., Choe, J. H., et al. (2016a). Engineering T cells with customized therapeutic response programs using synthetic notch receptors. *Cell* 167, 419–432. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.011

Sadelain, M., Rivière, I., and Brentjens, R. (2003). Targeting tumours with genetically enhanced T lymphocytes. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 3, 35–45. doi:10.1038/nrc971

Schlabe, S., and Rockstroh, J. K. (2018). Advances in the treatment of HIV/HCV coinfection in adults. *Expert Opin. Pharmacother*. 19, 49–64. doi:10.1080/14656566. 2017.1419185

Schultz, R. M. (1985). Roles of cell-to-cell communication in development. *Biol. Reproduction* 32, 27–42. doi:10.1095/biolreprod32.1.27

Shalaby, N., Dubois, V. P., and Ronald, J. (2022a). Molecular imaging of cellular immunotherapies in experimental and therapeutic settings. *Cancer Immunol. Immunother.* 71, 1281–1294. doi:10.1007/s00262-021-03073-5

Shalaby, N., Kelly, J., Martinez, F., Fox, M., Qi, Q., Thiessen, J., et al. (2022b). A human-derived dual MRI/PET reporter gene system with high translational potential for cell tracking. *Mol. Imaging Biol.* 24, 341–351. doi:10.1007/s11307-021-01697-8

Shin, J., Parker, M. F. L., Zhu, I., Alanizi, A., Rodriguez, C. I., Liu, R., et al. (2023). Antigen-dependent inducible T-cell reporter system for PET imaging of breast cancer and glioblastoma. J. Nucl. Med. 64, 137–144. doi:10.2967/jnumed.122.264284

Sridhar, P., and Petrocca, F. (2017). Regional delivery of chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells for cancer therapy. *Cancers (Basel)* 9 (7), 92. doi:10.3390/cancers9070092

Tannous, B. A. (2009). Gaussia luciferase reporter assay for monitoring biological processes in culture and *in vivo. Nat. Protoc.* 4, 582–591. doi:10.1038/nprot.2009.28

Tannous, B. A., and Teng, J. (2011). Secreted blood reporters: insights and applications. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 29, 997–1003. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.08.021

Trosko, J., and Ruch, R. (2003). Gap junctions as targets for cancer chemoprevention and chemotherapy. *Curr. drug targets* 3, 465–482. doi:10.2174/1389450023347371

Vera, D. R. B., Smith, C. C., Bixby, L. M., Glatt, D. M., Dunn, S. S., Saito, R., et al. (2018). Immuno-PET imaging of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes using zirconium-89 radiolabeled anti-CD3 antibody in immune-competent mice bearing syngeneic tumors. *PLOS ONE* 13, e0193832. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0193832

Wang, M., Orsini, C., Casanova, D., Millán, J. L., Mahfoudi, A., and Thuillier, V. (2001). MUSEAP, a novel reporter gene for the study of long-term gene expression in immunocompetent mice. *Gene* 279, 99–108. doi:10.1016/s0378-1119(01)00754-5

Wang, T., Chen, Y., Goodale, D., Allan, A. L., and Ronald, J. A. (2021). A survivindriven, tumor-activatable minicircle system for prostate cancer theranostics. *Mol. Ther.* - *Oncolytics* 20, 209–219. doi:10.1016/j.omto.2021.01.007

Wang, T., Chen, Y., Nystrom, N. N., Liu, S., Fu, Y., Martinez, F. M., et al. (2023). Visualizing cell-cell communication using synthetic notch activated MRI. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 120, e2216901120. doi:10.1073/pnas.2216901120

Weber, E. W., Maus, M. V., and Mackall, C. L. (2020). The emerging landscape of immune cell therapies. *Cell* 181, 46–62. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.001

Wilson, M. R., Close, T. W., and Trosko, J. E. (2000). Cell population dynamics (apoptosis, mitosis, and cell-cell communication) during disruption of homeostasis. *Exp. Cell Res.* 254, 257–268. doi:10.1006/excr.1999.4771

Zhang, H., Ye, Z. L., Yuan, Z. G., Luo, Z. Q., Jin, H. J., and Qian, Q. J. (2016). New strategies for the treatment of solid tumors with CAR-T cells. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 12, 718–729. doi:10.7150/ijbs.14405

Zhao, N., Song, Y., Xie, X., Zhu, Z., Duan, C., Nong, C., et al. (2023). Synthetic biology-inspired cell engineering in diagnosis, treatment, and drug development. *Sig Transduct. Target Ther.* 8, 112–121. doi:10.1038/s41392-023-01375-x

Zumla, A., Rao, M., Wallis, R. S., Kaufmann, S. H. E., Rustomjee, R., Mwaba, P., et al. (2016). Host-directed therapies for infectious diseases: current status, recent progress, and future prospects. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 16, e47–e63. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(16) 00078-5

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Mariana Quezado, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Agata Mikołajczyk-Martinez, Wrocław University of Environmental and Life Sciences, Poland

*CORRESPONDENCE Yuan-Yuan Liu, ⊠ yyliu_jsxz@163.com

RECEIVED 23 October 2023 ACCEPTED 12 December 2023 PUBLISHED 03 January 2024

CITATION

Wei X-H and Liu Y-Y (2024), Potential applications of JAK inhibitors, clinically approved drugs against autoimmune diseases, in cancer therapy. *Front. Pharmacol.* 14:1326281. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2023.1326281

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Wei and Liu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Potential applications of JAK inhibitors, clinically approved drugs against autoimmune diseases, in cancer therapy

Xiao-Huan Wei^{1,2,3} and Yuan-Yuan Liu^{1,2}*

¹Respiratory and Critical Care Department, Xuzhou Central Hospital, Xuzhou, Jiangsu, China, ²Xuzhou Clinical School of Xuzhou Medical University, Xuzhou, Jiangsu, China, ³Oncology Department, People's Hospital of Peixian, Xuzhou, Jiangsu, China

Disturbances in immunoregulation may lead to both cancer and autoimmune diseases. Many therapeutic drugs for autoimmune diseases also display antitumor efficacy. The Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling pathways are involved in the secretion of more than 50 distinct cytokines, which have critical roles in inducing autoimmune diseases and tumorigenesis. Thus, Janus kinases have become classical immunotherapeutic targets for immune disease. More than 70 Janus kinase inhibitors have been approved as immunomodulatory drugs for clinical use, of which 12 are used in the treatment of autoimmune diseases. This systematic review aims to elucidate the anti-tumor role of clinically approved Janus kinase inhibitors that were primarily designed for the treatment of autoimmune diseases and their potential for clinical translation as cancer treatments.

KEYWORDS

autoimmune diseases, JAK inhibitors, clinical translation, anti-cancer, immunotherapeutic therapy

1 Introduction

Chronic inflammation is often associated with autoimmune diseases (AIDs) and cancer. Only 5%–10% of cancers are caused by an inherited gene defect, with the remaining 90%– 95% resulting from environment- or lifestyle-induced chronic inflammation (Hirano, 2021). In general, immune cells target and kill cancer cells in the early stage of tumorigenesis. However, during crosstalk with the tumor microenvironment, they are "domesticated," thereby losing their ability to eliminate cancer cells and possibly even facilitating the progression of tumors (Lei et al., 2020). Harnessing immune cells has been widely explored as a powerful strategy to inhibit cancer in both clinical and pre-clinical studies (Yang, 2015). Various drugs targeting immune cells that are used in the treatment of immunological diseases have also been explored with respect to their potential role in anticancer therapy. In this review, we summarize the effects on tumorigenesis and potential use in cancer therapy of clinically approved JAK inhibitors that were primarily designed for treatment of AIDs.

The immune system plays a critical part in the maintenance of individuals' health. Immune deficiency may lead to an inability to activate the necessary response to protect against pathogen invasion, whereas immune overactivation may cause AIDs. There are nearly 100 distinct AIDs, affecting approximately 3% of the population (Youinou et al., 2010). In general, these can be divided into two main categories: organ-specific AIDs, which



affect organs including the inner ear, skin, thyroid and parathyroid gland, heart, liver, adrenal gland, pancreas, gastrointestinal system, reproductive system, and connective tissue; and systemic AIDs, which may affect the cardiovascular, hematopoietic, and neurological systems (Wang et al., 2015).

The synthetic drugs approved to date for the treatment of AIDs are dominated by JAK inhibitors (Schwartz et al., 2017). This is because the Janus kinase/signal transducer and activator of transcription (JAK/STAT) signaling pathway is involved in the mediation of more than 50 distinct cytokines, and elevated cytokine expression caused by excessive activation of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway is a decisive factor in the occurrence of AIDs (O'Shea et al., 2002). Cytokines are also critical for malignant cell growth (Kontzias et al., 2012); thus, almost of those drugs have also been investigated with respect to their ability to treat cancer.

2 Relationship between AIDs and cancer

The association between AIDs and cancer is well established and has been systematically summarized in previous reviews (Giat et al., 2017), and we briefly summarized the association between AIDs and cancer as indicated in Figure 1. In brief, organ-specific AIDs tend to induce tissue tumors, possibly owing to chronic inflammation around the tissues. For example, celiac disease is a gastrointestinal system AID that leads to difficulty in digesting food and carries a high risk of small-intestinal cancer (Green et al., 2003); and a skin-specific AIDs, primary Sjogren syndrome, increases the risk of overall solid tumors and lymphomas, especially non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (NHL), for which the risk may well exceed a ten-fold increase (Smedby et al., 2006), possibly owing to systemic chronic inflammation.

Systemic AIDs tend to affect both hematological malignancies and organ-specific solid tumors. For example, systemic lupus erythematosus increases the risk of cancer in various organs, while decreasing the risk of others (Mao et al., 2016). Patients with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) have an increased risk of hematological malignancies, including Hodgkin's lymphoma and NHL; however, they are at decreased risk of most solid malignancies, including kidney, liver, prostate, gynecological, and gastric cancers (Giat et al., 2017).

The associations of other AIDs, such as polymyalgia rheumatica and giant cell arteritis, with cancer are not clear. Some studies have reported an increased risk of cancer in patients with polymyalgia rheumatica and giant cell arteritis (Ji et al., 2010; Muller et al., 2014), whereas others report no association or even a reduced risk (Kermani et al., 2010a; Kermani et al., 2010b).

Studies have also illustrated the phenomenon of autoimmunity secondary to malignancy and the co-occurrence of cancer and AIDs. Treatment of cancer patients by activating an immune reaction could lead to AIDs, especially in patients with pre-existing AIDs. There have been reports that more than 30% of such patients experience AIDs relapses or develop new autoimmune manifestations (Coureau et al., 2020).



The schematic depicting the mechanism of action of JAK inhibitors in the progression of AIDs and cancers. The JAK/STAT pathways play a crucial role in the secretion of more than 50 distinct cytokines, which play pivotal roles in the development of AIDS and tumorigenesis. Inhibition of JAK/STAT pathways by JAK inhibitors mitigates AIDs by decreasing cytokines secretion. Moreover, hyperactivation of JAK/STAT is implicated in drug resistance and the survival of tumor cells. JAK inhibitors have the potential to counteract tumorigenesis by reversing drug resistance, inducing G2 arrest, and augmenting apoptosis. Arrows indicate the roles of JAK/STAT in AIDs and tumorigenesis, green arrows indicate promotion, red arrow indicates inhibition; \pm indicate the roles of JAK inhibitors in AIDs and tumorigenesis, +means promotion, - means inhibition.

3 Potential anti-tumor role of JAK inhibitor drugs approved for AIDs treatment

Cancer and AIDs are closely related, as discussed above; thus, many drugs that have been clinically approved for treatment of AIDs have also been investigated with respect to their potential roles in the treatment of cancer. JAK/STAT signaling pathways are the classical immunotherapeutic targets. There are four JAKs, JAK1-3 and TYK2 (tyrosine kinase 2), and seven STATs, STAT1/2/3/4/6 and STAT5A/5B, in humans (Roskoski, 2023a). The regulatory role of the JAK/STAT signaling pathway in AIDs has been extensively summarized in a previous review (Xue et al., 2023). Thus, inhibition the of JAK/STAT pathway is widely used to treat AIDs.

The first generation of JAK inhibitors, known as jakinibs, bind to the kinase domain of JAKs. To date, 72 small-molecule protein kinase inhibitors have been approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (Roskoski, 2023b), of which 12 JAK inhibitors have been approved for clinical use against AIDs; these comprise ruxolitinib, pacritinib, fedratinib, tofacitinib, baricitinib, abrocitinib, filgotinib, oclacitinib, peficitinib, upadacitinib, deucravacitinib, and delgocitinib (Shawky et al., 2022; Roskoski, 2023a; Li et al., 2023). Various mutations of JAKs or overactivation of JAK/STAT signaling pathways also been reported in various malignant tumors, including hematological and solid tumors; thus, most of the jakinibs also been demonstrated have anti-tumor efficacy, and scheme with JAK inhibitors mechanism of action in the course of AIDs and cancers was shown in Figure 2.

3.1 Ruxolitinib

Ruxolitinib, formerly known as INCB018424 or INC424, a selective oral inhibitor of JAK1 and JAK2 (Ajayi et al., 2018), was approved for treatment of myelofibrosis (MF) by the FDA in 2011 and by the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in 2012 (Mascarenhas and Hoffman, 2012) for polycythemia vera (PV) (2014) (Raedler, 2015) and acute and chronic graft versus host disease (GVHD) (2021) (Yang et al., 2021). Clinical research has demonstrated that it benefits some patients with pancreatic cancer (American Association for Cancer Research, 2015). Ruxolitinib has also resulted in positive response in patients with head and neck cancer with STAT3 overactivation (Qureshy et al., 2022). Systematic screening of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia (T-ALL) genomes revealed activating mutations in JAK1, JAK3, and STAT5 in 20%-30% of T-ALL cases (Belver and Ferrando, 2016), and ruxolitinib has displayed significant anti-tumor efficacy against T-ALL in both primary xenograft models and clinical trials (Lato et al., 2021; Moskowitz et al., 2021; Kolodrubiec et al., 2022). Patients with chronic neutrophilic leukemia (CNL) and atypical chronic myeloid leukemia (aCML) have also shown positive responses to ruxolitinib (Dao et al., 2020). In T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia, ruxolitinib promotes apoptosis and shows synergistical efficacy in combination with venetoclax, a B-cell lymphoma-2 inhibitor (Herbaux et al., 2021). Ruxolitinib combined with other mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase inhibitors have been shown to overcome therapeutic resistance and promote immune checkpoint therapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) (Datta et al., 2022). Ruxolitinib and calcitriol combination treatment showed synergistic anti-cancer effects on some breast cancer cell

10.3389/fphar.2023.1326281

lines (Schneider et al., 2022), and combinations of ruxolitinib with SMO-GLI1/tGLI1 pathway inhibitors synergistically inhibited growth of triple-negative breast cancer and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2)-positive breast cancer both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Doheny et al., 2020). Other studies have also reported anti-solid-tumor effects of ruxolitinib alone or in combination against various cancers, including metastatic lung cancer (Taverna et al., 2020), non-small-cell lung cancer (Patel et al., 2019), hepatocellular carcinoma (Wilson et al., 2013), and myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) (Eliacik et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2023).

3.2 Pacritinib

Pacritinib (SB1518), an inhibitor against JAK2 and mutationally activated JAK2 (JAK2V617F), was approved for treatment of MF by the FDA in 2022 (Shawky et al., 2022). Oral administration of pacritinib in murine models of acute myeloid leukemia (AML) led to significant inhibition of primary tumor growth and lung metastasis (Hart et al., 2011). Pacritinib also decreased the viability of patient-derived initiating cells of glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) in vitro at low micromolar doses, as well as improving response to tumozolomide in tumozolomide-resistant glioblastoma multiforme and thus improving overall median survival of mice in an orthotopical xenograft model (Jensen et al., 2017). Furthermore, pacritinib suppresses the expression of checkpoint proteins; a preclinical trial and a pilot phase I study of pacritinib and chemotherapy in FLT3-ITD-positive AML found that combination therapy was well tolerated, and preliminary results indicated anti-leukemic activity in patients with FLT3 mutations (Jeon et al., 2020). Clinical trials have also been performed to explore the benefits of pacritinib treatment for patients with metastatic refractory colorectal adenocarcinoma (CRC); however, no objective response was achieved (Chen et al., 1997). Elevated glucose consumption has a critical role in maintaining the growth of squamous cell lung cancer; pacritinib reduced glucose consumption in squamous cell lung cancer by inhibiting hexokinase activity (Ghezzi et al., 2023). Synergistic effects of pacritinib with other treatments have also been widely investigated. A combination of pacritinib with histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor pracinostat (SB939) led to synergistic effects on tumor growth and a reduction of metastasis in AML (Novotny-Diermayr et al., 2012). In PC3/ ER3 xenografts, a combination of pacritinib with erlotinib (ELTN), an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, showed synergistic effects on tumor shrinkage by suppressing MET (Ochi et al., 2016). Combined treatment with pacritinib and SMO inhibitors (vismodegib and sonidegib) synergistically inhibited growth of triple-negative breast cancer and HER2-positve trastuzumab-resistant BT474-TtzmR cells both in vitro and in vivo. The combination therapy also synergistically inhibited breast cancer stem cells and suppressed lung metastasis in an orthotopic BT474-TtzmR xenograft model (Doheny et al., 2020). Overexpression of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) in cancer cells leads to multidrug resistance. Co-treatment with low-dose pacritinib induced G2 arrest, reduced cell viability, and greatly increased apoptosis of P-gp overexpressing cancer cells with multidrug resistance, indicating sensitization of P-gp-overexpressing drug-resistant cancer cells (Oh et al., 2022a). Pacritinib treatment overcame resistance to paclitaxel in nasopharyngeal carcinoma (NPC) by blocking IRAK1; and combination treatment with pacritinib and paclitaxel exhibited a superior anti-tumor effect (Liu et al., 2021).

3.3 Fedratinib

Fedratinib (INREBIC®), an oral selective kinase inhibitor against both wild-type JAK2 and JAK2V617F, was approved for the treatment of adult patients with intermediate-1 or high-risk primary or secondary MF in 2019 by the FDA (Blair, 2019). Kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog (KRAS) is the major driver mutation gene for PDAC tumorigenesis. Liu et al. predicted that fedratinib would exhibit KRAS-dependent anticancer activity in PDAC cells based on mining of bioinformatics data (Liu et al., 2020). Activation of the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway induces acquired ELTN resistance; fedratinib reversed this ELTN resistance by downregulation of JAK2/STAT3 signaling, thereby ameliorating the anti-cancer effects of ELTN in nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (Chen et al., 2018). Furthermore, the JAK/STAT pathway leads to HDAC inhibitor resistance in cancers; novel JAK inhibitors based on a fedratinib moiety also suppressed tumor growth of acute erythroid leukemia (AEL) and NSCLC with HDAC inhibitor resistance (Qiu et al., 2023). Fedratinib further sensitizes P-gp-overexpression-induced drug resistance, and co-treatment with anti-mitotic drugs has been shown to increase the cytotoxicity of fedratinib to KBV20C oral cancer cells by reducing cell viability, increasing G2 arrest, and upregulating apoptosis (Oh et al., 2022b). In brief, the functions of fedratinib, including the inhibition of cell activity and drug resistance in cancer therapy, have been investigated to a certain extent.

3.4 Tofacitinib

Tofacitinib, an oral selective inhibitor of JAK1, JAK3, and (to a certain extent) JAK2 has been approved for treatment of RA (2012) (Coricello et al., 2020), psoriasis arthritis (PsA) (2017) (Ayala-Aguilera et al., 2022), ulcerative colitis (UC) (2018) (Ayala-Aguilera et al., 2022), juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) (2020) (Kostik et al., 2022), and ankylosing spondylitis (AS) (2021) (Mohanakrishnan et al., 2022). Preclinical studies have reported that tofacitinib is effective in T-ALL patients with JAK1/ JAK3 mutations (Girardi et al., 2017). However, AIDs are treated by decreasing the immune response, whereas tumorigenesis may occur during immune suppression conditions; thus drugs that inhibit immune response may also lead to tumorigenesis. There have been reports that therapy with tofacitinib increases the risk of tumorigenesis compared with tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibitor therapy (Ytterberg et al., 2022; Curtis et al., 2023). However, a metaanalysis of observational studies found no increased risk of malignancy in patients with RA treated with tofacitinib therapy

Name	Targets	Approved for anti- AIDs	Explored anti-cancer efficacy	
Ruxolitinib	JAK1, 2	MF, PV, GVHD	pancreatic cancer, head and neck cancer, breast cancer, lung cancer, hepatocellular cancer, T-ALL, CNL, aCML, MPN	
Pacritinib	JAK2, JAK2V617F	MF	AML, GBM,CRC, lung cancer, prostate cancer, breast cancer, NPC	
Fedratinib	JAK2, JAK2V617F	MF	PDAC, NSCLC, AEL, oral cancer cell	
Tofacitinib	JAK1, 2, 3	RA, PsA, UC, JIA, AS	T-ALL	
Baricitinib	JAK1, 2	RA	T-ALL, prostate cancer	
Abrocitinib	JAK1, 2	AD	N.D. (no data)	
Filgotinib	JAK1	RA	NSCLC	
Oclacitinib	JAK1	CAD	pulmonary metastasis	
Peficitinib	Pan-JAK	RA	epithelial ovarian cancer	
Upadacitinib	JAK1	RA, PsA, AD, UC	NSCLC, lung cancer cells, breast cancer	
Deucravacitinib	TYK2	РР	MPNST	
Delgocitinib	JAK1, 2, 3, TYK2	AD	N.D.	

TABLE 1 Summary of JAK inhibitor drug for AIDs explored in cancer therapy.

compared with those receiving conventional synthetic diseasemodifying anti-rheumatic drugs or TNF inhibitor therapy (Benucci et al., 2022). Thus, the association of tofacitinib with tumorigenesis is controversial.

3.5 Baricitinib

Baricitinib, an oral selective JAK1/2 inhibitor, was approved as a monotherapy for the treatment of RA in 2017 by the EMA and in 2018 by the FDA (Markham, 2017; Coricello et al., 2020), as well as in combination with methotrexate (Taylor et al., 2023). Baricitinib was also approved as a treatment for COVID-19 in 2020 by the EUA and in 2022 by the FDA (Shawky et al., 2022). The efficacy of baricitinib as a cancer therapy has rarely been considered so far, although one has study reported that baricitinib did not induce apoptosis of T-ALL (Akahane et al., 2017), whereas synergistic effects for its combination with docetaxel were observed in androgen-receptor-negative prostate cancer cells (Nalairndran et al., 2021). Potential effects on the risk of tumorigenesis have also been evaluated; one study reported that the malignancy rate in RA patients treated with baricitinib was high but not significantly different from that of the general population or of patients treated with TNF inhibitors (Uchida et al., 2023). Another study has evaluated the long-term safety of baricitinib in RA patients; at present, the data do not show an increased risk of malignancy (Taylor et al., 2022).

3.6 Abrocitinib

Abrocitinib, an inhibitor of JAK1 and JAK2, was approved for the treatment of adult patients with refractory and moderate-tosevere atopic dermatitis (AD) in 2022 by the FDA; it was also approved by the European Commission in 2021 (Deeks and Duggan, 2021; De, 2023). The anti-tumor efficacy of abrocitinib has not yet been investigated. Its safety has been evaluated by a long-term observation study, during which three patients (0.3%) treated with 100 mg abrocitinib and four patients (0.2%) treated with 200 mg abrocitinib developed nonmelanoma skin cancer, and there were three events of adjudicated malignancies, including two of prostate cancer and one of gastric adenocarcinoma, indicating a slight increase in cancer risk among patients receiving abrocitinib treatment (Simpson et al., 2021).

3.7 Filgotinib

Filgotinib, a specific inhibitor targeting JAK1, was approved for the treatment of RA by the EMA in 2020 (Dhillon and Keam, 2020). JAK1/STAT3 activation leads to targeted drug resistance of NSCLC, and inhibition of the JAK1/STAT3 signaling pathway by filgotinib reversed resistance to targeted drugs (Shien et al., 2017). No malignancies (solid tumor or lymphoma) were observed in clinical trials of filgotinib treatment (Biggioggero et al., 2019). During a long-term safety clinical trial for up to 4 years, only one case of NHL was considered to be related to filgotinib treatment among 739 enrolled patients (Kavanaugh et al., 2021).

3.8 Oclacitinib

Oclacitinib (Apoquel^{*}), a specific inhibitor targeting JAK1, was approved for the treatment of canine allergic dermatitis (CAD) in

2013 (Gonzales et al., 2014). To achieve synergistic anti-cancer activity, combination therapies of oclacitinib with cytotoxic chemotherapy, including carboplatin and doxorubicin, have been investigated in multi-pulmonary metastasis models; results indicate that oclacitinib is well tolerated in combination with carboplatin or doxorubicin, although whether anti-tumor efficacy is enhanced has not been determined (Barrett et al., 2019). Long-term treatment with oclacitinib did not appear to increase the risk of malignancy in dogs (Cosgrove et al., 2015; Lancellotti et al., 2020).

3.9 Peficitinib

Peficitinib, a pan-JAK inhibitor, was approved for treatment of RA in Japan in 2019 (Markham and Keam, 2019). Peficitinib has been proved to have an inhibitory effect on cancer cells that is dependent on JAK/STAT signaling. Chromatin assembly factor 1 subunit A was shown to promote the proliferation and growth of epithelial ovarian cancer cells by activating the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway, and peficitinib decreased cancer growth by inhibition of this pathway (Xia et al., 2023). Treatment with peficitinib inhibited octamer-binding transcription factor 4-induced promotion of viability, invasion, and tumorigenesis of ovarian cancer side-population cells (Ruan et al., 2019).

3.10 Upadacitinib

Upadacitinib is an oral JAK1 inhibitor that has been approved for treatment of RA (2019) (Duggan and Keam, 2019), PsA (2021) (Muensterman et al., 2022), AD (2022) (Shawky et al., 2022), and UC (2022) (Shawky et al., 2022). Induction of inflammation is a factor leading to cisplatininduced renal and hepatic dysfunction. It has been reported that upadacitinib protects against renal and hepatic dysfunction induced by cisplatin without impairing its efficacy against breast cancer and NSCLC. Moreover, upadacitinib promoted the potency of cisplatin against lung cancer cells (Anbar et al., 2022). No malignancies (hematoma or solid tumor) were observed in clinical trials to assess the safety of filgotinib therapy, whereas seven cases (*versus* three in the placebo group) were described in patients treated with upadacitinib, indicating that upadacitinib may increase the risk of tumorigenesis (Genovese et al., 2018; Biggioggero et al., 2019).

3.11 Deucravacitinib

Deucravacitinib (SotyktuTM), a specific inhibitor against TYK2, was approved for treatment of moderate-to-severe plaque psoriasis (PP) in 2022 by the FDA (Papp et al., 2018). Overexpression of TYK2 occurs in the majority of malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors (MPNST); inhibition of TYK2 by deucravacitinib decreased proliferation and induced apoptosis of these tumors through decreased expression of proteins involved in the cell cycle, mitotic, and glycolysis pathways (Borcherding et al., 2023). It has been reported that therapeutic TYK2 inhibition may increase the risk of lung cancer and NHL; however, the safety profile of deucravacitinib has not yet been determined (Yarmolinsky et al., 2022).

3.12 Delgocitinib

Delgocitinib (Corectim[®]), a nonselective inhibitor that inhibits all members of the JAK family, including JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and TYK2, was approved for treatment of AD in 2020 in Japan (Dhillon, 2020). However, the anti-tumor efficacy and the risk of tumorigenesis in AIDs patient treated with delgocitinib have not yet been established.

4 Summary

Both cancer and AIDs are related to immune diseases (Yasunaga, 2020). Based on these associations, drugs that were designed for the treatment of AIDs have also been extensively explored with respect to their potential to treat cancers. The summary of approved JAK inhibitors for AIDs and their exploration in understanding anti-cancer functions was provided in Table 1. JAK/STAT signaling is known as the double-edged sword of cancer progression (Owen et al., 2019). Numerous studies summarized in this review illustrate that inhibition of JAK/STAT signaling by approved JAK inhibitors has potential anti-tumor effects, although those drugs were primarily designed for against AIDs. While the JAK inhibitors approved for AIDs treatment have not yet received approval for cancer therapy. Certain drugs, such as Ruxolitinib, have undergone clinical trials to assess their anti-tumor efficacy against various solid tumors. These trials have included pancreatic, head and neck cancers, as well as hematological tumors, and have shown positive responses. Pacritinib has also been investigated in clinical trials for its anti-tumor effectiveness against AML and CRC. Additionally, combining these JAK inhibitors with other drugs to achieve synergistic anti-tumor efficacy also been explored in clinical trials. More and more JAK inhibitors have undergone extensive research to assess their potential efficacy against tumors in animal models and clinical trials. These findings are paving the way for their future clinical applications in cancer treatment.

Author contributions

X-HW: Investigation, Writing-original draft. Y-YL: Conceptualization, Writing-review and editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the funding from the Pengcheng Yingcai-Medical Youth Reserve Talents Training Project: XWRCHT20220018 for Y-YL.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

References

Ajayi, S., Becker, H., Reinhardt, H., Engelhardt, M., Zeiser, R., Von Bubnoff, N., et al. (2018). Ruxolitinib. *Recent Results Cancer Res* 212, 119–132. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-91439-8_6

Akahane, K., Li, Z., Etchin, J., Berezovskaya, A., Gjini, E., Masse, C. E., et al. (2017). Anti-leukaemic activity of the TYK2 selective inhibitor NDI-031301 in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Br. J. Haematol.* 177, 271–282. doi:10.1111/bjh.14563

American Association for Cancer Research (2015). Ruxolitinib benefits some with pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Discov.* 5, 1231. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-NB2015-142

Anbar, H. S., Shehab, N. G., El-Rouby, N. M. M., Ansari, M. A., Chenoth, H., Majeed, M., et al. (2022). Upadacitinib protects against cisplatin-induced renal and hepatic dysfunction without impairing its anticancer activity. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 172, 106149. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2022.106149

Ayala-Aguilera, C. C., Valero, T., Lorente-Macias, A., Baillache, D. J., Croke, S., and Unciti-Broceta, A. (2022). Small molecule kinase inhibitor drugs (1995-2021): medical indication, Pharmacology, and synthesis. *J. Med. Chem.* 65, 1047–1131. doi:10.1021/acs. jmedchem.1c00963

Barrett, L. E., Gardner, H. L., Barber, L. G., Sadowski, A., and London, C. A. (2019). Safety and toxicity of combined oclacitinib and carboplatin or doxorubicin in dogs with solid tumors: a pilot study. *BMC Vet. Res.* 15, 291. doi:10.1186/s12917-019-2032-4

Belver, L., and Ferrando, A. (2016). The genetics and mechanisms of T cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 494–507. doi:10.1038/nrc.2016.63

Benucci, M., Damiani, A., Infantino, M., Manfredi, M., Lari, B., Grossi, V., et al. (2022). Cardiovascular safety, cancer and Jak-inhibitors: differences to be highlighted. *Pharmacol. Res.* 183, 106359. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106359

Biggioggero, M., Becciolini, A., Crotti, C., Agape, E., and Favalli, E. G. (2019). Upadacitinib and filgotinib: the role of JAK1 selective inhibition in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Drugs Context* 8, 212595. doi:10.7573/dic.212595

Blair, H. A. (2019). Fedratinib: first approval. *Drugs* 79, 1719–1725. doi:10.1007/s40265-019-01205-x

Borcherding, D. C., Amin, N. V., He, K., Zhang, X., Lyu, Y., Dehner, C., et al. (2023). MEK inhibition synergizes with TYK2 inhibitors in NF1-associated malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 29, 1592–1604. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-22-3722

Chen, D., Zhang, F., Wang, J., He, H., Duan, S., Zhu, R., et al. (2018). Biodegradable nanoparticles mediated Co-delivery of erlotinib (ELTN) and fedratinib (FDTN) toward the treatment of ELTN-resistant non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) via suppression of the JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9, 1214. doi:10.3389/fphar.2018. 01214

Chen, Z., Higashiyama, A., Yaku, H., Bell, S., Fabian, J., Watkins, M. W., et al. (1997). Altered expression of troponin T isoforms in mild left ventricular hypertrophy in the rabbit. J. Mol. Cell Cardiol. 29, 2345–2354. doi:10.1006/jmcc.1997.0468

Coricello, A., Mesiti, F., Lupia, A., Maruca, A., and Alcaro, S. (2020). Inside perspective of the synthetic and computational toolbox of JAK inhibitors: recent updates. *Molecules* 25, 3321. doi:10.3390/molecules25153321

Cosgrove, S. B., Cleaver, D. M., King, V. L., Gilmer, A. R., Daniels, A. E., Wren, J. A., et al. (2015). Long-term compassionate use of oclacitinib in dogs with atopic and allergic skin disease: safety, efficacy and quality of life. *Vet. Dermatol* 26, 171–179. doi:10.1111/ vde.12194

Coureau, M., Meert, A. P., Berghmans, T., and Grigoriu, B. (2020). Efficacy and toxicity of immune -checkpoint inhibitors in patients with preexisting autoimmune disorders. *Front. Med. (Lausanne)* 7, 137. doi:10.3389/fmed.2020.00137

Curtis, J. R., Yamaoka, K., Chen, Y. H., Bhatt, D. L., Gunay, L. M., Sugiyama, N., et al. (2023). Malignancy risk with tofacitinib versus TNF inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis: results from the open-label, randomised controlled ORAL Surveillance trial. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 82, 331–343. doi:10.1136/ard-2022-222543

Dao, K. T., Gotlib, J., Deininger, M. M. N., Oh, S. T., Cortes, J. E., Collins, R. H., Jr., et al. (2020). Efficacy of ruxolitinib in patients with chronic neutrophilic leukemia and atypical chronic myeloid leukemia. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 38, 1006–1018. doi:10.1200/JCO.19. 00895

Datta, J., Dai, X., Bianchi, A., De Castro Silva, I., Mehra, S., Garrido, V. T., et al. (2022). Combined MEK and STAT3 inhibition uncovers stromal plasticity by enriching for cancer-associated fibroblasts with mesenchymal stem cell-like features to overcome immunotherapy resistance in pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology* 163, 1593–1612. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2022.07.076 organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

De, S. K. (2023). Abrocitinib: first globally approved selective Janus kinase-1 inhibitor for the treatment of atopic dermatitis. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 30, 4278–4282. doi:10.2174/0929867330666230216123419

Deeks, E. D., and Duggan, S. (2021). Abrocitinib: first approval. *Drugs* 81, 2149–2157. doi:10.1007/s40265-021-01638-3

Dhillon, S. (2020). Delgocitinib: first approval. Drugs 80, 609-615. doi:10.1007/ s40265-020-01291-2

Dhillon, S., and Keam, S. J. (2020). Filgotinib: first approval. Drugs 80, 1987–1997. doi:10.1007/s40265-020-01439-0

Doheny, D., Sirkisoon, S., Carpenter, R. L., Aguayo, N. R., Regua, A. T., Anguelov, M., et al. (2020). Combined inhibition of JAK2-STAT3 and SMO-GL11/tGL11 pathways suppresses breast cancer stem cells, tumor growth, and metastasis. *Oncogene* 39, 6589–6605. doi:10.1038/s41388-020-01454-1

Duggan, S., and Keam, S. J. (2019). Upadacitinib: first approval. *Drugs* 79, 1819–1828. doi:10.1007/s40265-019-01211-z

Eliacik, E., Isik, A., Aksu, S., Uner, A., Buyukasik, Y., Sayinalp, N., et al. (2015). Pharmacobiological approach for the clinical development of ruxolitinib in myeloproliferative neoplasms. *Turk J. Haematol.* 32, 163–167. doi:10.4274/tjh.2013. 0265

Genovese, M. C., Fleischmann, R., Combe, B., Hall, S., Rubbert-Roth, A., Zhang, Y., et al. (2018). Safety and efficacy of upadacitinib in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis refractory to biologic disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (SELECT-BEYOND): a double-blind, randomised controlled phase 3 trial. *Lancet* 391, 2513–2524. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31116-4

Ghezzi, C., Chen, B. Y., Damoiseaux, R., and Clark, P. M. (2023). Pacritinib inhibits glucose consumption in squamous cell lung cancer cells by targeting FLT3. *Sci. Rep.* 13, 1442. doi:10.1038/s41598-023-28576-2

Giat, E., Ehrenfeld, M., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2017). Cancer and autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun. Rev. 16, 1049–1057. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2017.07.022

Girardi, T., Vicente, C., Cools, J., and De Keersmaecker, K. (2017). The genetics and molecular biology of T-ALL. *Blood* 129, 1113–1123. doi:10.1182/blood-2016-10-706465

Gonzales, A. J., Bowman, J. W., Fici, G. J., Zhang, M., Mann, D. W., and Mitton-Fry, M. (2014). Oclacitinib (APOQUEL([®])) is a novel Janus kinase inhibitor with activity against cytokines involved in allergy. *J. Vet. Pharmacol. Ther.* 37, 317–324. doi:10.1111/jvp.12101

Green, P. H., Fleischauer, A. T., Bhagat, G., Goyal, R., Jabri, B., and Neugut, A. I. (2003). Risk of malignancy in patients with celiac disease. *Am. J. Med.* 115, 191–195. doi:10.1016/s0002-9343(03)00302-4

Hart, S., Goh, K. C., Novotny-Diermayr, V., Tan, Y. C., Madan, B., Amalini, C., et al. (2011). Pacritinib (SB1518), a JAK2/FLT3 inhibitor for the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia. *Blood Cancer J.* 1, e44. doi:10.1038/bcj.2011.43

Herbaux, C., Kornauth, C., Poulain, S., Chong, S. J. F., Collins, M. C., Valentin, R., et al. (2021). BH3 profiling identifies ruxolitinib as a promising partner for venetoclax to treat T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia. *Blood* 137, 3495–3506. doi:10.1182/blood. 2020007303

Hirano, T. (2021). IL-6 in inflammation, autoimmunity and cancer. *Int. Immunol.* 33, 127–148. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxaa078

Jensen, K. V., Cseh, O., Aman, A., Weiss, S., and Luchman, H. A. (2017). The JAK2/ STAT3 inhibitor pacritinib effectively inhibits patient-derived GBM brain tumor initiating cells *in vitro* and when used in combination with temozolomide increases survival in an orthotopic xenograft model. *PLoS One* 12, e0189670. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0189670

Jeon, J. Y., Zhao, Q., Buelow, D. R., Phelps, M., Walker, A. R., Mims, A. S., et al. (2020). Preclinical activity and a pilot phase I study of pacritinib, an oral JAK2/FLT3 inhibitor, and chemotherapy in FLT3-ITD-positive AML. *Invest. New Drugs* 38, 340–349. doi:10. 1007/s10637-019-00786-4

Ji, J., Liu, X., Sundquist, K., Sundquist, J., and Hemminki, K. (2010). Cancer risk in patients hospitalized with polymyalgia rheumatica and giant cell arteritis: a follow-up study in Sweden. *Rheumatol. Oxf.* 49, 1158–1163. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keq040

Kavanaugh, A., Westhovens, R. R., Winthrop, K. L., Lee, S. J., Tan, Y., An, D., et al. (2021). Safety and efficacy of filgotinib: up to 4-year results from an open-label extension study of phase II rheumatoid arthritis programs. *J. Rheumatol.* 48, 1230–1238. doi:10.3899/jrheum.201183

Kermani, T. A., Schafer, V. S., Crowson, C. S., Hunder, G. G., Gabriel, S. E., Ytterberg, S. R., et al. (2010a). Malignancy risk in patients with giant cell arteritis: a population-based cohort study. *Arthritis Care Res. Hob.* 62, 149–154. doi:10.1002/ acr.20062

Kermani, T. A., Schafer, V. S., Crowson, C. S., Hunder, G. G., Ytterberg, S. R., Matteson, E. L., et al. (2010b). Cancer preceding giant cell arteritis: a case-control study. *Arthritis Rheum.* 62, 1763–1769. doi:10.1002/art.27429

Kolodrubiec, J., Kozlowska, M., Irga-Jaworska, N., Sedek, L., Pastorczak, A., Trelinska, J., et al. (2022). Efficacy of ruxolitinib in acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a systematic review. *Leuk. Res.* 121, 106925. doi:10.1016/j.leukres.2022.106925

Kontzias, A., Kotlyar, A., Laurence, A., Changelian, P., and O'shea, J. J. (2012). Jakinibs: a new class of kinase inhibitors in cancer and autoimmune disease. *Curr. Opin. Pharmacol.* 12, 464–470. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2012.06.008

Kostik, M. M., Raupov, R. K., Suspitsin, E. N., Isupova, E. A., Gaidar, E. V., Gabrusskaya, T. V., et al. (2022). The safety and efficacy of tofacitinib in 24 cases of pediatric rheumatic diseases: single centre experience. *Front. Pediatr.* 10, 820586. doi:10. 3389/fped.2022.820586

Lancellotti, B. A., Angus, J. C., Edginton, H. D., and Rosenkrantz, W. S. (2020). Age- and breed-matched retrospective cohort study of malignancies and benign skin masses in 660 dogs with allergic dermatitis treated long-term with versus without oclacitinib. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* 257, 507–516. doi:10.2460/javma.257. 5.507

Lato, M. W., Przysucha, A., Grosman, S., Zawitkowska, J., and Lejman, M. (2021). The new therapeutic strategies in pediatric T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22, 4502. doi:10.3390/ijms22094502

Lei, X., Lei, Y., Li, J. K., Du, W. X., Li, R. G., Yang, J., et al. (2020). Immune cells within the tumor microenvironment: biological functions and roles in cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Lett.* 470, 126–133. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2019.11.009

Li, T., Yang, X., Zhu, J., Liu, Y., Jin, X., Chen, G., et al. (2023). Current application status and structure-activity relationship of selective and non-selective JAK inhibitors in diseases. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 122, 110660. doi:10.1016/j.intimp. 2023.110660

Liu, L., Liu, S., Deng, P., Liang, Y., Xiao, R., Tang, L. Q., et al. (2021). Targeting the IRAK1-S100A9 Axis overcomes resistance to paclitaxel in nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 81, 1413–1425. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-20-2125

Liu, L. W., Hsieh, Y. Y., and Yang, P. M. (2020). Bioinformatics data mining repurposes the JAK2 (Janus kinase 2) inhibitor fedratinib for treating pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma by reversing the KRAS (kirsten rat sarcoma 2 viral oncogene homolog)-driven gene signature. *J. Pers. Med.* 10, 130. doi:10.3390/jpm10030130

Mao, S., Shen, H., and Zhang, J. (2016). Systemic lupus erythematosus and malignancies risk. J. Cancer Res. Clin. Oncol. 142, 253-262. doi:10.1007/s00432-015-2032-0

Markham, A. (2017). Baricitinib: first global approval. Drugs 77, 697-704. doi:10. 1007/s40265-017-0723-3

Markham, A., and Keam, S. J. (2019). Peficitinib: first global approval. Drugs 79, 887-891. doi:10.1007/s40265-019-01131-y

Mascarenhas, J., and Hoffman, R. (2012). Ruxolitinib: the first FDA approved therapy for the treatment of myelofibrosis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 3008–3014. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3145

Mohanakrishnan, R., Beier, S., and Deodhar, A. (2022). Tofacitinib for the treatment of active ankylosing spondylitis in adults. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 18, 273–280. doi:10.1080/1744666X.2022.2038134

Moskowitz, A. J., Ghione, P., Jacobsen, E., Ruan, J., Schatz, J. H., Noor, S., et al. (2021). A phase 2 biomarker-driven study of ruxolitinib demonstrates effectiveness of JAK/ STAT targeting in T-cell lymphomas. *Blood* 138, 2828–2837. doi:10.1182/blood. 2021013379

Muensterman, E., Engelhardt, B., Gopalakrishnan, S., Anderson, J. K., and Mohamed, M. F. (2022). Upadacitinib pharmacokinetics and exposure-response analyses of efficacy and safety in psoriatic arthritis patients - analyses of phase III clinical trials. *Clin. Transl. Sci.* 15, 267–278. doi:10.1111/cts.13146

Muller, S., Hider, S. L., Belcher, J., Helliwell, T., and Mallen, C. D. (2014). Is cancer associated with polymyalgia rheumatica? A cohort study in the General Practice Research Database. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 73, 1769–1773. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203465

Nalairndran, G., Chung, I., Abdul Razack, A. H., Chung, F. F., Hii, L. W., Lim, W. M., et al. (2021). Inhibition of Janus Kinase 1 synergizes docetaxel sensitivity in prostate cancer cells. *J. Cell Mol. Med.* 25, 8187–8200. doi:10.1111/jcmm.16684

Novotny-Diermayr, V., Hart, S., Goh, K. C., Cheong, A., Ong, L. C., Hentze, H., et al. (2012). The oral HDAC inhibitor pracinostat (SB939) is efficacious and synergistic with the JAK2 inhibitor pactitinib (SB1518) in preclinical models of AML. *Blood Cancer J.* 2, e69. doi:10.1038/bcj.2012.14

Ochi, N., Isozaki, H., Takeyama, M., Singer, J. W., Yamane, H., Honda, Y., et al. (2016). Synergistic effect of pacritinib with erlotinib on JAK2-mediated resistance in epidermal gowth factor receptor mutation-positive non-small cell lung Cancer. *Exp. Cell Res.* 344, 194–200. doi:10.1016/j.yexcr.2016.05.008

Oh, Y., Lee, J. S., Lee, J. S., Park, J. H., Kim, H. S., and Yoon, S. (2022a). Co-Treatment of low dose pacritinib, a phase III Jak2 inhibitor, greatly increases apoptosis of P-gp over-expressing cancer cells with multidrug resistance. *Anticancer Res.* 42, 2433–2442. doi:10.21873/anticanres.15722

Oh, Y., Lee, J. S., Lee, J. S., Park, J. H., Kim, H. S., and Yoon, S. (2022b). Terconazole, an azole antifungal drug, increases cytotoxicity in antimitotic drug-treated resistant cancer cells with substrate-specific P-gp inhibitory activity. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 23, 13809. doi:10.3390/ijms232213809

O'shea, J. J., Ma, A., and Lipsky, P. (2002). Cytokines and autoimmunity. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2, 37-45. doi:10.1038/nri702

Owen, K. L., Brockwell, N. K., and Parker, B. S. (2019). JAK-STAT signaling: a doubleedged sword of immune regulation and cancer progression. *Cancers (Basel)* 11, 2002. doi:10.3390/cancers11122002

Papp, K., Gordon, K., Thaci, D., Morita, A., Gooderham, M., Foley, P., et al. (2018). Phase 2 trial of selective tyrosine kinase 2 inhibition in psoriasis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 379, 1313–1321. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1806382

Patel, M. R., Dash, A., Jacobson, B. A., Ji, Y., Baumann, D., Ismail, K., et al. (2019). JAK/STAT inhibition with ruxolitinib enhances oncolytic virotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer models. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 26, 411–418. doi:10.1038/s41417-018-0074-6

Qiu, Q., Chi, F., Zhou, D., Xie, Z., Liu, Y., Wu, H., et al. (2023). Exploration of Janus kinase (JAK) and histone deacetylase (HDAC) bispecific inhibitors based on the moiety of fedratinib for treatment of both hematologic malignancies and solid cancers. *J. Med. Chem.* 66, 5753–5773. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.3c00036

Qureshy, Z., Li, H., Zeng, Y., Rivera, J., Cheng, N., Peterson, C. N., et al. (2022). STAT3 activation as a predictive biomarker for ruxolitinib response in head and neck cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 28, 4737–4746. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-22-0744

Raedler, L. A. (2015). Jakafi (ruxolitinib): first FDA-approved medication for the treatment of patients with polycythemia vera. *Am. Health Drug Benefits* 8, 75–79.

Roskoski, R., Jr. (2023a). Deucravacitinib is an allosteric TYK2 protein kinase inhibitor FDA-approved for the treatment of psoriasis. *Pharmacol. Res.* 189, 106642. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106642

Roskoski, R., Jr. (2023b). Properties of FDA-approved small molecule protein kinase inhibitors: a 2023 update. *Pharmacol. Res.* 187, 106552. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2022.106552

Ruan, Z., Yang, X., and Cheng, W. (2019). OCT4 accelerates tumorigenesis through activating JAK/STAT signaling in ovarian cancer side population cells. *Cancer Manag. Res.* 11, 389–399. doi:10.2147/CMAR.S180418

Schneider, J., Jeon, Y. W., Suh, Y. J., and Lim, S. T. (2022). Effects of ruxolitinib and calcitriol combination treatment on various molecular subtypes of breast cancer. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 23, 2535. doi:10.3390/ijms23052535

Schwartz, D. M., Kanno, Y., Villarino, A., Ward, M., Gadina, M., and O'shea, J. J. (2017). JAK inhibition as a therapeutic strategy for immune and inflammatory diseases. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 16, 843–862. doi:10.1038/nrd.2017.201

Shawky, A. M., Almalki, F. A., Abdalla, A. N., Abdelazeem, A. H., and Gouda, A. M. (2022). A comprehensive overview of globally approved JAK inhibitors. *Pharmaceutics* 14, 1001. doi:10.3390/pharmaceutics14051001

Shien, K., Papadimitrakopoulou, V. A., Ruder, D., Behrens, C., Shen, L., Kalhor, N., et al. (2017). JAK1/STAT3 activation through a proinflammatory cytokine pathway leads to resistance to molecularly targeted therapy in non-small cell lung cancer. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* 16, 2234–2245. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-17-0148

Simpson, E. L., Silverberg, J. I., Nosbaum, A., Winthrop, K. L., Guttman-Yassky, E., Hoffmeister, K. M., et al. (2021). Integrated safety analysis of abrocitinib for the treatment of moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis from the phase II and phase III clinical trial program. *Am. J. Clin. Dermatol* 22, 693–707. doi:10.1007/s40257-021-00618-3

Smedby, K. E., Hjalgrim, H., Askling, J., Chang, E. T., Gregersen, H., Porwit-Macdonald, A., et al. (2006). Autoimmune and chronic inflammatory disorders and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma by subtype. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 98, 51–60. doi:10.1093/jnci/djj004

Taverna, J. A., Hung, C. N., Dearmond, D. T., Chen, M., Lin, C. L., Osmulski, P. A., et al. (2020). Single-cell proteomic profiling identifies combined AXL and JAK1 inhibition as a novel therapeutic strategy for lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 80, 1551–1563. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-3183

Taylor, P. C., Laedermann, C., Alten, R., Feist, E., Choy, E., Haladyj, E., et al. (2023). A JAK inhibitor for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: the baricitinib experience. *J. Clin. Med.* 12, 4527. doi:10.3390/jcm12134527

Taylor, P. C., Takeuchi, T., Burmester, G. R., Durez, P., Smolen, J. S., Deberdt, W., et al. (2022). Safety of baricitinib for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis over a median of 4.6 and up to 9.3 years of treatment: final results from long-term extension study and integrated database. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 81, 335–343. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2021-221276

Uchida, T., Iwamoto, N., Fukui, S., Morimoto, S., Aramaki, T., Shomura, F., et al. (2023). Comparison of risks of cancer, infection, and MACEs associated with JAK inhibitor and TNF inhibitor treatment: a multicentre cohort study. *Rheumatol. Oxf.* 62, 3358–3365. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kead079

Wang, L., Wang, F. S., and Gershwin, M. E. (2015). Human autoimmune diseases: a comprehensive update. J. Intern Med. 278, 369–395. doi:10.1111/joim.12395

Wang, S. Y., Xie, X. L., Liang, J. Y., and Cheng, Z. Y. (2023). Effects of ruxolitinib on myeloproliferative neoplasms via the negative regulators. *Clin. Lab.* 69, 220442. doi:10. 7754/Clin.Lab.2022.220442

Wilson, G. S., Tian, A., Hebbard, L., Duan, W., George, J., Li, X., et al. (2013). Tumoricidal effects of the JAK inhibitor Ruxolitinib (INC424) on hepatocellular carcinoma *in vitro*. *Cancer Lett.* 341, 224–230. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2013.08.009

Xia, D., Xu, X., Wei, J., Wang, W., Xiong, J., Tan, Q., et al. (2023). CHAF1A promotes the proliferation and growth of epithelial ovarian cancer cells by affecting the phosphorylation of JAK2/STAT3 signaling pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Rep.* 35, 101522. doi:10.1016/j.bbrep.2023.101522

Xue, C., Yao, Q., Gu, X., Shi, Q., Yuan, X., Chu, Q., et al. (2023). Evolving cognition of the JAK-STAT signaling pathway: autoimmune disorders and cancer. *Signal Transduct. Target Ther.* 8, 204. doi:10.1038/s41392-023-01468-7

Yang, W., Zhu, G., Qin, M., Li, Z., Wang, B., Yang, J., et al. (2021). The effectiveness of ruxolitinib for acute/chronic graft-versus-host disease in children: a retrospective study. *Drug Des. Devel Ther.* 15, 743–752. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S287218

Yang, Y. (2015). Cancer immunotherapy: harnessing the immune system to battle cancer. J. Clin. Invest. 125, 3335–3337. doi:10.1172/JCI83871

Yarmolinsky, J., Amos, C. I., Hung, R. J., Moreno, V., Burrows, K., Smith-Byrne, K., et al. (2022). Association of germline TYK2 variation with lung cancer and non-Hodgkin lymphoma risk. *Int. J. Cancer* 151, 2155–2160. doi:10.1002/ijc. 34180

Yasunaga, M. (2020). Antibody therapeutics and immunoregulation in cancer and autoimmune disease. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 64, 1–12. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2019. 06.001

Youinou, P., Pers, J. O., Gershwin, M. E., and Shoenfeld, Y. (2010). Geoepidemiology and autoimmunity. J. Autoimmun. 34, J163–J167. doi:10.1016/j.jaut. 2009.12.005

Ytterberg, S. R., Bhatt, D. L., Mikuls, T. R., Koch, G. G., Fleischmann, R., Rivas, J. L., et al. (2022). Cardiovascular and cancer risk with tofacitinib in rheumatoid arthritis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 386, 316–326. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa2109927

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Masamitsu Kanada, Michigan State University, United States

REVIEWED BY Anas Shamsi, Ajman University, United Arab Emirates Ang Luo, Northwest A&F University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Fei Mao, ⊠ maofei2003@ujs.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 07 February 2024 ACCEPTED 02 April 2024 PUBLISHED 11 April 2024

CITATION

Din MAU, Lin Y, Wang N, Wang B and Mao F (2024), Ferroptosis and the ubiquitinproteasome system: exploring treatment targets in cancer. *Front. Pharmacol.* 15:1383203. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2024.1383203

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Din, Lin, Wang, Wang and Mao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Ferroptosis and the ubiquitin-proteasome system: exploring treatment targets in cancer

Muhammad Azhar Ud Din^{1,2†}, Yan Lin^{3†}, Naijian Wang¹, Bo Wang¹ and Fei Mao^{1,2}*

¹Key Laboratory of Medical Science and Laboratory Medicine of Jiangsu Province, School of Medicine Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, Jiangsu, China, ²Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lianyungang Clinical College, Jiangsu University, Lianyungang, Jiangsu, China, ³The People's Hospital of Danyang, Affiliated Danyang Hospital of Nantong University, Zhenjiang, Jiangsu, China

Ferroptosis is an emerging mode of programmed cell death fueled by iron buildup and lipid peroxidation. Recent evidence points to the function of ferroptosis in the aetiology and development of cancer and other disorders. Consequently, harnessing iron death for disease treatment has diverted the interest of the researchers in the field of basic and clinical research. The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) represents a primary protein degradation pathway in eukaryotes. It involves labelling proteins to be degraded by ubiquitin (Ub), followed by recognition and degradation by the proteasome. Dysfunction of the UPS can contribute to diverse pathological processes, emphasizing the importance of maintaining organismal homeostasis. The regulation of protein stability is a critical component of the intricate molecular mechanism underlying iron death. Moreover, the intricate involvement of the UPS in regulating iron death-related molecules and signaling pathways, providing valuable insights for targeted treatment strategies. Besides, it highlights the potential of ferroptosis as a promising target for cancer therapy, emphasizing the combination between ferroptosis and the UPS. The molecular mechanisms underlying ferroptosis, including key regulators such as glutathione peroxidase 4 (GPX4), cysteine/ glutamate transporter (system XC-), and iron metabolism, are thoroughly examined, alongside the role of the UPS in modulating the abundance and activity of crucial proteins for ferroptotic cell death, such as GPX4, and nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NRF2). As a pivotal regulatory system for macromolecular homeostasis, the UPS substantially impacts ferroptosis by directly or indirectly modulating iron death-related molecules or associated signaling pathways. This review explores the involvement of the UPS in regulating iron death-related molecules and signaling pathways, providing valuable insights for the targeted treatment of diseases associated with ferroptosis.

KEYWORDS

ferroptosis, ubiquitin-proteasome pathway, degradation, cancer, treatment

1 Introduction

The primary goal of cancer treatment research has been to eliminate malignant cells while protecting healthy cells (Cassetta and Pollard, 2023). To prevent the uncontrolled growth of cancer cells and other abnormal tissues, the body relies on a process known as "regulated cell death" (RCD) to keep things in check (Coradduzza et al., 2023; Huang et al., 2023). Apoptosis, paraptosis, necroptosis, and ferroptosis are among the distinct modes of RCD that have been characterized so far (Tong et al., 2022). The tumor's development and the treatment response are impacted differently by each RCD subtype. In contrast to necrosis, apoptosis, and paraptosis, ferroptosis is distinguished by ferrous ions' buildup and lipids' peroxidation (Su et al., 2019; Zhi et al., 2022; Wu et al., 2023). Ferroptosis has been acknowledged as a promising cellular mechanism with potential anti-tumor benefits since its discovery. Furthermore, it has been connected to several other diseases, such as neurological disorders and harm caused by strokes (Dixon et al., 2012; Gao et al., 2022; Liu et al., 2022). By controlling the metabolism of iron and lipids, ferroptosis regulates the resistance of tumor to chemotherapy or targeted medicines (Qi et al., 2022). The metabolic adaptability of tumor cells, notably their sensitivity to ferroptosis, sheds light on the mechanisms underpinning tumor persistence (Lin et al., 2022). Significant strides have been achieved in increasing cancer cells' sensitivity to ferroptosis by changing their metabolism or activating oncogenic pathways (Deng et al., 2023). Additionally, it has been found that immunotherapy modifies the efficacy of ferroptosis by increasing the levels of lipid peroxide and iron in tumor cells, which facilitates ferroptosis (Yao et al., 2021).

Among the many molecular mechanisms affecting ferroptosis, the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway is widely involved and is closely related to the occurrence and development of tumors and other diseases (Tang and Kroemer, 2020). The exogenous pathway is initiated by the inhibition of system XC- or activation of transferrin (TF) and lactotransferrin (LTF) on the cell membrane. The endogenous mechanism is triggered by the depletion of intracellular glutathione (GSH) and inactivation of GSH peroxidase 4 (GPX4) (Ingold et al., 2018). Ferroptosis plays a crucial role in the development and diseases (Distéfano et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2021), and has become a hot spot in biological research in recent years. Therefore, understanding the relationship between the UPS and ferroptosis can help understand the complex mechanism of ferroptosis and provide new strategies for treating human diseases, including tumors (Chen et al., 2021), neurodegenerative diseases (Masaldan et al., 2019). cardiomyopathy (Fang et al., 2019) ischemia-reperfusion injury (Li et al., 2020), stroke (Alim et al., 2019), traumatic brain injury of cerebral hemorrhage (Bao et al., 2021), ageing (Timmers et al., 2020), atherosclerosis (Ouyang et al., 2021), liver injury (Chen et al., 2022), and kidney injury (Tonnus et al., 2021), or related pathological cell death. With the development of molecular biology, various regulatory factors and related mechanisms mediating ferroptosis are being revealed, and the basic research of ferroptosis is gradually deepening. The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway plays a significant role in ferroptosis and has been linked to the development of cancer and other diseases. Therefore, comprehending the connection between the UPS and ferroptosis will aid in understanding the intricate process of ferroptosis and offer fresh approaches for treating human disorders, such as tumor.

2 Distinctive features of ferroptosis

Ferroptosis is defined by mitochondrial dysfunction and cell death due to iron-dependent lipid peroxidation. It is characterized by several morphological changes, including the blistering of the plasma membrane, the reduction or absence of the mitochondrial ridges, and the preservation of the usual size of the nucleus without chromatin condensation (Rodriguez et al., 2022). The delicate lipid peroxide balance within the cell plays a critical role in the incidence of ferroptosis. Metabolic pathways tightly control ferroptosis, including lipids, iron, and amino acids Figure 1.

Ferroptosis is induced by the iron-mediated oxidation of polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA). Regarding biological properties, ferroptosis cell death is associated with the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), evidenced mainly by iron and lipid peroxidation buildup. When the metabolism of the antioxidant system in cells is disturbed, it causes an increase in the accumulation of Fe²⁺ within the cell, which in turn mediate the Fenton reaction to produce hydroxyl (-OH) or alkoxy (R-O) free radicals with different peroxides (Su et al., 2019) which can peroxidize with unsaturated fatty acids on the cell membrane. It causes the destruction of the stability of the lipid bilayer and the disintegration of the cell membrane, thus promoting ferroptosis in cells. The mitochondrial morphology of cells undergoing ferroptosis changes significantly, including mitochondrial volume reduction, membrane density increases and ridge reduction or even disappearance. Compared with apoptosis, the nuclear structure of cells undergoing ferroptosis is complete, without nuclear membrane rupture and chromatin marginalization. It is also accompanied by cell shedding and aggregation (Li and Li, 2020).

The occurrence or inhibition of ferroptosis is associated with various molecular mechanisms closely related to the metabolism of amino acids, lipids, iron and other metabolic modes in the cell. The regulatory mechanisms of ferroptosis can be divided into positive and negative ones. Iron metabolism is the essential positive regulatory mechanism of ferroptosis. As mentioned above, excessive accumulation of iron ions in cells can promote the occurrence of ferroptosis. Extracellular Fe3+ is endocytosed into the cell body by transferrin receptor protein 1 (TFR1). After the reduction of Fe³⁺ into ferrous ion Fe²⁺ in the cell, some Fe²⁺ is further stored in the unstable iron pool mediated by DMT1 (divalent metal transporter 1) or zinc-regulated, iron-regulated transporter-like proteins 8 ZIP8/14 (ZRT/IRT-like proteins 8/14). The other part is stored in an iron storage protein complex composed of FTL (ferritin light chain) and FTH1 (ferritin heavy chain). Excessive accumulation of Fe²⁺ triggers the Fenton reaction, which promotes cell ferroptosis.

The SLC7A11-GSH-GPX4 pathway is considered to be the primary negative regulatory mechanism in cells (Lei et al., 2022). In mammal cells, SLC7A11, a member of system XC- on the cell membrane, can take cystine into the cell to synthesize GSH, which is a necessary component for the activity of GPX4, a vital lipid peroxidase in the cell, so that GPX4 can directly reduce phospholipid hydrogen peroxide to hydroxy phospholipid. It



dependent anion channel 2/3; α -KG, alpha ketoglutaric acid; ETC, electron transfer chain.

prevents the peroxidation of PUFA on the cell membrane and thus inhibits ferroptosis in cells (Koppula et al., 2021). At the same time, more studies have shown that there are non-GPX4-dependent harmful regulatory mechanisms of ferroptosis in cells, such as the ferroptosis suppressor protein (FSP1-CoQH2 system), human dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH-CoQH2 system) and GCH1-BH4 system. Among them, FSP1, as a nicotinamide dinucleotide phosphate [NAD(P) H-dependent adenine oxidoreductase], can reduce CoQ (CoQ) to panthenol (CoQH2), thereby trapping lipid peroxy radicals and inhibiting lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis (Bersuker et al., 2019; Doll et al., 2019). Additionally, one study discovered the first ferroptosis defense mechanism operating within mitochondria: dihydroorotate dehydrogenase (DHODH), an enzyme involved in pyrimidine synthesis, converts CoQ to CoQH2 in the inner mitochondrial membrane, neutralizing the lipid peroxidation defense against ferroptosis in mitochondria (Mao et al., 2021). Through the synthesis of BH4 (tetrahydrobiopterin), a free radical-scavenging antioxidant, CoQH2, and phospholipids (FLs) with two PUFA tails, GCH1 (GTP cyclohydrolase 1) prevents ferroptosis in the GCH1-BH4 system (Soula et al., 2020). Additionally, several transcription factors involved in ferroptosis, including tumor protein 53 (TP53), NFE2L2/NRF2, and activating transcription factor (ATF3), have diverse functions in modulating

ferroptosis sensitivity using transcription-dependent or transcription-independent techniques (Dai et al., 2020).

2.1 Ferroptosis and iron metabolism

Ferroptosis, the process of acquiring, using, storing, and eventually excreting iron, relies heavily on iron metabolism (Hu et al., 2021). During digestion, the duodenum's epithelial cells absorb iron from meals. DMT1 then transports Fe2+ into the cells after iron reductase converts Fe3+ in the intestinal epithelium (Richardson and Ponka, 1997). Iron homeostasis in the body is crucial for maintaining the balance of this essential element. Transferrin and ferritin play vital roles in this process. Transferrin is a glycoprotein that binds to Fe³⁺ in the blood, forming a complex. This complex is taken up by cells through endocytosis mediated by the TfR (Anderson and Frazer, 2017; Yanatori and Kishi, 2019; Shamsi et al., 2020; Qiu et al., 2022). Once inside the cell, the iron is released from transferrin in the acidic environment of the endosome. This release is facilitated by a combination of low pH, a conformational change in transferrin upon binding to its receptor, and reduction of transferrin-bound Fe³⁺. The released iron can then be used for metabolic functions, stored within cytosolic ferritin, or exported from the cell via ferroportin (FPN1) (Anderson and Frazer,

2017). Ferritin, an intracellular protein, serves as the primary storage site for excess iron. It accumulates and sequesters iron, preventing its potential neurotoxic effects. Ferritin molecules can accumulate excess iron and are engulfed by lysosomes in a process called "autophagy" (Arosio et al., 2017). Together, transferrin and ferritin play critical roles in maintaining iron homeostasis. Transferrin transports iron to cells, while ferritin stores excess iron, preventing its toxicity. This intricate interplay ensures the proper distribution and storage of iron, supporting various physiological processes in the body (Anderson and Frazer, 2017). An iron pool (IP) that is non-toxic to cells can be formed when iron is safely stored in ferritin. Compared to the IP, the cell's free Fe²⁺ concentration is substantially lower (Lin et al., 2020; Philpott et al., 2020). Free Fe²⁺ is highly reactive and readily forms hydroxyl free radicals when combined with intracellular hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). This causes oxidative damage to DNA, proteins, and membrane lipids. This pathway promotes lipid oxidation, which harms cell membranes and eventually results in cell death (Hong et al., 2021; Qin et al., 2023). Additionally, by lowering the amount of redox-active iron available, several mitochondrial proteins, such as NFS1-ISCU26, CISD1, and CISD2, can negatively control ferroptosis (Chen et al., 2021). There are two parts of ferritin, the FTH1 and the FTL (Zhang et al., 2021). Ferritinophagy is the process whereby ferritin degrades and releases Fe²⁺ (Sun et al., 2022). To create a ferritin complex, the nuclear receptor coactivator 4 (NCOA4) can attach to FTH1 directly. An increase in intracellular free Fe2+ hastens ferroptotic cell death, an increase in the concentration of ferritin phagosomes, and an increase in NCOA4 (Jin et al., 2022; Mi et al., 2023).

Another typical mechanism for ferritin breakdown in cardiomyocytes is heme catalysis via heme oxygenase-1 (HO-1). NRF2 and BAY have been suggested to activate this pathway (Wang et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2023). Researchers have found that increasing HO-1 expression accelerates elastin-induced ferroptosis (Guan et al., 2022). Most cells do not have an efficient method to remove iron when it accumulates beyond storage capacity, which results in elevated levels of the labile IP. A higher concentration of free iron within the cell stimulates the production of labile IP, which speeds up the onset of ferroptosis (Ou et al., 2022).

2.2 Role of lipid metabolism in ferroptosis

PUFAs are essential to the fluidity of cell membranes because of their location in the phospholipid bilayer. An overabundance of PUFAs can cause the Fenton reaction to convert them into hydroxyl radicals, which in turn can cause an overabundance of lipid peroxide and, in turn, cause cells to enter ferroptosis (Dierge et al., 2021; Mishima and Conrad, 2022). Phosphatidyl ethanolamine (PE) makes up roughly 15%–25% of the phospholipids in the membranes of other organelles compared to about 40%–45% of the total phospholipids in the inner membrane of mitochondria (Feng and Stockwell, 2018; Yi et al., 2021). Data indicates that PE contributes to the ferroptosis triggered by arachidonic acid (AA) and its analogues. Acyl-CoA synthetase long-chain family member 4 (ACSL4) catalyzes the reaction in which PUFAs attach to coenzyme A (CoA) to form Acyl-CoA, a key intermediate in the nonenzymatic process of lipid peroxidation (Bouchaoui et al., 2023). Acyl-CoA then undergoes re-esterification to create phospholipids, a process performed by lysophosphatidylcholine acyltransferase 3 (LPCAT3) (Xu et al., 2022). The membrane remodeling enzymes ACSL4 and LPCAT3 are crucial for promoting ferroptosis (Feng et al., 2022). They control the levels of PUFAs in phospholipids.

PE and LPCAT3 boost ferroptosis by inducing membrane phospholipid peroxidation via lipid oxygenase (LOX) activity. Therefore, protecting cells against elastin-induced ferroptosis can be achieved by silencing LOXs (Lee et al., 2022). Multiple mechanisms exist by which lipid peroxides cause damage to cells, including the generation of ROS through the amplification of lipid peroxidation processes, alterations to the membrane's physical structure, and lipid peroxidation byproducts (Zhan et al., 2022).

2.3 Connection of ferroptosis to amino acid metabolism

One of the most effective antioxidants is GSH (Yang et al., 2022). It helps repair damaged cell membranes by acting as a GPX4 substrate, part of the body's natural defense mechanism. An essential transporter for GSH production is the cystine/ glutamate antiporter (XC-) (Wu et al., 2021; Du and Guo, 2022). The system XC- and GPX4 are both essential for the amino acid metabolism associated with ferroptosis. There is only one cellular component, selenocysteine, that can convert lipid peroxide to the equivalent alcohol, and it is located in the center of GPX4. Ferroptosis can occur when GPX4 cannot remove hydrogen peroxide from the environment (Luo et al., 2022; Ma et al., 2022). The system XC- allows cystine and glutamate to be imported and expelled from cells, respectively. To aid in the production of GSH, cystine is converted to cysteine by the internal enzymes glutamate-cysteine ligase (GCL) and glutathione synthase (GSS). Heterodimers of the solute carrier family 3 member 2 (SLC3A2) and the system XC- are responsible for transporting cystine and glutamic acid, respectively (Li et al., 2022). Inducing ferroptosis is possible either by blocking the system XC- directly or indirectly via elevated extracellular glutamate levels.

Additionally, recent research suggests that tryptophan metabolites play a role in the resistance of tumor cells to ferroptosis, a type of cell death distinct from cysteine-mediated ferroptosis. These metabolites include 3-hydroxycyananilic acid (3-HA) and 5-hydroxytryptamine (5-HT). As a result, blocking tryptophan metabolism may be an effective new strategy in the fight against cancer (Liu et al., 2023).

3 The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) pathway

Eukaryotic cells rely heavily on the UPS to regulate various cellular processes, including protein homeostasis, cell cycle progression, and response to stress, signal transmission, and transcriptional activation (Myung et al., 2001; Lan et al., 2018). In eukaryotic cells, intracellular proteins that are oxidized, damaged, or misfolded are broken down by UPS in around 80% of cases (Yang et al., 2021). Although UPS and autophagy are essential mechanisms for protein degradation, the size of the degraded materials strongly



(A) Ubiquitin 76 amino acids that is found in various organisms and is highly conserved throughout evolution. It plays a crucial role in ubiquitination, which is involved in regulating protein degradation, cellular signaling, and other important cellular functions. Ubiquitin contains lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, and K63) that are crucial for forming different types of ubiquitin chains and determining the fate of the target protein. (B) In the ubiquitination process, ubiquitin is attached to lysine residues of substrate proteins through a three-step enzymatic reaction. First, ubiquitin is activated by a protein called ubiquitin-activating enzyme (E1). Then, the activated ubiquitin is transferred to another protein called ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2). Finally, a protein called ubiquitin ligase (E3) transfers the ubiquitin from E2 to a lysine residue on the target protein. Mono- and polyubiquitin serve as signals in cellular processes such as endocytosis, DNA repair, apoptosis, and transcriptional regulation. Ubiquitin conjugation plays a crucial role in multiple pathways and is not limited to protein degradation alone. (C) The ubiquitin-proteasome system (UPS) is a process in which substrate proteins erace ubiquitin to E3. E3 then facilitates the transfer of ubiquitin from E2 to a lysine residue on the target protein. which a single mono-ubiquitin molecule or with ubiquitin chains of varying lengths and linkage types. Substrate proteins modified with specific chains are recognized and degraded by the 26S proteasome. Deubiquitination is typically associated with protein clearance through proteasomal degradation, while mono-ubiquitination affects cellular processes by adding a single ubiquitin moiety to the substrate protein.

10.3389/fphar.2024.1383203

influences the degradation pathway employed (Dikic, 2017). The UPS typically breaks down unfolded polypeptides, whereas more enormous cytosolic complexes, cellular aggregates, and organelles are handled by autophagy. A group of small peptides with 76 amino acids known as ubiquitin molecules contains lysine residues (K6, K11, K27, K29, K33, K48, and K63) Figure 2A, which are activated by the enzymes E1 (ubiquitin-activating enzyme), E2 (ubiquitinconjugating enzyme), and E3 (ubiquitin-protein ligase), are used in covalent bonding to the target protein for alterations during the catalytic cascade (Glickman and Ciechanover, 2002). Monoubiquitination and polyubiquitination are the two basic types of protein ubiquitination. A single ubiquitin molecule is covalently joined to a lysine residue in the target protein during monoubiquitination, the most basic type of ubiquitination (Tonnus et al., 2021). K6, K11, K33, K29, K27, K48, and K63 are polyubiquitination alterations. K48 and K63 changes have received the most research attention of them Figure 2B. The 26S proteasome, which controls protein stability, can identify and eliminate the polyubiquitination of K48.

In contrast, the role of K63 is mainly involved in DNA repair, mediating signal transduction and regulating protein activity (Walczak et al., 2012; Yau and Rape, 2016). In addition to the above ubiquitin modifications, there is also a type of ubiquitin chain used to modify proteins, the linear ubiquitin chain (M1 type), which is covalently linked to the N-terminal methionine residue of one ubiquitin and the C-terminal glycine residue of another. Linear ubiquitin chain synthesis and degradation are distinct processes (Shabek and Ciechanover, 2010). Only the E3 ubiquitin ligase HOIP, along with its regulatory subunits HOIL1L and SHARPIN, can facilitate the synthesis of linear ubiquitin chains, hence the name ubiquitin chain assembly "linear complex" (LUBAC). Deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) such as OTULIN (OTU deubiquitinase with linear linkage specificity) remove ubiquitin chains from their targets (Jahan et al., 2021).

The covalent binding of ubiquitin, a tiny protein with 76 amino acids, to the protein substrate, is a crucial step in the complex and well-coordinated process of targeted protein destruction (Nandi et al., 2006). Three enzymes work together in sequence to accomplish this. The E1 requires the energy released by the breakdown of ATP to activate itself, which then causes the ubiquitin molecule to establish a thioester bond with E1. Once again, creating a thioester bond like the first, ubiquitin is transported from E1 to the E2. E3 finally catalyzes the covalent attachment of ubiquitin to the target protein's lysine residues (Fang and Weissman, 2004).

This process is greatly aided by the 26S proteasome complex, which consists of a core 20S proteasome and one or two regulatory 19S proteasome units. When a target protein is modified with a polyubiquitin chain, the 19S proteasome recognizes it, digests the polyubiquitin chain, unfolds the protein, and then translocates it to the 20S proteasome where it is broken down into short peptides (Adams, 2003). In contrast to polyubiquitination, which often proteasomal destruction of proteins, results in the monoubiquitination, in which a single ubiquitin unit is added to the substrate protein, has been shown to affect several cellular functions (Miranda and Sorkin, 2007; Wang et al., 2012). Some examples are protein translocation, DNA damage signaling, epigenetic regulation, and kinase activity as shown in Figure 2C.

Protein ubiquitination is often reversible, and proteins modified by ubiquitination can also be removed by DUBs (Lange et al., 2022). Current studies have shown that the human genome can encode more than 100 deubiquitination enzymes, which are divided into two categories: cysteine proteinases and metalloproteinases. Cysteine proteases can be subdivided into USPs (ubiquitinspecific proteases), MJDs (machadoJoseph disease domain superfamily), OTUs (otubain/ovarian tumor-domain containing proteins), UCHs (ubiquitin carboxyl-terminal hydrolases), MINDYs (motif interacting with each other) Ub-containing novel DUB family), ZUP1 (zinc finger-containing ubiquitin peptidase 1) has six families (Clague et al., 2019). In addition to reversing the ubiquitin modification of the substrate protein, DUBs also participate in the editing of the ubiquitin chain, the recovery of ubiquitin molecules, and the processing and maturation of ubiquitin precursors (Haq and Ramakrishna, 2017). Therefore, the abnormal expression or activation of deubiquitination enzymes in cells will directly or indirectly disrupt the regulation of the corresponding signaling pathways, leading to various diseases such as tumors.

The UPS is made up of the 26S proteasome, ubiquitin, enzymes that activate, bind, link, deubiquitinate, and deubiquitinate ubiquitin, as well proteins broken down by 26S proteasome. Research has shown that the UPS is crucial for protein degradation in cells and that it can destroy up to 80%–85% of proteins in eukaryotic cells (Amm et al., 2014). When a ubiquitin tag is added to a substrate, it can alter the substrate's function, localization, protein interaction, or stability and then regulate many different cellular life activities (Lu et al., 2013; Streich Jr and Lima, 2014). These activities are crucial to cell growth. Diseases including cancer, Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, Huntington's, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), spongiform encephalopathy (SLE), and arrhythmia can all be effectively treated by inhibiting the proteasome system (Pohl and Dikic, 2019).

4 The UPS and ferroptosis

4.1 The UPS and iron transport system

Factors related to iron metabolism play an essential role in ferroptosis and are potential targets to induce ferroptosis in cells. Studies have shown that in colon cancer, OTUD1 can bind and promote the deubiquitination modification of IREB2 (ironresponsive element-binding protein2), a primary regulator of iron metabolism. Promote the stability of IREB2 protein and activate the expression of its downstream TFRC gene, resulting in intracellular Fe²⁺ aggregation and increased ROS level, and eventually raise colon cancer cells' susceptibility to ferroptosis. It also encourages the release of DAMPs (DAM-associated molecular patterns) to draw in white blood cells and strengthen the host's immune response (Song et al., 2021). Lactoferrin (LF) is a glycoprotein transferrin with the unique ability to bind and transport iron. LTF, like transferrin, increases iron uptake, encouraging ferroptosis in ovarian and pancreatic cancer cells. When RSL3 and Erastin activate ferroptosis in vitro, iron buildup and oxidative damage are decreased because the E3 ubiquitin ligase NEDD4L mediates the protein degradation of LTF (Wang et al., 2020). Ferroportin is an essential transferrin for the balance of intracellular iron metabolism,

responsible for the outward transport of iron, and it is also the only iron transporter found in mammals (Ganz, 2005; Kuang and Wang, 2019). Studies have shown that USP35 is significantly overexpressed in human lung cancer cells and tissues, and USP35 can maintain the stability of FPN protein by targeting FPN. Functionally, knocking down USP35 in lung cancer cells can directly promote ferroptosis by down-regulating FPN protein levels and inhibiting cell growth and clone formation. In addition, under ferroptosis activator Erastin or RSL3 stimulation, knocking down USP35 can cause iron metabolism disorder and pig ferroptosis of lung cancer cells, thus promoting the growth of lung cancer cells and tumor progression (Tang et al., 2021).

4.2 The UPS and SLC7A11

Studies have shown that the deubiquitinating enzyme OTUB1, which can bind the CD44 (cluster of differentiation-44), is recruited under the effect of removing the ubiquitin chain on SLC7A11 to prevent its degradation through the proteasome and improve its stability, thereby inhibiting the occurrence of ferroptosis in tumors (Liu et al., 2019). However, the essential E3 ligase that causes SLC7A11 degradation in human tumors is unknown. SLC7A11 is regulated by TP53, NFE2L2/ NRF2, ATF3, ATF4, BACH1 and other transcription factors and epigenetic regulation. Therefore, in addition to being directly regulated by the proteasome pathway at the protein level, SLC7A11 is also indirectly affected by the proteasome pathway through transcription factors and regulates ferroptosis. Studies have shown that in glioma cells, activation of the KEAP1-NRF2 signaling axis upregulates SLC7A11 and promotes glutamate secretion, thereby affecting the tumor microenvironment and promoting cell proliferation and resistance to ferroptosis (Fan et al., 2017). In lung cancer cells, p53 can promote the nuclear translocation of the deubiquitinating enzyme USP7, which further removes the ubiquitination of histone H2B from the SLC7A11 gene's regulatory area, thus inhibiting the transcription of SLC7A11 and inactivating the expression of SCL7A11, thereby encouraging ferroptosis in cells (Wang et al., 2019). In addition, the deubiquitinating enzyme BAP1 can remove monoubiquitination at the lysine 119 site of histone H2A on the SLC7A11 promoter, thereby inhibiting SLC7A11 transcription, further reducing cystine uptake of cells and increasing ferroptosis sensitivity. This process is independent of p53 (Wang et al., 2004; Zhang et al., 2018).

Further studies have shown that PRC1 (Polycomb Repressive Complex 1) can ubiquitinate histone H2A using Ring1B, Bmi1, and an E2 ubiquitin-binding enzyme UbcH5c. The SLC7A11 promoter's H2A is ubiquitinated, which inhibits SLC7A11's transcription. BAP1 and PCR1 can work together to simultaneously control the promoter's level of ubiquitination, which in turn controls SLC7A11 production (Zhang et al., 2019a). It is not ruled out that BAP1 and PRC1 may be involved in regulating ferroptosis through synergistic regulation of SLC7A11.

4.3 The UPS and GPX4

Studies have shown that PdPT, a broad-spectrum inhibitor of deubiquitination enzyme, induces ferroptosis by promoting the degradation of GPX4 protein in non-small cell lung cancer cells and further inhibits tumor growth (Yang et al., 2020). The specific mechanism is that PdPT can inhibit the deubiquitination of GPX4 by a variety of deubiquitination enzymes, including USP family members (USP14, USP15, USP10, USP7, and USP25) and UCH family members UCHL5, resulting in ubiquitination degradation of GPX4. However, the proteasome inhibitor bortezomide can reverse PDPT-induced GPX4 degradation, suggesting that the proteasome plays an essential role in the ferroptosis induced by PDPT-induced GPX4 degradation (Dong et al., 2022). In addition, by analyzing the changes in different types of ubiquitination modifications in cell ferroptosis, it has been found that cell ferroptosis promotes the increase of intracellular linear ubiquitination levels, and linear ubiquitination can regulate cell ferroptosis. When stimulated by the ferroptosis activator RSL3, GPX4 is ubiquitinated in large quantities, thus recruiting a more LUBAC. LUBAC enhances the protein stability of GPX4 by regulating its linear ubiquitination level and delaying the occurrence of cell ferroptosis, thereby inhibiting cell ferroptosis. The in vitro deubiquitination reaction system was used to analyze the ubiquitination status of GPX4 during ferroptosis. It was found that there were various types of ubiquitination modifications in GPX4, among which K63 ubiquitination was the primary type, and M1 and K48 ubiquitin chains could be linked to K63 ubiquitin chains to form hybrid ubiquitin chains. OTUD5 can remove the K63 ubiquitin chain of GPX4, reduce LUBAC recruitment, decrease linear ubiquitination level, destroy the protein stability of GPX4, and further affect ferroptosis of cells.

4.4 The UPS and NRF2

A transcription factor called NRF2 is essential for regulating antioxidant genes and managing cellular REDOX equilibrium. Under normal physiological conditions, cells undergo a process where NRF2 is kept in a liquid state. This occurs when NRF2 binds to its regulatory molecule known as KEAP1 (Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1) within the cytoplasm. Following this binding, NRF2 is transported to the proteasome, a cellular structure responsible for protein degradation. However, when the cells are subjected to oxidative stress and electrophilic stimulation, NRF2 can be activated. The cysteine residues on the structure of KEAP1 will bind to intracellular ROS or electrophiles, causing conformational changes, during which NRF2 dissociates from KEAP1. Stable NRF2 undergoes nuclear translocation and interacts with antioxidant response elements (ARE) in the target gene promoter region to activate the expression of many cell protection genes, affecting various cell biological functions, such as apoptosis and senescence (Yamamoto et al., 2018). The role of the KEAP1-NRF2 signaling pathway in maintaining appropriate REDOX homeostasis has been well established, and there is growing proof that KEAP1-NRF2 is closely related to the regulation of ferroptosis. For example, recently, researchers using CRISPR screening found that KEAP1 is a key regulator of ferroptosis and showed that the lack of KEAP1 can enhance the resistance of cells to ferroptosis (Cao et al., 2019). This mechanism may be through the p62-KEAP1-NRF2 pathway to upregulate the expression of multip

le genes involved in iron and ROS metabolism (such as SLC7A11, NQO1, HO1 and FTH1), thereby inhibiting cell ferroptosis (Sun et al., 2016b). When NRF2 is strictly regulated by the E3 enzyme KEAP1, it has a corresponding cell stabilization

Deubiquitinating enzyme type	Deubiquitinating enzyme	Impact on ferroptosis	Target	Reference
USP	USP7	Promote	p53, TFRC	Tang et al. (2021a)
USP	USP7	Inhibit	hnRNPA1	Zhang et al. (2020)
USP	USP7	Promote	SLC7A11	Wang et al. (2019)
USP	USP11	Promote	Beclin1	Rong et al. (2022)
USP	USP14	Promote	IL-6, NRF2	Zhu et al. (2022)
USP	USP11	Inhibit	NRF2	Meng et al. (2021)
USP	USP14	Inhibit	Beclin1	Tsai et al. (2020)
USP	USP35	Inhibit	Ferroportin	Tang et al. (2021b)
OTU	OTUD1	Promote	IRP2, TFRC	Song et al. (2021)
USP	USP14	Promote	NCOA4	Li et al. (2021)
OTU	OTUB1	Inhibit	SLC7A11	Zhao et al. (2021)
USP	USP22	Inhibit	SLC7A11	Ma et al. (2020)
UCH	BAP1	Promote	SLC7A11	Zhang et al. (2019b)
UCH	BAP1	Promote	IP3R	Ye et al. (2022)
OTU	A20	Promote	ACSL4, SLC7A11	Gao et al. (2022a)

TABLE 1 Deubiquitinating enzymes' regulation of ferroptosis-associated proteins.

mechanism. Studies have shown that by maintaining the stability of the NRF2 protein, the deubiquitination enzyme USP11 controls ferroptosis and cell division in non-small cell lung cancer (Meng et al., 2021). With the increasing research on applying the ferroptosis mechanism in tumors, NRF2 is also an essential target for tumor treatment. Studies have shown that blocking NRF2 enhances the in vitro and in vivo anti-cancer activity of ferroptosis inducers, including Erastin and sorafenib (Meng et al., 2021). A further benefit of NRF2 activation is stopping ferroptosis from damaging renal tissue (Hu et al., 2022). In addition to inducing ferroptosis in vitro when stimulated by RSL3, Erastin, and ML162 (Dodson et al., 2019), NRF2 also suppresses the expression of genes that regulate GSH release, such as ABCC1/MRP1. These results suggest that most of NRF2's actions in ferroptosis are transcription-dependent; through its transcription factors, it controls the transcription of genes involved in ferroptosis before impacting ferroptosis. However, investigations have yet to be done on its transcriptionindependent roles in ferroptosis. NRF2 target genes can regulate cells' antioxidant, iron, and intermediate metabolic states in the context of disease therapy.

Additionally, it has been established that NRF2 regulates GPX4 and SLC7A11, the two critical targets for suppressing ferroptosis (Shin et al., 2018). These two molecules also serve to regulate ferroptosis further. Therefore, it is still possible to target NRF2 in disorders marked mainly by ferroptosis and lipid peroxidation.

4.5 The UPS and KEAP1-NFE2L2

In ferroptosis, the NFE2L2/NRF2 system functions as a transcriptional defense system (Dai et al., 2020). Because it binds to Kelch-like ECH-associated protein 1 (KEAP1), the transcription

factor NFE2L2 is constitutively degraded by the UPS during quiescent conditions. When electrophilic stress and oxidative stress occur, KEAP1 is inactivated, stabilizing NFE2L2 and triggering the transcriptional activation of several cytoprotective genes. The autophagy receptor Sequestosome 1 (SQSTM1/p62) can interact with KEAP1's NFE2L2-binding site to stabilize NFE2L2 (Komatsu et al., 2010). Eratin and sorafenib, two ferroptosis activators, cause an increase in the interaction between SQSTM1 and KEAP1, which in turn causes an accumulation of NFE2L2 and enhanced nuclear transcription of NFE2L2 target including FTH1, SLC7A11, NAD(P)H quinone genes, dehydrogenase 1 (NQO1), and heme oxygenase 1 (HMOX1) (Sun et al., 2016b; Anandhan et al., 2020). Blocking NFE2L2 consistently increases the anticancer activity of ferroptosis inducers in vitro and in vivo, including sorafenib, a first-line medication for patients with liver cancer (Sun et al., 2016a; Sun et al., 2016b). NFE2L2 activation, on the other hand, might stop ferroptotic tissue damage. Moreover, NFE2L2 suppresses GSH release-related genes [such as ATP-binding cassette sub family C member 1 (ABCC1/MRP1)] to enhance ferroptosis in vitro brought on by RSL3, erastin, and ML162 (Cao et al., 2019). While nothing is known about NFE2L2's transcription-independent role in ferroptosis, all of these studies point to a transcription-dependent role for the protein in the process.

5 The promise of directing therapies towards ubiquitin enzymes and ferroptosis

Ferroptosis-based treatments have produced intriguing results in cancer experimentation. Increasing amounts of evidence point to the possibility that cancer cells' production of ferroptosis could



GPX4. Ferroptosis regulation involves the control of these pathways via ubiquitination.

represent a brand-new avenue for clinical intervention (Wang et al., 2021). Unfortunately, the cancer patient community has not yet fully realized the potential of medicines producing ferroptosis because of a lack of effective treatment candidates and the varied sensitivity of different tumor types to ferroptosis (Chen et al., 2021). DUBs and E3 ligases are essential in controlling cells' susceptibility to ferroptosis. They have potential as both prognostic indicators and ubiquitination pathway targets for novel small compounds, which could significantly speed up the clinical implementation of ferroptosis-based therapy. Many types of anti-cancer medications affect ubiquitin enzymes. These include inhibitors, proteolysistargeting chimaeras (PROTACs), agonists, and molecular glues. Over the past 2 decades, we have seen substantial progress in creating E3 and DUB inhibitors, with several small compounds that target E3 or DUBs being used in preclinical trials and being improved by commercial companies. To promote the ubiquitination and proteasomal degradation of the protein of interest (POI), PROTAC, a tripartite molecule made up of an E3 ligand, a POI ligand, and a linker, binds to both E3 and POI (Schauer et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020; Ye et al., 2021). Small compounds known as "molecular glues" can re-align ubiquitin enzymes with their substrates, triggering the breakdown of the substrates (Dale et al., 2021).

However, putting ubiquitin-based pro-ferroptosis medicines into practical use will take much work due to the complexity of ubiquitination regulation. Ubiquitin enzymes have a wide range of enzymatic activity. Therefore, it is essential to consider issues like selectivity and potential side effects. Moreover, it is essential to remember that ferroptosis is not limited to cancer cells; it also happens in other cells in the tumor microenvironment, like tumorassociated macrophages (TAMs) and T cells + CD8. These immune cells' ability to ferroptosis can occasionally promote the growth of tumors (Xu et al., 2021). To find the most effective ubiquitin-based pro-ferroptosis therapy, it may be helpful to have a better understanding of how E3s or DUBs regulate ferroptosis.

6 The function of deubiquitinating enzymes (DUBs) in modulating ferroptosis

DUBs, are essential controllers of protein activity. They accomplish this by selectively eliminating ubiquitin chains from particular proteins. There are seven major groups into which these enzymes can be divided. The others are cysteine-based superfamilies, including the ubiquitin-specific proteases (USPs),
Name	Molecular mechanism	Promote or inhibit ferroptosis	References
OTUD5	Remove the K63 ubiquitin chain of GPX4	+	Dong et al. (2022)
OTUB1	Deubiquitination and stabilization of SLC7A11	_	Liu et al. (2019)
KEAP1	The E3 ligase adaptor of NRF2	_	Sun et al. (2016b)
USP7	p53 promotes the nuclear translocation of USP7, which Deubiq uit and stabilize of H2B	+	Wang et al. (2019)
	deubiquitination and stabilization of hnRNPA	_	Zhang et al. (2020)
BAP1	Deubiquitination and stabilization of H2A	+	Wang et al. (2004)
PRC1	Ubiquitination of H2A	_	Zhang et al. (2019a)
UbcH5c		_	Song et al. (2021)
OTUD1	Deubiquitination and stabilization of IREB2	+	Wang et al. (2020)
NEDD4L	The E3 ligase adaptor of LTF, ubiquitination of LTF	_	
USP35	Deubiquitination and stabilization of FPN	+	Tang et al. (2021b)
USP11	Deubiquitination and stabilization of NRF2	_	Meng et al. (2021)
	Deubiquitination and stabilization of Beclin 1	+	Rong et al. (2022)
VHL	The E3 ligase adaptor of HIFs	-	Zou et al. (2019)
NEDD4	The E3 ligase adaptor of VDAC2 and VDAC3	_	Yang et al. (2020b)

TABLE 2 Ferroptosis control is accomplished by the ubiquitin-proteasome system in two ways.

Note: +: promotion; -: inhibition.

Ub C-terminal hydrolases (UCHs), Machado-Joseph disease domain proteases (MJDs), motif interacting with Ub containing novel DUB family (MINDYs), ovarian tumour proteases (OTUs) and the zinc-finger and UFSP domain protein (ZUFSP) (Lange et al., 2022).

These DUBs can play various biological roles, thanks to their unique structural characteristics. The processing of ubiquitin precursors and the cleavage of poly-ubiquitin chains are two examples; trimming ubiquitin chains to protect proteins from degradation and modifying ubiquitin chains to alter the signals they transmit are two more (Cheng et al., 2019).

Recent studies have shown that DUBs regulate ferroptosis's apoptotic process by altering substrate stability and signaling. The ways that DUBs regulate ferroptosis will be discussed in this text, along with how they might be used to establish a relationship between ferroptosis and tumor suppression. We'll also examine the possible upsides of targeting DUBs in cancer therapies (Table 1). Shows the deubiquitinating enzymes' regulation of ferroptosisassociated proteins.

7 Additional interactions of the UPS in ferroptosis

Recent research has shown that ubiquitin-specific peptidase 11 (USP11) regulates autophagy-dependent ferroptosis in response to spinal cord ischemia-reperfusion injury by deubiquitinating Beclin 1. This connection enhances ferritin breakdown during autophagy and activates autophagy resulting in further ferroptosis (Rong et al., 2022). The process of a cell's ferroptosis is also significantly influenced by a low-oxygen environment. Specific transcription factors susceptible to cellular hypoxia are known as hypoxia-

inducible factors (HIFs), which include three subunits (HIF1A/ HIF1, EPAS1/HIF2, HIF3A/HIF3, and one ARNT/HIF1 subunit). According to the findings, HIFs may play a dual role in controlling ferroptosis in various tumor types. First, HIF1A promotes the absorption as well as storage of fatty acids in human fibrosarcoma cells by inducing the development of two fatty acidbinding proteins by transcription, consequently suppressing ferroptosis triggered by RSL3 and ferroptosis activator FIN56. In contrast, EPAS1 selectively enriched polyunsaturated lipids by transactivating genes encoding hypoxia-induced lipid droplets in renal cancer cells *in vitro*, thereby promoting ferroptosis induced by ferroptosis activators RSL3, ML162, or ML210 (Miess et al., 2018; Zou et al., 2019). The VHL, a particular E3 enzyme of HIFs, acts as a direct indicator of HIF stability, which makes it an indirect regulator of ferroptosis.

Ferroptosis depends on the stability of the functioning of mitochondria and activity because mitochondria are the primary source of RO synthesis. The volt-dependent anion channel (VDAC), a member of the multifunctional channel protein family, is essential for facilitating the passage of ions and metabolites through the outer membrane of mitochondria in eukaryotic cells (Shoshan-Barmatz et al., 2010). Studies have shown that Erastin can bind directly to VDAC2 and induce ferroptosis. When Erastin induced melanoma cells, VDAC2 and VDAC3 formed a negative feedback regulatory mechanism through proteasome-dependent degradation regulated by E3 NEDD4 (Yang et al., 2020). But more research will be needed to determine whether particular mitochondrial E3 ligases are responsible for the destruction of VDAC during ferroptosis. Recent research has shown that tumor-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) contain higher levels of Ubiquitin-specific protease-7 (USP7), which promotes the deubiquitination of miRNA sortrelated protein hnRNPA1. Encourage the release of CAFs

exosome miR-522, and this miR-522-secreted exosome further prevents gastric cancer cells from ferroptosizing by focusing on and suppressing the expression of ALOX15 in these cells (Zhang et al., 2020). As the understanding of ferroptosis and its mechanisms continues to improve, there is increasing evidence that members of the ubiquitin-proteasome system regulate ferroptosis and play an essential role (Figure 3). From the above, it can be found that the ubiquitin-proteasome system has a dual function in regulating ferroptosis (Table 2).

8 Conclusion and future prospects

A unique form of cell death called ferroptosis is brought on by iron-mediated lipid peroxidation. This recently found method offers hope for eliminating cancer cells but raises an intriguing problem in developing the disease. The need for a thorough understanding of the regulatory components driving ferroptosis is further highlighted because it operates through a dualistic process, impacting distinct cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME) in various ways.

In this scenario, the post-transcriptional modification mechanism known as ubiquitination is crucial. Through substrate ubiquitination and deubiquitination regulation, this route exerts influence over a wide range of cellular processes. Cancer development and therapy both involve ubiquitin enzymes and their regulation. These enzymes interact with proteins involved in ferroptosis, which mediates cells' sensitivity to ferroptosis and elucidates their relationship. Recent studies have started to outline how E3 ligases and DUBs collectively affect ferroptosis. However, there is still a significant gap in our knowledge of the precise mechanisms involved, such as the specifics of polyubiquitination, the specifics of ubiquitination sites, or additional procedures that are independent of ligase activity, due to the complex nature of the regulation of ubiquitin enzymes.

We currently have a limited understanding of how developing ferroptosis-regulating proteins like FSP1, DHODH, and GCH1 are regulated by E3s and DUBs. Drug development efforts to suppress ferroptosis with an E3 or DUB inhibitor will advance more quickly if these open questions are resolved. E3s and DUBs, among other ubiquitin system enzymes, are critical regulators of the ferroptosis process. Therefore, deepening our comprehension of this complex regulatory network may reveal novel cancer therapy strategies, adding a potent weapon to our therapeutic toolbox. As we get a deeper understanding of these mechanisms and their interdependencies, we may be able to shed light on hitherto uncharted avenues leading to more effective cancer therapy.

References

Adams, J. (2003). The proteasome: structure, function, and role in the cell. Cancer Treat. Rev. 29, 3–9. doi:10.1016/s0305-7372(03)00081-1

Alim, I., Caulfield, J. T., Chen, Y., Swarup, V., Geschwind, D. H., Ivanova, E., et al. (2019). Selenium drives a transcriptional adaptive program to block ferroptosis and treat stroke. *Cell* 177, 1262–1279. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2019.03.032

Amm, I., Sommer, T., and Wolf, D. H. (2014). Protein quality control and elimination of protein waste: the role of the ubiquitin–proteasome system. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Res.* 1843, 182–196. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.06.031

Anandhan, A., Dodson, M., Schmidlin, C. J., Liu, P., and Zhang, D. D. (2020). Breakdown of an ironclad defense system: the critical role of NRF2 in mediating ferroptosis. *Cell Chem. Biol.* 27, 436–447. doi:10.1016/j.chembiol.2020.03.011

Anderson, G. J., and Frazer, D. M. (2017). Current understanding of iron homeostasis. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 106, 15598–1566S. doi:10.3945/ajcn.117.155804

Author contributions

MD: Writing-review and editing. YL: Conceptualization, Writing-review and editing. NW: Writing-review and editing. BW: Writing-original draft. FM: Conceptualization, Writing-original draft.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was sponsored by the National Natural Science Fund of China (Grant no. 82250410378), 2022 Jiangsu Excellent postdoctoral program (Grant no. 2022ZB634), the open project of the clinical medical research center of Gynecology and Traditional Chinese Medicine of Zhenjiang (Grant no. SS202204-KFC01), Zhenjiang key research and development plan (social development) (Grant nos SH2022062, SH2022091, and SH2023050) and Project of Suzhou Science and Technology (Grant no. SKY2022027).

Acknowledgments

We extend our sincere appreciation to Arif Rashid and for his invaluable and comprehensive guidance throughout the entirety of the manuscript writing process. We also like to express our sincere appreciation and recognition to Safir Ullah Khan for his diligent and meticulous review of this article.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Arosio, P., Elia, L., and Poli, M. (2017). Ferritin, cellular iron storage and regulation. *IUBMB Life* 69, 414–422. doi:10.1002/iub.1621

Bao, Z., Liu, Y., Chen, B., Miao, Z., Tu, Y., Li, C., et al. (2021). Prokineticin-2 prevents neuronal cell deaths in a model of traumatic brain injury. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 4220. doi:10.1038/s41467-021-24469-y

Bersuker, K., Hendricks, J. M., Li, Z., Magtanong, L., Ford, B., Tang, P. H., et al. (2019). The CoQ oxidoreductase FSP1 acts parallel to GPX4 to inhibit ferroptosis. *Nature* 575, 688–692. doi:10.1038/s41586-019-1705-2

Bouchaoui, H., Mahoney-Sanchez, L., Garçon, G., Berdeaux, O., Alleman, L. Y., Devos, D., et al. (2023). ACSL4 and the lipoxygenases 15/15B are pivotal for ferroptosis induced by iron and PUFA dyshomeostasis in dopaminergic neurons. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 195, 145-157. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2022.12.086 Cao, J. Y., Poddar, A., Magtanong, L., Lumb, J. H., Mileur, T. R., Reid, M. A., et al. (2019). A genome-wide haploid genetic screen identifies regulators of glutathione abundance and ferroptosis sensitivity. *Cell Rep.* 26, 1544–1556. doi:10.1016/j.celrep. 2019.01.043

Cassetta, L., and Pollard, J. W. (2023). A timeline of tumour-associated macrophage biology. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 23, 238–257. doi:10.1038/s41568-022-00547-1

Chen, J., Li, X., Ge, C., Min, J., and Wang, F. (2022). The multifaceted role of ferroptosis in liver disease. Cell Death Differ. 29, 467-480. doi:10.1038/s41418-022-00941-0

Chen, X., Kang, R., Kroemer, G., and Tang, D. (2021). Broadening horizons: the role of ferroptosis in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 18, 280–296. doi:10.1038/s41571-020-00462-0

Cheng, J., Guo, J., North, B. J., Wang, B., Cui, C.-P., Li, H., et al. (2019). Functional analysis of deubiquitylating enzymes in tumorigenesis and development. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews Cancer* 1872, 188312. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2019.188312

Clague, M. J., Urbé, S., and Komander, D. (2019). Breaking the chains: deubiquitylating enzyme specificity begets function. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 20, 338–352. doi:10.1038/s41580-019-0099-1

Coradduzza, D., Congiargiu, A., Chen, Z., Zinellu, A., Carru, C., and Medici, S. (2023). Ferroptosis and senescence: a systematic review. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 24, 3658. doi:10.3390/ ijms24043658

Dai, C., Chen, X., Li, J., Comish, P., Kang, R., and Tang, D. (2020). Transcription factors in ferroptotic cell death. *Cancer Gene Ther.* 27, 645–656. doi:10.1038/s41417-020-0170-2

Dale, B., Cheng, M., Park, K.-S., Kaniskan, H. Ü., Xiong, Y., and Jin, J. (2021). Advancing targeted protein degradation for cancer therapy. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 21, 638–654. doi:10.1038/s41568-021-00365-x

Deng, L., He, S., Guo, N., Tian, W., Zhang, W., and Luo, L. (2023). Molecular mechanisms of ferroptosis and relevance to inflammation. *Inflamm. Res.* 72, 281–299. doi:10.1007/s00011-022-01672-1

Dierge, E., Debock, E., Guilbaud, C., Corbet, C., Mignolet, E., Mignard, L., et al. (2021). Peroxidation of n-3 and n-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids in the acidic tumor environment leads to ferroptosis-mediated anticancer effects. *Cell Metab.* 33, 1701–1715.e5. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2021.05.016

Dikic, I. (2017). Proteasomal and autophagic degradation systems. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 86, 193–224. doi:10.1146/annurev-biochem-061516-044908

Distéfano, A. M., Martin, M. V., Córdoba, J. P., Bellido, A. M., D'Ippólito, S., Colman, S. L., et al. (2017). Heat stress induces ferroptosis-like cell death in plants. *J. Cell Biol.* 216, 463–476. doi:10.1083/jcb.201605110

Dixon, S. J., Lemberg, K. M., Lamprecht, M. R., Skouta, R., Zaitsev, E. M., Gleason, C. E., et al. (2012). Ferroptosis: an iron-dependent form of nonapoptotic cell death. *Cell* 149, 1060–1072. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.03.042

Dodson, M., Castro-Portuguez, R., and Zhang, D. D. (2019). NRF2 plays a critical role in mitigating lipid peroxidation and ferroptosis. *Redox Biol.* 23, 101107. doi:10.1016/j. redox.2019.101107

Doll, S., Freitas, F. P., Shah, R., Aldrovandi, M., da Silva, M. C., Ingold, I., et al. (2019). FSP1 is a glutathione-independent ferroptosis suppressor. *Nature* 575, 693–698. doi:10. 1038/s41586-019-1707-0

Dong, K., Wei, R., Jin, T., Zhang, M., Shen, J., Xiang, H., et al. (2022). HOIP modulates the stability of GPx4 by linear ubiquitination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 119, e2214227119. doi:10.1073/pnas.2214227119

Du, Y., and Guo, Z. (2022). Recent progress in ferroptosis: inducers and inhibitors. *Cell Death Discov.* 8, 501. doi:10.1038/s41420-022-01297-7

Fan, Z., Wirth, A. K., Chen, D., Wruck, C. J., Rauh, M., Buchfelder, M., et al. (2017). Nrf2-Keap1 pathway promotes cell proliferation and diminishes ferroptosis. *Oncogenesis* 6, e371. doi:10.1038/oncsis.2017.65

Fang, S., and Weissman, A. M. (2004). A field guide to ubiquitylation. *Cell Mol. Life Sci.* 61, 1546–1561. doi:10.1007/s00018-004-4129-5

Fang, X., Wang, H., Han, D., Xie, E., Yang, X., Wei, J., et al. (2019). Ferroptosis as a target for protection against cardiomyopathy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 116, 2672–2680. doi:10.1073/pnas.1821022116

Feng, H., Liu, Q., Deng, Z., Li, H., Zhang, H., Song, J., et al. (2022). Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate erectile dysfunction in rats with diabetes mellitus through the attenuation of ferroptosis. *Stem Cell Res. Ther.* 13, 450. doi:10.1186/s13287-022-03147-w

Feng, H., and Stockwell, B. R. (2018). Unsolved mysteries: how does lipid peroxidation cause ferroptosis? *PLoS Biol.* 16, e2006203. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.2006203

Ganz, T. (2005). Cellular iron: ferroportin is the only way out. Cell Metab. 1, 155–157. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2005.02.005

Gao, C., Xiao, F., Zhang, L., Sun, Y., Wang, L., Liu, X., et al. (2022a). SENP1 inhibition suppresses the growth of lung cancer cells through activation of A20-mediated ferroptosis. *Ann. Transl. Med.* 10, 224. doi:10.21037/atm-21-6909

Gao, S., Jia, S., Bai, L., Li, D., and Meng, C. (2022b). Transcriptome analysis unveils that exosomes derived from M1-polarized microglia induce ferroptosis of neuronal cells. *Cells* 11, 3956. doi:10.3390/cells11243956

Glickman, M. H., and Ciechanover, A. (2002). The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway: destruction for the sake of construction. *Physiol. Rev.* 82, 373–428. doi:10. 1152/physrev.00027.2001

Guan, D., Zhou, W., Wei, H., Wang, T., Zheng, K., Yang, C., et al. (2022). Ferritinophagy-mediated ferroptosis and activation of Keap1/Nrf2/HO-1 pathway were conducive to EMT inhibition of gastric cancer cells in action of 2, 2-dipyridineketone hydrazone dithiocarbamate butyric acid ester. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2022, 3920664. doi:10.1155/2022/3920664

Haq, S., and Ramakrishna, S. (2017). Deubiquitylation of deubiquitylases. *Open Biol.* 7, 170016. doi:10.1098/rsob.170016

Hong, X., Roh, W., Sullivan, R. J., Wong, K. H. K., Wittner, B. S., Guo, H., et al. (2021). The lipogenic regulator SREBP2 induces transferrin in circulating melanoma cells and suppresses ferroptosis. *Cancer Discov*. 11, 678–695. doi:10.1158/2159-8290. CD-19-1500

Hu, J., Gu, W., Ma, N., Fan, X., and Ci, X. (2022). Leonurine alleviates ferroptosis in cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by activating the Nrf2 signalling pathway. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 179, 3991–4009. doi:10.1111/bph.15834

Hu, Z.-W., Chen, L., Ma, R.-Q., Wei, F.-Q., Wen, Y.-H., Zeng, X.-L., et al. (2021). Comprehensive analysis of ferritin subunits expression and positive correlations with tumor-associated macrophages and T regulatory cells infiltration in most solid tumors. *Aging (Albany NY)* 13, 11491–11506. doi:10.18632/aging.202841

Huang, Y., Wang, S., Ke, A., and Guo, K. (2023). Ferroptosis and its interaction with tumor immune microenvironment in liver cancer. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)*-*Reviews Cancer* 1878, 188848. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2022.188848

Ingold, I., Berndt, C., Schmitt, S., Doll, S., Poschmann, G., Buday, K., et al. (2018). Selenium utilization by GPX4 is required to prevent hydroperoxide-induced ferroptosis. *Cell* 172, 409–422. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.048

Jahan, A. S., Elbæk, C. R., and Damgaard, R. B. (2021). Met1-linked ubiquitin signalling in health and disease: inflammation, immunity, cancer, and beyond. *Cell Death Differ.* 28, 473–492. doi:10.1038/s41418-020-00676-w

Jiang, X., Stockwell, B. R., and Conrad, M. (2021). Ferroptosis: mechanisms, biology and role in disease. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 22, 266–282. doi:10.1038/s41580-020-00324-8

Jin, Y., Qiu, J., Lu, X., and Li, G. (2022). C-MYC inhibited ferroptosis and promoted immune evasion in ovarian cancer cells through NCOA4 mediated ferritin autophagy. *Cells* 11, 4127. doi:10.3390/cells11244127

Komatsu, M., Kurokawa, H., Waguri, S., Taguchi, K., Kobayashi, A., Ichimura, Y., et al. (2010). The selective autophagy substrate p62 activates the stress responsive transcription factor Nrf2 through inactivation of Keap1. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 213–223. doi:10.1038/ncb2021

Koppula, P., Zhuang, L., and Gan, B. (2021). Cystine transporter SLC7A11/xCT in cancer: ferroptosis, nutrient dependency, and cancer therapy. *Protein Cell* 12, 599–620. doi:10.1007/s13238-020-00789-5

Kuang, Y., and Wang, Q. (2019). Iron and lung cancer. *Cancer Lett.* 464, 56–61. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2019.08.007

Lan, Y.-L., Wang, X., Lou, J.-C., Xing, J.-S., Yu, Z.-L., Wang, H., et al. (2018). Bufalin inhibits glioblastoma growth by promoting proteasomal degradation of the Na+/K+-ATPase a1 subunit. *Biomed. Pharmacother*. 103, 204–215. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2018. 04.030

Lange, S. M., Armstrong, L. A., and Kulathu, Y. (2022). Deubiquitinases: from mechanisms to their inhibition by small molecules. *Mol. Cell* 82, 15–29. doi:10. 1016/j.molcel.2021.10.027

Lee, J.-J., Chang-Chien, G.-P., Lin, S., Hsiao, Y.-T., Ke, M.-C., Chen, A., et al. (2022). 5-Lipoxygenase inhibition protects retinal pigment epithelium from sodium iodateinduced ferroptosis and prevents retinal degeneration. *Oxid. Med. Cell Longev.* 2022, 1792894. doi:10.1155/2022/1792894

Lei, G., Zhuang, L., and Gan, B. (2022). Targeting ferroptosis as a vulnerability in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 22, 381-396. doi:10.1038/s41568-022-00459-0

Li, C., Sun, G., Chen, B., Xu, L., Ye, Y., He, J., et al. (2021). Nuclear receptor coactivator 4-mediated ferritinophagy contributes to cerebral ischemia-induced ferroptosis in ischemic stroke. *Pharmacol. Res.* 174, 105933. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2021.105933

Li, D., and Li, Y. (2020). The interaction between ferroptosis and lipid metabolism in cancer. *Signal Transduct. Target Ther.* 5, 108. doi:10.1038/s41392-020-00216-5

Li, W., Li, W., Leng, Y., Xiong, Y., and Xia, Z. (2020). Ferroptosis is involved in diabetes myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury through endoplasmic reticulum stress. *DNA Cell Biol.* 39, 210–225. doi:10.1089/dna.2019.5097

Li, Y., Yan, J., Zhao, Q., Zhang, Y., and Zhang, Y. (2022). ATF3 promotes ferroptosis in sorafenib-induced cardiotoxicity by suppressing Slc7a11 expression. *Front. Pharmacol.* 13, 904314. doi:10.3389/fphar.2022.904314

Lin, L., Wang, S., Deng, H., Yang, W., Rao, L., Tian, R., et al. (2020). Endogenous labile iron pool-mediated free radical generation for cancer chemodynamic therapy. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 142, 15320–15330. doi:10.1021/jacs.0c05604

Lin, Z., Liu, J., Long, F., Kang, R., Kroemer, G., Tang, D., et al. (2022). The lipid flippase SLC47A1 blocks metabolic vulnerability to ferroptosis. *Nat. Commun.* 13, 7965. doi:10.1038/s41467-022-35707-2

Liu, C., He, P., Guo, Y., Tian, Q., Wang, J., Wang, G., et al. (2022). Taurine attenuates neuronal ferroptosis by regulating GABAB/AKT/GSK3 β / β -catenin pathway after subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 193, 795–807. doi:10.1016/j. freeradbiomed.2022.11.003

Liu, D., Liang, C., Huang, B., Zhuang, X., Cui, W., Yang, L., et al. (2023). Tryptophan metabolism acts as a new anti-ferroptotic pathway to mediate tumor growth. *Adv. Sci.* 10, 2204006. doi:10.1002/advs.202204006

Liu, T., Jiang, L., Tavana, O., and Gu, W. (2019). The deubiquitylase OTUB1 mediates ferroptosis via stabilization of SLC7A11. *Cancer Res.* 79, 1913–1924. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-3037

Lu, L., Li, D., and He, F.-C. (2013). Bioinformatics advances in protein ubiquitination. *Yi Chuan* 35, 17–26. doi:10.3724/sp.j.1005.2013.00017

Luo, Y., Tian, G., Fang, X., Bai, S., Yuan, G., and Pan, Y. (2022). Ferroptosis and its potential role in glioma: from molecular mechanisms to therapeutic opportunities. *Antioxidants* 11, 2123. doi:10.3390/antiox11112123

Ma, S., Sun, L., Wu, W., Wu, J., Sun, Z., and Ren, J. (2020). USP22 protects against myocardial ischemia–reperfusion injury via the SIRT1-p53/SLC7A11–dependent inhibition of ferroptosis–induced cardiomyocyte death. *Front. Physiol.* 11, 551318. doi:10.3389/fphys.2020.551318

Ma, T., Du, J., Zhang, Y., Wang, Y., Wang, B., and Zhang, T. (2022). GPX4independent ferroptosis—a new strategy in disease's therapy. *Cell Death Discov.* 8, 434. doi:10.1038/s41420-022-01212-0

Mao, C., Liu, X., Zhang, Y., Lei, G., Yan, Y., Lee, H., et al. (2021). DHODH-mediated ferroptosis defence is a targetable vulnerability in cancer. *Nature* 593, 586–590. doi:10. 1038/s41586-021-03539-7

Masaldan, S., Bush, A. I., Devos, D., Rolland, A. S., and Moreau, C. (2019). Striking while the iron is hot: iron metabolism and ferroptosis in neurodegeneration. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 133, 221–233. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.09.033

Meng, C., Zhan, J., Chen, D., Shao, G., Zhang, H., Gu, W., et al. (2021). The deubiquitinase USP11 regulates cell proliferation and ferroptotic cell death via stabilization of NRF2 USP11 deubiquitinates and stabilizes NRF2. *Oncogene* 40, 1706–1720. doi:10.1038/s41388-021-01660-5

Mi, Y., Wei, C., Sun, L., Liu, H., Zhang, J., Luo, J., et al. (2023). Melatonin inhibits ferroptosis and delays age-related cataract by regulating SIRT6/p-Nrf2/GPX4 and SIRT6/NCOA4/FTH1 pathways. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 157, 114048. doi:10.1016/j. biopha.2022.114048

Miess, H., Dankworth, B., Gouw, A. M., Rosenfeldt, M., Schmitz, W., Jiang, M., et al. (2018). The glutathione redox system is essential to prevent ferroptosis caused by impaired lipid metabolism in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Oncogene* 37, 5435–5450. doi:10.1038/s41388-018-0315-z

Miranda, M., and Sorkin, A. (2007). Regulation of receptors and transporters by ubiquitination: new insights into surprisingly similar mechanisms. *Mol. Interv.* 7, 157–167. doi:10.1124/mi.7.3.7

Mishima, E., and Conrad, M. (2022). Nutritional and metabolic control of ferroptosis. Annu. Rev. Nutr. 42, 275–309. doi:10.1146/annurev-nutr-062320-114541

Myung, J., Kim, K. B., and Crews, C. M. (2001). The ubiquitin-proteasome pathway and proteasome inhibitors. *Med. Res. Rev.* 21, 245–273. doi:10.1002/med.1009

Nandi, D., Tahiliani, P., Kumar, A., and Chandu, D. (2006). The ubiquitin-proteasome system. J. Biosci. 31, 137-155. doi:10.1007/BF02705243

Ou, M., Jiang, Y., Ji, Y., Zhou, Q., Du, Z., Zhu, H., et al. (2022). Role and mechanism of ferroptosis in neurological diseases. *Mol. Metab.* 61, 101502. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2022. 101502

Ouyang, S., You, J., Zhi, C., Li, P., Lin, X., Tan, X., et al. (2021). Ferroptosis: the potential value target in atherosclerosis. *Cell Death Dis.* 12, 782. doi:10.1038/s41419-021-04054-3

Philpott, C. C., Patel, S. J., and Protchenko, O. (2020). Management versus miscues in the cytosolic labile iron pool: the varied functions of iron chaperones. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Res.* 1867, 118830. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020. 118830

Pohl, C., and Dikic, I. (2019). Cellular quality control by the ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy. Sci. (1979) 366, 818-822. doi:10.1126/science.aax3769

Qi, X., Wan, Z., Jiang, B., Ouyang, Y., Feng, W., Zhu, H., et al. (2022). Inducing ferroptosis has the potential to overcome therapy resistance in breast cancer. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 1038225. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.1038225

Qin, X., Wang, K., Cao, P., Su, Y., Chen, S., Yu, H., et al. (2023). Highly efficient electro-Fenton process on hollow porous carbon spheres enabled by enhanced H2O2 production and Fe2+ regeneration. *J. Hazard Mater* 446, 130664. doi:10. 1016/j.jhazmat.2022.130664

Qiu, G.-W., Koedooder, C., Qiu, B.-S., Shaked, Y., and Keren, N. (2022). Iron transport in cyanobacteria-from molecules to communities. *Trends Microbiol.* 30, 229–240. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2021.06.001

Richardson, D. R., and Ponka, P. (1997). The molecular mechanisms of the metabolism and transport of iron in normal and neoplastic cells. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews Biomembr.* 1331, 1–40. doi:10.1016/s0304-4157(96) 00014-7

Rodriguez, R., Schreiber, S. L., and Conrad, M. (2022). Persister cancer cells: iron addiction and vulnerability to ferroptosis. *Mol. Cell* 82, 728–740. doi:10.1016/j.molcel. 2021.12.001

Rong, Y., Fan, J., Ji, C., Wang, Z., Ge, X., Wang, J., et al. (2022). USP11 regulates autophagy-dependent ferroptosis after spinal cord ischemia-reperfusion injury by deubiquitinating Beclin 1. *Cell Death Differ.* 29, 1164–1175. doi:10.1038/s41418-021-00907-8

Schauer, N. J., Magin, R. S., Liu, X., Doherty, L. M., and Buhrlage, S. J. (2019). Advances in discovering deubiquitinating enzyme (DUB) inhibitors. *J. Med. Chem.* 63, 2731–2750. doi:10.1021/acs.jmedchem.9b01138

Shabek, N., and Ciechanover, A. (2010). Degradation of ubiquitin: the fate of the cellular reaper. *Cell cycle* 9, 523–530. doi:10.4161/cc.9.3.11152

Shamsi, A., Anwar, S., Shahbaaz, M., Mohammad, T., Alajmi, M. F., Hussain, A., et al. (2020). Evaluation of binding of rosmarinic acid with human transferrin and its impact on the protein structure: targeting polyphenolic acid-induced protection of neurodegenerative disorders. *Oxid. Med. Cell Longev.* 2020, 1245875. doi:10.1155/ 2020/1245875

Shin, D., Kim, E. H., Lee, J., and Roh, J.-L. (2018). Nrf2 inhibition reverses resistance to GPX4 inhibitor-induced ferroptosis in head and neck cancer. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 129, 454–462. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.10.426

Shoshan-Barmatz, V., De Pinto, V., Zweckstetter, M., Raviv, Z., Keinan, N., and Arbel, N. (2010). VDAC, a multi-functional mitochondrial protein regulating cell life and death. *Mol. Asp. Med.* 31, 227–285. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2010.03.002

Song, J., Liu, T., Yin, Y., Zhao, W., Lin, Z., Yin, Y., et al. (2021). The deubiquitinase OTUD1 enhances iron transport and potentiates host antitumor immunity. *EMBO Rep.* 22, e51162. doi:10.15252/embr.202051162

Soula, M., Weber, R. A., Zilka, O., Alwaseem, H., La, K., Yen, F., et al. (2020). Metabolic determinants of cancer cell sensitivity to canonical ferroptosis inducers. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 16, 1351–1360. doi:10.1038/s41589-020-0613-y

Streich Jr, F. C., and Lima, C. D. (2014). Structural and functional insights to ubiquitin-like protein conjugation. *Annu. Rev. Biophys.* 43, 357–379. doi:10.1146/ annurev-biophys-051013-022958

Su, L.-J., Zhang, J.-H., Gomez, H., Murugan, R., Hong, X., Xu, D., et al. (2019). Reactive oxygen species-induced lipid peroxidation in apoptosis, autophagy, and ferroptosis. Oxid. Med. Cell Longev. 2019, 5080843. doi:10.1155/2019/5080843

Sun, K., Li, C., Liao, S., Yao, X., Ouyang, Y., Liu, Y., et al. (2022). Ferritinophagy, a form of autophagic ferroptosis: new insights into cancer treatment. *Front. Pharmacol.* 13, 1043344. doi:10.3389/fphar.2022.1043344

Sun, X., Niu, X., Chen, R., He, W., Chen, D., Kang, R., et al. (2016a). Metallothionein-1G facilitates sorafenib resistance through inhibition of ferroptosis. *Hepatology* 64, 488–500. doi:10.1002/hep.28574

Sun, X., Ou, Z., Chen, R., Niu, X., Chen, D., Kang, R., et al. (2016b). Activation of the p62-Keap1-NRF2 pathway protects against ferroptosis in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Hepatology* 63, 173–184. doi:10.1002/hep.28251

Tang, D., and Kroemer, G. (2020). Ferroptosis. Curr. Biol. 30, R1292-R1297. doi:10. 1016/j.cub.2020.09.068

Tang, L.-J., Zhou, Y.-J., Xiong, X.-M., Li, N.-S., Zhang, J.-J., Luo, X.-J., et al. (2021a). Ubiquitin-specific protease 7 promotes ferroptosis via activation of the p53/ TfR1 pathway in the rat hearts after ischemia/reperfusion. *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 162, 339–352. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2020.10.307

Tang, Z., Jiang, W., Mao, M., Zhao, J., Chen, J., and Cheng, N. (2021b). Deubiquitinase USP35 modulates ferroptosis in lung cancer via targeting ferroportin. *Clin. Transl. Med.* 11, e390. doi:10.1002/ctm2.390

Timmers, P. R. H. J., Wilson, J. F., Joshi, P. K., and Deelen, J. (2020). Multivariate genomic scan implicates novel loci and haem metabolism in human ageing. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 3570. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-17312-3

Tong, X., Tang, R., Xiao, M., Xu, J., Wang, W., Zhang, B., et al. (2022). Targeting cell death pathways for cancer therapy: recent developments in necroptosis, pyroptosis, ferroptosis, and cuproptosis research. *J. Hematol. Oncol.* 15, 174–232. doi:10.1186/s13045-022-01392-3

Tonnus, W., Meyer, C., Steinebach, C., Belavgeni, A., von Mässenhausen, A., Gonzalez, N. Z., et al. (2021). Dysfunction of the key ferroptosis-surveilling systems hypersensitizes mice to tubular necrosis during acute kidney injury. *Nat. Commun.* 12, 4402. doi:10.1038/s41467-021-24712-6

Tsai, Y., Xia, C., and Sun, Z. (2020). The inhibitory effect of 6-gingerol on ubiquitinspecific peptidase 14 enhances autophagy-dependent ferroptosis and anti-tumor *in vivo* and *in vitro*. *Front*. *Pharmacol*. 11, 598555. doi:10.3389/fphar.2020.598555

Walczak, H., Iwai, K., and Dikic, I. (2012). Generation and physiological roles of linear ubiquitin chains. BMC Biol. 10, 23-26. doi:10.1186/1741-7007-10-23

Wang, G., Gao, Y., Li, L., Jin, G., Cai, Z., Chao, J.-I., et al. (2012). K63-linked ubiquitination in kinase activation and cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 2, 5. doi:10.3389/fonc.2012. 00005

Wang, H., Cheng, Y., Mao, C., Liu, S., Xiao, D., Huang, J., et al. (2021). Emerging mechanisms and targeted therapy of ferroptosis in cancer. *Mol. Ther.* 29, 2185–2208. doi:10.1016/j.ymthe.2021.03.022

Wang, H., Wang, L., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Vidal, M., Tempst, P., Jones, R. S., et al. (2004). Role of histone H2A ubiquitination in Polycomb silencing. *Nature* 431, 873–878. doi:10.1038/nature02985

Wang, S., Zheng, Y., Jin, S., Fu, Y., and Liu, Y. (2022). Dioscin protects against cisplatin-induced acute kidney injury by reducing ferroptosis and apoptosis through activating Nrf2/HO-1 signaling. *Antioxidants* 11, 2443. doi:10.3390/antiox11122443

Wang, Y., Liu, Y., Liu, J., Kang, R., and Tang, D. (2020). NEDD4L-mediated LTF protein degradation limits ferroptosis. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 531, 581–587. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.07.032

Wang, Y., Yang, L., Zhang, X., Cui, W., Liu, Y., Sun, Q., et al. (2019). Epigenetic regulation of ferroptosis by H2B monoubiquitination and p53. *EMBO Rep.* 20, e47563. doi:10.15252/embr.201847563

Wu, H., Li, D., Zhang, T., and Zhao, G. (2023). Novel mechanisms of perioperative neurocognitive disorders: ferroptosis and pyroptosis. *Neurochem. Res.* 48, 2969–2982. doi:10.1007/s11064-023-03963-3

Wu, J., Wang, Y., Jiang, R., Xue, R., Yin, X., Wu, M., et al. (2021). Ferroptosis in liver disease: new insights into disease mechanisms. *Cell Death Discov.* 7, 276. doi:10.1038/ s41420-021-00660-4

Xu, H., Ye, D., Ren, M., Zhang, H., and Bi, F. (2021). Ferroptosis in the tumor microenvironment: perspectives for immunotherapy. *Trends Mol. Med.* 27, 856–867. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2021.06.014

Xu, W., Sun, T., Wang, J., Wang, T., Wang, S., Liu, J., et al. (2022). GPX4 alleviates diabetes mellitus-induced erectile dysfunction by inhibiting ferroptosis. *Antioxidants* 11, 1896. doi:10.3390/antiox11101896

Xu, Y., Tong, Y., Lei, Z., Zhu, J., and Wan, L. (2023). Abietic acid induces ferroptosis via the activation of the HO-1 pathway in bladder cancer cells. *Biomed. Pharmacother*. 158, 114154. doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2022.114154

Yamamoto, M., Kensler, T. W., and Motohashi, H. (2018). The KEAP1-NRF2 system: a thiol-based sensor-effector apparatus for maintaining redox homeostasis. *Physiol. Rev.* 98, 1169–1203. doi:10.1152/physrev.00023.2017

Yanatori, I., and Kishi, F. (2019). DMT1 and iron transport. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 133, 55-63. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.07.020

Yang, H., Chen, X., Li, K., Cheaito, H., Yang, Q., Wu, G., et al. (2021). Repurposing old drugs as new inhibitors of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway for cancer treatment. *Seminars cancer Biol.* 68, 105–122. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer. 2019.12.013

Yang, L., Chen, X., Yang, Q., Chen, J., Huang, Q., Yao, L., et al. (2020a). Broad spectrum deubiquitinase inhibition induces both apoptosis and ferroptosis in cancer cells. *Front. Oncol.* 10, 949. doi:10.3389/fonc.2020.00949

Yang, X., Chen, Y., Song, W., Huang, T., Wang, Y., Chen, Z., et al. (2022). Review of the role of ferroptosis in testicular function. *Nutrients* 14, 5268. doi:10.3390/nu14245268

Yang, Y., Luo, M., Zhang, K., Zhang, J., Gao, T., Connell, D. O., et al. (2020b). Nedd4 ubiquitylates VDAC2/3 to suppress erastin-induced ferroptosis in melanoma. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 433. doi:10.1038/s41467-020-14324-x Yao, F., Zhan, Y., Pu, Z., Lu, Y., Chen, J., Deng, J., et al. (2021). LncRNAs target ferroptosis-related genes and impair activation of CD4+ T cell in gastric cancer. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9, 797339. doi:10.3389/fcell.2021.797339

Yau, R., and Rape, M. (2016). The increasing complexity of the ubiquitin code. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 18, 579–586. doi:10.1038/ncb3358

Ye, P., Chi, X., Cha, J.-H., Luo, S., Yang, G., Yan, X., et al. (2021). Potential of E3 ubiquitin ligases in cancer immunity: opportunities and challenges. *Cells* 10, 3309. doi:10.3390/cells10123309

Ye, Y., Li, X., Feng, G., Ma, Y., Ye, F., Shen, H., et al. (2022). 3, 3'-Diindolylmethane induces ferroptosis by BAP1-IP3R axis in BGC-823 gastric cancer cells. *Anticancer Drugs* 33, 362–370. doi:10.1097/CAD.00000000001270

Yi, X., Li, Y., Hu, X., Wang, F., and Liu, T. (2021). Changes in phospholipid metabolism in exosomes of hormone-sensitive and hormone-resistant prostate cancer cells. *J. Cancer* 12, 2893–2902. doi:10.7150/jca.48906

Zhan, S., Yung, M. M. H., Siu, M. K. Y., Jiao, P., Ngan, H. Y. S., Chan, D. W., et al. (2022). New insights into ferroptosis initiating therapies (FIT) by targeting the rewired lipid metabolism in ovarian cancer peritoneal metastases. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 23, 15263. doi:10.3390/ijms232315263

Zhang, H., Deng, T., Liu, R., Ning, T., Yang, H., Liu, D., et al. (2020). CAF secreted miR-522 suppresses ferroptosis and promotes acquired chemo-resistance in gastric cancer. *Mol. Cancer* 19, 43–17. doi:10.1186/s12943-020-01168-8

Zhang, J., Chen, X., Hong, J., Tang, A., Liu, Y., Xie, N., et al. (2021). Biochemistry of mammalian ferritins in the regulation of cellular iron homeostasis and oxidative responses. *Sci. China Life Sci.* 64, 352–362. doi:10.1007/s11427-020-1795-4

Zhang, Y., Koppula, P., and Gan, B. (2019a). Regulation of H2A ubiquitination and SLC7A11 expression by BAP1 and PRC1. *Cell Cycle* 18, 773–783. doi:10.1080/15384101. 2019.1597506

Zhang, Y., Shi, J., Liu, X., Feng, L., Gong, Z., Koppula, P., et al. (2018). BAP1 links metabolic regulation of ferroptosis to tumour suppression. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 20, 1181–1192. doi:10.1038/s41556-018-0178-0

Zhang, Y., Zhuang, L., and Gan, B. (2019b). BAP1 suppresses tumor development by inducing ferroptosis upon SLC7A11 repression. *Mol. Cell Oncol.* 6, 1536845. doi:10. 1080/23723556.2018.1536845

Zhao, X., Zhou, M., Yang, Y., and Luo, M. (2021). The ubiquitin hydrolase OTUB1 promotes glioma cell stemness via suppressing ferroptosis through stabilizing SLC7A11 protein. *Bioengineered* 12, 12636–12645. doi:10.1080/21655979.2021.2011633

Zhi, Y., Zhang, S., Zi, M., Wang, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, M., et al. (2022). Potential applications of N 6-methyladenosine modification in the prognosis and treatment of cancers via modulating apoptosis, autophagy, and ferroptosis. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA* 13, e1719. doi:10.1002/wrna.1719

Zhu, G., Sui, S., Shi, F., and Wang, Q. (2022). Inhibition of USP14 suppresses ferroptosis and inflammation in LPS-induced goat mammary epithelial cells through ubiquitylating the IL-6 protein. *Hereditas* 159, 21–12. doi:10.1186/s41065-022-00235-y

Zou, Y., Palte, M. J., Deik, A. A., Li, H., Eaton, J. K., Wang, W., et al. (2019). A GPX4dependent cancer cell state underlies the clear-cell morphology and confers sensitivity to ferroptosis. *Nat. Commun.* 10, 1617. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-09277-9

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Whocely Victor de Castro, Universidade Federal de São João del-Rei, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Vinícius Silva Belo, Universidade Federal de São João del-Rei, Brazil Brayan Jonas Mano-Sousa, Universidade Federal de São João del-Rei, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Liyan Miao, ∞ miaolysuzhou@163.com Jianguo Zhu, ∞ 15950005195@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

RECEIVED 26 January 2024 ACCEPTED 17 June 2024 PUBLISHED 08 July 2024

CITATION

Li Y, Xie C, Ding X, Wu Z, Zhang J, Zhu J and Miao L (2024), What are the benefits of therapeutic drug monitoring in the optimization of adalimumab therapy? a systematic review and meta-analysis up to 2022. *Front. Pharmacol.* 15:1376708. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2024.1376708

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Li, Xie, Ding, Wu, Zhang, Zhu and Miao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

What are the benefits of therapeutic drug monitoring in the optimization of adalimumab therapy? a systematic review and meta-analysis up to 2022

Yun Li^{1†}, Cheng Xie^{1†}, Xiaoliang Ding^{1†}, Ziyang Wu¹, Jingjing Zhang¹, Jianguo Zhu^{1*} and Liyan Miao^{1,2,3,4*}

¹Department of Pharmacy, The First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China, ²Institute for Interdisciplinary Drug Research and Translational Sciences, Soochow University, Suzhou, China, ³College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Soochow University, Suzhou, China, ⁴National Clinical Research Center for Hematologic Diseases, The First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China

Aims: Persistent uncertainties exist surrounding the therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of adalimumab in clinical settings. To address these issues, we conducted a systematic review to assess the current evidence regarding the benefits of TDM for adalimumab.

Methods: PubMed, EMBASE, and Cochrane Databases were searched from inception to October 2022. The trials regarding to the list three key questions were considered: 1) Could routine proactive TDM assist in improving outcomes in patients receiving adalimumab? 2) Could reactive TDM assist in guiding subsequent treatment strategies for patients with treatment failure to adalimumab? 3) Could TDM assist in informing dose reduction or discontinuation in patients with low disease activity or in remission treated with adalimumab? Two reviewers independently selected the studies and extracted the data. Meta-analysis was performed to calculate the relative risk (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI).

Results: A total of 9 studies was included in this review. For proactive TDM, metaanalysis indicated that proactive TDM (n = 163/257, 63.42%) showed no significant superiority over reactive TDM and/or conventional management (n = 336/606, 55.44%) in achieving and/or maintaining clinical remission by random effects model (RR: 1.24, 95% CI 0.98–1.58, $I^2 = 73\%$). There were three studies that supporting the reactive TDM, low drug levels in the absence of anti-drug antibodies (ADA) strongly indicate the need for dose intensification, and infliximab is a feasible choice for patients with low drug levels and ADA positivity. While swapping to another class should be considered in patients with adequate drug levels. In addition, TDM can help clinicians optimize dosing schedules and prevent overtreatment in patients who have achieved low disease activity and sufficient drug concentrations, with no predictive value for successful adalimumab discontinuation.

Conclusion: Current evidence suggests that proactive TDM is numerically but not statistically significant superiority over reactive TDM and/or conventional management. Reactive TDM can aid in understanding treatment failure and developing subsequent therapy. For patients reaching low disease activity and

remission, TDM can help successful dose reduction, while it cannot inform the successful drug discontinuation. However, existing trials are limited, and more well-designed trials are necessary to clarify the role of TDM in adalimumab treatment.

KEYWORDS

adalimumab, biologics, therapeutic drug monitoring, benefits, optimization

1 Introduction

Adalimumab (ADM), a fully human monoclonal antibody that neutralizes tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), was initially approved for the treatment of moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis (RA) in 2002 (Rau, 2002). Since then, it has been found to be effective in treating a variety of other conditions, such as ankylosing spondylitis, psoriasis, Crohn's disease (CD), ulcerative colitis (UC), uveitis, and juvenile idiopathic arthritis, making it the most widely used agent.

Therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) is a practical method used to monitor the drug concentration and their metabolites in the blood, which can help guide clinical medication decisions, enhance drug effectiveness, prevent drug toxicity, and establish personalized treatment schedules. Recently, TDM has become essential in biological therapy due to the impact of drug concentrations of TNF-a inhibitors on clinical outcomes (Pouw et al., 2015; Rinawi et al., 2021). Anti-drug antibodies (ADA) play a significant role in the inter-individual variability of drug clearance, leading to insufficient drug exposure and treatment failure, such as primary non-response (PNR) and loss-of-response (LOR) (Bartelds et al., 2011; Baert et al., 2016; Ding et al., 2020). Reactive TDM refers to measure biological concentration and ADA in patients experiencing treatment failure. This approach is endorsed by the American Gastroenterological Association and expert consensus statements to understand treatment failure (Feuerstein et al., 2017; Mitrev et al., 2017; Cheifetz et al., 2021; Krieckaert et al., 2023), despite the limited quality of evidence. The supported evidence comes primary from studies involving infliximab therapy. It is not yet clear how many benefits of TDM can bring to the clinical application of ADM. However, the use of proactive TDM, which involves scheduled testing and adjusting dosages to achieve predefined target concentrations, lacks consistent recommendations (Feuerstein et al., 2017; Cheifetz et al., 2021). There are persistent uncertainties surrounding the most effective use of TDM in clinical settings. Specifically, the evidence supporting the use of TDM to guide dose reduction or discontinuation in patients achieving deep remission has not been reviewed.

To systematically review the value of TDM in optimizing ADM therapy, three key questions throughout the entire drug treatment process were considered: 1) Could routine proactive TDM assist in improving outcomes in patients receiving ADM? 2) Could reactive TDM assist in guiding subsequent treatment strategies for patients PNR or LOR to ADM? 3) Could TDM assist in informing dose reduction or discontinuation in patients with low disease activity or in remission treated with ADM?

2 Methods

2.1 Search strategy

This systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Page et al., 2021). We systematically searched PubMed, EMBASE and Cochrane Database from inception to October 2022 to identify applicable studies. A search strategy was created based on the PICO (Population, Intervention, Comparison, Outcomes) questions. The search terms used were combinations of text-free terms and Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) terms as follows: ADM, therapeutic drug monitoring, therapeutic monitoring, serum concentration monitoring. There were no language or publication date restrictions. The full search terminology was included in the Supplementary Table S1. We also hand-searched trial registries such as ClinicalTrials.gov (https://clinicaltrials.gov) and the World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (http://apps.who.int/trialsearch) and reference lists of included trials for completeness.

2.2 Selection criteria

Studies published as full manuscripts related to the PICO questions were included. These involved studies assessing: 1) Could routine proactive TDM assist in improving outcomes in patients receiving ADM? 2) Could reactive TDM assist in guiding subsequent treatment strategies for patients PNR or LOR to ADM? 3) Could TDM assist in informing dose reduction or discontinuation in patients with low disease activity or in remission treated with ADM? There were no restrictions on disease types or TDM measurements. Reviews, editorials, guidelines, case reports, and studies that focused only on pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics were excluded.

2.3 Data extraction

Two reviewers (Yun Li and Cheng Xie) independently assessed studies for possible inclusion by reading titles and/or abstracts, then viewed the full texts of the remaining publications to pick up the ultimately available studies. Data extraction was done by one reviewer (Yun Li), and subsequently cross-checked by the other reviewer (Cheng Xie). Any divergences were discussed or determined by a third investigator (Xiaoliang Ding). Following information was abstracted: the first author and publication year,



country, study type, sample size, baseline, patients feature, treatment feature, follow-up time, the clinical outcomes and their definitions.

2.4 Quality appraisal

Two reviewers (Yun Li and Cheng Xie) independently evaluated the quality of the studies. Disagreements were resolved through discussion and consultation with the third investigator (Xiaoliang Ding). The risk of bias in the randomized controlled trial (RCT) was evaluated according to the standards developed by the Cochrane Bias Risk Tool (Sterne et al., 2019). The quality of the observational studies was assessed using the Newcastle–Ottawa scale (NOS) (Stang, 2010).

2.5 Data analysis

In this systematic review, we conducted a narrative review and utilized meta-analysis when dichotomous outcomes were sufficiently similar across studies, considering the diversity of these focused questions. Both fixed-effect and random-effects model were employed to calculate the relative risk (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). Heterogeneity of effect size across the studies was tested using Q statistics at the p < 0.10 level of significance. We also calculate the I^2 statistic with a quantitative

measure of inconsistency across the studies. The data were pooled by random-effects model in case significant heterogeneity (Cochran test with p < 0.10 or $I^2 > 50\%$) was found. Otherwise, the fixed-effects model was used. Subgroup analysis, sensitivity analysis, and publication bias analysis were not conducted due to the limited number of included studies. The analysis was carried out using the "meta" package in R (version 4.3.2).

3 Results

3.1 Search results and characteristics of the included studies

Figure 1 shows the research selection process for inclusion in the systematic review. The initial search generated 4764 references. After deleting 1325 duplicate articles titles and abstracts of all the articles were reviewed. A total of 109 studies were reviewed in full, while 100 studies were excluded because of not meet the inclusion criteria. The main reasons for excluding full articles were the inability to extract data related to ADM alone, noncompliance with research objectives, review articles and editorials/letters to editors. The final 9 studies were included (Papamichael et al., 2019; Assa et al., 2019; D'Haens et al., 2022; Panes et al., 2022; Roblin et al., 2014; Roblin et al., 2022; Ulijn et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2016; Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019) and the details are shown in Table 1.

Trial, author name, year	Study type	Patient population, research duration	Sample size; age (median/ range or mean/SD); % males	Phase of study; disease score at inclusion (median/ range or mean/SD)	Disease duration; duration of ADA therapy (median/ range or mean/SD)	Immunosuppressive treatment (N, %); glucocorticoid treatment (N, %)
Roblin, 2014 (Roblin et al., 2014)	Prospective, cohort, single center (France)	Adult IBD (55% CD), 29 months	82, 43 ± 12, 50	Maintenance phase; CDAI: 340 (110); Mayo: 9 2)	7.4 (3.2) years; 17 9) months	10 (12%); NR
Ulijn, 2020 (Ulijn et al., 2020)	Retrospective, cohort, single center (Netherlands)	Adult RA, 6 months	137, 64.4 ± 13.2, 31.4	Induction phase and maintenance phase; NR	8.7 (12.7) years; 0.75 (3.2) years	Azathioprine: 20 (14.6%); Methotrexate: 60 (43.8%); Leflunomide: 23 (16.8%); Glucocorticoid:24 (17.5%)
Roblin, 2022 (Roblin et al., 2022)	Nonrandomized comparative study, multicenter (2 sites in France)	Adult IBD (70.2% CD), 38 months	131, 36.5 ± 14.6, 50.3	Maintenance phase; CDAI: 300 (240-365); Mayo: 8 (6-10)	80 (32–108) months; 43 (12–68) months	76 (58.0); NR
Chen, 2016 (Chen et al., 2016)	Prospective, cohort, single center (Taiwan)	Adult RA, 24 weeks	64, 55, 9.4	LDA or remission; DAS28: 2.7	9.1 years; 5.8 years	Methotrexate: 58 (90.6%); Salazopyridine: 19 (29.7%); Hydroxychloroquine sulfate: 14 (21.9)
POET, Lamers- Karnebeek 2018 (Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019)	Prospective, cohort, multicenter (13 sites in Netherlands)	Adult RA, 12 months	210, 59 ± 13, 31	Stop treatment; DAS28-ESR: 1.96 (0.76)	9 (2.2) years; NR	NR
Papamichael, 2019 (Papamichael et al., 2019)	Retrospective, cohort, multicenter (2 sites in United States)	Adult IBD (81% CD), 37.2 months	382, 25 (19–36), 49	Maintenance phase; NR	9 (3–19) years; NR	Thiopurines: 90 (83%); methotrexate: 19 (17%)
PAILOT, Assa, 2019 (Assa et al., 2019)	RCT, multicenter (9 sites in Israel)	Pediatric CD, 18 months	78, 14 (6–18), 71	Maintenance phase; PCDAI:3.1 (1.0-7.5)	6.0 (1.2-24.7) years; NR	Thiopurines: 28 (35.9%); methotrexate: 7 (9.0%)
SERENE-UC, Panés, 2022 (Panes et al., 2022)	RCT, multicenter (144 sites in 20 countries)	Adult UC, 44 weeks	219, 37 (19–63), 48.6	Maintenance phase; NR	NR	NR
SERENE-CD, D'Haens, 2022 (D'Haens et al., 2022)	RCT, multicenter (93 sites in 19 countries)	Adult CD, 44 weeks	184, 34 (18–73), 53.3	Maintenance phase; CDAI: 303.4 (56.3)	6.4 (8.2) years; NR	25 (27.2); 56 (60.9)

TABLE 1 Summary of studies.

Inflammatory bowel disease, IBD; Crohn's disease, CD; Crohn's disease activity index, CDAI; ulcerative colitis, UC; rheumatoid arthritis, RA; not reported, NR; low disease activity, LDA; disease activity score 28, DAS28; erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ESR.

3.2 Quality of the included studies

A summary of the bias risk data is shown in Figure 2 and Table 2. The quality evaluation of the RCTs revealed that three trials were at high risk of bias across one domain (randomization domain, PAILOT; Other bias, SERENE UC and SERENE CD). PAILOT study is an Open-label study, and most outcomes likely to be influenced. There was no sample size calculation for the maintenance study in SERENE UC and SERENE CD studies. All six observational studies received 8–9 stars out of 9 on the NOS, indicating low risk of bias. Four studies did not fully meet the scoring criteria in terms of inter group comparability and population representativeness. In Roblin's study, they combined CD and UC together, which may affect the comparability of the results (Roblin et al., 2014; Roblin et al., 2022). In addition, therapeutic groups were not fully comparable at baseline, especially in terms of disease (Roblin et al., 2022). In

Lamers Karnebeek's study, the included population had a longer duration of disease (average of 9 years), which may not fully represent the population of patients with RA (Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019). In Papamichael's research the control group received standard of care which was defined as empirical dose escalation and/or reactive TDM. Therefore, it is not possible to draw clear conclusions between proactive TDM and reactive TDM, as well as between proactive TDM and empirical dose escalation (Papamichael et al., 2019).

3.3 Benefits gained from TDM

3.3.1 Scenario A: value of target concentration intervention

Dosage adjustment to target and maintain a predefined drug concentration was the primary format of TDM, specifically referred



to routine proactive TDM. This scenario included three RCTs (Assa et al., 2019; D'Haens et al., 2022; Panes et al., 2022) and one observational study (Papamichael et al., 2019), with detailed characteristics outlined in Table 3. Results from the meta-analysis indicated that proactive TDM (n = 163/257, 63.42%) showed no significant superiority over reactive TDM and/or conventional management (n = 336/606, 55.44%) in achieving and/or maintaining clinical remission by random effects model (RR: 1.24, 95% CI 0.98–1.58, $I^2 = 73\%$; Figure 3).

3.3.2 Scenario B: value of guiding treatment strategy in patients experiencing treatment failure

Reactive TDM plays a crucial role in understanding and addressing treatment failure with ADM treatment. A total of three studies were included in this scenario and the detailed characteristics were shown in Table 3. Two retrospective cohorts (Roblin et al., 2014; Ulijn et al., 2020) were conducted to evaluate the predictive value of TDM in guiding subsequent strategies. Roblin et al. (2014) studied 82 patients with inflammatory bowel disease

References	Quality indicators							Total number of stars (out of 9)	
	1 ª	2 ^b	3 °	4 ^d	5°	6 ^f	7 ^g	8 ^h	
Roblin, 2014 (Roblin et al., 2014)	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	8
Ulijn, 2020 (Ulijn et al., 2020)	*	*	*	*	**	*	*	*	9
Roblin, 2022 (Roblin et al., 2022)	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	8
Chen, 2016 (Chen et al., 2016)	*	*	*	*	**	*	*	*	9
Lamers-Karnebeek 2018 (Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019)		*	*	*	**	*	*	*	8
Papamichael, 2019 (Papamichael et al., 2019)	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	8

TABLE 2 Risk of bias in nonrandomized studies using the Newcastle-Ottawa scale.

^aIndicates exposed cohort truly representative.

^bNon exposed cohort drawn from the same community.

^cAscertainment of exposure from a secure record.

^dOutcome of interest not present at start of study.

estudy controls for important confounder $1 \pm additional confounders.$

fAssessment of outcome of record linkage or independent blind assessment.

^gFollow-up long enough for outcomes to occur.

^hFollow-up adequacy.

(IBD) who experienced disease relapse and were treated with ADM at a weekly dose of 40 mg. Results showed that after 6 months, patients with drug level <4.9 µg/mL and negative ADA tested at time of relapse had a higher clinical remission rate (67%, n = 16/24) compared to those with drug level >4.9 μ g/mL (29.2%, n = 12/41) or drug level <4.9 μ g/mL and ADA positive (12%, n = 2/17). Subsequently, the remaining fifty-two patients who did not respond to ADM were switched to infliximab treatment. Among these patients, those with drug level <4.9 µg/mL and ADA positive exhibited higher clinical response rate (80%, n = 12/15) than those with drug level >4.9 μ g/mL (6.9%, n = 2/29) or drug level <4.9 μ g/mL and ADA negative (25%, n = 2/8). Ulijn et al. (Ulijn et al., 2020) conducted a retrospectively study involving 137 RA patients who failed treatment with ADM. The study analyzed the predictive value of TDM results for the use of subsequent biological agents and did not find clear predictive value of ADM concentrations or ADA status in either the TNF-a inhibitors or non-TNF-a inhibitors groups. A nonrandomized controlled trial conducted by Roblin et al. (Roblin et al., 2022) compared dose intensification (n = 61) with swapping to different class (ustekinumab or vedolizumab, n = 70) in patients under ADM maintenance therapy who experienced LOR and had ADM concentration >4.9 µg/mL. The median time without discontinuation in the swapping group was significantly longer than that in the intensification group (24 months vs. 13.3 months, p < 0.001). In summary, reactive TDM may assist in understanding the mechanisms of treatment failure and making subsequent treatment strategies. Low drug levels in the absence of ADA strongly indicate the need for dose intensification, with infliximab being a viable option for patients with low drug levels and ADA positive. While swapping to another class should be considered in patients with adequate drug levels.

3.3.3 Scenario C: value of guiding dose reduction or discontinuation

TDM can help reduce overtreatment in patients with low disease activity or in remission by identifying higher drug concentrations. This approach allows for dose reduction or tapering while still

maintaining efficacy. Two studies (Chen et al., 2016; Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019) were included in this scenario, and their characteristics were shown in Table 3. Chen et al. (2016) evaluated the predictive value of ADM concentrations for dose reduction. 64 RA patients who had already achieved low disease activity (LDA) or remission after receiving ADM full-dose therapy at least 2 years were included, and then received ADM dose-halving at a dose of 40 mg monthly. After 24-week follow-up, they found that ADM concentration above a cutoff of 6.4 µg/mL predicted a persistent remission (AUC: 0.998, 95% CI: 0.936-1.000, sensitivity: 100%, specificity: 93.4%), and a persistent LDA (AUC: 0.995, 95% CI: 0.931-1.000, sensitivity: 93.9%, specificity: 100%) after dose halving. ADM dose halving is feasible for patients who have achieved remission and adequate drug levels. Lamers-Karnebeek et al. (2019) investigated whether the ADM concentration and ADA status predict disease flares after ADM cessation in RA patients who received ADM therapy for more than 1 year and achieved LDA for at least 6 months. 210 RA patients with 1 year follow-up after ADM discontinuation were included and analyzed. 62 (53%) of 117 patients with ADM concentrations $\geq 5 \,\mu g/mL$ experienced a flare versus 44 (47%) of 93 patients with concentrations <5 µg/mL, with no cut-off of ADM concentration at stopping ADM clearly predicted disease flare. TDM can help clinicians optimize dosing schedules and prevent overtreatment in patients who have achieved LDA and sufficient drug concentrations, with no predictive value for successful ADM discontinuation.

4 Discussion

In clinical setting, TDM typically involves adjusting the dosage based on blood concentrations and using pharmacometrics model to ensure that the concentration falls within the desired range to achieve optimal efficacy and avoid adverse reaction. The clinical implementation of TDM of ADM is intricate, mainly due to the need to adjust treatment plans based on different clinical scenarios and TDM results. Our study outlines the benefits of TDM in the entire

TABLE 3 Clinical studies on the benefits of TDM with ADM.

Study	Population	Primary outcome	Comparison (exposure/ intervention)	Results
Scenario A: Value of target	t concentration interventio	n		
PAILOT, Assa, 2019 (Assa et al., 2019)	Pediatric CD patients responded to ADM induction therapy	Sustained corticosteroid-free clinical remission (PCDAI<10) 18 months	Intervention (proactive TDM, N = 38): ADM was intensified in patients with DL < 5 µg/mL regardless of disease activity Comparator (reactive TDM, N = 40): ADM was intensified only in patients with LOR and DL < 5 µg/mL simultaneously	Corticosteroid-free clinical remission at all visits Proactive TDM: 82% (31/38) Reactive TDM: 48% (19/40) Proactive TDM is superior to reactive TDM, resulting in higher corticosteroid-free sustained remission
Papamichael, 2019 (Papamichael et al., 2019)	Adult IBD patients who received maintenance ADM therapy	Treatment failure (LOR or SAE or need for an IBD-related surgery) 3.1 years (median)	Intervention (proactive TDM, N = 53): titrating ADM to concentration typically >10 µg/ mL Comparator (standard care, N = 329): empiric dose escalation and/or reactive TDM	People had treatment failure Proactive TDM: 17% (7/53) Standard care: 36% (119/329) Proactive TDM may be associated with a lower risk of treatment failure compared to standard care
SERENE-CD, D'Haens, 2022 (D'Haens et al., 2022)	Adult CD patients who achieved clinical response at week 12	Clinical remission (CDAI<150) 44 weeks	Intervention (TDM, N = 92): achieve DL > 5 μg/mL and not exceeding 20 μg/mL Comparator (clinically adjusted, N = 92): dose adjustment based on disease activity	Achieved clinical remission at week 56 TDM: 66.3% (61/92) Clinically adjusted: 70.7% (65/ 92) Dose adjustment based primarily on DL did not provide additional clinical benefit over clinical adjustment based on symptoms and biomarkers
SERENE-UC, Panés, 2022 (Panes et al., 2022)	Adult UC patients who achieved clinical response at week 8	Clinical remission (full Mayo score ≤2 with no subscore >1) 44 weeks	Intervention (TDM, N = 92): achieve DL \geq 10 µg/mL Comparator (40 mg ew, N = 152 or 40 mg eow, N = 145)	Clinical remission at week 52 TDM: 36.5% (27/74) 40 mg ew: 39.5% (60/152) 40 mg eow: 29.0% (42/145) The efficacy of TDM group was comparable to that of standard dose or high dose group
Scenario B: Value of guidir	ng treatment strategy optir	nization in patients experienc	ing treatment failure	
Roblin, 2014 (Roblin et al., 2014)	Adult IBD patients, who experienced LOR with 40 mg eow and subsequently receive dosage optimization of 40 mg ew	Clinical remission (CD: CDAI<150 and fecal calprotectin <250 µg/g stool, UC: total Mayo score<3 and endoscopic subscore≤1) 6 months	Three groups defined according to DL and ADA status at LOR Group A (N = 41): DL > 4.9 μg/ mL Group B (N = 24): DL < 4.9 μg/ mL and ADA negative Group C (N = 17): DL < 4.9 μg/ mL and ADA positive	Proportion of clinical remission Group A: 29.2% (12/41) Group B: 67% (16/24) Group C: 12% (2/17) Dosage optimization should be considered in patients with low DL and ADA negative
Roblin, 2014 (Roblin et al., 2014)	Adult IBD patients who did not respond to ADM 40 mg ew and subsequently received IFX treatment	Clinical remission (CD: CDAI<150 and fecal calprotectin <250 µg/g stool, UC: total Mayo score<3 and endoscopic subscore≤1) 6 months	Three groups defined according to DL and ADA status at LOR Group A (N = 41): DL > 4.9 μg/ mL Group B (N = 24): DL < 4.9 μg/ mL and ADA negative Group C (N = 17): DL < 4.9 μg/ mL and ADA positive	Proportion of clinical remission Group A: 6.9% (2/29) Group B: 25% (2/8) Group C: 80% (12/15) Switch to IFX should be considered in patients with low DL and ADA positive
Roblin, 2022 (Roblin et al., 2022)	Adult IBD patients who experienced LOR with 40 mg eow and DL > 4.9 μg/mL	Therapeutic discontinuation (CD: CDAI>220 and fecal calprotectin >250 µg/g stool, UC: total Mayo score>6 and endoscopic subscore>1, or intolerance to treatment) 24 months	Two strategies according to physician's decision Optimization group (N = 61): ADM 40 mg ew Swap group (N = 70): switching to UST or VDZ	Proportion of therapeutic discontinuation Optimization group: 59.6% (36/61) Swap group: 14.8% (11/70) Swapping to another class is better than dosage optimization in patients who experienced LOR and DL > 4.9 µg/mL (Continued on following page)

(Continued on following page)

TABLE 3 (Continued) Clinical studies on the benefits of TDM with ADM.

Study	Population	Primary outcome	Comparison (exposure/ intervention)	Results
Ulijn, 2020 (Ulijn et al., 2020)	RA patients who experienced inefficacy or toxicity with ADM 40 mg eow and subsequently received another TNFi	EULAR response (DAS28-CRP/ ESR, change from baseline ≥1.2 and current DAS28- ESR<3.2 and DAS28-CRP<2.9) 3–6 months	Two groups defined according to DL or ADA status between ≥ 8 weeks after start ADM treatment and ≤ 2 weeks after ADM discontinuation DL $\geq 5 \mu g/mL$ (N = 17) DL < 5 $\mu g/mL$ (N = 18) or ADA positive (N = 18) ADA negative (N = 39)	$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Proportion of EULAR} \\ \mbox{response} \\ DL \geq 5 \ \mbox{µg/mL:} 24\% \ (4/17) \\ DL < 5 \ \mbox{µg/mL:} 22\% \ (4/18) \ or \\ ADA \ positive: 44\% \ (8/18) \\ ADA \ negative: 44\% \ (17/39) \\ No \ predictive \ value \ of \ DL \ or \\ ADA \ for \ response \ to \ second \\ TNFi \end{array}$
Ulijn, 2020 (Ulijn et al., 2020)	RA patients who experienced inefficacy or toxicity with 40 mg eow and subsequently received non-TNFi treatment	EULAR response (DAS28-CRP/ ESR, change from baseline ≥1.2 and current DAS28- ESR<3.2 and DAS28-CRP<2.9) 3–6 months	Two groups defined according to DL or ADA status at stopping ADM treatment DL $\ge 5 \ \mu g/mL$ (N = 18) DL $< 5 \ \mu g/mL$ (N = 39) or ADA positive (N = 28) ADA negative (N = 62)	$\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Proportion of EULAR} \\ \mbox{response} \\ DL \geq 5 \ \mu g/mL: 44\% \ (8/18) \\ DL < 5 \ \mu g/mL: 44\% \ (17/39) \ or \\ ADA \ positive: 43\% \ (12/28) \\ ADA \ negative: 39\% \ (24/62) \\ No \ predictive \ value \ of \ DL \ or \\ ADA \ for \ response \ to \ non-TNFi \end{array}$
Scenario C: Value of guidin	ng dose reduction or disco	ntinuation		
Chen, 2016 (Chen et al., 2016)	Adult RA patients who had already achieved LDA (DAS28 < 3.2) or remission, switched to ADM dose-halving (40 mg monthly) and a concomitant stable dose of MTX	Persistent remission (DAS28 < 2.6) or persistent LDA (DAS28 < 3.2) 24 weeks	At baseline, 25 and 39 patients had achieved remission and LDA. After 24 weeks of dose- halving, 23 patients were persistent remission and 2 patients turned to LDA, persistent LDA in 24 and disease flare in 15	The optimal cutoff at baseline for predicting persistent remission or LDA after 24 weeks of dose- halving: persistent remission: 6.4 μ g/mL (AUC 0.998, $p < 0.001$) persistent LDA:1.9 μ g/mL (AUC 0.995, $p < 0.001$)
POET, Lamers-Karnebeek 2018 (Lamers-Karnebeek et al., 2019)	Adult RA patients been using ADM (40 mg every other week) for >1 year and had LDA (DAS28 < 3.2, or the rheumatologist's assessment of LDA with CRP <10 mg/L) for at least 6 months, stopped ADM treatment	Disease flare (>0.6 points increase of DAS28-ESR from baseline, with DAS28-ESR ≥3.2)12 months	Two groups defined according to DL at stopping point DL $\ge 5 \ \mu$ g/mL (N = 117) DL $< 5 \ \mu$ g/mL (N = 93)	Proportion of disease flare $DL \ge 5 \ \mu g/mL: 53\% (62/117)$ $DL < 5 \ \mu g/mL: 47\% (44/93)$ There is no predictive value of DL for flare risk after stopping ADM treatment

Inflammatory bowel disease, IBD; Crohn's disease, CD; Crohn's disease activity index, CDAI; ulcerative colitis, UC; rheumatoid arthritis, RA; therapeutic drug monitoring, TDM; loss-ofresponse, LOR; serious adverse event, SAE; drug level, DL; every week ew; every other week, eow; infliximab, IFX; ustekinumab, UST; vedolizumab, VDZ; tumour necrosis factor inhibitor, TNFi; methotrexate, MTX; low disease activity, LDA; european league against rheumatism, EULAR; C reactive protein, CRP; erythrocyte sedimentation rate, ESR; anti-dug antibodies, ADA.

	proactiv	/e TDM	Cont	rol				Weight
Study	Events	Total	Events	Total	Risk Ratio	RR	95%-CI	(random)
PAILOT 2019	31	38	19	40	÷	— 1.72	[1.20; 2.46]	20.2%
Papamichael 2019	44	53	210	329		1.30	[1.12; 1.51]	32.0%
SERENE CD 2022	61	92	65	92	—	0.94	[0.77; 1.14]	29.3%
SERENE UC 2022	27	74	42	145		1.26	[0.85; 1.87]	18.5%
Random effects mode	I	257		606		1.24	[0.98; 1.58]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 73\%$,	$\tau^2 = 0.042$	21, p = 0.	01		0.5 1 2			

clinical process of ADM treatment for various diseases. The comprehensive clinical scenarios and evidence are demonstrated in Figure 4.

In scenario A, people hope to obtain the drug concentration and antibody level of ADM to actively intervene and achieve better therapeutic effects. In a meta-analysis of 3 RCTs and 1 retrospective



cohort involving 626 IBD patients treated with ADM. Numerically but not statistically significant superiority of proactive TDM over reactive TDM and/or conventional management in achieving and/ or maintaining clinical remission was observed. Our results are in line with previous studies on TNF-a inhibitors (Nguyen et al., 2022) which included 9 RCTs (6 for infliximab and 3 for ADM) in patients with IBD. There was no significant difference in the risk of failing to maintain clinical remission in patients who underwent proactive TDM vs. conventional management. Disease duration, concomitant immunomodulators, disease activity at baseline, and optimization of therapy before randomization did not modify this association. Exposure response relationship studies in IBD patients clearly demonstrate that higher anti-TNF drug concentrations are associated with clinical, biochemical, endoscopic, and histological remission (Zittan et al., 2016; Ward et al., 2017; Papamichael et al., 2018). According to reports, proactive TDM is important not only during maintenance therapy but also during induction therapy. Research has shown that ADA can develop as early as the second week in CD patients, leading to unresponsiveness. Proactive TDM can detect low concentrations at the fourth week to avoid immunogenicity and impact patient prognosis (Ungar et al., 2016). However, it seems that we have not obtained the expected evidence of benefits of ADM proactive TDM, but it is worth noting that the included literatures varied in study design, with moderate heterogeneity. The results may be influenced by factors such as patient population, sample size, study time, and detection method, etc. Therefore, more high-quality research is needed to provide additional evidence to clarify benefits of proactive TDM. Proactive TDM may be more important in more severely active patients and those with higher drug clearance rates, such as during induction therapy and in patients with acute severe UC and severe CD. These patients have a high burden of inflammation, increased drug clearance rates, and therefore a higher risk of insufficient drug exposure, immunogenicity, and treatment failure (Brandse et al., 2015; Brandse et al., 2016; Ungar et al., 2016; Battat et al., 2021). Another population with high drug clearance rates is the pediatric population (Jongsma et al., 2020; Winter et al., 2020). Assa et al. conducted relevant studies on pediatric IBD patients and demonstrated that proactive TDM can guide higher frequency treatment strategy adjustments, resulting in higher sustained response rates in the absence of corticosteroids and biological responses (Assa et al., 2019).

In scenario B, reactive TDM is performed when the patient experiencing treatment failure (Krieckaert et al., 2015; Irving and Gecse, 2022; Papamichael et al., 2022). For example, approximately one-third of IBD patients do not respond to TNF- α inhibitors treatment, and among those who initially respond, the LOR is an important clinical issue. In the first year of treatment, up to 40% of patients experience this condition (Colombel et al., 2007). For unresponsive patients, empirical dose escalation therapy may incur significant additional costs, leading to potential ineffective treatment and delaying more effective treatment. In addition, in patients with immune-mediated pharmacokinetic failure (for which ADA was established), additional drug exposure may lead to hypersensitivity reactions. Similarly, excessive drug exposure can lead to a higher risk of drug-related adverse events (such as severe

10.3389/fphar.2024.1376708

infections). Roblin's two studies confirmed that different levels of drug and ADA in the IBD population are associated with corresponding treatment adjustment strategies (Roblin et al., 2014; Roblin et al., 2022). Although there was no RCTs to demonstrate superior clinical outcomes of reactive TDM compared to empirical care, the use of TDM can elucidate the mechanism of LOR, whether the lack of response is caused by pharmacokinetic issues, insufficient drug levels, or pharmacological issues of ineffective ADA. TDM provides information for clinical decision-making in unresponsive patients and has intuitive benefits, such as preventing ineffective and potentially dangerous dose escalation in high-titer ADA patients. These results lay the foundation for the guiding the role of TDM in clinical practice and have been introduced in clinical guidelines and expert consensuses to support reactive TDM in ADM treatment (Feuerstein et al., 2017; Khan et al., 2019; Cheifetz et al., 2021; Krieckaert et al., 2023). In addition, Ulijn et al. conducted a study on RA and reported that reactive TDM data cannot predict subsequent biological therapy (TNF-a inhibitors or a non TNF-a inhibitors) responses in patients who failed treatment with ADM (Ulijn et al., 2020). On this issue, current researches have not reached a consistent convincing conclusion. In previous studies, it has been suggested that the measurement of ADM serum levels and/or ADA might be helpful for channeling the right patients to a TNF- α inhibitors or a non TNF-a inhibitors, thus increasing overall response chances (Bartelds et al., 2010; Jamnitski et al., 2011; Plasencia et al., 2013). There may be several reasons for these different results. In Ulijn's study, samples were not collected at the trough level but were randomly collected after injection of ADM. This might have reduced the association between ADA and response. Second, as this was a retrospective study, serum samples and clinical results were not always available, which may have led to selection bias. In summary, further prospective studies with larger sample sizes are needed to confirm whether drug and ADA levels indeed cannot predict disease activity.

In scenario C, due to the considerable interindividual variability in ADM concentrations and the existing exposure-response relationship, a considerable number of patients may experience overtreatment, leading to a higher risk of infection and increased costs. It is crucial in clinical practice to taper the dose to the lowest effective level, considering cost-effectiveness and potential adverse reactions. For patients who have achieved remission, sufficient ADM concentrations (≥6.4 µg/mL) can support successful ADM dose reduction (halving the dose to 40 mg monthly) (Chen et al., 2016). This approach has been validated by a RCT (l'Ami et al., 2018), RA patients with ADM concentrations >8 µg/mL can potentially prolong dosing interval to once every 3 weeks without loss of disease control, leading to reduced drug costs. While other biomarkers, involving patient, treatment, disease activity, and laboratory and imaging measurements, have not shown predictive value for successful dose reduction (Tweehuysen et al., 2017). It is hypothesized that patients who have achieved LDA and have undetectable drug concentrations may be considered for discontinuation of ADM, as the maintenance of LDA may be independent of the drug. However, data from the POET study (Chen et al., 2016) revealed that a significant proportion of patients (48%) experienced disease flare even with low or undetectable ADM concentrations, indicating that drug concentrations alone may not be sufficient to guide discontinuation decisions. Alternative strategies, such as disease activity-guided dose reduction and withdrawal or step-down approaches, may also be worth considering (van Herwaarden et al., 2015; Fautrel et al., 2016).

Our systematic review and meta-analysis summarized the benefits of TDM in the entire clinical process of ADM treatment for various diseases. However, there are some limitations to consider. In terms of data sources, limitations in data collection methods or sources may affect the reliability and universality of research results. Grey literature, as an important source of information, plays an indispensable role in literature search. Unlike traditional commercial publications, gray literature is usually published by institutions, enterprises, government agencies, professional conferences, and individuals. Its uniqueness makes it important, such as providing comprehensive information, reflecting practical experience and policy advocacy, timely grasping the latest research results, and eliminating publication bias. However, in our study, we only manually searched the trial registry and the list of references included in the trial, which made our search for grey literature incomplete and needed improvement in future research. Secondly, the included literatures varied in study design and quality. The results may be influenced by factors such as patient population, sample size, study time, and experimental environment, etc. as we excluded studies for which we were unable to extract individual ADM data; consequently, studies related to certain diseases, such as psoriasis and ankylosing spondylitis, were not included. Although evidence of benefits, including CD, UC, and RA, was ultimately included, the patient population, research perspectives, and outcome indicators of these studies were not the same, making it difficult to quantitatively summarize and perform meta-analyses for all literature results. Thirdly, it should be noted that assays used in TDM are varied and not yet standardized and may explain the deviation in results from different studies. Finally, our results are mainly based on the Western population, which means that it is difficult to generalize globally. However, within the scope of the currently published research, this article provides the latest results on the benefits of TDM in the entire process of clinical use and management of ADM.

5 Conclusion

The systematic review highlights the current evidence of TDM in ADM treatment. We addressed three clinical concerns regarding the benefits of TDM throughout the ADM treatment process. Current evidence suggests that proactive TDM is numerically but not statistically significant superiority over reactive TDM and/or conventional management in achieving and/or maintaining clinical remission. For patients experiencing treatment failure, reactive TDM can aid in understanding the reasons for treatment failure and developing subsequent treatment schedule. For patients reaching LDA or remission, monitoring drug concentrations can help identify and reduce overtreatment, while it cannot inform the successful drug discontinuation. Evidence was observed across various populations, including those with CD, UC, and RA. They encompass optimizing treatment strategies, enhancing clinical outcomes, improving drug utilization, and reducing treatment costs. However, existing clinical trials are limited and of varying quality. More well-designed, high-quality clinical studies are needed to clarify the role of TDM in different clinical settings.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary Material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

YL: Writing-original draft, Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration. CX: Writing-original draft. Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration. XD: Writing-original draft, Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Software. ZW: Writing-review and editing, Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology. JJZ: Writing-review and editing, Data curation, Formal Analysis, Investigation, Methodology. JGZ: Writing-review editing, and Conceptualization, Project administration, Supervision, Validation. LM: Writing-review and editing, Conceptualization, Formal Analysis, Funding acquisition, Project administration, Supervision, Validation.

Funding

The author(s) declare that financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (82003857), Key R&D Program of Jiangsu Province (BE2021644),

References

Assa, A., Matar, M., Turner, D., Broide, E., Weiss, B., Ledder, O., et al. (2019). Proactive monitoring of adalimumab trough concentration associated with increased clinical remission in children with Crohn's disease compared with reactive monitoring. *Gastroenterology* 157 (4), 985–996. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2019.06.003

Baert, F., Kondragunta, V., Lockton, S., Vande Casteele, N., Hauenstein, S., Singh, S., et al. (2016). Antibodies to adalimumab are associated with future inflammation in Crohn's patients receiving maintenance adalimumab therapy: a *post hoc* analysis of the Karmiris trial. *Gut* 65 (7), 1126–1131. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307882

Bartelds, G. M., Krieckaert, C. L., Nurmohamed, M. T., van Schouwenburg, P. A., Lems, W. F., Twisk, J. W., et al. (2011). Development of antidrug antibodies against adalimumab and association with disease activity and treatment failure during longterm follow-up. *JAMA* 305 (14), 1460–1468. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.406

Bartelds, G. M., Wijbrandts, C. A., Nurmohamed, M. T., Stapel, S., Lems, W. F., Aarden, L., et al. (2010). Anti-infliximab and anti-adalimumab antibodies in relation to response to adalimumab in infliximab switchers and anti-tumour necrosis factor naive patients: a cohort study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 69 (5), 817–821. doi:10.1136/ard.2009. 112847

Battat, R., Hemperly, A., Truong, S., Whitmire, N., Boland, B. S., Dulai, P. S., et al. (2021). Baseline clearance of infliximab is associated with requirement for colectomy in patients with acute severe ulcerative colitis. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 19 (3), 511–518.e6. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2020.03.072

Brandse, J. F., Mathot, R. A., van der Kleij, D., Rispens, T., Ashruf, Y., Jansen, J. M., et al. (2016). Pharmacokinetic features and presence of antidrug antibodies associate

Suzhou Health Leading Talent (GSWS2019001), the National Clinical Research Center for Hematologic Diseases, the First Affiliated Hospital of Soochow University (2020WSC07), the Priority Academic Program Development of the Jiangsu Higher Education Institutes (PAPD) and the Project of Suzhou Science and Technology Development Plan (SKJY2023182).

Acknowledgments

We thank all the members of our study team for their wholehearted cooperation and the original authors of the included studies for their excellent work.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2024.1376708/ full#supplementary-material

with response to infliximab induction therapy in patients with moderate to severe ulcerative colitis. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 14 (2), 251–258. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2015. 10.029

Brandse, J. F., van den Brink, G. R., Wildenberg, M. E., van der Kleij, D., Rispens, T., Jansen, J. M., et al. (2015). Loss of infliximab into feces is associated with lack of response to therapy in patients with severe ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* 149 (2), 350–355. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2015.04.016

Cheifetz, A. S., Abreu, M. T., Afif, W., Cross, R. K., Dubinsky, M. C., Loftus, E. V., Jr., et al. (2021). A comprehensive literature review and expert consensus statement on therapeutic drug monitoring of biologics in inflammatory bowel disease. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 116 (10), 2014–2025. doi:10.14309/ajg.000000000001396

Chen, D. Y., Chen, Y. M., Hsieh, T. Y., Hung, W. T., Hsieh, C. W., Chen, H. H., et al. (2016). Drug trough levels predict therapeutic responses to dose reduction of adalimumab for rheumatoid arthritis patients during 24 weeks of follow-up. *Rheumatol. Oxf.* 55 (1), 143–148. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kev298

Colombel, J. F., Sandborn, W. J., Rutgeerts, P., Enns, R., Hanauer, S. B., Panaccione, R., et al. (2007). Adalimumab for maintenance of clinical response and remission in patients with Crohn's disease: the CHARM trial. *Gastroenterology* 132 (1), 52–65. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.041

D'Haens, G. R., Sandborn, W. J., Loftus, E. V., Hanauer, S. B., Schreiber, S., Peyrin-Biroulet, L., et al. (2022). Higher vs standard adalimumab induction dosing regimens and two maintenance strategies: randomized SERENE CD trial results. *Gastroenterology* 162 (7), 1876–1890. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2022.01.044 Fautrel, B., Pham, T., Alfaiate, T., Gandjbakhch, F., Foltz, V., Morel, J., et al. (2016). Step-down strategy of spacing TNF-blocker injections for established rheumatoid arthritis in remission: results of the multicentre non-inferiority randomised open-label controlled trial (STRASS: spacing of TNF-blocker injections in Rheumatoid ArthritiS Study). *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 75 (1), 59–67. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206696

Feuerstein, J. D., Nguyen, G. C., Kupfer, S. S., Falck-Ytter, Y., Singh, S., and American Gastroenterological Association Institute Clinical Guidelines C (2017). American gastroenterological association institute guideline on therapeutic drug monitoring in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* 153 (3), 827–834. doi:10.1053/j.gastro. 2017.07.032

Irving, P. M., and Gecse, K. B. (2022). Optimizing therapies using therapeutic drug monitoring: current strategies and future perspectives. *Gastroenterology* 162 (5), 1512–1524. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2022.02.014

Jamnitski, A., Bartelds, G. M., Nurmohamed, M. T., van Schouwenburg, P. A., van Schaardenburg, D., Stapel, S. O., et al. (2011). The presence or absence of antibodies to infliximab or adalimumab determines the outcome of switching to etanercept. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 70 (2), 284–288. doi:10.1136/ard.2010.135111

Jongsma, M. M. E., Winter, D. A., Huynh, H. Q., Norsa, L., Hussey, S., Kolho, K. L., et al. (2020). Infliximab in young paediatric IBD patients: it is all about the dosing. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 179 (12), 1935–1944. doi:10.1007/s00431-020-03750-0

Khan, A., Berahmana, A. B., Day, A. S., Barclay, M. L., and Schultz, M. (2019). New Zealand society of gastroenterology guidelines on therapeutic drug monitoring in inflammatory bowel disease. *N. Z. Med. J.* 132 (1491), 46–62.

Krieckaert, C. L., Nair, S. C., Nurmohamed, M. T., van Dongen, C. J., Lems, W. F., Lafeber, F. P., et al. (2015). Personalised treatment using serum drug levels of adalimumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: an evaluation of costs and effects. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 74 (2), 361–368. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204101

Krieckaert, C. L., van Tubergen, A., Gehin, J. E., Hernandez-Breijo, B., Le Meledo, G., Balsa, A., et al. (2023). EULAR points to consider for therapeutic drug monitoring of biopharmaceuticals in inflammatory rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 82 (1), 65–73. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2022-222155

Lamers-Karnebeek, F. B. G., Jacobs, J. W. G., Radstake, T., van Riel, P., and Jansen, T. L. (2019). Adalimumab drug and antidrug antibody levels do not predict flare risk after stopping adalimumab in RA patients with low disease activity. *Rheumatol. Oxf.* 58 (3), 427–431. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/key292

l'Ami, M. J., Krieckaert, C. L., Nurmohamed, M. T., van Vollenhoven, R. F., Rispens, T., Boers, M., et al. (2018). Successful reduction of overexposure in patients with rheumatoid arthritis with high serum adalimumab concentrations: an open-label, noninferiority, randomised clinical trial. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 77 (4), 484–487. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2017-211781

Mitrev, N., Vande Casteele, N., Seow, C. H., Andrews, J. M., Connor, S. J., Moore, G. T., et al. (2017). Review article: consensus statements on therapeutic drug monitoring of anti-tumour necrosis factor therapy in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 46 (11-12), 1037–1053. doi:10.1111/apt.14368

Nguyen, N. H., Solitano, V., Vuyyuru, S. K., MacDonald, J. K., Syversen, S. W., Jorgensen, K. K., et al. (2022). Proactive therapeutic drug monitoring versus conventional management for inflammatory bowel diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Gastroenterology* 163 (4), 937–949.e2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2022.06.052

Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., et al. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 372, n71. doi:10.1136/bmj.n71

Panes, J., Colombel, J. F., D'Haens, G. R., Schreiber, S., Panaccione, R., Peyrin-Biroulet, L., et al. (2022). Higher vs standard adalimumab induction and maintenance dosing regimens for treatment of ulcerative colitis: SERENE UC trial results. *Gastroenterology* 162 (7), 1891–1910. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2022.02.033

Papamichael, K., Afif, W., Drobne, D., Dubinsky, M. C., Ferrante, M., Irving, P. M., et al. (2022). Therapeutic drug monitoring of biologics in inflammatory bowel disease: unmet needs and future perspectives. *Lancet Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 7 (2), 171–185. doi:10.1016/S2468-1253(21)00223-5

Papamichael, K., Juncadella, A., Wong, D., Rakowsky, S., Sattler, L. A., Campbell, J. P., et al. (2019). Proactive therapeutic drug monitoring of adalimumab is associated with better long-term outcomes compared with standard of care in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J. Crohns Colitis 13 (8), 976-981. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/ jjz018

Papamichael, K., Rakowsky, S., Rivera, C., Cheifetz, A. S., and Osterman, M. T. (2018). Infliximab trough concentrations during maintenance therapy are associated with endoscopic and histologic healing in ulcerative colitis. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 47 (4), 478–484. doi:10.1111/apt.14458

Plasencia, C., Pascual-Salcedo, D., Garcia-Carazo, S., Lojo, L., Nuno, L., Villalba, A., et al. (2013). The immunogenicity to the first anti-TNF therapy determines the outcome of switching to a second anti-TNF therapy in spondyloarthritis patients. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 15 (4), R79. doi:10.1186/ar4258

Pouw, M. F., Krieckaert, C. L., Nurmohamed, M. T., van der Kleij, D., Aarden, L., Rispens, T., et al. (2015). Key findings towards optimising adalimumab treatment: the concentration-effect curve. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 74 (3), 513–518. doi:10.1136/ annrheumdis-2013-204172

Rau, R. (2002). Adalimumab (a fully human anti-tumour necrosis factor alpha monoclonal antibody) in the treatment of active rheumatoid arthritis: the initial results of five trials. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 61 (Suppl. 2), ii70–3. doi:10.1136/ard.61. suppl_2.ii70

Rinawi, F., Ricciuto, A., Church, P. C., Frost, K., Crowley, E., Walters, T. D., et al. (2021). Association of early postinduction adalimumab exposure with subsequent clinical and biomarker remission in children with Crohn's disease. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 27 (7), 1079–1087. doi:10.1093/ibd/izaa247

Roblin, X., Genin, C., Nancey, S., Williet, N., Veyrard, P., Boschetti, G., et al. (2022). Swapping versus dose optimization in patients losing response to adalimumab with adequate drug levels. *Inflamm. Bowel Dis.* 28 (5), 720–727. doi:10.1093/ibd/izab158

Roblin, X., Rinaudo, M., Del Tedesco, E., Phelip, J. M., Genin, C., Peyrin-Biroulet, L., et al. (2014). Development of an algorithm incorporating pharmacokinetics of adalimumab in inflammatory bowel diseases. *Am. J. Gastroenterol.* 109 (8), 1250–1256. doi:10.1038/ajg.2014.146

Stang, A. (2010). Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. *Eur. J. Epidemiol.* 25 (9), 603–605. doi:10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z

Sterne, J. A. C., Savovic, J., Page, M. J., Elbers, R. G., Blencowe, N. S., Boutron, I., et al. (2019). RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ* 366, 14898. doi:10.1136/bmj.14898

Tweehuysen, L., van den Ende, C. H., Beeren, F. M., Been, E. M., van den Hoogen, F. H., and den Broeder, A. A. (2017). Little evidence for usefulness of biomarkers for predicting successful dose reduction or discontinuation of a biologic agent in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 69 (2), 301–308. doi:10.1002/art.39946

Ulijn, E., den Broeder, N., Wientjes, M., van Herwaarden, N., Meek, I., Tweehuysen, L., et al. (2020). Therapeutic drug monitoring of adalimumab in RA: no predictive value of adalimumab serum levels and anti-adalimumab antibodies for prediction of response to the next bDMARD. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 79 (7), 867–873. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2020-216996

Ungar, B., Mazor, Y., Weisshof, R., Yanai, H., Ron, Y., Goren, I., et al. (2016). Induction infliximab levels among patients with acute severe ulcerative colitis compared with patients with moderately severe ulcerative colitis. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 43 (12), 1293–1299. doi:10.1111/apt.13631

van Herwaarden, N., van der Maas, A., Minten, M. J., van den Hoogen, F. H., Kievit, W., van Vollenhoven, R. F., et al. (2015). Disease activity guided dose reduction and withdrawal of adalimumab or etanercept compared with usual care in rheumatoid arthritis: open label, randomised controlled, non-inferiority trial. *BMJ* 350, h1389. doi:10.1136/bmj.h1389

Ward, M. G., Warner, B., Unsworth, N., Chuah, S. W., Brownclarke, C., Shieh, S., et al. (2017). Infliximab and adalimumab drug levels in Crohn's disease: contrasting associations with disease activity and influencing factors. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 46 (2), 150–161. doi:10.1111/apt.14124

Winter, D. A., Joosse, M. E., de Wildt, S. N., Taminiau, J., de Ridder, L., and Escher, J. C. (2020). Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and immunogenicity of infliximab in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and revised dosing considerations. *J. Pediatr. Gastroenterol. Nutr.* 70 (6), 763–776. doi:10.1097/MPG. 00000000002631

Zittan, E., Kabakchiev, B., Milgrom, R., Nguyen, G. C., Croitoru, K., Steinhart, A. H., et al. (2016). Higher adalimumab drug levels are associated with mucosal healing in patients with Crohn's disease. *J. Crohns Colitis* 10 (5), 510–515. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw014

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Whocely Victor de Castro, Universidade Federal de São João del-Rei, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Sahil Mahajan, The Ohio State University, United States Amanda Burkhardt, University of Southern California, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Hossein Khorramdelazad, 🛙 khorramdelazad@gmail.com

RECEIVED 31 March 2024 ACCEPTED 25 June 2024 PUBLISHED 12 July 2024

CITATION

Abbasifard M, Bagherzadeh K and Khorramdelazad H (2024), The story of clobenpropit and CXCR4: can be an effective drug in cancer and autoimmune diseases? *Front. Pharmacol.* 15:1410104. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2024.1410104

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Abbasifard, Bagherzadeh and Khorramdelazad. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

The story of clobenpropit and CXCR4: can be an effective drug in cancer and autoimmune diseases?

Mitra Abbasifard¹, Kowsar Bagherzadeh² and Hossein Khorramdelazad³*

¹Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Ali-Ibn Abi-Talib Hospital, Rafsanjan University of Medical Sciences, Rafsanjan, Iran, ²Eye Research Center, The Five Senses Health Institute, Rassoul Akram Hospital, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, ³Department of Immunology, School of Medicine, Rafsanjan University of Medical Sciences, Rafsanjan, Iran

Clobenpropit is a histamine H3 receptor antagonist and has developed as a potential therapeutic drug due to its ability to inhibit CXCR4, a chemokine receptor involved in autoimmune diseases and cancer pathogenesis. The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis involves several biological phenomena, including cell proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, inflammation, and metastasis. Accordingly, inhibiting CXCR4 can have promising clinical outcomes in patients with malignancy or autoimmune disorders. Based on available knowledge, Clobenpropit can effectively regulate the release of monocytederived inflammatory cytokine in autoimmune diseases such as juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), presenting a potential targeted target with possible advantages over current therapeutic approaches. This review summarizes the intricate interplay between Clobenpropit and CXCR4 and the molecular mechanisms underlying their interactions, comprehensively analyzing their impact on immune regulation. Furthermore, we discuss preclinical and clinical investigations highlighting the probable efficacy of Clobenpropit for managing autoimmune diseases and cancer. Through this study, we aim to clarify the immunomodulatory role of Clobenpropit and its advantages and disadvantages as a novel therapeutic opportunity.

KEYWORDS

clobenpropit, CXCR4, autoimmune disease, CXCL12 (SDF-1α), cancer

1 Introduction

The complicated network of molecular communications orchestrating immune responses has long been pivotal in exploring pioneering therapeutic approaches against autoimmune diseases (ADs) and malignancies (Dhillon et al., 2020; Masoumi et al., 2021). Among the numerous players, the chemokine receptor CXCR4 has emerged as a critical mediator in the pathogenesis of various immune-based human disorders (Pozzobon et al., 2016; Bagheri et al., 2019; Kawaguchi et al., 2019). The role of CXCR4 in immune regulation cannot be overstated. CXCR4 involvement in immune cell trafficking (Kucia et al., 2005; Pelekanos et al., 2014), homing (Burger and Bürkle, 2007; Yellowley, 2013; Asri et al., 2016), and cell activation (Kumar et al., 2006; Hong et al., 2009) make it a pivotal player in the orchestration of immune responses (Jacobson and Weiss, 2013). Ligation of CXCL12 to CXCR4 can initiate several downstream signaling pathways, inducing cell growth and

proliferation, migration, angiogenesis, inflammation, and metastasis (Hassanshahi et al., 2010; Aminzadeh et al., 2012; Azin et al., 2012; Khorramdelazad et al., 2016; Nazari et al., 2017). Dysregulation of CXCR4 signaling has been associated with ADs, where aberrant immune responses target self-antigens, and tumorigenesis, where uncontrolled cell proliferation and evasion of immune surveillance are hallmarks (Chong and Mohan, 2009; Chatterjee et al., 2014; García-Cuesta et al., 2019; Shi et al., 2020). Therefore, inhibition of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis can be a potential therapeutic target in cancers and ADs (Chong and Mohan, 2009; Derlin and Hueper, 2018). Numerous studies employed CXCR4 inhibitors to suppress the CXCL12/CXCR4 signals for treating cancer (Domanska et al., 2012; Biasci et al., 2020; Bockorny et al., 2020; Chaudary et al., 2021). AMD3100 is one of the most common CXCR4 inhibitors (De Clercq, 2003). Researchers showed that it could be effective in cancer therapy via the inhibition of tumor cell proliferation and reducing the infiltration of immunosuppressive cells, such as regulatory T cells (Tregs) and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) into the tumor microenvironment (TME) (Scala, 2015; Liu et al., 2021; Lei et al., 2022). Our recent study showed that A1, a novel fluorinated CXCR4 inhibitor, can effectively treat colorectal cancer (CRC) in vitro and in vivo (Khorramdelazad et al., 2023).

Regarding the potential association between the CXCL12/ CXCR4 axis and various signaling pathways, such as the ERK pathway, it has been reported that the CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling pathway plays a proinflammatory role in experimental emporomandibular joint osteoarthritis (TMJOA) model and the bicyclam derivative AMD3100 could reduce the severity of experimental TMJOA (Wang et al., 2016). Current attention has turned towards Clobenpropit, initially recognized as a histamine H3 receptor antagonist, and its exciting proficiency in inhibiting CXCR4 (Mani et al., 2021; Bekaddour et al., 2023). The question here is, in addition to the antihistaminic properties of Clobenpropit, to what extent can this drug help treat CXCL12/CXCR4-related diseases by inhibiting CXCR4? Moreover, what interactions may occur with the simultaneous inhibition of histamine H3 receptor and CXCR4.

This review article aims to summarize the complicated molecular dance between Clobenpropit and CXCR4, clarifying the potential of Clobenpropit as a therapeutic agent in ADs and human malignancies. We will unravel the molecular mechanisms supporting the inhibitory effects of Clobenpropit on CXCR4, exploring its impact on immune cell function and immune-mediated pathologies. Additionally, we will critically analyze preclinical and clinical evidence, evaluating Clobenpropit's efficacy and safety profile in the most critical ADs and cancer. By doing so, we endeavor to contribute to the developing landscape of targeted therapy, offering new perspectives on utilizing Clobenpropit as a potential therapeutic intervention against diseases characterized by CXCR4-associated immune dysregulation.

2 Methodology

2.1 Literature search strategy

A comprehensive literature search was conducted across several databases, including PubMed, Scopus, Web of Science, and Google Scholar. The search terms included "Clobenpropit," "CXCR4," "histamine H3 receptor antagonist," "autoimmune diseases," "cancer," "CXCL12/CXCR4 axis," "cell proliferation," "migration," "angiogenesis," "inflammation," and "metastasis." The search was limited to articles published in English from 1990 to the present (May 2024).

2.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Studies were included in the review if they met the following criteria: Investigated the role of Clobenpropit as a CXCR4 inhibitor; addressed the molecular mechanisms of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis; examined the effects of Clobenpropit on autoimmune diseases or cancer; included preclinical or clinical data supporting the efficacy of Clobenpropit; peer-reviewed articles, reviews, and clinical trial reports. Moreover, studies were excluded if they did not focus on Clobenpropit or its interaction with CXCR4, were not peer-reviewed, included editorials and commentaries, lacked sufficient methodological detail or experimental rigor, or were unavailable in full-text form.

2.3 Data extraction and analysis

Two reviewers independently extracted data using a standardized form. Extracted information included study design, sample size, methods, key findings, and conclusions. Discrepancies between reviewers were resolved through discussion or consultation with a third reviewer.

3 The CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling pathway: unraveling developmental and immunological connectivity

As discussed, the CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling pathway is a vital conduit linking developmental processes with immune regulation. Through a complex interplay of chemokine ligand CXCL12 and its receptor CXCR4, this pathway influences diverse cellular behaviors crucial for tissue morphogenesis and immune surveillance (Ara et al., 2005). As we explore the intricate mechanisms and multifaceted roles of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in this section, we gain insight into its profound influence on developmental connectivity and immunological responses.

3.1 Importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in development

Hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) are pivotal in hematopoiesis or generating blood cells (Nemeth and Bodine, 2007). During midgestation, HSCs originate from hemogenic endothelial cells or mesenchymal cells adjacent to the dorsal aorta, migrate to the fetal liver, and colonize the bone marrow (BM) (Nagasawa et al., 1996; Ma et al., 1998; Zou et al., 1998; Ara et al., 2003). Researchers have found that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis facilitates the BM niche's hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell (HSPC) colonization during development by genetically modified murine models lacking CXCL12 or CXCR4. In addition, HSC maintenance

10.3389/fphar.2024.1410104

requires CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling, as evidenced by conditional deletion experiments in BM (Sugiyama et al., 2006; Tzeng et al., 2011; Ding and Morrison, 2013; Greenbaum et al., 2013). Moreover, sperm and oocytes are formed by migrating and colonizing primordial germ cells (PGCs). CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling underlies the colonization of the genital ridges by PGCs, which originate from the allantoic root (Nagasawa, 2014). In murine models, CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling is implicated in colonization (Nagasawa et al., 1996; Zou et al., 1998). Findings in zebrafish further corroborate the significance of CXCL12 in directing PGC migration toward the gonads (Knaut et al., 2003; Nagasawa, 2014).

Signaling between CXCL12 and CXCR4 is fundamental for cardiogenesis and vascular development. Its deficiency impairs membrane formation in the cardioventricular septum and compromises vascularization in multiple tissues (Tachibana et al., 1998; Ara et al., 2005; Li et al., 2013). CXCL12 plays a vital role in patterning vascular pathways during mesenteric development, specifically by facilitating interactions between arterial endothelial cells and the adjacent capillaries (Ara et al., 2005). Zebrafish studies have demonstrated that CXCR4a contributes to forming arterial networks during brain vascularization (Chong et al., 2001; Siekmann et al., 2009). CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling is intricately involved in neurogenesis, influencing migration, differentiation, and axonal guidance. Using mice deficient in CXCL12 or CXCR4, aberrant granule cell clustering in the cerebellum has been observed, hippocampal dentate gyrus morphology has been altered, and the assembly of GABAergic interneurons is disrupted, emphasizing the importance of CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling in neurodevelopmental processes (Ma et al., 1998; Zou et al., 1998; Bagri et al., 2002; Lu et al., 2002; Stumm et al., 2003; Zhu et al., 2009). Additionally, CXCL12 guides the axon trajectory of motor and sensory neurons during the development of the nervous system (Chalasani et al., 2003; Lieberam et al., 2005).

3.2 Immunological aspects of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis

The CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling pathway is critical in immune regulation and exemplifies the nuanced interactions that govern cell migration, homing, and immune surveillance (Lu et al., 2024). This section summarizes the bio-structure, bio-function, and signaling of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. At the epicenter of this pathway lies CXCL12, also identified as stromal cell-derived factor-1 α (SDF-1 α) (Kukreja, 2005). CXCL12 is a member of the CXC chemokine family, categorized by a conserved cysteine motif that adopts the canonical chemokine fold, comprising three anti-parallel β strands and a single a helix (N terminus post-translational, 2016). In disulfide bonds, the cysteine residues are responsible for the stability of the protein (Xu et al., 2013). The exclusive spatial arrangement of amino acid residues outlines the chemotactic specificity, supporting its ligation with the CXCR4 receptor. The CXCR4 is considered a chemokine receptor for CXCL12 and a seven-transmembrane G protein-coupled receptor (GPCR) (Teixido et al., 2018). CXCR4 possesses a multifaceted structure containing an extracellular N-terminus, seven transmembrane helices, three intracellular loops, and an intracellular C-terminus. The CXCR4 binding pocket contains the N-terminus of CXCL12,

starting a cascade of conformational alterations that activate several downstream signaling occurrences (Van Hout, 2019).

Following ligation of CXCL12 to CXCR4, a series of bioevents occur, activating downstream signaling pathways that regulate immune cell performance through inducing G-protein pairing and activating heterotrimeric G proteins, principally Gai (Liekens et al., 2010). Gai, in turn, hinders adenylyl cyclase, reducing the production of cyclic AMP (cAMP) (Scala, 2015). Condensed cAMP levels modulate intracellular signaling, inducing cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, and survival (Castaldo et al., 2014). Moreover, activating CXCR4 induces the phosphorylation of intracellular adaptor molecules and domains, engaging and triggering kinases such as focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK). FAK can regulate cell adhesion and migration, while MAPKs contribute to cell proliferation and survival (Rigiracciolo et al., 2021). The Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK signaling pathway is a prominent downstream branch of MAPK signaling and plays a fundamental role in cellular responses to CXCL12 (Kumari et al., 2021). The phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway is also employed, activating Akt, which modulates diverse cellular processes, including cell proliferation, metabolism, and survival (West et al., 2002; Mousavi, 2020) (Figure 1). Contributing these signaling cascades in various physiological and pathological states magnificently tunes immune cell responses, pointing out their locomotion, activation, and functions (Mousavi, 2020). As discussed, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is crucial in immune cell trafficking, predominantly in hematopoiesis and the homing of immune cells to lymphoid organs and inflammatory milieus (Salcedo and Oppenheim, 2003; Nagasawa, 2014). Evidence revealed that this pathway is critical in embryonic development, organogenesis, and tissue repair (Cheng et al., 2014). Beyond the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis's physiological functions, its dysregulation concerns several pathological conditions, including cancer metastasis, ADs, and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection (Liekens et al., 2010). The interactions of CXCR4 with other related proteins are illustrated in Figure 2.

Taken together, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is a testament to the complicated molecular interactions network that governs immune responses. Therefore, understanding the bio-structure of CXCL12 and CXCR4 offers essential perceptions of their functional roles. The stage-managed activation of downstream signaling pathways orchestrates a symphony of immune responses, emphasizing the pathway's significance in physiologic and pathologic conditions. As we unravel the intricacies of the immune system and its components, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis emerges as an essential player, suggesting potential therapeutic targets for several immune-related disorders such as ADs and cancers.

4 Role of CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in pathologic states

4.1 Cancer

CAFs are believed to be the major producers of CXCL12 in the TME, as they are the most common and significant cells that secrete it (Costa et al., 2014). M2 macrophages and cancer cells also produce CXCL12. By secreting CXCL12, M2 macrophages can activate and differentiate CAF (Liu et al., 2019). Despite being widely expressed



by cancer cells from various sources, the CXCR4 receptor is typically found on cancer stem cells (CSCs) and is not present in normal mammary epithelial cells (Yi et al., 2019). This suggests that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis can function in autocrine and paracrine manners. CXCR4, which promotes embryonic development, is required for CSC migration toward metastatic sites (Huang et al., 2010). Other cells that express CXCR4 include neutrophils, endothelial cells, lymphocytes, stromal fibroblasts, hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and MDSCs (Mortezaee, 2020). Accordingly, recruiting CXCR4⁺ MDSCs, M2 macrophages, and Tregs can suppress anti-tumor immune responses, inducing tumor growth and progression.

Genetic mutations and epigenetic changes are at the root of cancer, one of the leading causes of premature death worldwide (Kanwal and Gupta, 2012). It has been revealed that various growth factors and signaling pathways intricately regulate primary tumorigenesis (Cross and Dexter, 1991; Guo et al., 2020). The CXCL12/CXCR4/PI3K/AKT axis is involved in the pathogenesis of several malignancies, such as adamantinomatous craniopharyngiomas, breast cancer (BCa), neuroblastoma, pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia, medullary thyroid cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), colorectal cancer (CRC), and glioblastoma (GB), via activation of different downstream signaling pathways, inducing tumor cell proliferation, migration, and invasion (Carmo et al., 2010; Yin et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020; Hjazi et al., 2023; Yang et al., 2023). Additionally, CXCR7, a receptor related to CXCR4 and CXCL12, has been associated with the growth and metastasis of tumor cells in colon cancer, melanoma, and BCa (Wang et al., 2015). Metastasis is a major cause of cancer-related mortality that involves sequential invasion, circulation, infiltration, and proliferation (Ha et al., 2013). CXCL12/CXCR4 affects integrin expression, homeobox genes, tight junctions, and matrix metalloproteinases, which affect colorectal, endometrial, breast, and glioma metastasis (Yang et al., 2023).

Several studies have demonstrated that CXCL12 is overexpressed in tumor tissues of various human malignancies (Portella et al., 2021). In addition to fostering pre-metastatic niches (tumorigenic soils), it recruits tumor cells (oncogenic "seeds") to the niches, inducing tumor progression and metastasis (Yang et al., 2020). Cancer stem/progenitor cells overexpress the CXCR4 receptor, which transmits CXCL12 signals. Oncogenes are activated following the ligation of CXCL12 to CXCR4, which activates multiple downstream pathways. By activating the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis, cancer stem,



and progenitor cells are mobilized to pre-metastatic niches and undergo epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Yang et al., 2020).

Although it has long been established that cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), the primary producers of CXCL12 in the TME, can induce EMT in tumor cells, the direct involvement of CXCL12 in EMT has remained unclear (Jiang et al., 2023). This ambiguity persists because other factors secreted by CAFs, such as tumor growth factor-beta (TGF- β) and IL-6, are also known to be highly transformative. Interestingly, recent investigations have revealed that overexpression of CXCL12 in MCF7 cell lines (Breast cancer) leads to upregulation of *OCT4*, *Nanog*, and *SOX2* (DiNatale et al., 2022). These factors are well known for their roles in pluripotency and stem cell reprogramming, further confirming the close association between EMT and the stem cell program in cancer. Additionally, CXCL12-driven EMT induction in this model system was found to depend on the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway.

Moreover, the significance of CXCL12 in the TME is explored by its interaction with CXCR4, which is often overexpressed in various cancers. This axis stimulates EMT and promotes tumor invasiveness and metastasis (Anastasiadou et al., 2023). The role of the Wnt/βcatenin pathway in this process highlights a critical signaling mechanism that integrates external signals from the TME with intracellular pathways governing cell differentiation and proliferation (Moon, 2005). Studies have reported that activating the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway can stabilize β -catenin in the cytoplasm, translocating to the nucleus, and the subsequent activation of target genes that promote EMT and stemness properties (Jiang et al., 2007). In addition to CXCL12, the interplay between CAFs and tumor cells involves a complex network of signaling molecules. For instance, TGF-B has been extensively studied for its dual role in cancer. It acts as a tumor suppressor in the early stages and a metastasis promoter in the advanced stages (Pardali and Moustakas, 2007). Similarly, IL-6 is known to activate the JAK/STAT3 signaling pathway, contributing to EMT and cancer progression (Pardali and Moustakas, 2007). Understanding the specific contributions of these factors, including CXCL12, within the TME is crucial for developing targeted therapies to disrupt these pro-tumorigenic interactions.

Collectively, the evidence suggests that CXCL12 plays a significant role in inducing EMT and stemness in tumor cells, with the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway being a crucial mediator in this process. Further studies are required to fully elucidate how CXCL12 and other CAF-derived factors contribute to tumor progression and explore potential therapeutic strategies targeting these pathways (Shan et al., 2015).

According to the available knowledge, the TME plays a pivotal role in cancer progression. The hypoxic condition and high acidity, as well as expressing inhibitory immune checkpoints, such as programmed cell death protein 1/programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-1/PD-L1), anti-cytotoxic T lymphocyte-associated antigen-4 (CTLA-4), like lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3), T cell immunoglobulin and mucin-domain containing-3 (TIM-3), T cell immunoglobulin and ITIM domain (TIGIT), and V-domain Ig suppressor of T cell activation (VISTA) are the essential features of the TME (Qin et al., 2019). Moreover, recruitment and infiltration of immunosuppressive immune cells, such as regulatory T cells (Tregs), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), and myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) in the TME can suppress anti-tumor immune responses to tumor cells via releasing immunosuppressive mediators, such as IL-10, IL-35, and tumor growth factor beta (TGF-β) (Gao et al., 2023) (Figure 3). Chemokines recruit anti and pro-tumor immune and non-immune cells into the TME. Dysregulation of CXCL12 secretion by tumor cells and expression of CXCR4 by immunosuppressive cells induces the creation of an inhibitory TME by fostering the infiltration of the mentioned regulatory and cancer-associated cells (Mortezaee, 2020).

As discussed, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is involved in tumor angiogenesis and metastasis of tumor cells to distant organs. By



inducing vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) through the PI3K/AKT pathway, the CXCR4 receptor can induce tumor angiogenesis, an essential step in tumor progression (Ghalehbandi et al., 2023). Furthermore, the upregulation of CXCR4 in hypoxic conditions and its role in hypoxia-inducible factor-1 α (HIF-1 α)-induced VEGF expression can lead to angiogenesis in the TME (Kruszyna et al., 2022) (Figure 3). Accordingly, understanding the complicated mechanisms underlying tumorigenesis, progression, and the role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in these processes is essential for emerging targeted therapeutic interventions in cancer therapy.

4.2 Autoimmune diseases

An AD occurs when the immune system components, such as autoantibodies and autoreactive T cells, incorrectly target specific self-antigens, damaging tissues and organs (Muñoz-Carrillo et al., 2018a). These diseases are not generalized attacks but are mediated by immune responses directed against specific body parts (Muñoz-Carrillo et al., 2018b). A particular AD targets a particular tissue or organ, resulting in diverse clinical symptoms (Pisetsky, 2023). In addition, a majority of ADs appear to have a relapsing/remitting course, where periods of active disease (flare-ups) alternate with periods of remission. Symptoms worsen during flare-ups due to increased immune activity, while symptoms decrease during remissions due to reduced immune activity (Lebel et al., 2023). As a result of genetic predisposition, environmental triggers (smoking, chemical compounds, infectious agents, radiation, and ultraviolet light), and dysregulation of immune tolerance, the underlying pathophysiological mechanisms often fail to differentiate self from non-self (Javierre et al., 2011; Capalbo et al., 2012). Therefore, diagnosing and managing these diseases requires understanding their specific target antigens and dynamic nature (Muñoz-Carrillo et al., 2018a). Activated innate immune cells, stromal cells, and tissue cells produce cytokines and chemokines, which regulate immune cell trafficking and play a significant role in ADs (Shachar and Karin, 2013; Elemam et al., 2020; Fallahi et al., 2020; Abassifard et al., 2021; Moadab et al., 2021; Abbasifard et al., 2023). Although CXCL12 was initially regarded as a homeostatic chemokine, it also plays a vital role in inflammation. Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), multiple sclerosis (MS), rheumatoid arthritis (RA), psoriasis (PsO), type 1 diabetes (T1D), and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) are among the ADs that are implicated by the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis (García-Cuesta et al., 2019) (Figure 4).

CXCL12 plays a crucial role in skin homeostasis and inflammation (Abdelaal et al., 2020). In PsO as a chronic inflammatory skin disease, inflammatory leukocytes, including dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and T cells, accumulate, leading to pronounced inflammatory



angiogenesis (Gulletta et al., 2013). VEGF-A upregulates the expression of CXCL12 in psoriatic lesions. Psoriatic skin lesions also exhibit elevated mRNA levels of CXCR4 and CXCL12 (Petit et al., 2007; Suárez-Fariñas et al., 2011). A study evaluated CXCL12 expression in PsO vulgaris and psoriatic arthritis (PsA) patients concerning disease activity and methotrexate (MTX) therapy, and findings showed significantly higher CXCL12 expression in PsA patients compared to PsO vulgaris patients before treatment but not after. Post-MTX therapy, vulgaris patients showed a significant decrease in PsO CXCL12 expression, while PsA patients did not show a significant change. The reduction in PASI scores correlated moderately with decreased CXCL12 expression in PsO patients. Accordingly, CXCL12 may be involved in the progression from PsO vulgaris to PsA, with MTX therapy reducing CXCL12 expression and disease severity, suggesting CXCL12 as a potential biomarker for psoriasis severity (Abdelaal et al., 2020).

MS is a demyelinating disease characterized by inflammation, progressive myelin loss within the central nervous system (CNS), and failure to remyelinate damaged axons (Carbajal et al., 2010). Leukocytes need to penetrate the brain parenchyma for tissue injury, and the unique CNS barriers challenge immune cell activation (Perry et al., 1997). CXCL12, constitutively expressed in the adult CNS and upregulated under pathological conditions, orchestrates leukocyte trafficking in the CNS (Durrant et al., 2014). Chemokines, receptors, and adhesion molecules orchestrate leukocyte trafficking (Olson and Ley, 2002). In MS patients, CXCL12 levels are elevated in serum and cerebrospinal fluid and expressed in active lesions, suggesting its involvement in disease pathology (Azin et al., 2012; Khorramdelazad et al., 2016; Bagheri et al., 2019; Marastoni et al., 2021). It has been revealed that CXCL12 localization on blood vessels specifies a potential role in leucocyte extravasation, and the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis may contribute to plasma cell differentiation and persistence. In addition, following the cleavage of CXCL12 by metalloproteases, it can convert to a neurotoxic mediator that can damage axons (Krumbholz et al., 2006).

Issues in MS suggest deficiencies in recruiting and maturing oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs), indicating the crucial role of cell replacement therapies in improving remyelination (Hughes and Stockton, 2021). In a study using a model of viral-induced demyelination, the signaling cues guiding the migration of transplanted remyelination-competent cells were investigated (Carbajal et al., 2010). While rodent-derived glial cell transplantation in MS models has been successful, the mechanisms of cell navigation within the inflammatory environment created by persistent viruses are poorly understood. The JHM strain of mouse hepatitis virus (JHMV) infection in mice induced an immune-mediated demyelinating disease similar to MS. Surgical engraftment of GFP+ neural stem cells (NSCs) into the spinal cords of JHMV-infected mice resulted in migration, proliferation, and differentiation into OPCs and mature oligodendrocytes, inducing axonal remyelination. Using anti-CXCL12 blocking serum significantly reduced the migration and proliferation of engrafted stem cells. Additionally, CXCR4 antagonists, but not CXCR7, similarly inhibited migration and proliferation (Carbajal et al., 2010). These outcomes emphasize the pivotal role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in recruiting engrafted stem cells to damaged CNS sites in mice with immune-mediated demyelination due to persistent viral infection.

RA is an inflammatory autoimmune disease that primarily affects the joints. This type of AD involves synovial fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and chronic inflammation (Masoumi et al., 2023). The pathogenesis of RA involves a complex interplay between immune cells and cytokines (Kondo et al., 2021). It has been revealed that activated macrophages and synovial fibroblasts are activated by T cells, causing the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines like TNF- α and IL-17 (Tu et al., 2022). Releasing pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines by activated macrophages contributes to inflammation and joint damage (Moadab et al., 2021). A crucial aspect of RA is the degradation of bone and cartilage, which occurs due to synovial fibroblasts and macrophages secreting

matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Lefevre et al., 2015). As a result, cartilage and the bones beneath are destroyed by MMPs that destroy extracellular matrix components. T cells and macrophages collaborate on this coordinated attack, facilitated by MMPs, highlighting the importance of targeting these pathways in therapeutic interventions against RA (Siouti and Andreakos, 2019). It has been shown that chronic inflammation and bone erosion are related to the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis, contributing to bone and cartilage damage (Peng et al., 2020). It is associated with CXCL12 that neovascularization occurs in inflamed RA joints, particularly in their early stages (Yu et al., 2003). As a result, immune cells in the synovium express CXCR4. CXCL12 also induces recruiting osteoclast precursors, stimulating differentiation, bone resorption, and cartilage degradation (Grassi et al., 2004; Wright et al., 2005). Hypoxia stimulates VEGF and CXCR4 expression in inflamed joints by activating HIF-1 (Imtiyaz and Simon, 2010). In addition, in vitro experiments revealed that CXCL12 enhances chondrocyte necrosis, signifying the role of this CXC chemokine in cartilage damage (Xu et al., 2012).

MicroRNAs (miRs) play a significant role in the initiation and progression of RA, though the specific functions and mechanisms of miR-23 in RA are not fully understood (Evangelatos et al., 2019). An investigation demonstrated that miR-23 was downregulated, while CXCL12 was upregulated in RA samples compared to control samples (Gao et al., 2021). Overexpression of miR-23 suppressed inflammation by reducing TNF- α , IL-1 β , and IL-8 expression. Mechanistically, miR-23 decreased *CXCL12* mRNA expression by binding to its 3'-untranslated region, and overexpression of CXCL12 counteracted the anti-inflammatory effects of miR-23 mimic. Additionally, CXCL12 promotes inflammation by activating NF- κ B signaling (Gao et al., 2021). Therefore, miR-23 alleviates RA inflammation by regulating CXCL12 via the NF- κ B pathway, suggesting that targeting miR-23 could be a potential strategy for diagnosing and treating RA.

Another investigation found that the levels of CXCR4 and CXCL12 in the serum and joint synovial fluid were significantly higher in patients with RA than in normal subjects. These levels were also higher in the RA-active group compared to both the remission and control groups. A positive correlation was also observed between the expression of CXCR4 and CXCL12 and the erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), rheumatoid factor (RF), and Disease activity score in 28 joints (DAS28) scores. These outcomes suggest that CXCR4 and CXCL12 are highly expressed in RA patients, with their levels correlating positively with these clinical markers of disease activity (Peng et al., 2020).

SLE is characterized by immune complexes of autoantibodies and autoantigens circulating in the blood, leading to an inflammatory process and organ damage (Abbasifard et al., 2020). It has been revealed that chemokines, including CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL12, and CXCL13, play crucial roles in the pathogenesis of SLE (Pan et al., 2022). The expression of CXCR4 is upregulated in various immune cell types, such as monocytes, neutrophils, T cells, B cells, and plasma cells (Badr et al., 2015). Moreover, CXCL12 expression is elevated in the kidney. CXCR4 is upregulated in SLE patients, suggesting it may be a therapeutic target for SLE patients with kidney and CNS involvement (Wang et al., 2010; Badr et al., 2015). In contrast, circulating B cells from SLE patients show altered migration and distribution of B cell compartments due to the downregulation of CXCR4 (Biajoux et al., 2012). The signaling cascades involving PI3K/AKT, MAPKs (ERK, JNK, p38), and the regulation of NF- κ B nuclear translocation (I κ Bs) are critically involved in B cell differentiation and the production of autoantibodies during SLE disease progression (Sen et al., 2014).

However, it appears that inhibiting the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis could mitigate the autoimmune response and inflammation associated with SLE. Studies in lupus-prone murine models demonstrated that CXCR4 was upregulated in B cells, monocytes, neutrophils, and plasma cells, driven by toll-like receptors (TLRs) and pro-inflammatory cytokines. By upregulating this pathway, B cells were able to survive and migrate towards gradients of CXCL12 (Balabanian et al., 2003; von Hofsten et al., 2024).

A previous study found that NZB/W mice susceptible to lupus had elevated CXCL12 levels in the kidneys, contributing to lupus nephritis (Balabanian et al., 2003). Similar findings in other mouse models (B6.Sle1.Yaa, BXSB, MRL.lpr) were also confirmed (Wang et al., 2009). However, these findings are not replicated in human SLE patients (Wang et al., 2009). Studies report that B cells and CD4⁺ T cells express high levels of CXCR4 when disease severity is high, while others conclude that low levels of CXCR4 in specific lymphocyte subsets are associated with disease severity (Chong and Mohan, 2009). Discrepancies may be attributed to sample size differences and patient characteristics. Rather than measuring CXCR4 and CXCL12 levels in peripheral blood, end organs could provide more insights into their role in SLE. Biopsies of lupus nephritis and cutaneous lupus skin demonstrate increased CXCL12 levels correlated with disease severity. The migration of CXCR4⁺ cells into these organs may explain why some studies report lower levels of CXCR4 in peripheral blood (Chong and Mohan, 2009).

SLE-associated glomerulonephritis is accompanied by hyperplastic kidney lesions caused by CXCR4 dysregulation in kidney epithelial cells (Rizzo et al., 2013). This interaction may be crucial during lupus in attracting these cells to the kidney and skin, which are affected peripherally. In addition, CXCL12 binding to CXCR4 boosts cell survival, proliferation, and transcription, based on studies with mice lacking either CXCL12 or CXCR4. In mice with defective CXCL12 or CXCR4, vascularization, bone marrow myelopoiesis, and limb innervation have been observed. As a result of these findings, CXCL12/CXCR4 interactions play a crucial role in numerous physiological processes and are likely to significantly impact pathological conditions such as lupus (Wang et al., 2010).

Several chemokines are associated with T1D, including CXCL10, CCL5, CCL8, CXCL9, and CX3CL1, which are involved in insulin metabolism and pancreatic β -cell destruction (Overbergh et al., 2006). CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling is critical Field (Oliver-Krasinski et al., 2009) for the pancreatic islet to develop and differentiate. CXCL12 induces pancreatic and duodenal homeobox 1 (Pdx1) expression in the pre-pancreas region by attracting CXCR4-expressing angioblasts. All islet cell types must be formed to express neurogenin 3 (Ngn3) via Pdx1 (Oliver-Krasinski et al., 2009). CXCL12 is also vital in influencing immune processes and directing T-cell migration. Recruiting autoreactive T cells into pancreatic islets causes insulitis and

T1D. According to most studies, CXCL12 inhibition inhibits diabetes progression and insulitis, but conflicting reports suggest that adoptive cell transfer may protect against diabetes. Among the unique properties of CXCL12 are that it induces bidirectional movement of T cells and exerts a chemorepulsive effect on diabetogenic T cells while promoting normal T cell adhesion (Vidaković et al., 2015). By expressing CXCL12 in islets, autoreactive T cells are selectively repelled, and Treg cells are retained at the site. Tregs are critical in suppressing autoimmunity and are implicated in the development of T1D. It has been demonstrated that the absence of Tregs in pancreatic lymph nodes (PLNs) is correlated with T1D in non-obese diabetic mice. The restoration of euglycemia is associated with the recovery of Treg populations in PLNs, which is linked to a decrease in CXCL12 expression. In order to treat T1D effectively, we may need to enhance the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis and retain Tregs in PLNs (Vidaković et al., 2015).

Recently, an investigation reported that CD57⁺ CD8⁺ T cells, also known as effector memory cells, contribute to tumor and virus immunity and are associated with autoimmunity (Zhong et al., 2024). However, there needs to be more knowledge of how they contribute to T1D. Upon examining a T1D patient with a STAT3 mutation, these cells were observed to be increased. The CD57⁺ CD8⁺ T cells of T1D patients undergo significant changes during disease progression. In longitudinal studies, their prevalence was associated with declining function of the CD4⁺ cells. There is evidence that these cells are critical to the pathophysiology of T1D, as they produce cytotoxic cytokines, increase glucose uptake, and produce pro-inflammatory cytokines. Erk1/2 signaling enhances CD57⁺ CD8⁺ T cell expansion and function in vitro via the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis. Changes in serum CXCL12 levels were noted during the peri-remission phase of T1D. T1D mice treated with LY2510924, a CXCR4 antagonist, showed reduced infiltration of T cells and improved insulin sensitivity (Zhong et al., 2024). Based on these findings, CD57+CD8+ T cells play a crucial role in driving T1D responses, which may be a potential therapeutic option to delay the progression of the disease.

An essential function of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) in the normal intestinal mucosa is migration, barrier maturation, and restitution, which are all mediated by cAMP. In recent studies, CXCR4 and CXCL12 are present in lamina propria T cells (LPTs), which have been implicated in IBD pathogenesis. IECs of IBD patients express CXCR4 more, and CXCL12 is upregulated in inflamed mucosa. In all sources of peripheral blood T cells CXCL12 functions as a potent (PBTs) and LPTs, chemoattractant, whether they are normal or IBD-related. As evidenced by the accumulation of CXCR4⁺ cells near CXCR12expressing IECs, interactions between CXCL12 and CXCR4 contribute to mucosal deregulation, specifically impacting memory CD45RO+ LPTs (Werner et al., 2013). CXCL12 directs the proliferation of epithelial endocrine precursor cells in the human development of islet cells and phosphatidyl inositol-3 and AKT kinase (Oliver-Krasinski et al., 2009; Weir et al., 2011). It has been found that some IBDs, such as ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease, are caused by dysregulated immune responses in a genetically susceptible individual in response to environmental triggers (Scharl and Rogler, 2012; Wallace et al., 2014). It has been shown that intestinal epithelial cells and lamina propria cells express CXCL12 and CXCR4 upregulation in IBD patients. The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis is associated with IBD progression and severity, as it recruits memory Th1 cells, particularly T cells (Agace et al., 2000; Katsuta et al., 2000). It has been reported that polymorphisms in this axis contribute to the recruitment of memory Th1 cells (Mrowicki et al., 2014).

Collectively, it should be noted that the dual role of the CXCL12/ CXCR4 axis in ADs like SLE and T1D indicates that targeting this axis may not always be practical. Increased CXCL12 levels in lupusprone mice have been associated with improved SLE symptoms when treated with specific peptides, suggesting its role in the disease's pathogenesis (Chong and Mohan, 2009). In T1D, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis plays a significant role in promoting pancreatic β-cell survival. Studies show that CXCL12 helps protect β-cells from apoptosis and streptozotocin (STZ)-induced diabetes by activating the AKT pathway, which promotes cell survival. Blocking CXCR4 induces apoptosis and reduces cell survival markers in β-cells, while overexpressing CXCL12 in βcells enhances resistance to apoptosis and diabetes (Yano et al., 2007). However, the phenotype of recruited CXCR4⁺ cells can be crucial in the ADs pathogenesis. These findings highlight the complexity of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis, which can contribute to disease pathogenesis in SLE and offer therapeutic benefits in T1D, suggesting that blanket targeting of this axis may not be universally beneficial.

5 Targeting CXCR4 in pathologic conditions

This section summarized the importance of receptor and ligand inhibition in all types of diseases and autoimmune diseases.

5.1 Cancer

The CXCL12/CXCR4 axis plays a pivotal role in tumor progression and metastasis, making it a promising therapeutic target in cancer. By interacting with its receptor CXCR4, CXCL12 promotes migration, invasion, and angiogenesis in cancer cells, a chemokine abundantly expressed in the TME. This ligation is disrupted by inhibitors, which inhibit metastatic spread and stimulate antitumor immune responses. Various cancers have shown promising outcomes when CXCR4 inhibitors are used, such as AMD3100 (Zhou et al., 2020). Thus, the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis has become a compelling target for novel cancer therapies to enhance treatment efficacy and prevent metastasis.

Considering the role CXCR4 plays in tumor progression and metastasis, its inhibition offers significant potential for cancer treatment (Chatterjee et al., 2014). The expression of CXCR4 is associated with increased invasiveness and distant metastases in several cancers (Yang et al., 2020). It has been shown in preclinical and early clinical studies that blocking CXCR4 can disrupt the interaction between cancer cells and the microenvironment, preventing cancer cells from migrating to secondary sites (Zlotnik, 2008). A strategy to impede cancer progression and improve treatment outcomes is effective in early clinical studies targeting CXCR4. Due to these findings, CXCR4 inhibitors are being explored as potential cancer therapies that could impede metastasis and boost cancer therapy efficacy.

An investigation of patients with microsatellite stable pancreatic (PDA) or CRC who failed to respond to immune therapy using T cell checkpoint inhibitors in the context of cancer biology (Biasci et al., 2020). Based on their observations that cancer cells in these tumors are coated with CXCL12, the researchers proposed a possible explanation for this lack of response. Further, they note that stimulation of CXCR4 inhibited the migration of these immune cells mediated by other chemokines. For 7 days, the researchers continuously infused AMD3100 to patients to assess the relevance of these findings. Using transcriptomic analysis, they compared biopsies taken before and after treatment of metastatic lesions. This immunological response, which appears to be predictive of a positive clinical response to T-cell checkpoint inhibition, was found to be induced by the CXCR4 inhibitor. The non-response to immunotherapy may be linked to CXCL12 in cancer cells in some pancreatic and CRCs with specific characteristics (microsatellite stable). Researchers observed that AMD3100 inhibited the tumor's immune response, making it more susceptible to T cell checkpoint inhibitors by disrupting its immune response (Biasci et al., 2020). These findings suggest that targeting the CXCR4 pathway could enhance immunotherapy effectiveness in these cancer types. As a result of intrinsic/ acquired resistance, antiangiogenic therapies provided limited survival benefits to cancer patients (Haibe et al., 2020). It was crucial for improving treatment outcomes to understand and target resistance mechanisms, especially in cancers that required antiangiogenic therapy, such as colon cancer. Anti-VEGFR2 treatment increased CXCL12/CXCR4 expression in orthotopic CRC models and conditional Apc mutant spontaneous rectal tumors (Jung et al., 2017). In response to CXCR4 signaling, anti-VEGFR2 innate immune cells were recruited to the CRCs, including Ly6C^{low} monocytes and Ly6G⁺ neutrophils (Jung et al., 2017). These pathways can also be successfully targeted genetically and pharmacologically, including AMD3100, which significantly enhanced response to treatment. These strategies can be readily translated into the clinic. The effectiveness of PD-1 inhibitors in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is limited, suggesting alternative pathways should be explored (Kabacaoglu et al., 2018).

In metastatic PDAC, BL-8040 was combined with pembrolizumab and chemotherapy in a study (Bockorny et al., 2020). There was a 34.5% disease control rate (DCR) in cohort 1 (chemotherapy-resistant patients), as well as a median overall survival (mOS) of 3.3 months in second-line therapy. As a result of BL-8040, CD8⁺ T cells were infiltrated in cohort 2 more efficiently, and immunosuppressive cells were reduced. Combined with pembrolizumab and chemotherapy, the tumor objective response rate (ORR) was 32%, DCR was 77%, and the median response duration was 7.8 months. A randomized trial is needed to confirm the effectiveness of dual CXCR4 and PD-1 blockade in PDAC (Bockorny et al., 2020). An investigation was conducted to assess the efficacy of a combined approach incorporating radiation therapy (RT) with cisplatin (RTCT) and the CXCR4 inhibitor X4-136, which was considered suitable for clinical use (Chaudary et al., 2021). This study found that RTCT alone increased CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling, intratumoral accumulation of myeloid cells, and PD-L1 expression.

In contrast, X4-136 was introduced along with RTCT to counteract these effects, enhancing the primary tumor response and reducing metastases. Furthermore, X4-136 alleviated late histologic changes caused by delayed RT toxicity by reducing acute toxicity in intestinal crypt cells. Study findings indicate that this combination therapy can minimize adverse effects on normal tissues, including the intestines, while improving cervical cancer treatment outcomes. It is suggested that clinical trials should be conducted to explore these benefits further, as well as the possibility of applying this approach to other cancer types for which RTCT is a curative (Chaudary et al., 2021).

It has been shown that immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) therapies are less effective in triple-negative breast cancer (TNBC) due to insufficient T cell infiltration. Immunostimulatory approaches have been developed in the field (Kruszyna et al., 2022) to enhance ICB response. As part of a novel strategy aimed at improving AMD3100's therapeutic efficacy (Lu et al., 2021), a liposomal formulation targeting CXCR4 was developed. A dual blocker and targeting moiety, AMD3100 acted both extracellularly and intracellularly to inhibit CXCR4 activation. AMD3100 was encapsulated within the liposome and coated on its surface. Based on the results of the Liposomal-AMD3100 study, AMD3100 was more effective in remodeling the immune and stromal microenvironment than AMD3100 free, suggesting that the liposomal formulation had an improved pharmacodynamic profile. A murine TNBC model (4T1) demonstrated increased antitumor effects and longer survival times when anti-PD-L1 was combined with Liposomal-AMD3100 (Lu et al., 2021). Accordingly, ICB therapy can be applied to previously ICB-insensitive cancer types by delivering CXCR4 inhibitors liposomal to activate the immune system. It has been revealed that CXCR4 is overexpressed and functional in CRC, which has prompted researchers to examine whether it can enhance standard CRC therapy (Xu et al., 2018). In a CRC HCT116 xenograft model, a study assessed the efficacy of a novel peptide antagonist of CXCR4, Peptide R (Pep R) (D'Alterio et al., 2020). Pep R was administered to mice bearing xenografts of HCT116 with chemotherapeutic agents 5-Fluorouracil (5FU) and oxaliplatin, or 5FU combined with radiotherapy (RT-CT). Compared to chemotherapy alone or Pep R alone, which resulted in 2- and 1.6-fold reductions of the relative tumor volume (RTV) after 2 weeks, the combination of chemotherapy and Pep R significantly reduced the RTV fourfold. According to in vitro experiments, Pep R inhibited HCT116 cell growth and further reduced the ability of those cells to clone. It was also explored whether Pep R could target epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). A decrease in ECAD expression and an increase in ZEB-1 and CD90 expression were observed with chemotherapy treatment. Pep R restored the pre-treatment expression levels. Pep R also reduced a population of CD133+CXCR4+ cells in HCT116 and HT29 cells, considered stem-resistant cancer cells (D'Alterio et al., 2020). In general, the findings suggest that targeting CXCR4 with Pep R enhances the effectiveness of colon cancer treatment by reducing stem-resistant cancer cell proliferation, reversing EMTinduced markers, and inhibiting cell growth. Clinical studies are needed to explore this further.

In our recent study, we showed the potential significance of N, N^{$\prime\prime$}-thiocarbonylbis(N^{\prime}-(3,4-dimethylphenyl)-2,2,2-trifluoroacetimidamide) (A1) as a potent inhibitor of the CXCR4 chemokine receptor in the context of CRC therapy (Khorramdelazad et al., 2023). Compared with established CXCR4 inhibitors, A1 exhibited notable inhibitory activity, as demonstrated *in silico*. The investigation further revealed that A1 induced a cytotoxic effect on CT26 mouse CRC cells, leading to apoptosis and G2/ M cell cycle arrest, in contrast to the limited impact of the control molecule AMD3100. A1's effectiveness extended to reducing cell proliferation, particularly when combined with CXCL12, and downregulating the expression of CXCR4 receptors in treated cells. The dual-functionality of A1, acting as both a CXCR4 inhibitor and a cytotoxic agent, suggests its potential as a promising candidate for enhancing CRC treatment strategies (Khorramdelazad et al., 2023).

In another investigation, glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), a highly invasive and resistance-to-treatment brain tumor, was addressed. GBM's resistance and invasiveness are contributed to by aberrant p53 function influenced by overexpressed MDM2 and MDM4 proteins, as well as an increase in CXCR4 expression (Daniele et al., 2021). This study examined whether inhibiting the p53-MDM axis could enhance the sensitivity of GBM cells. A dual MDM2/4 inhibitor, RS3594, and a CXCR4 antagonist, AMD3100, were used to treat human GBM cells and GBM stemlike cells and in addition to inhibiting neurosphere growth and inducing differentiation of GBM cells, AMD3100 and RS3594 demonstrated synergistic effects on cancer stem components (Daniele et al., 2021). It appears that simultaneous blockade of CXCR4 and MDM2/4 may offer potential therapeutic benefits in reducing GBM proliferation and invasiveness.

Among the therapeutic challenges associated with triplenegative breast cancer (TNBC), which lacks molecular targets, this study addressed. TNBC tumor growth and metastasis are implicated in the CXCR4/SDF-1 axis, which may be targeted as a therapeutic target. TNBC cells were investigated for their response to Saikosaponin A (SSA), a compound derived from Radix bupleuri (Wang et al., 2020). In mouse models, SSA significantly reduced TNBC cell proliferation, colonization, migration, and invasion, inhibiting primary tumor growth and reducing lung metastasis. Notably, SSA decreased CXCR4 expression without affecting CXCR7. Consequently, MMP-9 and MMP-2 expression were inhibited, and the Akt/mTOR pathway was inactivated. Accordingly, SSA tends to exert its effects by inhibiting CXCR4 expression, which makes it an attractive candidate therapeutic agent for TNBC patients (Wang et al., 2020).

5.2 Autoimmune diseases

Several pathological processes, such as cancer and inflammatory diseases (Bekaddour et al., 2023), are implicated in aberrant CXCR4/ CXCL12 signaling (Mousavi, 2020). EPI-X4 was discovered to be an endogenous peptide antagonist and inverse agonist of CXCR4, suggesting that it could be developed as a therapeutic (Harms et al., 2021). A modified EPI-X4 derivative with increased anti-CXCR4 activity, referred to as JM#21, was engineered by researchers using molecular docking analysis and rational drug design. Among other things, JM#21 suppressed human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 infection more effectively than AMD3100, a small molecule CXCR4 antagonist approved for clinical use. JM#21 did not cause toxic effects in zebrafish embryos, demonstrating its safety. A mouse model of atopic dermatitis revealed that it attenuated allergeninduced immune cell infiltration and prevented skin inflammation. As a novel and potent CXCR4 antagonist, EPI-X4 JM#21 is positioned in the text as a first-in-class inhibitor with therapeutic efficacy in treating atopic dermatitis, highlighting its importance (Harms et al., 2021). This study supports the clinical development of CXCR4 antagonists to address various diseases associated with CXCR4, including asthma and atopic dermatitis.

A study aimed at developing a CXCR4 inhibitor suitable for topical use in treating psoriasis to minimize systemic toxicity (Boonsith, 2017). As a topical drug for psoriasis, the researchers developed PAMD, a polycation derived from AMD3100. In addition to its adaptability for chemical modification, PAMD can be combined with other drugs and form nanocarriers. Due to the localized nature of psoriasis as a skin disease, topical delivery of PAMD improved safety and compliance by targeting the disease locally. A challenge was overcoming the skin's main barrier, the stratum corneum (SC), which necessitated modifying the technique. It was found that the modified, negatively charged PAMD demonstrated low toxicity in HaCaT cells and good retention and penetration in both healthy and psoriatic skin models after adding citraconic anhydride for a negative charge and oleic acid for lipophilicity. As a result of the modified polymer's characteristics, several factors influenced the penetrant's success, including its size, charge, and partition coefficients. The topical administration of AMD3100 and subcutaneous injection of PAMD.COOsignificantly reduced psoriasis symptoms in an IMQ-induced psoriasis mouse model. It was found that blocking CXCR4/SDF-1 reduced skin inflammation, as demonstrated by lower mRNA levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α . CXCR4 antagonistic polymers were shown to have similar therapeutic effects to AMD3100 administration by topical application. The polymer's anti-psoriatic activity in mice did not appear to be affected by its penetration, indicating its efficacy in localized treatment without compromising therapeutic outcomes (Boonsith, 2017).

Researchers investigated the role of the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in chronic PsO-like skin inflammation, where elevated levels of the angiogenic chemokine CXCL12 and its receptor CXCR4 had been previously observed. Using two experimental models, they found that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis upregulates blood vessels and macrophages in inflamed skin (Boonsith, 2017). With AMD3100, skin inflammation, inflammation angiogenesis, and accumulation of inflammatory cells were effectively reduced in both models. Anti-CXCL12 antibodies had similar antiinflammatory effects. These findings were confirmed in vitro, suggesting that the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis plays a crucial role in inflammation and inflammatory angiogenesis. Taking advantage of these molecular mechanisms may provide insights into the mechanisms underlying vascular activation in psoriasis, a chronic inflammatory skin disease (Boonsith, 2017). Another study explores the role of CXCR4, expressed by basal keratinocytes (KCs), in inflamed skin using a mouse model with specific loss of CXCR4 in K14-expressing cells (Takekoshi et al., 2013). Despite no apparent skin defects in these mice, they showed increased ear swelling, greater epidermal thickness, and enhanced parakeratosis in an IL-23-mediated psoriasiform dermatitis model. This suggests that CXCR4 plays a regulatory role in keratinocyte proliferation.

Further experiments *in vitro* demonstrated that CXCL12, a chemokine, blocked IL-22-induced keratinocyte proliferation and worked synergistically with IL-22 to upregulate suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), a key regulator of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), indicating that SOCS3 is required for CXCR4-mediated growth inhibition. In human psoriatic skin, both CXCR4 and SOCS3 were upregulated in the junctional region at the border of psoriatic plaques (Takekoshi et al., 2013). These findings indicate that CXCR4 surprisingly hinders keratinocyte proliferation and mitigates the effects of proliferative cytokines, providing insights into its role in skin inflammation, particularly in PsO.

They play a crucial role in migrating leukocytes across the bloodbrain barrier (BBB) during the inflammatory response in the CNS (Pachter et al., 2003). CXCL12 is highly expressed by microendothelial cells throughout the CNS, suggesting it may help maintain the BBB. With AMD3100, a specific antagonist of the CXCL12 receptor CXCR4, this hypothesis was tested in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (McCandless et al., 2006). A study demonstrates that infiltrating leukocytes migrate more rapidly into the CNS parenchyma when CXCR4 activation is lost. CXCL12 is expressed on the basolateral surface of spinal cord endothelial cells under normal conditions (McCandless et al., 2006; Liu and Dorovini-Zis, 2009). As EAE progresses, this polarity is lost in vessels where mononuclear cells have extensively invaded the parenchyma. EAE worsened by inhibiting CXCR4 activation during disease induction since mononuclear cells infiltrated the white matter, resulting in decreased perivascular cuffs and more inflammation. It appears that CXCL12 serves as an anti-inflammatory factor in EAE, limiting the infiltration of autoreactive effector cells into the parenchyma by localizing CXCR4-expressing mononuclear cells to the perivascular space (McCandless et al., 2006).

A novel mutant chemokine designed to antagonize CXCR3 and CXCR4 was used to investigate the role of these receptors in T lymphocyte activation and migration to the central nervous system (Kohler et al., 2008). CXCL11(4-79) antagonist was developed from truncation mutants with the highest affinity for CXCR3. CXCR3 ligands (CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11) strongly inhibited mouse T-cell migration with this antagonist. CXCL12(P2G2), another synthetic receptor antagonist, minimally activated these receptors but inhibited activating T cells' migration in response to the drug. These synthetic receptor antagonists inhibited EAE by interfering with the action of CXCR3 and CXCR4 in a mouse model of multiple sclerosis called experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). They also reduced CD4⁺ T cell accumulation in the CNS. The results of further investigation indicate that CXCL12(P2G2) inhibits the sensitization phase of the immune response, but CXCL11(4-79) inhibits the effector phase. In treating CNS autoimmune diseases, the findings suggest that targeting both CXCR4 and CXCR3 simultaneously may be beneficial (Kohler et al., 2008).

CXCL12 is implicated in the pathological development of RA, particularly concerning the abnormal migration of peripheral immune cells in joints (Ding et al., 2023). There is controversy surrounding the impact of low-dose methotrexate (MTX) on CXCL12 signaling responses in RA despite its widespread use. According to clinical data, low-dose MTX treatment was associated with clinically relevant downregulation of the CXCR4 on peripheral T cells. By suppressing CXCR4 expression,

low-dose MTX significantly decreased cell migration in *in vitro* experiments with $CD3^+$ T cells. A significant increase in genomic hypermethylation was observed across the promoter region of the *CXCR4* gene in $CD3^+$ T cells treated with low-dose MTX. A significant improvement in arthritis pathology was demonstrated by low-dose MTX-mediated downregulation of CXCR4. It was also found that conditional disruption of the *cxcr4* gene in peripheral immune cells reduced inflammation in arthritis mice's joints and lungs. It is noteworthy, however, that genetic modification in these mice did not affect their clinical scores for arthritis. By downregulating CXCR4 expression, low-dose MTX may impair immune cell migration and exert anti-inflammatory effects on RA patients (Ding et al., 2023). These findings indicate the MTX's potential therapeutic effects for RA by revealing how it influences CXCL12 signaling and immune cell behavior.

The chemokine *CXCL12* gene polymorphism has been linked to T1D in humans. CXCL12 levels are elevated in the bone marrow of non-obese diabetic mice, a model predisposed to T1D (Leng et al., 2008). NOD mice accumulate naive T cells, Tregs, and hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in their bone marrow (BM). AMD3100, an antagonist of CXCR4, mobilizes T cells and HSCs from their BM. By simultaneously inhibiting insulitis and preventing diabetes, this treatment is simultaneously effective. AMD3100 can treat or prevent T1D in humans by altering T cell and HSC trafficking, which supports the hypothesis that elevated CXCL12 expression promotes T1D in NOD mice (Leng et al., 2008).

An emphasis was placed on the role of CXCR4 in diabetic neuropathy, a common cause of painful diabetic neuropathy (PDN). Observations of elevated CXCR4 levels in peripheral nerve samples from diabetic patients prompted an investigation of the effects of three agents in a streptozotocin (STZ)-induced PDN model in rodents and a naive rat model activating CXCR4/CXCL12 signals (da Silva Junior et al., 2020). A diabetic neuropathy model was induced in Wistar rats through intraperitoneal injection of STZ, providing a platform for measuring rat hypersensitivity, levels of IL-6, and the concentration of calcium [Ca²⁺]i inside diabetic synaptosomes. The outcomes designated a significant decrease in hypersensitivity in diabetic rats following intrathecal administration of Pha1ß or intraperitoneal administration of AMD3100, while ω -conotoxin MVIIA did not show an equivalent effect. In naïve rats with activated CXCR4/ CXCL12 axis, CXCL12 administration induced hypersensitivity, which was alleviated by Pha1ß or AMD3100 after 2 h of treatment, contrasting with the lack of effect detected with ω -conotoxin MVIIA.

Moreover, the study investigated the modulation of IL-6 levels and calcium influx in spinal cord synaptosomes, revealing a decline in both parameters following treatment with the examined agents. Conclusively, Pha1 β , ω -conotoxin MVIIA, and AMD3100 revealed effectiveness in decreasing hypersensitivity in STZ-induced PDN in diabetic rats and naïve rats with activated CXCR4/CXCL12 axis. The results propose potential therapeutic avenues, with Pha1 β implicating voltage-dependent calcium channels in its repressing effects on PDN (da Silva Junior et al., 2020).

It is expected to find vascular, glomerular, and tubulointerstitial lesions in a renal biopsy taken from a patient with SLE (Weening et al., 2004). The Bowman's capsule parietal epithelial cells of proliferative glomerulonephritis become activated, and CD133⁺CD24⁺ progenitor cells invade the glomerular tuft (Rizzo et al., 2013). It has been shown that an injury to podocytes results in

dysregulated progenitor cells expressing CXCR4, along with high expression of CXCL12 in podocytes, which uses renal biopsies and rat models. In rat models, similar changes are observed in the expression of angiotensin II (Ang II) type-1 (AT1) receptors, which appear to be associated with parietal epithelial cell proliferation. Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors have been shown to normalize the Ang II/AT1 receptor/ CXCR4 pathways and to result in regression of lesions in patients with severe forms of glomerular proliferative disorders (Rizzo et al., 2013).

The migration, proliferation, and survival of B1a lymphocytes in the peritoneal cavity are influenced by CXCL12 in normal mice. In NZB/W mice, where these cells are self-reactive and expand, they exhibit increased sensitivity to CXCL12 (Ding et al., 2023). CXCL12 is produced constitutively in the peritoneal cavity, spleen, and glomeruli of mice with nephritis. CXCL12 is specific to the NZB genetic background and modulated by IL-10. In NZB/W mice, antagonists of CXCL12 or IL-10 are used early in life to prevent autoantibodies, nephritis, and mortality. Beginning anti-CXCL12 monoclonal antibody treatment later in life, autoantibodies are inhibited, kidney-related symptoms are eliminated, and B1a lymphocytes and T lymphocytes are suppressed. In this lupus mouse model, abnormally sensitive PerB1a lymphocytes to CXCL12 and IL-10 contribute to the development of autoimmunity (Ding et al., 2023). These data suggest the potential for preventing or mitigating autoimmune manifestations by targeting the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis.

Ulcerative colitis (UC) and IBD are examined to explore the immunological significance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 chemokine axis (Mikami et al., 2008). A multifaceted approach to the study is taken, starting with assessing CXCR4 expression on peripheral T cells in patients with active UC, which revealed significant increases compared with normal controls. According to this study, CXCL12/CXCR4 interaction is associated with UC pathophysiology, where increased expression correlates positively with disease activity. Using a murine model of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis, the study further demonstrates that CXCR4 expression is elevated on leukocytes and that CXCL12 expression increases in colonic tissue when colitis is induced. A CXCR4 antagonist effectively reduces colonic inflammation in the DSS colitis model and the IL-10 knockout mouse model, suggesting it may be a promising therapeutic intervention. In mesenteric lymph node cells, the antagonist decreases pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumor necrosis factor, and interferon (IFN) production while preserving IL-10 production (Mikami et al., 2008). These findings illustrate potential therapeutic avenues for treating IBD, particularly UC, by targeting the CXCL12/CXCR4 chemokine axis, offering new avenues for intervention in this complex inflammatory condition.

6 What is clobenpropit?

Clobenpropit is a potent imidothiocarbamic ester characterized by isothiourea with S-3-(imidazole-4-yl) propyl and N-4chlorobenzyl substituents. Functioning as a highly effective histamine H3 antagonist and inverse agonist (pA2 = 9.93), it demonstrates notable activity as a partial agonist at H4 receptors. This compound induces eosinophil shape change with an EC₅₀ of 3 nM. Clobenpropit serves as both an H3-receptor antagonist and an H4-receptor agonist. Classified as an imidazole, an imidothiocarbamic ester, and an organochlorine compound, it is a conjugate base of Clobenpropit (2+) (Pubchem, 2024). It is essential to emphasize that Clobenpropit exhibits a distinctly low affinity for histamine H1R and H2R, registering pKis of 5.2 and 5.6, respectively (Esbenshade et al., 2003). Regarding its pharmacological impact, Clobenpropit is a concentration-dependent inhibitor of [3H]-dopamine transport in SH-SY5Y cells. The inhibitory effect is pronounced, with a maximum inhibition of $82.7\% \pm 2.8\%$ and an IC_{50} value of 490 nM (pIC₅₀ 6.31 ± 0.11) (Mena-Avila et al., 2018). Furthermore, Clobenpropit distinguishes itself as a subunit-selective noncompetitive antagonist when interacting with recombinant N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors. Its inhibitory activity is particularly potent against the NR1/NR2B receptor, with an IC₅₀ of 1 µM (Mena-Avila et al., 2018). In therapeutic applications, a combination regimen involving.

6.1 Histamine, histamine receptors, and clobenpropit

The biogenic amine histamine, synthesized from histidine, has been studied in pharmacology since its discovery in the early 20th century by Sir Henry H. Dale (Dy and Schneider, 2004). Histamine is widely distributed throughout the body and primarily mediates inflammatory processes. The fact that it binds to four GPCR subtypes–H1, H2, H3, and H4 – accounts for its pleiotropic regulatory role in cellular events (Chazot and Tiligada, 2008). In addition to exhibiting differential expressions in different types of cells, histamine shows a broad spectrum of activities. Upon activation, the H3 receptor inhibits cAMP formation, accumulates Ca^{2+} , and activates the MAPK pathway. As a target for ligands in treating such conditions, it is implicated in central nervous system disorders (Zampeli and Tiligada, 2009) (Figure 5).

Meanwhile, leukocyte chemotaxis to inflammation sites is mediated by the H4 receptor, mainly expressed in immune cells, including mast cells, monocytes, eosinophils, DCs, T-cells, and NK cells. The H4 receptor more readily absorbs Histamine than the H1 receptor, and activation of the receptor increases intracellular Ca^{2+} concentration (Hofstra et al., 2003) (Figure 5). As an endogenous agonist for the liver-expressed chemokine LEC/ CCL16, it contributes to the trafficking of eosinophils (Nakayama et al., 2004).

6.1.1 Histamine receptors in cancer

Various cancer types exhibit heterogeneous outcomes due to the intricate interplay between disparate pathways related to histamine metabolism, the unique landscape of the TME, and the H4 histamine receptor's central role in signaling cascades (Massari et al., 2020). Histamine has been shown to play a significant role in multiple stages of tumorigenesis, primarily through the H4 receptor, impacting diverse cell types, including cancer cells (Nguyen and Cho, 2021). There is a consistent pattern emerging across a broad spectrum of cancer types, including BCa, CRC, oral tongue squamous cell carcinoma, gastric cancer, melanoma, laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma, bladder urothelial carcinoma, and uterine corpus endometrial carcinoma (Nguyen and Cho, 2021).



Compared with normal tissues, tumors exhibit a significant reduction in the expression of the H4 receptor gene and/or protein (Nicoud et al., 2019). Additionally, H4 receptor expression correlates with clinicopathological characteristics, suggesting that cancer cell differentiation and tumor progression may be influenced by H4 receptor expression (Fang et al., 2011). The correlation indicates that H4 receptors can be used as a novel prognostic biomarker, providing valuable insights into disease prognosis. It has been reported that partial differentiation in pancreatic cancer is associated with inhibition of cell proliferation through the H1 and H2 receptors (Cricco et al., 2000). Histamine inhibits cell proliferation through the H2 receptor and modulates mitogen-activated protein kinase and Bcl-2 family proteins through the G_0/G_1 phase (Martín et al., 2002; Cricco et al., 2004; Cricco et al., 2006). Moreover, a previous study suggests that the H3 and H4 receptors play a role in pancreatic cancer cell proliferation, with the H3 receptor increasing proliferation and the H4 receptor decreasing cell proliferation (Cricco et al., 2008).

Malignancies of the bile ducts, such as cholangiocarcinoma (CCA), are associated with EMT, increasing invasion potential (Vaquero et al., 2017). It has been demonstrated that Clobenpropit, a potent H4HR agonist, inhibits the growth of mammary adenocarcinoma by acting on four receptors (H1-H4) (Patnaik et al., 2018). A study found that cholangiocytes and CCA cells express H1-H4 HRs, and the H3HR inhibits cell proliferation.

CCA proliferation, invasion, and EMT phenotypes were significantly reduced by Clobenpropit *in vitro*, affecting the extracellular matrix (ECM). Moreover, Clobenpropit inhibited xenograft tumor growth by disrupting focal contact proteins and altering epithelial and mesenchymal markers *in vivo*. Genetic manipulation confirmed that H4HR was explicitly involved in these effects. Using Clobenpropit to modulate H4HR, CCA cells disrupt their EMT processes, ECM breakdown, and invasion potential (Patnaik et al., 2018).

In another preclinical investigation, for 15 weeks, mice were fed diets containing different test chemicals (terfenadine, cimetidine, or Clobenpropit) to induce colorectal carcinogenesis (Tanaka et al., 2016). Azoxymethane and dextran sodium sulfate (DSS) induced colorectal carcinogenesis in male ICR mice. During week 18, diets containing cimetidine (Hrh2) and Clobenpropit (Hrh3 antagonist/ inverse agonist) significantly reduced colonic adenocarcinoma diversity. Colorectal carcinogenesis induced by AOM-DSS was not affected by terfenadine (Hrh1 antagonist). Immunohistochemical analysis revealed varying intensities of adenocarcinoma cells expressing Hrh1, Hrh2, Hrh3, and Hrh4. Inflammation-related colorectal cancer may be accelerated by Hrh2, Hrh3, and Hrh4, according to Clobenpropit, an Hrh3 antagonist and Hrh4 receptor agonist. Additionally, the study provided insight into the molecular aspects of colorectal carcinogenesis that are influenced by histamine receptors by identifying the mRNA expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines

Disease	Mechanism and therapeutic outcomes	Ref
JIA	 Inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in inflammatory monocytes Anti-inflammatory effects Alleviating the hypersecretion of cytokines and chemokines associated with flare-ups 	García-Cuesta et al. (2019)
RA	 Reduces cartilage destruction Reduces bone remodeling Reduces immune cell tissue infiltration Reduces pannus formation in animal models of RA Modulates cytokine production Anti-inflammatory effect, comparable to the positive response observed with prednisone 	García-Cuesta et al. (2019)
AD	 Reduces AβP deposits Mitigates neuronal and glial reactions Protective effects against BBB breakdown and edema formation 	Gao et al. (2021)
SLE	 Inhibits pDCs and IFN-α production Downregulating the expression of TRAIL Inhibits TLR7-activated pDCs by CXCR4 	Wang et al. (2010b)
CCA	 Modulates H4 receptors Disrupts EMT Reduces invasion potential Decreases tumor growth 	Weir et al. (2011)
Pancreatic cancer	 Combination of Clobenpropit and gemcitabine induces significant apoptosis in tumor cells Inhibits tumor cell migration Upregulation of <i>E-cadherin</i> Downregulation of <i>vimentin</i> and <i>MMP-9</i> Downregulation of <i>Zeb1</i> Inhibits tumor cell invasion Inhibits tumor growth 	Scharl and Rogler (2012)

TABLE 1 The most important therapeutic impacts of Clobenpropit in various disorders.

and inducible inflammatory enzymes in colonic mucosa (Tanaka et al., 2016) (Table 1).

6.1.2 Histamine receptors in autoimmune diseases

Various human immune cells express the H4 receptor, which indicates its role in immunomodulation (Nguyen and Cho, 2021). The similar tissue distribution indicates similar physiological roles for this receptor across species despite interspecies differences in amino acid sequence and receptor characteristics. ADs, particularly RA, are associated with histamine. Histamine is considered a proinflammatory mediator in arthritic diseases despite its antiinflammatory properties (Adlesic et al., 2007; Ohki et al., 2007; Grzybowska-Kowalczyk et al., 2008). It indicates that H4 receptors may be related to RA by their expression varying with its severity and duration in synovial cells (Grzybowska-Kowalczyk et al., 2007). Patients with osteoarthritis and RA are found to have H4 receptors within synovial and vascular wall cells, as well as within fibroblasts and macrophages (Grzybowska-Kowalczyk et al., 2008). It has been suggested that the H4 receptor plays a functional role in normal cartilage in rats and that histamine contributes systemically to the arthritic phenotype (Zampeli et al., 2008). This raises fascinating questions about the mechanisms mediated by the H4 receptor in cartilage. According to a comprehensive investigation, Clobenpropit significantly inhibits the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in inflammatory monocytes derived from blood and synovial fluid from individuals with Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (JIA) (Bekaddour et al., 2023). A remarkable aspect of Clobenpropit's anti-inflammatory effects is that it modulates the inflammatory signature observed in patients with JIA rather than targeting specific cytokines. Clobenpropit potentially alleviates the hypersecretion of cytokines and chemokines associated with flareups in JIA patients, according to these *ex vivo* findings (Bekaddour et al., 2023). A significant anti-inflammatory effect of Clobenpropit has been demonstrated in animal models of RA, in which IL-6 promotes osteoclast activation, synoviocyte proliferation, and recruitment to inflammatory sites, resulting in synovial pannus development (Lipsky, 2006; Bekaddour et al., 2023). By consistently reducing cartilage destruction, bone remodeling, immune cell tissue infiltration, and pannus formation in collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) mice, the medication clobenpropit significantly reduced cartilage damage, bone remodeling, and immune cell tissue infiltration.

In addition, Clobenpropit diminishes disease progression in arthritic mice and reduces paw thickness, similar to a positive response observed with prednisone as a reference corticosteroid. In a rat model of Alzheimer's disease (AD) induced by amyloid beta peptide (ABP) infusion, the therapeutic potential of BF 2649 (an H3 receptor inverse agonist) and Clobenpropit was explored. The animals were treated daily for 1 week after 3 weeks of ABP administration. Interestingly, the findings showed that both drugs significantly reduced ABP deposits and mitigated neuronal and glial reactions in the brain. Additionally, a remarkable reduction in BBB breakdown was detected following the treatments and exhibited protective effects against edema formation. Clobenpropit demonstrated superior effects compared to BF 2649. These findings indicate that blocking H3 receptors and stimulating H4 receptors may offer therapeutic benefits in treating AD pathology, providing novel insights into potential treatment strategies (Patnaik et al., 2018).

In Parkinson's disease (PD), dopaminergic pathways are abnormal, $\alpha\mathchar`-synuclein$ levels are elevated, and tau is

phosphorylated in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF). There is a heightened number of histaminergic nerve fibers in specific brain regions of PD, such as the substantia nigra pars Compacta (SNpc), the striatum (STr), and the caudate putamen (CP), as well as an upregulation of H3 receptors and a downregulation of H4 receptors in postmortem cases. By treating SNpC and STr with chronic BF 2649 or Clobenpropit and administering monoclonal antihistamine antibodies (AHmAb), PD-induced brain pathology was reduced significantly. As a result of these findings, revealing the involvement of histamine receptors in PD, novel insights can be gained into developing potential drug strategies for treating the disease, opening up a previously untapped area of research in this field (Sharma et al., 2021).

The immune system's type I IFNs have vital antiviral and immunomodulatory effects, but prolonged exposure can lead to autoimmune reactions. In SLE, patients exhibit ongoing IFN-a production due to endogenous IFN-a inducers, specifically small immune complexes containing DNA or RNA. These inducers act on naturally IFN-a producing cells, or plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC). pDCs are central to innate and adaptive immunity but, through IFN-a production, may contribute to autoimmunity (Rönnblom et al., 2003). It was detected that the histamine receptor 4 (H4R) played a crucial role in mediating the inhibitory impact of histamine on human pDC (Gschwandtner et al., 2011). In this regard, a study explored the effects of Clobenpropit on this process, and the findings showed a more potent inhibitory effect compared to histamine, resulting in a significant reduction of approximately 90% in the levels of IFN-a secreted and membrane TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) expression following HIV-1 stimulation (Smith et al., 2017). Notably, Clobenpropit exhibited no cytotoxic effects at a concentration of 10 µM. This inhibitory effect of Clobenpropit was comparable to that observed with A151, a TLR7 antagonist. Accordingly, it is possible to use this inhibitory impact of Clobenpropit on pDCs and IFN-a production in treating patients with SLE.

An investigation showed that CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻ and CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocyte subsets are activated in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (Macaubas et al., 2012). Their in-depth analysis of protein expression at the single-cell level also revealed the presence of a mixed M1/M2 phenotype at the individual cell level during the flare phase. Consistent with an M2 phenotype, following exposure to lipopolysaccharides (LPS), monocytes express IL-1 β ; however, they do not release it in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Despite the inflammatory nature of active monocytes in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis, circulating monocytes exibit remarkable anti-inflammatory features. In addition, the perseverance of some of these phenotypes throughout the clinically inactive disease phase claims that this condition mirrors a compensatory response against hyperinflammation (Macaubas et al., 2012).

It has been found that monocytes express the H4R protein, which IFN- γ upregulates (Damaj et al., 2007). Clobenpropit and 4methylhistamine are H4R agonists that cause monocytes to mobilize Ca2⁺ (Roßbach et al., 2009). In addition, H4R agonists inhibited CCL2 protein production in transmigration assays because they reduced the recruitment of monocytes in supernatants. CCL2 production was downregulated at mRNA and protein levels. Consequently, Clobenpropit can induce a Ca2⁺ influx in monocytes, inhibiting CCL2 production and reducing monocyte recruitment by activating the H4R on monocytes (Dijkstra et al., 2007). It has also been reported that small molecules can inhibit CXCR4 and reduce the polarization of the M1 to M2 phenotype (Song et al., 2021). Therefore, Clobenpropit can also inhibit this phenotype by switching through CXCR blocking. This dual ligation of Clobenpropit to CXCR4 and H₄R receptors may be beneficial in regulating mixed M1/M2 monocyte-mediated anti-inflammatory responses by decreasing their recruitment and inhibiting prolonged M2-type polarization in some disorders, such as systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (Table 1).

Collectively, these data designate the importance of understanding the intricacies of histamine signaling pathways and receptor-specific functions for immune-related disorders and could provide valuable insights into potential therapeutic interventions targeting these pathways.

6.2 Molecular docking

In this study, we explored Clobenpropit interactions in CXCR4 binding pocket for CXCL12 with the aid of molecular docking technique, following our previously performed simulations (Khorramdelazad et al., 2023), and the obtained results were then compared to those of known potent CXCR4 inhibitors, including BPRCX807 (Song et al., 2021), BPRCX714 (Song et al., 2021), AMD3100 (Zhou et al., 2020), WZ811 (Li et al., 2016), MSX-122 (Zhang et al., 2008), as well as ITD, the crystallographic ligand (3ODU) (Table 2). A comparison between the studied ligands' mode of interactions with that of Clobenpropit shows that the ligand sits very close to those of WZ811 and MSX-122. All three ligands establish π - π stacked and π - π T-shaped electrostatic interactions with residues W94, H113, and Y116. While the hydrophobic pattern is similar in the three ligands, the presence of methanimidamide and imidazole moieties in Clobenpropit structure provides π -cation interactions and saltbridge formations with E32, W94, D97, and R183 that are not observed in WZ811 and MSX-122 structures and subsequently results in the better binding energy of Clobenpropit for CXCR4 binding pocket for CXCL12. A comparison between AMD3100 and Clobenpropit demonstrates that the presence of positively charged amine groups in AMD3100 structure mediates the formation of salt bridges and charge-charge interactions that enhance AMD3100 binding energy for CXCL12 binding groove significantly (Figure 6). It has already been observed that the creation of salt bridges between ligand and protein acts as clips that stabilize protein structure and can be used as a valuable tool for drug design (Spassov et al., 2023).

6.3 Therapeutic effectiveness of clobenpropit via CXCR4 inhibition

It has been revealed that Clobenpropit inhibits mammary adenocarcinoma spread by acting as a specific H3 antagonist and H4 agonist by decreasing invasion potential (Medina et al., 2008). Several studies have shown that Clobenpropit modulates

Compound	MMGBSA (Kcal/	Glide		Interaction over CXCR4 bi	inding site	
	mol)	score	H-bond	Hydrophobic	Electrostatic	Salt bridge
BPRCX807	-69.67 ± 3.03	-10.32	C186, H203, E288	E32, L41, Y45, D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187, A188, Y190, F199, Q200, H203	W94, H113, Y116	E32, D97, D187, R188
BPRCX714	-64.12 ± 3.03	-8.85	N33, D97, E288	E32, L41, Y45, D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187, A188, Y190, F199, Q200, H203	W94, H113, Y116	E32, D97, D187, E288
AMD3100	-59 ± 3.32	-8.61	_	L41, Y45, D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187, A188, E288	W94, A98	E32, D97, D187, E288
ITD	-47.50 ± 2.00	-7.75	_	L41, Y45, D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187, A188, E288	W94, D97, E288	D97, E288
Clobenpropit	-53.47 ± 0.820	-6.21	_	E32, L41, Y45, W94, D97, A98, H113, Y116, R183, C186	W94, V112, H113, Y116, R183	E32, A98
WZ811	-41.80 ± 0.801	-5.51	Y116, E288	D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187, A188, E288	W94, H113, Y116, C186	E32, D97
MSX-122	-36.71 ± 2.666	-4.76	Y116	D97, W94, A98, V112, H113, Y116, I185, C186, D187	E32, W94, D97, H113, Y116, R183, C186	_

TABLE 2 Binding energy calculation and the type of proposed compound interactions over CXCR4 binding site for CXCL12. The molecules binding energy values (Except for that of Clobenpropit) are obtained from Nazari et al. (2017).



H4 receptors, disrupts EMT, reduces invasion potential, and decreases tumor growth in CCA (Meng et al., 2011). EMT also plays a vital role in pancreatic cancer metastasis and progression. In addition, Zeb1 is known to make human pancreatic cancer cells resistant to chemotherapy

(Arumugam et al., 2009). Therefore, therapeutic agents targeting the EMT process could restore pancreatic cancer's resistance to chemotherapy.

Combining Clobenpropit (50 $\mu g)$ and Gemcitabine (5 $\mu g)$ was reported to be effective (Paik et al., 2014). A study using

clobenpropit in combination with Gemcitabine demonstrated that H4 receptors were present and manifested as two subunits, while H3 receptors were not expressed. Clobenpropit inhibited cell migration and increased apoptosis. It has been shown that Clobenpropit induces changes in gene expression associated with cell adhesion and migration, including the upregulation of E-cadherin, while the downregulation of vimentin and matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9). Compared with Gemcitabine alone, Clobenpropit significantly inhibited tumor growth in a Panc-1 xenograft mouse model, decreasing tumor weight. Correspondingly, Clobenpropit and Gemcitabine synergized to increase apoptosis in the mouse model, owing to the upregulation of E-cadherin and the downregulation of Zeb1. According to these findings, Clobenpropit, particularly when combined with Gemcitabine, shows efficacy at impeding tumor progression and inducing programmed cell death, suggesting that it may be a promising treatment for pancreatic cancer (Paik et al., 2014).

The CXCR4 receptor is a potential therapeutic target in chronic and acute inflammatory disorders (Smith et al., 2017).

IFNs-I derived from pDCs serve as a cornerstone of antiviral defense and are vital to preventing viral propagation (Khorramdelazad et al., 2022). Dysregulated IFNs-I production, however, can have adverse effects in inflammatory and autoimmune disorders, which is why pDCs must be tightly regulated (Herbeuval and Shearer, 2007). The impact of monoamines and polyamines on pDC function has been uncovered, suggesting that a common receptor mechanism is involved. Researchers have discovered that polyamine derivatives such as spermine phenylguanide and spermidine phenylguanide inhibit HIV-1 CXCR4-tropic strains, suggesting an intricate interaction with this receptor (Wilkinson et al., 2011). In addition, muroid and human pDCs cannot be developed in the BM without CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling (Kohara et al., 2007; Tassone et al., 2010). In particular, the internalization of CXCR4 plays a pivotal role in pDC activation, delineating an important attenuating immunomodulating mechanism. According to findings in a study, Clobenpropit induces CXCR4 internalization in pDCs, whereas FFN-511 (a fluorescent amine mimicking serotonin) colocalizes strongly with CXCR4 (Smith et al., 2017). Therefore, inhibiting CXCR4 by Clobenpropit could reduce the pathologic effects of dysregulated pDC-derived IFNs-I production in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases.

In TLR7-activated human pDCs, histamine and its analog Clobenpropit inhibited the production of all subtypes of IFN by engaging CXCR4. In the broncho-alveolar wash, Clobenpropit administration through intranasal spray significantly reduced type I and III IFN secretion in mice infected with IAV (Smith et al., 2017). CXCR4, not histamine receptors, exclusively mediated the anti-IFN activity of Clobenpropit. Clobenpropit may inhibit monocyte-driven inflammation, particularly in RA, due to its prominent expression in various immune cells, including monocytes and macrophages.

The anti-inflammatory activity of Clobenpropit on monocytes has been demonstrated by competitive experiments using AMD3100 as a CXCR4 antagonist and siRNA-based approaches for reducing CXCR4 expression (Smith et al., 2017). In addition to emphasizing the role of CXCR4 signaling in IFN pathway regulation, this study indicates CXCR4's role in regulating inflammation in a broad range of cell types, including monocytes and pDCs. Considering the prevalence of type I IFNs in RA and their functional activity, the concurrent suppression of IFNs and antiinflammatory effects of CXCR4 present significant clinical advantages (Rönnblom and Eloranta, 2013). Researchers have found that individuals with active RA have higher levels of CXCR4 and its natural ligand, CXCL12, in serum and joint synovial fluids. CXCR4 and CXCL12 expression levels were also higher in the group with active RA compared to the group in remission (Peng et al., 2020). It has been suggested that targeting CXCR4 as a therapeutic strategy for RA patients could hold considerable promise because of the increased accessibility of CXCR4.

Compared to JAK inhibitors, Clobenpropit demonstrates its impact at an earlier stage of the inflammatory process (Bekaddour et al., 2023). Instead of directly targeting cytokinemediated signaling, Clobenpropit intervenes one step upstream by inhibiting the production of inflammatory cytokines. Compared to JAK inhibitors, this unique approach may offer distinct benefits regarding therapeutic effectiveness. In mouse models of RA with Clobenpropit treatment, the marked reduction in disease progression suggests using Clobenpropit-like molecules to target CXCR4 as a potential therapeutic strategy for arthritic conditions (Bekaddour et al., 2023). Clobenpropit is a small molecule with no side effects in *in vivo* preclinical models, indicating that it could be a possible breakthrough drug for treating RA. Clobenpropit modulates cytokine production to exert a comprehensive anti-inflammatory effect by targeting the widely expressed immune cell receptor CXCR4. Clobenpropit combines these attributes to highlight it as a compelling RA treatment candidate (Bekaddour et al., 2023). Regarding the role of CXCR4 in TLR7-mediated inflammation and promising results following treatment of TLR7-dependent lupus-like model with IT1t (a CXCR4 inhibitor), it is possible that administrating Clobenpropit reduces systemic inflammation by suppressing type I IFNs production by pDCs and anti-dsDNA autoantibodies, preventing glomerulonephritis in SLE (Smith et al., 2019) (Table 1).

Clobenpropit and AMD3100 have different mechanisms of action (Bhatt et al., 2010). AMD3100's main mechanism is its ability to block CXCR4 and activate CXCR7, whereas Clobenpropit modulates histamine H3 and CXCR4 receptors (Kalatskava et al., 2009; Liao et al., 2013). Compared with AMD3100, clobenpropit exerts unique effects on target pathways, potentially resulting in synergistic or complementary therapeutic outcomes (Figure 5). However, it is noteworthy that AMD3100 may be limited by side effects and resistance development in specific clinical contexts, even though it has demonstrated efficacy in specific clinical contexts (Sideeffects, 2024). In contrast, preclinical studies suggest that clobenpropit may be more tolerated and sustainable as a therapeutic option based on its promising efficacy and safety profiles (Yang et al., 2002). Consideration should also be given to the specific disease context. According to the severity and stage of the condition, some drugs may be more effective than others. Clobenpropit is expected to provide crucial insights for clinical decision-making through comprehensive preclinical investigations and comparative studies.

On the other hand, while several novel small molecules targeting CXCR4 are in clinical and preclinical development phases,

Clobenpropit may stand out for several reasons (Debnath et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2024). Clobenpropit demonstrates superior efficacy compared to early-stage drugs. According to our in silico studies, Clobenpropit might exhibit the same or even stronger binding affinity or more potent inhibitory effects on CXCR4-mediated pathways crucial for disease progression compared with novel CXCR4 inhibitors, such as WZ811 and MSX-122. This efficacy could be demonstrated through preclinical studies or even early clinical trials. Moreover, Clobenpropit may possess a more favorable safety profile. This aspect is critical in drug development, especially in autoimmune and cancer diseases where patients may already be compromised in terms of their health status. A better safety profile can translate into reduced adverse effects and improved patient compliance and outcomes (Bekaddour et al., 2021). Clobenpropit might exhibit favorable pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, such as better bioavailability, longer half-life, or more predictable metabolism (Ishizuka et al., 2008). These factors contribute to the drug's effectiveness and suitability for clinical use. As discussed, Clobenpropit may act through novel mechanisms beyond mere CXCR4 antagonism (Bekaddour et al., 2021). This could involve additional pathways or synergistic effects that enhance its therapeutic potential, offering a unique advantage over other CXCR4-targeting agents (McHugh, 2019). Clobenpropit may have advanced further along the clinical development pipeline compared to the early-stage drugs if applicable. This could imply a more comprehensive understanding of its efficacy, safety, and dosing regimens through advanced clinical trials or real-world data.

7 Concluding Remarks

Since the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis plays a crucial role in cancer and AD pathogenesis, inhibiting it seems like a promising therapeutic approach. Notably, several inhibitors for CXCR4 have been conceptualized and developed, with AMD3100 standing out as one of the most significant achievements, having been approved by the FDA in 2008 and showing efficacy in the treatment of cancer and AIDS, as well as transplantation (De Clercq, 2019). Our molecular docking analyses have unveiled promising binding scores for Clobenpropit compared to other potent CXCR4 inhibitors. Furthermore, the compound's dual inhibitory action on H3 and H4 histamine receptors warrants attention, given the pivotal roles of these receptors in fostering cancer and ADs, such as RA. Clobenpropit's concurrent and synergistic impact on these receptors may yield favorable outcomes in the context of cancer and AD treatment.

References

Abassifard, M., Khorramdelazad, H., Rezaee, S., and Jafarzadeh, A. (2021). Higher circulating concentration of Interleukin-38 in patients with knee osteoarthritis: its association with disease severity. *Iran. J. Allergy, Asthma Immunol.* 20 (1), 114–119. doi:10.18502/ijaai.v20i1.5418

Abbasifard, M., Fakhrabadi, A. H., Bahremand, F., and Khorramdelazad, H. (2023). Evaluation of the interaction between tumor growth factor- β and interferon type I pathways in patients with COVID-19: focusing on ages 1 to 90 years. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 23 (1), 248. doi:10.1186/s12879-023-08225-9

Abbasifard, M., Kamiab, Z., Hasani, M., Rahnama, A., Saeed-Askari, P., and Khorramdelazad, H. (2020). Assessing the expression of immunosuppressive cytokines in the newly diagnosed systemic lupus Erythematosus patients: a focus on B cells. *Bmc Immunol.* 21 (1), 58–12. doi:10.1186/s12865-020-00388-3 Even with the intriguing dual mechanism of action, the current shortage of comprehensive studies hampers a conclusive determination of Clobenpropit's efficacy in inhibiting CXCR4. Further investigations across preclinical and clinical phases are imperative to elucidate the precise role of Clobenpropit in the treatment of malignancies and ADs through CXCR4 inhibition. These studies would not only contribute to substantiating the therapeutic potential of Clobenpropit but also shed light on its intricate interplay with histamine and CXCR4 receptors, thus advancing our understanding of its therapeutic utility.

Author contributions

MA: Investigation, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing. KB: Investigation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing, Software. HK: Investigation, Visualization, Writing-original draft, Writing-review and editing, Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Validation.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

Rafsanjan University of Medical Science supported this study.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Abdelaal, N. H., Elhefnawy, N. G., Abdulmonem, S. R., Sayed, S., Saleh, N. A., and Saleh, M. A. (2020). Evaluation of the expression of the stromal cell-derived factor-1 alpha (CXCL 12) in psoriatic patients after treatment with Methotrexate. *J. Cosmet. Dermatology* 19 (1), 253–258. doi:10.1111/jocd.12994

Adlesic, M., Verdrengh, M., Bokarewa, M., Dahlberg, L., Foster, S. J., and Tarkowski, A. (2007). Histamine in rheumatoid arthritis. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 65 (6), 530–537. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2007.01938.x

Agace, W., Amara, A., Roberts, A. I., Pablos, J. L., Thelen, S., Uguccioni, M., et al. (2000). Constitutive expression of stromal derived factor-1 by mucosal epithelia and its role in HIV transmission and propagation. *Curr. Biol.* 10 (6), 325–328. doi:10.1016/s0960-9822(00)00380-8
Aminzadeh, F., Ghorashi, Z., Nabati, S., Ghasemshirazi, M., Arababadi, M. K., Shamsizadeh, A., et al. (2012). Differential expression of CXC chemokines CXCL 10 and CXCL 12 in term and pre-term neonates and their mothers. *Am. J. Reproductive Immunol.* 68 (4), 338–344. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01167.x

Anastasiadou, D. P., et al. (2023). An emerging paradigm of CXCL12 involvement in the metastatic cascade. Cytokine & growth factor reviews.

Ara, T., Tokoyoda, K., Okamoto, R., Koni, P. A., and Nagasawa, T. (2005). The role of CXCL12 in the organ-specific process of artery formation. *Blood* 105 (8), 3155–3161. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-07-2563

Ara, T., Tokoyoda, K., Sugiyama, T., Egawa, T., Kawabata, K., and Nagasawa, T. (2003). Long-term hematopoietic stem cells require stromal cell-derived factor-1 for colonizing bone marrow during ontogeny. *Immunity* 19 (2), 257–267. doi:10.1016/s1074-7613(03)00201-2

Arumugam, T., Ramachandran, V., Fournier, K. F., Wang, H., Marquis, L., Abbruzzese, J. L., et al. (2009). Epithelial to mesenchymal transition contributes to drug resistance in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69 (14), 5820–5828. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2819

Asri, A., Sabour, J., Atashi, A., and Soleimani, M. (2016). Homing in hematopoietic stem cells: focus on regulatory role of CXCR7 on SDF1a/CXCR4 axis. *EXCLI J.* 15, 134–143. doi:10.17179/excli2014-585

Azin, H., Vazirinejad, R., Ahmadabadi, B. N., Khorramdelazad, H., Zarandi, E. R., Arababadi, M. K., et al. (2012). The SDF-13' a genetic variation of the chemokine SDF-1a (CXCL12) in parallel with its increased circulating levels is associated with susceptibility to MS: a study on Iranian multiple sclerosis patients. *J. Mol. Neurosci.* 47, 431–436. doi:10.1007/s12031-011-9672-6

Badr, G., Sayed, A., Abdel-Maksoud, M. A., Mohamed, A. O., El-Amir, A., Abdel-Ghaffar, F. A., et al. (2015). Infection of female BWF1 lupus mice with malaria parasite attenuates B cell autoreactivity by modulating the CXCL12/CXCR4 axis and its downstream signals P13K/AKT, NF κ B and ERK. *PLoS One* 10 (4), e0125340. doi:10. 1371/journal.pone.0125340

Bagheri, V., Khorramdelazad, H., Hassanshahi, G., Moghadam-Ahmadi, A., and Vakilian, A. (2019). CXCL12 and CXCR4 in the peripheral blood of patients with Parkinson's disease. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 25 (4), 201–205. doi:10.1159/000494435

Bagri, A., Gurney, T., He, X., Zou, Y. R., Littman, D. R., Tessier-Lavigne, M., et al. (2002). The chemokine SDF1 regulates migration of dentate granule cells. *Development*, 129, 4249–4260. doi:10.1242/dev.129.18.4249

Balabanian, K., Couderc, J., Bouchet-Delbos, L., Amara, A., Berrebi, D., Foussat, A., et al. (2003). Role of the chemokine stromal cell-derived factor 1 in autoantibody production and nephritis in murine lupus. *J. Immunol.* 170 (6), 3392–3400. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.170.6.3392

Bekaddour, N., et al. (2021). Targeting the chemokine receptor CXCR4 with histamine analogue to reduce inflammation in juvenile arthritis: a proof of concept for COVID-19 therapeutic approach. *bioRxiv*. doi:10.1101/2021.10.24.465080

Bekaddour, N., Smith, N., Beitz, B., Llibre, A., Dott, T., Baudry, A., et al. (2023). Targeting the chemokine receptor CXCR4 with histamine analog to reduce inflammation in juvenile arthritis. *Front. Immunol.* 14, 1178172. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2023.1178172

Biajoux, V., Bignon, A., Freitas, C., Martinez, V., Thelen, M., Lima, G., et al. (2012). Expression of CXCL12 receptors in B cells from Mexican Mestizos patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J. Transl. Med.* 10, 251–316. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-10-251

Biasci, D., Smoragiewicz, M., Connell, C. M., Wang, Z., Gao, Y., Thaventhiran, J. E. D., et al. (2020). CXCR4 inhibition in human pancreatic and colorectal cancers induces an integrated immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 117 (46), 28960–28970. doi:10.1073/pnas.2013644117

Bockorny, B., Semenisty, V., Macarulla, T., Borazanci, E., Wolpin, B. M., Stemmer, S. M., et al. (2020). BL-8040, a CXCR4 antagonist, in combination with pembrolizumab and chemotherapy for pancreatic cancer: the COMBAT trial. *Nat. Med.* 26 (6), 878–885. doi:10.1038/s41591-020-0880-x

Boonsith, S. (2017). Development of CXCR4 inhibitors for topical treatment of psoriasis.

Burger, J. A., and Bürkle, A. (2007). The CXCR4 chemokine receptor in acute and chronic leukaemia: a marrow homing receptor and potential therapeutic target. *Br. J. Haematol.* 137 (4), 288–296. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2007.06590.x

Capalbo, D., Giardino, G., Martino, L. D., Palamaro, L., Romano, R., Gallo, V., et al. (2012). Genetic basis of altered central tolerance and autoimmune diseases: a lesson from AIRE mutations. *Int. Rev. Immunol.* 31 (5), 344–362. doi:10.3109/08830185.2012. 697230

Carbajal, K. S., Schaumburg, C., Strieter, R., Kane, J., and Lane, T. E. (2010). Migration of engrafted neural stem cells is mediated by CXCL12 signaling through CXCR4 in a viral model of multiple sclerosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 107 (24), 11068–11073. doi:10. 1073/pnas.1006375107

Carmo, A. d., Patricio, I., Cruz, M. T., Carvalheiro, H., Oliveira, C. R., and Lopes, M. C. (2010). CXCL12/CXCR4 promotes motility and proliferation of glioma cells. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 9 (1), 56–65. doi:10.4161/cbt.9.1.10342

Castaldo, C., Benicchi, T., Otrocka, M., Mori, E., Pilli, E., Ferruzzi, P., et al. (2014). CXCR4 antagonists: a screening strategy for identification of functionally selective ligands. *J. Biomol. Screen.* 19 (6), 859–869. doi:10.1177/1087057114526283

Chalasani, S. H., Sabelko, K. A., Sunshine, M. J., Littman, D. R., and Raper, J. A. (2003). A chemokine, SDF-1, reduces the effectiveness of multiple axonal repellents and is required for normal axon pathfinding. *J. Neurosci.* 23 (4), 1360–1371. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-04-01360.2003

Chatterjee, S., Azad, B. B., and Nimmagadda, S. (2014). The intricate role of CXCR4 in cancer. Adv. cancer Res. 124, 31–82. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-411638-2.00002-1

Chaudary, N., Hill, R. P., Stulik, L., and Milosevic, M. (2021). The oral CXCR4 inhibitor X4-136 improves tumor control and reduces toxicity in cervical cancer treated with radiation therapy and concurrent chemotherapy. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncology* Biology* Phys.* 110 (5), 1317–1324. doi:10.1016/j.ijrobp.2021.03.031

Chazot, P., and Tiligada, E. (2008). The European histamine research society (EHRS) symposium for EPHAR 2008. *Inflamm. Res.* 57, 5–6. doi:10.1007/s00011-007-0638-7

Cheng, J. W., Sadeghi, Z., Levine, A. D., Penn, M. S., von Recum, H. A., Caplan, A. I., et al. (2014). The role of CXCL12 and CCL7 chemokines in immune regulation, embryonic development, and tissue regeneration. *Cytokine* 69 (2), 277–283. doi:10. 1016/j.cyto.2014.06.007

Chong, B. F., and Mohan, C. (2009). Targeting the CXCR4/CXCL12 axis in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Expert Opin. Ther. targets* 13 (10), 1147–1153. doi:10.1517/14728220903196761

Chong, S. W., Emelyanov, A., Gong, Z., and Korzh, V. (2001). Expression pattern of two zebrafish genes, cxcr4a and cxcr4b. *Mech. Dev.* 109 (2), 347–354. doi:10.1016/ s0925-4773(01)00520-2

Costa, A., Scholer-Dahirel, A., and Mechta-Grigoriou, F. (2014). "The role of reactive oxygen species and metabolism on cancer cells and their microenvironment," in *Seminars in cancer biology* (Elsevier).

Cricco, G., Martin, G., Labombarda, F., Cocca, C., Bergoc, R., and Rivera, E. (2000). Human pancreatic carcinoma cell line Panc-I and the role of histamine in growth regulation. *Inflamm. Res.* 49, 68–69. doi:10.1007/PL00000188

Cricco, G., Martín, G., Medina, V., Núñez, M., Gutiérrez, A., Cocca, C., et al. (2004). Histamine regulates the MAPK pathway via the H 2 receptor in PANC-1 human cells. *Inflamm. Res.* 53, S65–S66. doi:10.1007/s00011-003-0331-4

Cricco, G., Martín, G., Medina, V., Núñez, M., Mohamad, N., Croci, M., et al. (2006). Histamine inhibits cell proliferation and modulates the expression of Bcl-2 family proteins via the H2 receptor in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Anticancer Res.* 26 (6B), 4443–4450.

Cricco, G., Mohamad, N. A., Sambuco, L. A., Genre, F., Croci, M., Gutiérrez, A. S., et al. (2008). Histamine regulates pancreatic carcinoma cell growth through H3 and H4 receptors. *Inflamm. Res.* 57, 23–S24. doi:10.1007/s00011-007-0611-5

Cross, M., and Dexter, T. M. (1991). Growth factors in development, transformation, and tumorigenesis. *Cell* 64 (2), 271–280. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(91)90638-f

D'Alterio, C., Zannetti, A., Trotta, A. M., Ieranò, C., Napolitano, M., Rea, G., et al. (2020). New CXCR4 antagonist peptide R (Pep R) improves standard therapy in colorectal cancer. *Cancers* 12 (7), 1952. doi:10.3390/cancers12071952

Damaj, B. B., Becerra, C. B., Esber, H. J., Wen, Y., and Maghazachi, A. A. (2007). Functional expression of H4 histamine receptor in human natural killer cells, monocytes, and dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* 179 (11), 7907–7915. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.179.11.7907

Daniele, S., La Pietra, V., Piccarducci, R., Pietrobono, D., Cavallini, C., D'Amore, V. M., et al. (2021). CXCR4 antagonism sensitizes cancer cells to novel indole-based MDM2/4 inhibitors in glioblastoma multiforme. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 897, 173936. doi:10. 1016/j.ejphar.2021.173936

da Silva Junior, C. A., de Castro Junior, C. J., Pereira, E. M. R., Binda, N. S., do Nascimento Cordeiro, M., et al. (2020). The inhibitory effect of Pha1 β toxin on diabetic neuropathic pain involves the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 72 (1), 47–54. doi:10.1007/s43440-019-00002-3

Debnath, B., Xu, S., Grande, F., Garofalo, A., and Neamati, N. (2013). Small molecule inhibitors of CXCR4. *Theranostics* 3 (1), 47–75. doi:10.7150/thno.5376

De Clercq, E. (2003). The bicyclam AMD3100 story. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 2 (7), 581–587. doi:10.1038/nrd1134

De Clercq, E. (2019). Mozobil[®] (plerixafor, AMD3100), 10 years after its approval by the US food and drug administration. *Antivir. Chem. Chemother.* 27, 2040206619829382. doi:10.1177/2040206619829382

Derlin, T., and Hueper, K. (2018). CXCR4-targeted therapy in breast cancer. *lancet Oncol.* 19 (8), e370. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(18)30480-7

Dhillon, B. K., Smith, M., Baghela, A., Lee, A. H. Y., and Hancock, R. E. W. (2020). Systems biology approaches to understanding the human immune system. *Front. Immunol.* 11, 1683. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.01683

Dijkstra, D., Leurs, R., Chazot, P., Shenton, F. C., Stark, H., Werfel, T., et al. (2007). Histamine downregulates monocyte CCL2 production through the histamine H4 receptor. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. 120 (2), 300–307. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2007.03.024 DiNatale, A., Castelli, M. S., Nash, B., Meucci, O., and Fatatis, A. (2022). Regulation of tumor and metastasis initiation by chemokine receptors. *J. Cancer* 13 (11), 3160–3176. doi:10.7150/jca.72331

Ding, L., Park, D., Gao, B., Wu, L., Li, M., Haitham, A., et al. (2023). Low dose methotrexate impaired T cell transmigration through down-regulating CXCR4 expression in rheumatoid arthritis. *Research Article*. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-3649330/v1

Ding, L., and Morrison, S. J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. *Nature* 495 (7440), 231–235. doi:10. 1038/nature11885

Domanska, U. M., Timmer-Bosscha, H., Nagengast, W. B., Oude Munnink, T. H., Kruizinga, R. C., Ananias, H. J. K., et al. (2012). CXCR4 inhibition with AMD3100 sensitizes prostate cancer to docetaxel chemotherapy. *Neoplasia* 14 (8), 709–718. doi:10.1593/neo.12324

Durrant, D. M., Williams, J. L., Daniels, B. P., and Klein, R. S. (2014). Chemokines referee inflammation within the central nervous system during infection and disease. *Adv. Med.* 2014, 806741. doi:10.1155/2014/806741

Dy, M., and Schneider, E. (2004). Histamine–cytokine connection in immunity and hematopoiesis. *Cytokine & growth factor Rev.* 15 (5), 393–410. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr. 2004.06.003

Elemam, N. M., Hannawi, S., and Maghazachi, A. A. (2020). Role of chemokines and chemokine receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. *ImmunoTargets Ther.* 9, 43–56. doi:10. 2147/ITT.S243636

Esbenshade, T. A., Krueger, K. M., Miller, T. R., Kang, C. H., Denny, L. I., Witte, D. G., et al. (2003). Two novel and selective nonimidazole histamine H3 receptor antagonists A-304121 and A-317920: I. *in vitro* pharmacological effects. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 305 (3), 887–896. doi:10.1124/jpet.102.047183

Evangelatos, G., Fragoulis, G. E., Koulouri, V., and Lambrou, G. I. (2019). MicroRNAs in rheumatoid arthritis: from pathogenesis to clinical impact. *Autoimmun. Rev.* 18 (11), 102391. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2019.102391

Fallahi, P., Ferrari, S. M., Ragusa, F., Ruffilli, I., Elia, G., Paparo, S. R., et al. (2020). Th1 chemokines in autoimmune endocrine disorders. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metabolism* 105 (4), dgz289–1060. doi:10.1210/clinem/dgz289

Fang, Z., Yao, W., Xiong, Y., Li, J., Liu, L., Shi, L., et al. (2011). Attenuated expression of HRH4 in colorectal carcinomas: a potential influence on tumor growth and progression. *BMC cancer* 11, 1–11. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-11-195

Gao, B., Sun, G., Wang, Y., Geng, Y., Zhou, L., and Chen, X. (2021). microRNA-23 inhibits inflammation to alleviate rheumatoid arthritis via regulating CXCL12. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 21 (5), 459–467. doi:10.3892/etm.2021.9890

Gao, D., Fang, L., Liu, C., Yang, M., Yu, X., Wang, L., et al. (2023). Microenvironmental regulation in tumor progression: interactions between cancerassociated fibroblasts and immune cells. *Biomed. Pharmacother.* 167, 115622. doi:10. 1016/j.biopha.2023.115622

García-Cuesta, E. M., Santiago, C. A., Vallejo-Díaz, J., Juarranz, Y., Rodríguez-Frade, J. M., and Mellado, M. (2019). The role of the CXCL12/CXCR4/ACKR3 axis in autoimmune diseases. *Front. Endocrinol.* 10, 585. doi:10.3389/fendo.2019.00585

Bhatt, G. H., Agrawal, Y. K., Raval, H. G., Manna, K., and Desai, P. R. (2010). Histamine H4 receptor: a novel therapeutic target for immune and allergic responses. *Mini Rev. Med. Chem.* 10 (14), 1293–1308. doi:10.2174/138955710793564124

Ghalehbandi, S., Yuzugulen, J., Pranjol, M. Z. I., and Pourgholami, M. H. (2023). The role of VEGF in cancer-induced angiogenesis and research progress of drugs targeting VEGF. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 949, 175586. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2023.175586

Grassi, F., Cristino, S., Toneguzzi, S., Piacentini, A., Facchini, A., and Lisignoli, G. (2004). CXCL12 chemokine up-regulates bone resorption and MMP-9 release by human osteoclasts: CXCL12 levels are increased in synovial and bone tissue of rheumatoid arthritis patients. *J. Cell. physiology* 199 (2), 244–251. doi:10.1002/jcp.10445

Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y. M. S., Day, R. B., Schuettpelz, L. G., Christopher, M. J., Borgerding, J. N., et al. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. *Nature* 495 (7440), 227–230. doi:10.1038/nature11926

Grzybowska-Kowalczyk, A., Maslinska, D., Wojciechowska, M., Szukiewicz, D., Wojtecka-Lukasik, E., Paradowska, A., et al. (2008). Expression of histamine H4 receptor in human osteoarthritic synovial tissue. *Inflamm. Res.* 57, 63–S64. doi:10.1007/s00011-007-0631-1

Grzybowska-Kowalczyk, A., Wojtecka-Lukasik, E., Maslinska, D., Gujski, M., and Maslinski, S. (2007). Human and clinical aspects of histamine: distribution pattern of histamine H 4 receptor in human synovial tissue from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Inflamm. Res.* 56, S59–S60. doi:10.1007/s00011-006-0529-3

Gschwandtner, M., Mommert, S., Köther, B., Werfel, T., and Gutzmer, R. (2011). The histamine H4 receptor is highly expressed on plasmacytoid dendritic cells in psoriasis and histamine regulates their cytokine production and migration. *J. investigative dermatology* 131 (8), 1668–1676. doi:10.1038/jid.2011.72

Gulletta, E., Bottoni, U., and Foti, D. P. (2013). Psoriasis, a new challenge for laboratory medicine. *Clin. Chem. Laboratory Med.* 51 (7), 1363–1368. doi:10.1515/ cclm-2012-0653

Guo, Y. J., Pan, W. W., Liu, S. B., Shen, Z. F., Xu, Y., and Hu, L. L. (2020). ERK/MAPK signalling pathway and tumorigenesis. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 19 (3), 1997–2007. doi:10.3892/etm.2020.8454

Ha, N.-H., Faraji, F., and Hunter, K. W. (2013). Mechanisms of metastasis. Cancer Target. Drug Deliv. Elus. Dream, 435–458. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-7876-8_17

Haibe, Y., Kreidieh, M., El Hajj, H., Khalifeh, I., Mukherji, D., Temraz, S., et al. (2020). Resistance mechanisms to anti-angiogenic therapies in cancer. *Front. Oncol.* 10, 221. doi:10.3389/fonc.2020.00221

Harms, M., Habib, M. M. W., Nemska, S., Nicolò, A., Gilg, A., Preising, N., et al. (2021). An optimized derivative of an endogenous CXCR4 antagonist prevents atopic dermatitis and airway inflammation. *Acta Pharm. Sin. B* 11 (9), 2694–2708. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2020.12.005

Hassanshahi, G., Arababadi, M. K., Khoramdelazad, H., Yaghini, N., and Zarandi, E. R. (2010). Assessment of CXCL12 (SDF-1a) polymorphisms and its serum level in posttransfusion occult HBV-infected patients in Southeastern Iran. *Archives Med. Res.* 41 (5), 338–342. doi:10.1016/j.arcmed.2010.07.001

Herbeuval, J.-P., and Shearer, G. M. (2007). HIV-1 immunopathogenesis: how good interferon turns bad. Clin. Immunol. 123 (2), 121–128. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2006.09.016

Hjazi, A., Nasir, F., Noor, R., Alsalamy, A., Zabibah, R. S., Romero-Parra, R. M., et al. (2023). The pathological role of CXC chemokine receptor type 4 (CXCR4) in colorectal cancer (CRC) progression; special focus on molecular mechanisms and possible therapeutics. *Pathology-Research Pract.* 248, 154616. doi:10.1016/j.prp.2023.154616

Hofstra, C. L., Desai, P. J., Thurmond, R. L., and Fung-Leung, W. P. (2003). Histamine H4 receptor mediates chemotaxis and calcium mobilization of mast cells. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 305 (3), 1212–1221. doi:10.1124/jpet.102.046581

Hong, F., Tuyama, A., Lee, T. F., Loke, J., Agarwal, R., Cheng, X., et al. (2009). Hepatic stellate cells express functional CXCR4: role in stromal cell-derived factor-1alphamediated stellate cell activation. *Hepatology* 49 (6), 2055–2067. doi:10.1002/hep.22890

Huang, M., Li, Y., Zhang, H., and Nan, F. (2010). Breast cancer stromal fibroblasts promote the generation of CD44+ CD24-cells through SDF-1/CXCR4 interaction. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* 29, 80–10. doi:10.1186/1756-9966-29-80

Hughes, E. G., and Stockton, M. E. (2021). Premyelinating oligodendrocytes: mechanisms underlying cell survival and integration. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 9, 714169. doi:10.3389/fcell.2021.714169

Imtiyaz, H. Z., and Simon, M. C. (2010). Hypoxia-inducible factors as essential regulators of inflammation. *Diverse Eff. Hypoxia Tumor Progression* 345, 105–120. doi:10.1007/82_2010_74

Ishizuka, T., Hatano, K., Murotani, T., and Yamatodani, A. (2008). Comparison of the effect of an H3-inverse agonist on energy intake and hypothalamic histamine release in normal mice and leptin resistant mice with high fat diet-induced obesity. *Behav. Brain Res.* 188 (2), 250–254. doi:10.1016/j.bbr.2007.11.001

Jacobson, O., and Weiss, I. D. (2013). CXCR4 chemokine receptor overview: biology, pathology and applications in imaging and therapy. *Theranostics* 3 (1), 1–2. doi:10. 7150/thno.5760

Javierre, B. M., Hernando, H., and Ballestar, E. (2011). Environmental triggers and epigenetic deregulation in autoimmune disease. *Discov. Med.* 12 (67), 535–545.

Jiang, H., Shi, Y., Yuan, F., and Yue, H. (2023). CAFs secrete CXCL12 to accelerate the progression and cisplatin resistance of colorectal cancer through promoting M2 polarization of macrophages. *Med. Oncol.* 40 (3), 90. doi:10.1007/s12032-023-01953-7

Jiang, Y. G., Luo, Y., He, D. I., Li, X., Zhang, L. I., Peng, T., et al. (2007). Role of Wnt/ beta-catenin signaling pathway in epithelial-mesenchymal transition of human prostate cancer induced by hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha. *Int. J. urology* 14 (11), 1034–1039. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2042.2007.01866.x

Jung, K., Heishi, T., Incio, J., Huang, Y., Beech, E. Y., Pinter, M., et al. (2017). Targeting CXCR4-dependent immunosuppressive Ly6Clow monocytes improves antiangiogenic therapy in colorectal cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 114 (39), 10455–10460. doi:10.1073/pnas.1710754114

Kabacaoglu, D., Ciecielski, K. J., Ruess, D. A., and Algül, H. (2018). Immune checkpoint inhibition for pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: current limitations and future options. *Front. Immunol.* 9, 1878. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01878

Kalatskaya, I., Berchiche, Y. A., Gravel, S., Limberg, B. J., Rosenbaum, J. S., and Heveker, N. (2009). AMD3100 is a CXCR7 ligand with allosteric agonist properties. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 75 (5), 1240–1247. doi:10.1124/mol.108.053389

Kanwal, R., and Gupta, S. (2012). Epigenetic modifications in cancer. *Clin. Genet.* 81 (4), 303–311. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.2011.01809.x

Katsuta, T., Lim, C., Shimoda, K., Shibuta, K., Mitra, P., Banner, B. F., et al. (2000). Interleukin-8 and SDF1-alpha mRNA expression in colonic biopsies from patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Am. J. gastroenterology* 95 (11), 3157–3164. doi:10.1111/j. 1572-0241.2000.03289.x

Kawaguchi, N., Zhang, T.-T., and Nakanishi, T. (2019). Involvement of CXCR4 in normal and abnormal development. *Cells* 8 (2), 185. doi:10.3390/cells8020185

Khorramdelazad, H., Bagheri, V., Hassanshahi, G., Zeinali, M., and Vakilian, A. (2016). New insights into the role of stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1/CXCL12) in the pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 290, 70–75. doi:10.1016/j. jneuroim.2015.11.021

Khorramdelazad, H., Bagherzadeh, K., Rahimi, A., Safari, E., Hassanshahi, G., Khoshmirsafa, M., et al. (2023). Antitumor activities of a novel fluorinated small

molecule (A1) in CT26 colorectal cancer cells: molecular docking and *in vitro* studies. J. Biomol. Struct. Dyn., 1–14. doi:10.1080/07391102.2023.2256406

Khorramdelazad, H., Kazemi, M. H., Azimi, M., Aghamajidi, A., Mehrabadi, A. Z., Shahba, F., et al. (2022). Type-I interferons in the immunopathogenesis and treatment of Coronavirus disease 2019. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 927, 175051. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2022. 175051

Knaut, H., Werz, C., Geisler, R., Nüsslein-Volhard, C., and Tübingen 2000 Screen Consortium (2003). A zebrafish homologue of the chemokine receptor Cxcr4 is a germ-cell guidance receptor. *Nature* 421 (6920), 279–282. doi:10.1038/nature01338

Kohara, H., Omatsu, Y., Sugiyama, T., Noda, M., Fujii, N., and Nagasawa, T. (2007). Development of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in bone marrow stromal cell niches requires CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling. *Blood, J. Am. Soc. Hematol.* 110 (13), 4153–4160. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-04-084210

Kohler, R. E., Comerford, I., Townley, S., Haylock-Jacobs, S., Clark-Lewis, I., and McColl, S. R. (2008). Antagonism of the chemokine receptors CXCR3 and CXCR4 reduces the pathology of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Brain Pathol.* 18 (4), 504–516. doi:10.1111/j.1750-3639.2008.00154.x

Kondo, N., Kuroda, T., and Kobayashi, D. (2021). Cytokine networks in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 22 (20), 10922. doi:10.3390/ ijms222010922

Krumbholz, M., Theil, D., Cepok, S., Hemmer, B., Kivisäkk, P., Ransohoff, R. M., et al. (2006). Chemokines in multiple sclerosis: CXCL12 and CXCL13 up-regulation is differentially linked to CNS immune cell recruitment. *Brain* 129 (Pt 1), 200–211. doi:10.1093/brain/awh680

Kruszyna, Ł., Murawa, D., Jagodziński, P. P., Oszkinis, G., and Krasiński, Z. (2022). The expression and prognostic significance of VEGF and CXCR4 in gastric cancer: correlation with Angiogenesis, Lymphangiogenesis and Progression. *Curr. Issues Mol. Biol.* 44 (7), 3075–3088. doi:10.3390/cimb44070212

Kucia, M., Reca, R., Miekus, K., Wanzeck, J., Wojakowski, W., Janowska-Wieczorek, A., et al. (2005). Trafficking of normal stem cells and metastasis of cancer stem cells involve similar mechanisms: pivotal role of the SDF-1–CXCR4 axis. *Stem cells* 23 (7), 879–894. doi:10.1634/stemcells.2004-0342

Kukreja, P. (2005). CXCR4 receptor expression and prostate cancer bone metastasis: role of stromal cell derived factor-1 alpha and nuclear factor kappa B. Tulane University. Graduate Program in Biomedical Sciences.

Kumar, A., Humphreys, T. D., Kremer, K. N., Bramati, P. S., Bradfield, L., Edgar, C. E., et al. (2006). CXCR4 physically associates with the T cell receptor to signal in T cells. *Immunity* 25 (2), 213–224. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.06.015

Kumari, N., Reabroi, S., and North, B. J. (2021). Unraveling the molecular nexus between GPCRs, ERS, and EMT. *Mediat. Inflamm.* 2021, 2021–2023. doi:10.1155/2021/6655417

Lebel, Y., Milo, T., Bar, A., Mayo, A., and Alon, U. (2023). Excitable dynamics of flares and relapses in autoimmune diseases. *Iscience* 26 (11), 108084. doi:10.1016/j.isci.2023.108084

Lefevre, S., Meier, F. M. P., Neumann, E., and Muller-Ladner, U. (2015). Role of synovial fibroblasts in rheumatoid arthritis. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 21 (2), 130–141. doi:10. 2174/1381612820666140825122036

Lei, H. W., Huang, B. R., Cai, J., Li, C. M., Shang, C. B., Liao, Z. Y., et al. (2022). CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 enhances therapeutic efficacy of transcatheter arterial chemoembolization in rats with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Kaohsiung J. Med. Sci.* 38 (8), 781–789. doi:10.1002/kjm2.12540

Leng, Q., Nie, Y., Zou, Y., and Chen, J. (2008). Elevated CXCL12 expression in the bone marrow of NOD mice is associated with altered T cell and stem cell trafficking and diabetes development. *BMC Immunol.* 9 (1), 51–12. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-9-51

Li, S. H., Dong, W. C., Fan, L., and Wang, G. S. (2016). Suppression of chronic lymphocytic leukemia progression by CXCR4 inhibitor WZ811. *Am. J. Transl. Res.* 8 (9), 3812–3821.

Li, W., Kohara, H., Uchida, Y., James, J. M., Soneji, K., Cronshaw, D. G., et al. (2013). Peripheral nerve-derived CXCL12 and VEGF-A regulate the patterning of arterial vessel branching in developing limb skin. *Dev. Cell* 24 (4), 359–371. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2013.01.009

Liao, Y.-X., Zhou, C. H., Zeng, H., Zuo, D. Q., Wang, Z. Y., Yin, F., et al. (2013). The role of the CXCL12-CXCR4/CXCR7 axis in the progression and metastasis of bone sarcomas (Review). *Int. J. Mol. Med.* 32 (6), 1239–1246. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2013.1521

Lieberam, I., Agalliu, D., Nagasawa, T., Ericson, J., and Jessell, T. M. (2005). A Cxcl12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling pathway defines the initial trajectory of mammalian motor axons. *Neuron* 47 (5), 667–679. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2005.08.011

Liekens, S., Schols, D., and Hatse, S. (2010). CXCL12-CXCR4 axis in angiogenesis, metastasis and stem cell mobilization. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 16 (35), 3903–3920. doi:10. 2174/138161210794455003

Lipsky, P. E. (2006). Interleukin-6 and rheumatic diseases. Arthritis Res. Ther. 8, 1–5. doi:10.1186/ar1918

Liu, K. K. Y., and Dorovini-Zis, K. (2009). Regulation of CXCL12 and CXCR4 expression by human brain endothelial cells and their role in CD4+ and CD8+ T cell adhesion and transendothelial migration. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 215 (1-2), 49–64. doi:10.1016/j.jneuroim.2009.08.003

Liu, M., Song, W., and Huang, L. (2019). Drug delivery systems targeting tumorassociated fibroblasts for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Lett.* 448, 31–39. doi:10.1016/j. canlet.2019.01.032

Liu, Z., Wang, J., and Chen, H. (2021). CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 (plerixafor) modulates immune responses in the tumor microenvironment. *Int. J. Cancer Clin. Res.* 8 (1). doi:10.23937/2378-3419/1410144

Lu, G., Qiu, Y., and Su, X. (2021). Targeting CXCL12-CXCR4 signaling enhances immune checkpoint blockade therapy against triple negative breast cancer. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* 157, 105606. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2020.105606

Lu, L., Li, J., Jiang, X., and Bai, R. (2024). CXCR4/CXCL12 axis: "old" pathway as "novel" target for anti-inflammatory drug discovery. *Med. Res. Rev.* 44, 1189–1220. doi:10.1002/med.22011

Lu, M., Grove, E. A., and Miller, R. J. (2002). Abnormal development of the hippocampal dentate gyrus in mice lacking the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 99 (10), 7090–7095. doi:10.1073/pnas.092013799

Ma, Q., Jones, D., Borghesani, P. R., Segal, R. A., Nagasawa, T., Kishimoto, T., et al. (1998). Impaired B-lymphopoiesis, myelopoiesis, and derailed cerebellar neuron migration in CXCR4-and SDF-1-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 95 (16), 9448–9453. doi:10.1073/pnas.95.16.9448

Macaubas, C., Nguyen, K. D., Peck, A., Buckingham, J., Deshpande, C., Wong, E., et al. (2012). Alternative activation in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis monocytes. *Clin. Immunol.* 142 (3), 362–372. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2011.12.008

Mani, V., Arfeen, M., Ali, H. M., Abdel-Moneim, A. M. H., Aldubayan, M., and Alhowail, A. (2021). Neuroprotective effect of clobenpropit against lipopolysaccharideinduced cognitive deficits via attenuating neuroinflammation and enhancing mitochondrial functions in mice. *Brain Sci.* 11 (12), 1617. doi:10.3390/brainsci11121617

Marastoni, D., Magliozzi, R., Bolzan, A., Pisani, A. I., Rossi, S., Crescenzo, F., et al. (2021). CSF levels of CXCL12 and osteopontin as early markers of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurology-Neuroimmunology Neuroinflammation* 8 (6), e1083. doi:10.1212/NXI.00000000001083

Martín, G., Cricco, G., Darvas, Z., Croci, M., Núñez, M., Bergoc, R., et al. (2002). Histamine inhibits proliferation of a pancreatic carcinoma cell line without inducing apoptosis significantly. *Inflamm. Res.* 51, 67–68. doi:10.1007/pl00022452

Masoumi, M., Alesaeidi, S., Khorramdelazad, H., Behzadi, M., Baharlou, R., Alizadeh-Fanalou, S., et al. (2023). Role of T cells in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: focus on immunometabolism dysfunctions. *Inflammation* 46 (1), 88–102. doi:10.1007/ s10753-022-01751-9

Masoumi, M., Bashiri, H., Khorramdelazad, H., Barzaman, K., Hashemi, N., Sereshki, H. A., et al. (2021). Destructive roles of fibroblast-like synoviocytes in chronic inflammation and joint damage in rheumatoid arthritis. *Inflammation* 44, 466–479. doi:10.1007/s10753-020-01371-1

Massari, N. A., Nicoud, M. B., and Medina, V. A. (2020). Histamine receptors and cancer pharmacology: an update. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 177 (3), 516–538. doi:10.1111/bph.14535

McCandless, E. E., Wang, Q., Woerner, B. M., Harper, J. M., and Klein, R. S. (2006). CXCL12 limits inflammation by localizing mononuclear infiltrates to the perivascular space during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J. Immunol.* 177 (11), 8053–8064. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.11.8053

McHugh, J. (2019). Hitting the right spot on CXCR4. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 15 (9), 514. doi:10.1038/s41584-019-0287-6

Medina, V., Croci, M., Crescenti, E., Mohamad, N., Sanchez-Jiménez, F., Massari, N., et al. (2008). The role of histamine in human mammary carcinogenesis: H3 and H4 receptors as potential therapeutic targets for breast cancer treatment. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* 7 (1), 28–35. doi:10.4161/cbt.7.1.5123

Mena-Avila, E., Márquez-Gómez, R., Aquino-Miranda, G., Nieto-Alamilla, G., and Arias-Montaño, J. A. (2018). Clobenpropit, a histamine H 3 receptor antagonist/inverse agonist, inhibits [3 H]-dopamine uptake by human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells and rat brain synaptosomes. *Pharmacol. Rep.* 70, 146–155. doi:10.1016/j.pharep.2017.08.007

Meng, F., Han, Y., Staloch, D., Francis, T., Stokes, A., and Francis, H. (2011). The H4 histamine receptor agonist, clobenpropit, suppresses human cholangiocarcinoma progression by disruption of epithelial mesenchymal transition and tumor metastasis. *Hepatology* 54 (5), 1718–1728. doi:10.1002/hep.24573

Mikami, S., Nakase, H., Yamamoto, S., Takeda, Y., Yoshino, T., Kasahara, K., et al. (2008). Blockade of CXCL12/CXCR4 Axis ameliorates murine experimental colitis. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 327 (2), 383–392. doi:10.1124/jpet.108.141085

Moadab, F., Khorramdelazad, H., and Abbasifard, M. (2021). Role of CCL2/ CCR2 axis in the immunopathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: latest evidence and therapeutic approaches. *Life Sci.* 269, 119034. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119034

Moon, R. T. (2005). Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. Science's STKE 2005 (271), cm1. doi:10.1126/stke.2712005cm1

Mortezaee, K. (2020). CXCL12/CXCR4 axis in the microenvironment of solid tumors: a critical mediator of metastasis. *Life Sci.* 249, 117534. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117534

Mousavi, A. (2020). CXCL12/CXCR4 signal transduction in diseases and its molecular approaches in targeted-therapy. *Immunol. Lett.* 217, 91–115. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2019.11.007

Mrowicki, J., Przybylowska-Sygut, K., Dziki, L., Sygut, A., Chojnacki, J., Dziki, A., et al. (2014). The role of polymorphisms of genes CXCL12/CXCR4 and MIF in the risk development IBD the Polish population. *Mol. Biol. Rep.* 41, 4639–4652. doi:10.1007/s11033-014-3335-y

Muñoz-Carrillo, J. L., Castro-García, F. P., Chávez-Rubalcaba, F., Chávez-Rubalcaba, I., Martínez- Rodríguez, J. L., Hernández-Ruiz, M. E., et al. (2018a). *Immune system disorders: hypersensitivity and autoimmunity. Immunoregulatory Aspects of Immunotherapy*. London: InTechOpen, 1–30. doi:10.5772/intechopen.75794

Muñoz-Carrillo, J. L., et al. (2018b). Immune system disorders: hypersensitivity and autoimmunity. *Immunoregul. Asp. Immunother*. 1 (30), 10–5772.

Nagasawa, T. (2014). CXC chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12) and its receptor CXCR4. J. Mol. Med. 92, 433–439. doi:10.1007/s00109-014-1123-8

Nagasawa, T., Hirota, S., Tachibana, K., Takakura, N., Nishikawa, S., Kitamura, Y., et al. (1996). Defects of B-cell lymphopoiesis and bone-marrow myelopoiesis in mice lacking the CXC chemokine PBSF/SDF-1. *Nature* 382 (6592), 635–638. doi:10.1038/382635a0

Nakayama, T., Kato, Y., Hieshima, K., Nagakubo, D., Kunori, Y., Fujisawa, T., et al. (2004). Liver-expressed chemokine/CC chemokine ligand 16 attracts eosinophils by interacting with histamine H4 receptor. *J. Immunol.* 173 (3), 2078–2083. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.3.2078

Nazari, A., Khorramdelazad, H., and Hassanshahi, G. (2017). Biological/pathological functions of the CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 axes in the pathogenesis of bladder cancer. *Int. J. Clin. Oncol.* 22, 991–1000. doi:10.1007/s10147-017-1187-x

Nemeth, M. J., and Bodine, D. M. (2007). Regulation of hematopoiesis and the hematopoietic stem cell niche by Wnt signaling pathways. *Cell Res.* 17 (9), 746–758. doi:10.1038/cr.2007.69

Nguyen, P. L., and Cho, J. (2021). Pathophysiological roles of histamine receptors in cancer progression: implications and perspectives as potential molecular targets. *Biomolecules* 11 (8), 1232. doi:10.3390/biom11081232

Nicoud, M. B., Formoso, K., and Medina, V. A. (2019). Pathophysiological role of histamine H4 receptor in cancer: therapeutic implications. *Front. Pharmacol.* 10, 556. doi:10.3389/fphar.2019.00556

N terminus post-translational, C. (2016). "Modifications: role in chemokine binding and receptor activation," in *Molecular insights into recognition, activation and function of the atypical chemokine receptor CXCR7/ACKR3*, 93.

Ohki, E., Suzuki, M., Aoe, T., Ikawa, Y., Negishi, E., and Ueno, K. (2007). Expression of histamine H4 receptor in synovial cells from rheumatoid arthritic patients. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* 30 (11), 2217–2220. doi:10.1248/bpb.30.2217

Oliver-Krasinski, J. M., Kasner, M. T., Yang, J., Crutchlow, M. F., Rustgi, A. K., Kaestner, K. H., et al. (2009). The diabetes gene Pdx1 regulates the transcriptional network of pancreatic endocrine progenitor cells in mice. *J. Clin. investigation* 119 (7), 1888–1898. doi:10.1172/JC137028

Olson, T. S., and Ley, K. (2002). Chemokines and chemokine receptors in leukocyte trafficking. *Am. J. Physiology-Regulatory, Integr. Comp. Physiology* 283 (1), R7–R28. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00738.2001

Overbergh, L., Gysemans, C., and Mathieu, C. (2006). Quantification of chemokines by real-time reverse transcriptase PCR: applications in type 1 diabetes. *Expert Rev. Mol. Diagnostics* 6 (1), 51–64. doi:10.1586/14737159.6.1.51

Pachter, J. S., de Vries, H. E., and Fabry, Z. (2003). The blood-brain barrier and its role in immune privilege in the central nervous system. *J. Neuropathology Exp. Neurology* 62 (6), 593–604. doi:10.1093/jnen/62.6.593

Paik, W. H., Ryu, J. K., Jeong, K. S., Park, J. M., Song, B. J., Lee, S. H., et al. (2014). Clobenpropit enhances anti-tumor effect of gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. *World J. Gastroenterology WJG* 20 (26), 8545–8557. doi:10.3748/wjg.v20.i26.8545

Pan, Z., Zhu, T., Liu, Y., and Zhang, N. (2022). Role of the CXCL13/CXCR5 axis in autoimmune diseases. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 850998. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.850998

Pardali, K., and Moustakas, A. (2007). Actions of TGF-beta as tumor suppressor and pro-metastatic factor in human cancer. *Biochimica Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews Cancer* 1775 (1), 21–62. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2006.06.004

Patnaik, R., Sharma, A., Skaper, S. D., Muresanu, D. F., Lafuente, J. V., Castellani, R. J., et al. (2018). Histamine H3 inverse agonist BF 2649 or antagonist with partial H4 agonist activity clobenpropit reduces amyloid beta peptide-induced brain pathology in Alzheimer's Disease. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 55, 312–321. doi:10.1007/s12035-017-0743-8

Pelekanos, R. A., Ting, M. J., Sardesai, V. S., Ryan, J. M., Lim, Y. C., Chan, J. K. Y., et al. (2014). Intracellular trafficking and endocytosis of CXCR4 in fetal mesenchymal stem/ stromal cells. *BMC Cell Biol.* 15, 15. doi:10.1186/1471-2121-15-15

Peng, L., Zhu, N., Mao, J., Huang, L., Yang, Y., Zhou, Z., et al. (2020). Expression levels of CXCR4 and CXCL12 in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and its correlation with disease activity. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 20 (3), 1925–1934. doi:10.3892/etm.2020.8950

Perry, V., Anthony, D. C., Bolton, S. J., and Brown, H. C. (1997). The blood-brain barrier and the inflammatory response. *Mol. Med. today* 3 (8), 335–341. doi:10.1016/S1357-4310(97)01077-0

Petit, I., Jin, D., and Rafii, S. (2007). The SDF-1-CXCR4 signaling pathway: a molecular hub modulating neo-angiogenesis. *Trends Immunol.* 28 (7), 299-307. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.05.007

Pisetsky, D. S. (2023). Pathogenesis of autoimmune disease. Nat. Rev. Nephrol. 19 (8), 509–524. doi:10.1038/s41581-023-00720-1

Portella, L., Bello, A. M., and Scala, S. (2021). CXCL12 signaling in the tumor microenvironment. *Tumor Microenviron. Role Chemokines–Part B* 1302, 51–70. doi:10. 1007/978-3-030-62658-7_5

Pozzobon, T., Goldoni, G., Viola, A., and Molon, B. (2016). CXCR4 signaling in health and disease. *Immunol. Lett.* 177, 6–15. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2016.06.006

Pubchem (2024). Clobenpropit (compound). Available at: https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/compound/2790 (Accessed January 19, 2024).

Qin, S., Xu, L., Yi, M., Yu, S., Wu, K., and Luo, S. (2019). Novel immune checkpoint targets: moving beyond PD-1 and CTLA-4. *Mol. cancer* 18, 155–214. doi:10.1186/s12943-019-1091-2

Rigiracciolo, D. C., Cirillo, F., Talia, M., Muglia, L., Gutkind, J. S., Maggiolini, M., et al. (2021). Focal adhesion kinase fine tunes multifaced signals toward breast cancer progression. *Cancers* 13 (4), 645. doi:10.3390/cancers13040645

Rizzo, P., Perico, N., Gagliardini, E., Novelli, R., Alison, M. R., Remuzzi, G., et al. (2013). Nature and mediators of parietal epithelial cell activation in glomerulonephritides of human and rat. *Am. J. pathology* 183 (6), 1769–1778. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.08.008

Rönnblom, L., and Eloranta, M.-L. (2013). The interferon signature in autoimmune diseases. *Curr. Opin. rheumatology* 25 (2), 248–253. doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e32835c7e32

Rönnblom, L., Eloranta, M.-L., and Alm, G. V. (2003). Role of natural interferonalpha producing cells (plasmacytoid dendritic cells) in autoimmunity. *Autoimmunity* 36 (8), 463–472. doi:10.1080/08916930310001602128

Roßbach, K., Stark, H., Sander, K., Leurs, R., Kietzmann, M., and Bäumer, W. (2009). The histamine H receptor as a new target for treatment of canine inflammatory skin diseases. *Veterinary dermatol.* 20 (5-6), 555–561. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3164.2009.00854.x

Salcedo, R., and Oppenheim, J. J. (2003). Role of chemokines in angiogenesis: CXCL12/SDF-1 and CXCR4 interaction, a key regulator of endothelial cell responses. *Microcirculation* 10 (3-4), 359–370. doi:10.1038/sj.mn.7800200

Scala, S. (2015). Molecular pathways: targeting the CXCR4–CXCL12 axis—untapped potential in the tumor microenvironment. *Clin. cancer Res.* 21 (19), 4278–4285. doi:10. 1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0914

Scharl, M., and Rogler, G. (2012). Inflammatory bowel disease pathogenesis: what is new? *Curr. Opin. gastroenterology* 28 (4), 301–309. doi:10.1097/MOG. 0b013e328353e61e

Sen, E. S., Ramanan, A. V., Welsh, G., and Saleem, M. (2014). A118: laboratory investigation of the role of toll-like receptors on kidney cells in pathogenesis of lupus nephritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatology* 66, S155. doi:10.1002/art.38539

Shachar, I., and Karin, N. (2013). The dual roles of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in the regulation of autoimmune diseases and their clinical implications. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 93 (1), 51–61. doi:10.1189/jlb.0612293

Shan, S., Lv, Q., Zhao, Y., Liu, C., Sun, Y., Xi, K., et al. (2015). Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is required for epithelial to mesenchymal transition in CXCL12 over expressed breast cancer cells. *Int. J. Clin. Exp. pathology* 8 (10), 12357–12367.

Sharma, A., Muresanu, D. F., Patnaik, R., Menon, P. K., Tian, Z. R., Sahib, S., et al. (2021). Histamine H3 and H4 receptors modulate Parkinson's disease induced brain pathology. Neuroprotective effects of nanowired BF-2649 and clobenpropit with antihistamine-antibody therapy. *Prog. Brain Res.* 266, 1–73. doi:10.1016/bs.pbr.2021.06.003

Shi, Y., Riese, D. J., and Shen, J. (2020). The role of the CXCL12/CXCR4/CXCR7 chemokine axis in cancer. *Front. Pharmacol.* 11, 574667. doi:10.3389/fphar.2020.574667

Sideeffects (2024). AMD3100 side effects. Available at: http://sideeffects.embl.de/ drugs/65014/(Accessed May 21, 2024).

Siekmann, A. F., Standley, C., Fogarty, K. E., Wolfe, S. A., and Lawson, N. D. (2009). Chemokine signaling guides regional patterning of the first embryonic artery. *Genes & Dev.* 23 (19), 2272–2277. doi:10.1101/gad.1813509

Siouti, E., and Andreakos, E. (2019). The many facets of macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 165, 152–169. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2019.03.029

Smith, N., Pietrancosta, N., Davidson, S., Dutrieux, J., Chauveau, L., Cutolo, P., et al. (2017). Natural amines inhibit activation of human plasmacytoid dendritic cells through CXCR4 engagement. *Nat. Commun.* 8 (1), 14253. doi:10.1038/ncomms14253

Smith, N., Rodero, M. P., Bekaddour, N., Bondet, V., Ruiz-Blanco, Y. B., Harms, M., et al. (2019). Control of TLR7-mediated type I IFN signaling in pDCs through CXCR4 engagement—a new target for lupus treatment. *Sci. Adv.* 5 (7), eaav9019. doi:10.1126/sciadv.aav9019

Song, J.-S., Chang, C. C., Wu, C. H., Dinh, T. K., Jan, J. J., Huang, K. W., et al. (2021). A highly selective and potent CXCR4 antagonist for hepatocellular carcinoma treatment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 118 (13), e2015433118. doi:10.1073/pnas.2015433118

Spassov, D. S., Atanasova, M., and Doytchinova, I. (2023). A role of salt bridges in mediating drug potency: a lesson from the N-myristoyltransferase inhibitors. *Front. Mol. Biosci.* 9, 1066029. doi:10.3389/fmolb.2022.1066029

Stumm, R. K., Zhou, C., Ara, T., Lazarini, F., Dubois-Dalcq, M., Nagasawa, T., et al. (2003). CXCR4 regulates interneuron migration in the developing neocortex. *J. Neurosci.* 23 (12), 5123–5130. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-12-05123.2003

Suárez-Fariñas, M., Fuentes-Duculan, J., Lowes, M. A., and Krueger, J. G. (2011). Resolved psoriasis lesions retain expression of a subset of disease-related genes. J. Investigative Dermatology 131 (2), 391-400. doi:10.1038/jid.2010.280

Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Noda, M., and Nagasawa, T. (2006). Maintenance of the hematopoietic stem cell pool by CXCL12-CXCR4 chemokine signaling in bone marrow stromal cell niches. *Immunity* 25 (6), 977–988. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.016

Tachibana, K., Hirota, S., Iizasa, H., Yoshida, H., Kawabata, K., Kataoka, Y., et al. (1998). The chemokine receptor CXCR4 is essential for vascularization of the gastrointestinal tract. *Nature* 393 (6685), 591–594. doi:10.1038/31261

Takekoshi, T., Wu, X., Mitsui, H., Tada, Y., Kao, M. C., Sato, S., et al. (2013). CXCR4 negatively regulates keratinocyte proliferation in IL-23-mediated psoriasiform dermatitis. *J. Investigative Dermatology* 133 (11), 2530–2537. doi:10.1038/jid.2013.151

Tanaka, T., Kochi, T., Shirakami, Y., Mori, T., Kurata, A., Watanabe, N., et al. (2016). Cimetidine and clobenpropit attenuate inflammation-associated colorectal carcinogenesis in male ICR mice. *Cancers* 8 (2), 25. doi:10.3390/cancers8020025

Tassone, L., Moratto, D., Vermi, W., De Francesco, M., Notarangelo, L. D., Porta, F., et al. (2010). Defect of plasmacytoid dendritic cells in warts, hypogammaglobulinemia, infections, myelokathexis (WHIM) syndrome patients. *Blood, J. Am. Soc. Hematol.* 116 (23), 4870–4873. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-03-272096

Teixido, J., Martínez-Moreno, M., Díaz-Martínez, M., and Sevilla-Movilla, S. (2018). The good and bad faces of the CXCR4 chemokine receptor. *Int. J. Biochem. Cell Biol.* 95, 121–131. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2017.12.018

Tu, J., Huang, W., Zhang, W., Mei, J., and Zhu, C. (2022). Two main cellular components in rheumatoid arthritis: communication between T cells and fibroblast-like synoviocytes in the joint synovium. *Front. Immunol.* 13, 922111. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2022.922111

Tzeng, Y.-S., Li, H., Kang, Y. L., Chen, W. C., Cheng, W. C., and Lai, D. M. (2011). Loss of Cxcl12/Sdf-1 in adult mice decreases the quiescent state of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and alters the pattern of hematopoietic regeneration after myelosuppression. *Blood, J. Am. Soc. Hematol.* 117 (2), 429–439. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-01-266833

Van Hout, A. (2019). Characterisation of novel CXCR4-targeting nanobodies with anti-HIV and anti-tumoral activity.

Vaquero, J., Guedj, N., Clapéron, A., Nguyen Ho-Bouldoires, T. H., Paradis, V., and Fouassier, L. (2017). Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cholangiocarcinoma: from clinical evidence to regulatory networks. *J. hepatology* 66 (2), 424–441. doi:10.1016/j. jhep.2016.09.010

Vidaković, M., Grdović, N., Dinić, S., Mihailović, M., Uskoković, A., and Arambašić Jovanović, J. (2015). The importance of the CXCL12/CXCR4 Axis in therapeutic approaches to diabetes mellitus attenuation. *Front. Immunol.* 6, 403. doi:10.3389/ fmmu.2015.00403

von Hofsten, S., Fenton, K. A., and Pedersen, H. L. (2024). Human and murine tolllike receptor-driven disease in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 25 (10), 5351. doi:10.3390/ijms25105351

Wallace, K. L., Zheng, L. B., Kanazawa, Y., and Shih, D. Q. (2014). Immunopathology of inflammatory bowel disease. *World J. gastroenterology WJG* 20 (1), 6–21. doi:10.3748/ wjg.v20.i1.6

Wang, A., Fairhurst, A. M., Tus, K., Subramanian, S., Liu, Y., Lin, F., et al. (2009). CXCR4/CXCL12 hyperexpression plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of lupus. *J. Immunol.* 182 (7), 4448–4458. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0801920

Wang, A., Guilpain, P., Chong, B. F., Chouzenoux, S., Guillevin, L., Du, Y., et al. (2010). Dysregulated expression of CXCR4/CXCL12 in subsets of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis & Rheumatism* 62 (11), 3436–3446. doi:10.1002/art. 27685

Wang, H., Tao, L., Qi, K. E., Zhang, H., Feng, D., Wei, W., et al. (2015). CXCR7 functions in colon cancer cell survival and migration. *Exp. Ther. Med.* 10 (5), 1720–1724. doi:10.3892/etm.2015.2748

Wang, X.-y., Chen, Y., Tang, X. J., Jiang, L. H., and Ji, P. (2016). AMD3100 attenuates matrix metalloprotease-3 and -9 expressions and prevents cartilage degradation in a monosodium iodo-acetate-induced rat model of temporomandibular osteoarthritis. *J. Oral Maxillofac. Surg.* 74 (5), 927.e1–927. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2015.12.018

Wang, Y., Zhao, L., Han, X., Mi, J., Wang, C., et al. (2020). Saikosaponin A inhibits triple-negative breast cancer growth and metastasis through downregulation of CXCR4. *Front. Oncol.* 9, 1487. doi:10.3389/fonc.2019.01487

Weening, J. J., D'Agati, V. D., Schwartz, M. M., Seshan, S. V., Alpers, C. E., Appel, G. B., et al. (2004). The classification of glomerulonephritis in systemic lupus erythematosus revisited. *Kidney Int.* 65 (2), 521–530. doi:10.1111/j.1523-1755.2004. 00443.x

Weir, G. C., Cavelti-Weder, C., and Bonner-Weir, S. (2011). Stem cell approaches for diabetes: towards beta cell replacement. *Genome Med.* 3 (9), 61–69. doi:10.1186/gm277

Werner, L., Guzner-Gur, H., and Dotan, I. (2013). Involvement of CXCR4/CXCR7/ CXCL12 interactions in inflammatory bowel disease. *Theranostics* 3 (1), 40–46. doi:10. 7150/thno.5135 West, K. A., Castillo, S. S., and Dennis, P. A. (2002). Activation of the PI3K/Akt pathway and chemotherapeutic resistance. *Drug Resist. Updat.* 5 (6), 234–248. doi:10. 1016/s1368-7646(02)00120-6

Wilkinson, R. A., Pincus, S. H., Shepard, J. B., Walton, S. K., Bergin, E. P., Labib, M., et al. (2011). Novel compounds containing multiple guanide groups that bind the HIV coreceptor CXCR4. *Antimicrob. agents Chemother.* 55 (1), 255–263. doi:10.1128/AAC.00709-10

Wright, L. M., Maloney, W., Yu, X., Kindle, L., Collin-Osdoby, P., and Osdoby, P. (2005). Stromal cell-derived factor-1 binding to its chemokine receptor CXCR4 on precursor cells promotes the chemotactic recruitment, development and survival of human osteoclasts. *Bone* 36 (5), 840–853. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2005.01.021

Xu, C., Zheng, L., Li, D., Chen, G., Gu, J., Chen, J., et al. (2018). CXCR4 overexpression is correlated with poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Life Sci.* 208, 333–340. doi:10. 1016/j.lfs.2018.04.050

Xu, L., Li, Y., Sun, H., Li, D., and Hou, T. (2013). Structural basis of the interactions between CXCR4 and CXCL12/SDF-1 revealed by theoretical approaches. *Mol. Biosyst.* 9 (8), 2107–2117. doi:10.1039/c3mb70120d

Xu, Q., Sun, X. c., Shang, X. p., and Jiang, H. s. (2012). Association of CXCL12 levels in synovial fluid with the radiographic severity of knee osteoarthritis. *J. Investigative Med.* 60 (6), 898–901. doi:10.2310/JIM.0b013e31825f9f69

Yang, P., Hu, Y., and Zhou, Q. (2020). The CXCL12-CXCR4 signaling axis plays a key role in cancer metastasis and is a potential target for developing novel therapeutics against metastatic cancer. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 27 (33), 5543–5561. doi:10.2174/0929867326666191113113110

Yang, R., Hey, J. A., Aslanian, R., and Rizzo, C. A. (2002). Coordination of histamine H3 receptor antagonists with human adrenal cytochrome P450 enzymes. *Pharmacology* 66 (3), 128–135. doi:10.1159/000063794

Yang, Y., Li, J., Lei, W., Wang, H., Ni, Y., Liu, Y., et al. (2023). CXCL12-CXCR4/ CXCR7 axis in cancer: from mechanisms to clinical applications. *Int. J. Biol. Sci.* 19 (11), 3341–3359. doi:10.7150/ijbs.82317

Yano, T., Liu, Z., Donovan, J., Thomas, M. K., and Habener, J. F. (2007). Stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1)/CXCL12 attenuates diabetes in mice and promotes pancreatic beta-cell survival by activation of the prosurvival kinase Akt. *Diabetes* 56 (12), 2946–2957. doi:10.2337/db07-0291

Yellowley, C. (2013). CXCL12/CXCR4 signaling and other recruitment and homing pathways in fracture repair. *BoneKEy Rep.* 2, 300. doi:10.1038/bonekey.2013.34

Yi, L., Zhou, X., Li, T., Liu, P., Hai, L., Tong, L., et al. (2019). Notch1 signaling pathway promotes invasion, self-renewal and growth of glioma initiating cells via modulating chemokine system CXCL12/CXCR4. *J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res.* 38, 339–415. doi:10.1186/s13046-019-1319-4

Yin, X., Liu, Z., Zhu, P., Wang, Y., Ren, Q., Chen, H., et al. (2019). CXCL12/ CXCR4 promotes proliferation, migration, and invasion of adamantinomatous craniopharyngiomas via PI3K/AKT signal pathway. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 120 (6), 9724–9736. doi:10.1002/jcb.28253

Yu, X., Huang, Y., Collin-Osdoby, P., and Osdoby, P. (2003). Stromal cell-derived factor-1 (SDF-1) recruits osteoclast precursors by inducing chemotaxis, matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) activity, and collagen transmigration. *J. bone mineral Res.* 18 (8), 1404–1418. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.8.1404

Zampeli, E., Thurmond, R., and Tiligada, E. (2008). "Effect of the H (4) R antagonist JNJ7777120 on the cartilage histamine content in rats with adjuvant arthritis," in *Fundamental & clinical pharmacology* (MA USA: WILEY-BLACKWELL COMMERCE PLACE). 350 MAIN ST, MALDEN 02148.

Zampeli, E., and Tiligada, E. (2009). The role of histamine H4 receptor in immune and inflammatory disorders. *Br. J. Pharmacol.* 157 (1), 24–33. doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381. 2009.00151.x

Zhang, Y., et al. (2008). MSX-122, an orally available small molecule targeting CXCR4, inhibits primary tumor growth in an orthotopic mouse model of lung cancer and improves the effect of paclitaxel. *Cancer Res.* 68 (9_Suppl. ment), 1190.

Zhong, T., Li, X., Lei, K., Tang, R., Zhou, Z., Zhao, B., et al. (2024). CXCL12-CXCR4 mediates CD57+ CD8+ T cell responses in the progression of type 1 diabetes. *J. Autoimmun.* 143, 103171. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2024.103171

Zhou, J., Le, K., Xu, M., Ming, J., Yang, W., Zhang, Q., et al. (2020). CXCR4 antagonist AMD3100 reverses the resistance to tamoxifen in breast cancer via inhibiting AKT phosphorylation. *Mol. Therapy-Oncolytics* 18, 161–170. doi:10.1016/j.omto.2020.06.009

Zhu, Y., Matsumoto, T., Mikami, S., Nagasawa, T., and Murakami, F. SDF1/ CXCR4 signalling regulates two distinct processes of precerebellar neuronal migration and its depletion leads to abnormal pontine nuclei formation. *Developmen*, 136, 1919–1928. doi:10.1242/dev.0322762009

Zlotnik, A. (2008). New insights on the role of CXCR4 in cancer metastasis. J. Pathology A J. Pathological Soc. G. B. Irel. 215 (3), 211–213. doi:10.1002/path.2350

Zou, Y.-R., Kottmann, A. H., Kuroda, M., Taniuchi, I., and Littman, D. R. (1998). Function of the chemokine receptor CXCR4 in haematopoiesis and in cerebellar development. *Nature* 393 (6685), 595–599. doi:10.1038/31269

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Adriano Sabino, Federal University of Minas Gerais, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Biagio Barone, Azienda Ospedaliera di Caserta, Italy Dina Keumala Sari, Universitas Sumatera Utara, Indonesia Xiangliang Liu, The First Hospital of Jilin University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Dianliang Zhang @ qymr2014@163.com Xinjian Wang @ whchwangxj@126.com

RECEIVED 17 March 2024 ACCEPTED 30 August 2024 PUBLISHED 18 September 2024

CITATION

Fu J, Yue X, Zou Y, Zhang J, Wang X and Zhang D (2024) Association of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score with risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors: NHANES 1999-2018. *Front. Oncol.* 14:1402217. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2024.1402217

COPYRIGHT

© 2024 Fu, Yue, Zou, Zhang, Wang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Association of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score with risk of allcause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors: NHANES 1999-2018

Jixin Fu¹, Xiaohan Yue², Yanan Zou³, Jian Zhang⁴, Xinjian Wang^{1*} and Dianliang Zhang^{5*}

¹Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, Weihai Central Hospital, Qingdao University, Weihai, Shandong, China, ²Department of Pediatric Surgery, Weihai Central Hospital, Qingdao University, Weihai, Shandong, China, ³Department of Anesthesiology, Weihai Central Hospital, Qingdao University, Weihai, Shandong, China, ⁴Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, the Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, Pingdu, Shandong, China, ⁵Center of Colon and Rectum, Qingdao Municipal Hospital, Qingdao University, Qingdao, Shandong, China

Background: The HALP score, comprising hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet levels, serves as an indicator of both nutritional and inflammatory status. However, its correlation with all-cause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors remains unclear. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the relationship between HALP scores and mortality outcomes in this population.

Method: We extracted cohort data spanning ten cycles (1999-2018) from the U.S. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES). Mortality rates, determined using the National Death Index (NDI) as of December 31, 2019, were assessed. Weighted multivariate logistic regression analyzed the association between HALP scores and cancer prevalence. Kaplan-Meier analyses and weighted multivariate-adjusted Cox analyses investigated the link between HALP scores and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in cancer survivors. Restricted cubic spline (RCS) analysis was employed to assess nonlinear relationships. Furthermore, multi-parametric subgroup analyses were conducted to ensure the robustness of the results.

Results: Our study included 41,231 participants, of whom 3,786 were cancer survivors (prevalence: 9.5%). Over a median follow-up of 91 months (range: 51-136), we observed 1,339 deaths, including 397 from cancer, 368 from cardio-cerebrovascular disease, and 105 from respiratory disease. Elevated HALP scores showed a consistent association with reduced cancer incidence (P for trend <0.001). In multivariable-adjusted Cox regression analyses, HALP scores were significantly inversely associated with all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality, and respiratory disease mortality in cancer survivors (P for trend < 0.05). Nonlinear relationships between HALP scores and all-cause and cause-specific mortality in cancer survivors were evident through RCS regression modeling (P for nonlinearity < 0.01). Kaplan-

Meier analyses demonstrated that higher HALP scores were indicative of a poorer prognosis.

Conclusion: Our findings indicate a notable inverse correlation between HALP scores and both all-cause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors.

KEYWORDS

cancer survivors, HALP score, all-cause mortality, cause-specific mortality, national health and nutrition examination survey

1 Introduction

Cancer remains the primary cause of mortality worldwide, particularly prevalent in low- and middle-income nations (1). According to the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2019 statistics, cancer ranks as the primary or secondary cause of death before age 70 in 112 out of 183 countries, and as the third or fourth leading cause in 23 countries (2). Despite a decline in cancer mortality rates from 1991 to 2021, credited to reduced tobacco use, enhanced cancer detection, and advancements in therapies, the global cancer burden is projected to escalate due to demographic shifts and changes in risk factors such as obesity, sedentary lifestyles, and altered fertility rates (3–8). The increasing number of cancer survivors underscores the pressing need for a robust predictive indicator to monitor and enhance their long-term health outcomes.

The Hemoglobin, Albumin, Lymphocyte, and Platelet (HALP) score, introduced by Chen et al. in 2015, initially predicted prognosis in gastric cancer patients (9). Its potential as a biomarker for various illnesses has since garnered attention. Mounting evidence links nutrition, inflammation, and cancer outcomes (10–13). Matsushita et al. suggested a potential link between diet, nutrition, and prostate cancer, possibly mediated by the gut microbiota (14). Dietary-induced inflammation has been implicated in various cancers, such as CRC, liver cancer, prostate cancer, and kidney cancer (15–17). Recent research underscores the significant impact of diet on both mucosal and systemic immune systems, influencing inflammation in tumor cells and their response to cancer therapy (18).

Given HALP score's ability to assess immune and nutritional status, it can reflect tumor tolerance by integrating immune markers, nutrition, and inflammation. While studies have explored its predictive significance in different cancers, findings vary (19–21). In a multicenter study, lower HALP values correlated with increased risks of mortality and cancer-related deaths in patients with locally advanced colorectal cancer (19). However, a separate study found no significant association between HALP scores and long-term survival in patients with retroperitoneal soft tissue sarcoma (21). Therefore, a comprehensive investigation into HALP score's association with all-cause and cause-specific mortality in cancer survivors is crucial.

Drawing on NHANES data spanning 1999 to 2018, our cohort study delves into the correlation between the HALP score and allcause and cause-specific mortality in cancer survivors and to assess the impact of the HALP score on cancer survivors. Our study will provide valuable reference metrics for optimizing treatment and clinical management of cancer survivors.

2 Methods

2.1 Study population

The NHANES, conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS), is a nationally representative cross-sectional study employing a stratified multistage random sample design to assess the health and nutritional status of the US population (22). Before implementation, NHANES surveys undergo thorough review and approval by the Disclosure Review Board of the NCHS. Comprehensive details regarding ethical approval and informed consent procedures are available through the NCHS (23). This study employed a nationwide cross-sectional design, utilizing secondary analyses of publicly accessible and deidentified NHANES data. As such, additional institutional review board approval or informed consent was not required. Additional details can be found at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes.

For our cohort study, we included 101,316 participants from ten NHANES cycles spanning 1999 to 2018. Exclusion criteria encompassed individuals under 20 years old, pregnant individuals, those with missing cancer or HALP score data, and participants with incomplete follow-up or covariate information. Ultimately, 41,231 participants were included in the study (Figure 1).

2.2 Definition of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, platelet score

Blood samples were collected during examinations at Mobile Examination Centers (MECs) and subsequently analyzed in the laboratory. The HALP score comprises serum levels of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocytes, and platelets. Hemoglobin, lymphocyte, and



platelet levels are measured using a hematology-analyzing device (UniCel DxH 800 analyzer), while serum albumin levels are determined using Roche Modular P and Roche Cobas 6000 chemistry analyzers. The HALP score is calculated using the formula: hemoglobin (g/L) × albumin (g/L) × lymphocytes (10^{9} /L)/platelets (10^{9} /L) (24, 25).

2.3 Definition of cancer survivor

Self-reported cancer history data were sourced from the "Medical Conditions" section of NHANES, gathered via professionally self-administered questionnaires (26). Cancer survivors were identified by their response to the question: "Have you ever been told by a doctor or other health professional that you had cancer or malignancy of any kind?" Positive responses categorized individuals as cancer survivors, while negative responses classified them as non-cancer individuals. Cancer

survivors were categorized based on their responses to the question "What kind of cancer?" The classification comprised six categories, as illustrated in Figure 1.

2.4 Mortality outcomes

Mortality data were obtained from NHANES Public-Use Linked Mortality Files, available until December 31, 2019. Causes of death were documented using ICD-10 (International Statistical Classification of Diseases, 10th version) codes (27). Our analysis focused on all-cause and cause-specific deaths, including malignant neoplasms (ICD-10: C00-C97), cardio –cerebrovascular disease (ICD-10: I00-I09, I11, I13, I20-I51, I60-I69), and respiratory diseases (ICD-10: J40-J47, J09-J18). The follow-up period for the study extended from the date of initial diagnosis until the date of death or December 31, 2019, whichever came first.

10.3389/fonc.2024.1402217

2.5 Definitions of covariates

Covariates in this cohort study included age (years), gender (male or female), ethnicity (Mexican American, other Hispanic, non-Hispanic white, non-Hispanic black, or other race), educational attainment (below high school, high school, or above high school), marital status (married/cohabiting, widowed/ divorced/separated, or never married), and body mass index (BMI) categories (<18.5, 18.5-25.0, 25.0-29.9, or >29.9 kg/m²) (28). Income was assessed using the Poverty Income Ratio (PIR), classified as ≤1.0, 1.1-3.0, and >3.0 based on US Department of Health and Human Services guidelines. Never smokers were individuals who had smoked fewer than 100 cigarettes in their lifetime. Those who had smoked more than 100 cigarettes and were currently smoking were classified as current smokers, while those who had smoked more than 100 cigarettes but had quit were classified as former smokers (29). Alcohol consumption was dichotomized into non-drinker or drinker (≥ 12 drinks in a year). Physical activity was quantified as metabolic equivalent (MET) minutes of moderate to vigorous exercise per week according to World Health Organization guidelines (30). Diabetes mellitus was determined by self-report, glycated hemoglobin ≥6.5%, or fasting blood glucose ≥126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L). Hypertension was defined by medication use or self-reported diagnosis. Complete blood count parameters, serum albumin levels, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), and total cholesterol (TG) levels were also collected from the database.

2.6 Statistical analysis

We utilized NHANES-recommended weights, specifically the 2year cycle of Mobile Examination Center (MEC) exam weights (wtmec2yr), for statistical analyses, given that HALP scores were derived from four laboratory measurements. Continuous data were presented as medians [first quantile (P25) and third quantile (P75)] and compared using the nonparametric Wilcoxon rank sum test or independent samples t-test, as applicable. Categorical variables were reported as percentages (%) and assessed using the chi-squared test or Fisher's exact test, if appropriate.

In this cohort analysis, three logistic regression models were employed to estimate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for the association between HALP scores and cancer prevalence. Similarly, three Cox regression models were utilized to calculate adjusted hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% CIs for all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, cardiocerebrovascular disease mortality, and respiratory disease mortality among cancer survivors. Model 1 was unadjusted, while Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, and race/ethnicity. Model 3 included additional adjustments for education level, family poverty income ratio, MET minutes per week, drinking status, smoking status, BMI, self-reported diabetes, and self-reported hypertension.

Restricted cubic spline regression analyses were conducted to explore dose-response relationships between HALP scores and allcause and cause-specific mortality among cancer survivors, with knots placed at the 5th, 35th, 65th, and 95th percentiles of each exposure variable. Kaplan-Meier analyses were utilized to evaluate the association between HALP scores and long-term mortality in cancer survivors. Additionally, subgroup analyses were performed to investigate the relationship between HALP scores and mortality outcomes based on age, sex, BMI, smoking status, self-reported hypertension, self-reported diabetes, and different types of cancer.

3 Results

3.1 Baseline characteristics

Table 1 presents baseline characteristics and weighted estimates of the study population. Our analysis included 41,231 individuals, representing 17.04 million noninstitutionalized US residents. Among them, 3,786 were cancer survivors, aged 20 to 85 years, with a mean age of 49.47 ± 18.14 years. Race distribution was as follows: Mexican Americans: 2.2%, Other Hispanics: 2.3%, Non-Hispanic Whites people: 87%, Non-Hispanic Blacks people: 5.0%, and Others: 3.4%. Cancer survivors were more likely to be older women, highly educated, higher-income earners, divorced, smokers, and drinkers. Additionally, they exhibited higher waist circumferences, lower physical activity levels, and a higher prevalence of comorbid hypertension or diabetes. Median (P25, P75) values of hemoglobin, serum albumin, lymphocyte count, platelet count, and HALP scores in cancer survivors were 14.10 (13.20, 14.90) g/dL, 4.20 (4.00, 4.40) g/dL, 1.80 (1.50, 2.40)×10⁹/L, 235 (198, 280)×10⁹/L, and 46 (35, 62), respectively, significantly lower than non-cancer participants. Significant differences in HALP scores and HALP-related parameters were observed between individuals with and without cancer (P < 0.05).

3.2 HALP score and cancer prevalence

Table 2 illustrates the relationship between HALP scores and cancer prevalence using weighted multivariate regression models. All three logistic regression models revealed a negative association between HALP score and cancer incidence. The ORs and 95% CIs for the highest tertile compared to the lowest tertile were as follows: OR=0.61 (0.57-0.67), p for trend<0.001; OR=0.83 (0.75-0.89), p for trend<0.001; and OR=0.61 (0.75-0.89), p for trend<0.001, respectively.

3.3 HALP score and mortality

Over a median follow-up of 91 (51, 136) months, 1,339 (35.37%) out of 3,786 cancer survivors succumbed to all-cause mortality, with 397 (10.49%) attributed to cancer, 367 (9.70%) to cardio-cerebrovascular disease, and 105 (2.77%) to respiratory disease. As shown in Table 3, higher HALP scores were significantly associated with a reduced risk of all-cause mortality and cause-specific mortality among survivors, evident in both crude and multivariable-adjusted Models 1 and 2 (all p for trend <0.05). The multivariable-adjusted HRs and 95% CIs for the highest tertile

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of adults in NHANES 1999–2018.

		Cancer		
Characteristics	Overall, N = 41231 (100%)	No, N = 37445 (91%)	Yes, N = 3786 (9.5%)	P Value
Sex, %				<0.001
Female	21,245 (52%)	19,251 (51%)	1,994 (58%)	
Male	19,986 (48%)	18,194 (49%)	1,792 (42%)	
Age, %				<0.001
20-35 years	10,733 (28%)	10,562 (30%)	171 (5.0%)	
35-60 years	16,754 (48%)	15,858 (49%)	896 (34%)	
60+ years	13,744 (25%)	11,025 (21%)	2,719 (61%)	
Race/ethnicity, %				<0.001
Non-Hispanic White	18,748 (69%)	16,036 (67%)	2,712 (87%)	
Non-Hispanic Black	8,269 (11%)	7,782 (11%)	487 (5.0%)	
Mexican American	7,082 (8.3%)	6,834 (8.9%)	248 (2.2%)	
Other Race - Including Multi-Racial	3,686 (6.9%)	3,535 (7.2%)	151 (3.4%)	
Other Hispanic	3,446 (5.3%)	3,258 (5.6%)	188 (2.3%)	
Education level, %				<0.001
Below high school	10,876 (17%)	10,019 (17%)	857 (14%)	
High school	9,580 (24%)	8,711 (24%)	869 (22%)	
Above high school	20,775 (59%)	18,715 (59%)	2,060 (64%)	
Marital status, %				<0.001
Married/cohabiting	25,000 (64%)	22,680 (64%)	2,320 (66%)	
Widowed/divorced/separated	9,066 (18%)	7,823 (17%)	1,243 (28%)	
Never married	7,165 (17%)	6,942 (19%)	223 (5.6%)	
Family PIR, %				<0.001
≤1.0	7,790 (13%)	7,307 (14%)	483 (8.6%)	
1.1–3.0	19,301 (40%)	17,493 (40%)	1,808 (39%)	
>3.0	14,140 (47%)	12,645 (46%)	1,495 (52%)	
Smoking status, %				<0.001
Never smoker	22,345 (54%)	20,669 (55%)	1,676 (45%)	
Former smoker	10,200 (25%)	8,682 (23%)	1,518 (38%)	
Current smoker	8,685 (21%)	8,093 (22%)	592 (17%)	
Drinking status, %				<0.001
Drinker	5,332 (11%)	4,743 (11%)	589 (14%)	
Nondrinker	35,899 (89%)	32,702 (89%)	3,197 (86%)	
Body mass index, %				0.3
Underweight, kg/m ²	647 (1.6%)	585 (1.6%)	62 (1.7%)	
Normal, kg/m ²	11,339 (29%)	10,335 (30%)	1,004 (28%)	
Obese, kg/m ²	13,750 (34%)	12,440 (33%)	1,310 (35%)	
Overweight, kg/m ²	14,761 (35%)	13,454 (35%)	1,307 (35%)	

	Overall, N = 41231 (100%)	Cancer s	DValue	
Characteristics		No, N = 37445 (91%)	Yes, N = 3786 (9.5%)	P Value
Age, years	46.0 (33.0, 59.0)	44.0 (32.0, 57.0)	64.0 (53.0, 75.0)	<0.001
Family PIR	2.98 (1.49, 5.00)	2.93 (1.46, 5.00)	3.40 (1.81, 5.00)	<0.001
BMI , kg/m2	28 (24, 32)	28 (24, 32)	28 (24, 32)	0.3
Waist Circumference (cm)	97 (87, 108)	97 (86, 108)	100 (90, 111)	<0.001
Self-reported hypertension, %	14,286 (31%)	12,162 (29%)	2,124 (51%)	<0.001
Self-reported diabetes, %	6,124 (11%)	5,305 (10%)	819 (17%)	<0.001
MET minute/week	1,890 (0, 5,460)	2,100 (0, 5,460)	1,680 (0, 5,040)	<0.001
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	14.30 (13.30, 15.40)	14.40 (13.40, 15.40)	14.10 (13.20, 14.90)	<0.001
Albumin (g/dL)	4.30 (4.10, 4.50)	4.30 (4.10, 4.50)	4.20 (4.00, 4.40)	<0.001
Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L)	246 (209, 290)	247 (210, 291)	235 (198, 280)	<0.001
Lymphocyte count (10 ⁹ /L)	2.00 (1.60, 2.50)	2.00 (1.70, 2.50)	1.80 (1.50, 2.40)	<0.001
HDL-C, mg/dl	51 (41, 63)	51 (41, 62)	52 (42, 65)	0.003
Total cholesterol, mg/dl	194 (168, 222)	194 (168, 222)	196 (170, 225)	0.2
HALP score	50 (39, 65)	51 (39, 66)	46 (35, 62)	<0.001
HALP score classifcation				<0.001
Tertile 1	13,606 (31%)	12,012 (30%)	1,594 (40%)	
Tertile 2	13,606 (34%)	12,470 (35%)	1,136 (31%)	
Tertile 3	14,019 (35%)	12,963 (35%)	1,056 (29%)	

TABLE 1 Continued

PIR, poverty income ratio; HDL-C, High-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HALP score, Hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score.

Continuous variables are described as medians [interquartile ranges]. Categorical variables are presented as numbers (percentages). N reflect the study sample while percentages reflect the survey-weighted.

compared with the lowest tertile for all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality, and respiratory disease mortality among cancer survivors were 0.61 (0.49-0.76), 0.91 (0.70-1.17), 0.67 (0.49-0.91), and 0.60 (0.35-0.97), respectively.

Furthermore, Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed a comprehensive association between HALP scores and both cause-specific and allcause mortality in cancer survivors. Higher HALP scores were correlated with reduced all-cause mortality (p=0.0033), decreased

TABLE 2 Logistic regression analysis between HALP score and prevalence of cancer among adults in NHANES 1999–2018.

		P			
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3	for trend	
Range	<41.41	41.41-58.47	>58.47		
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.69 (0.63, 0.74)	0.61 (0.57, 0.67)	< 0.001	
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.81 (0.74, 0.88)	0.81 (0.75, 0.89)	< 0.001	
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.81 (0.74, 0.88)	0.83 (0.75, 0.89)	< 0.001	

Data are presented as OR (95% CI); Model 1 was adjusted as age (continuous), MET (continuous), sex (male or female), and race/ethnicity (Mexican American, Other Hispanic, Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black or Other); Model 2 was adjusted as model 1 plus education level (below high school, high school, or above high school), family poverty income ratio (<1.0,1.1-3.0, or >3.0), drinking status (nondrinker, drinker), smoking status (never smoker, former smoker, or current smoker), BMI (<18.5, 18.5- 25.0, 25.0-29.9, or >29.9), self-reported diabetes (yes or no), and self-reported hypertension (yes or no).

cancer mortality (p<0.0001), lowered cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality (p<0.0001), and lessened respiratory disease mortality (p=0.00054) among cancer survivors (Figure 2).

3.4 Restricted cubic spline analysis

We employed weighted restricted cubic spline curves to explore the nonlinear relationship between HALP scores and all-cause, as well as cause-specific mortality, while controlling for potential confounders. Illustrated in Figure 3, the restricted cubic spline analysis unveiled a nonlinear association between HALP scores and cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality in cancer survivors (nonlinear P=0.0015). Notably, lower HALP scores were linked to an elevated risk of cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality in this population.

Furthermore, nonlinear associations were also observed between HALP scores and all-cause mortality (nonlinear P<0.0001), cancer mortality (nonlinear P<0.0001), and respiratory disease mortality (nonlinear P<0.0001) in cancer survivors. Importantly, the results of the two linear regressions indicated that the probability of all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, and respiratory disease mortality progressively decreased to the lowest point at HALP scores of 47.24, 42.47, and 45.04, respectively, before increasing with rising HALP scores.

	HALP score			P for trend		
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3			
All-cause mortality						
No. deaths/total	670/1594	357/1136	312/1056			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.63 (0.54, 0.74)	0.58 (0.49, 0.68)	<0.001		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.66 (0.54, 0.80)	0.68 (0.55, 0.83)	<0.001		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.64 (0.51, 0.79)	0.61 (0.49, 0.76)	<0.001		
Cancer mortality						
No. deaths/total	190/1594	97/1136	110/1056			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.69 (0.53, 0.89)	0.86 (0.67, 1.10)	0.016		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.72 (0.56, 0.94)	0.95 (0.73, 1.22)	0.040		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.72 (0.55, 0.93)	0.91 (0.70,1.17)	0.038		
Cardio–cerebrovascular d	isease mortality					
No. deaths/total	196/1368	94/1367	77/1367			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.64 (0.50, 0.83)	0.56 (0.42, 0.74)	<0.001		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.72 (0.54, 0.95)	0.70 (0.52, 0.95)	0.019		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.70 (0.52, 0.92)	0.67 (0.49, 0.91)	0.008		
Respiratory disease morta	lity					
No. deaths/total	62/1368	20/1367	23/1367			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.44 (0.26, 0.72)	0.55 (0.33, 0.88)	0.002		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.50 (0.30, 0.80)	0.67 (0.41, 1.07)	0.011		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.47 (0.27, 0.78)	0.60 (0.35, 0.97)	0.006		

TABLE 3 Cox regression analysis between HALP score and long-term mortality among cancer survivor in NHANES 1999-2018.

Data are presented as HR (95% CI); Model 1 was adjusted as age (continuous), MET (continuous), sex (male or female), and race/ethnicity (Mexican American, Other Hispanic, Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black or Other); Model 2 was adjusted as model 1 plus education level (below high school, high school, or above high school), family poverty income ratio (\leq 1.0,1.1-3.0, or >3.0), drinking status (nondrinker, drinker), smoking status (never smoker, former smoker, or current smoker), BMI (<18.5, 18.5- 25.0, 25.0-29.9, or >29.9), self-reported diabetes (yes or no), and self-reported hypertension (yes or no).

3.5 Subgroup analyses

To further evaluate the robustness of the relationship between HALP scores and all-cause, as well as cause-specific mortality in cancer survivors, subgroup analyses were conducted based on sex, age, BMI, smoking, hypertension status, and diabetes status. The findings indicated a largely consistent dose-response relationship between HALP scores and all-cause and cause-specific mortality across subgroups, particularly in all-cause mortality. However, the association between HALP scores and cancer mortality in the subgroup analyses was less pronounced (Table 4). Moreover, no statistically significant interaction p-values were detected (Table 4).

To delve deeper into the influence of HALP scores across different tumor types, subgroup analyses were conducted according to tumor classification. Results presented in Table 5 indicate a notable impact of HALP scores on all-cause mortality among patients with thyroid and breast cancers, as well as those with tumors of the digestive system, and skin and soft tissue tumors. This observation suggests a tumor-specific effect of HALP scores on cancer survivors.

4 Discussion

In our cross-sectional study spanning 1999 to 2018, we investigated the association between HALP scores and cancer prevalence, as well as long-term mortality in the US population. Following adjustment for multiple variables, a significant negative relationship emerged between HALP score and cancer incidence. Among cancer survivors, we observed a notable nonlinear association between HALP score and all-cause, as well as causespecific mortality (including cancer, cardio-cerebrovascular disease, and respiratory disease mortality), with higher HALP scores correlating with reduced mortality rates. Notably, HALP scores of 47.24, 42.47, and 45.04 corresponded to the lowest all-cause, cancer, and respiratory disease mortality, respectively. Kaplan-Meier analysis further revealed that lower HALP scores were associated with shorter survival times among cancer survivors. Importantly, these findings remained robust across multiple subgroup analyses. In addition, subgroup analyses based on different types of cancer revealed that the effect of HALP scores on all-cause mortality in cancer survivors may be tumor-specific. Overall, our results suggest



that HALP score holds significant potential as a valuable predictor of outcomes for cancer survivors.

Immunity and nutrition play pivotal roles in cancer development and progression. Chronic inflammation is known to be carcinogenic, contributing to increased stem cell proliferation and local mutagenic effects through long-term cell turnover stimulation (10, 31, 32). The relationship between neoplasia and the immune system is encapsulated in the '3E hypothesis,' which delineates the stages of initial elimination of transformed cells by immunological effector cells, followed by equilibrium between malignant cells and the immune response within a smoldering neoplastic lesion, and ultimately, the escape of cancer cells from immunological control (33). Systemic inflammation, a hallmark of the tumor microenvironment, significantly influences disease progression and prognosis in cancer survivors (34, 35). Numerous studies have investigated various systemic inflammatory biomarkers and have demonstrated their high predictive value for the prognosis of different cancer types (36-40).

Malnutrition is often linked to tumor progression, stemming from inadequate nutritional intake, increased tumor consumption, or the effects of anticancer therapy. International point prevalence studies report malnutrition rates ranging from 31% to 39% among lower gastrointestinal cancer patients (41, 42). Malnutrition can compromise immunity, trigger metabolic disturbances, and diminish treatment tolerance in cancer survivors, all of which can influence the efficacy of oncological treatment and patient prognosis (43, 44). A study investigating penile cancer patients undergoing inguinal lymph node dissection (ILND) revealed that the preoperative albumin alkaline phosphatase ratio (AAPR) reliably predicts pathologic lymph node-positive (pN+) status (45). Similarly, in bladder cancer patients, an elevated preoperative fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio (FAR) has been identified as a potential predictor of malignancy and advanced grade (46). These findings underscore the significant predictive role of nutritional status in cancer patients.

The significance of inflammatory response and nutritional status in cancer prognosis is increasingly recognized. Nøst et al. (47) analyzed the UK Biobank data and found that the systemic immune-inflammatory index (SII), neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and platelet-to-lymphocyte ratio (PLR) correlated positively with the risk of 7 out of 17 cancers, while the lymphocyte-tomonocyte ratio (LMR) correlated negatively. Ouyang et al. (48) identified preoperative SII as an independent prognostic marker in pediatric osteosarcoma. Regarding nutrition, Kheirouri et al. (49) linked high preoperative Controlling Nutritional Status (CONUT) scores to lower overall survival (OS) and cancer-specific survival (CSS) across various cancers. Another study validated the Cholesterol-modified Prognostic Nutritional Index (CPNI) for predicting breast cancer prognosis (50). These findings highlight the combined impact of inflammation and nutrition on cancer outcomes, suggesting that effective prognostic models should integrate both factors.

HALP scores, derived from hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet levels, serve as indicators of the host's inflammatory and nutritional status. Hemoglobin, a pivotal factor in tumor progression, is frequently depleted in cancer survivors,



contributing to hypoxia (51), a driver of tumor advancement and treatment resistance (52). Numerous studies have established a correlation between hemoglobin levels in cancer patients and both survival outcomes and disease progression (53-55).

Serum albumin, synthesized by the liver, constitutes a crucial component of total serum protein and reflects the host's inflammatory and nutritional profile. Hypoalbuminemia, stemming from malnutrition, hypermetabolism, systemic inflammation, or heightened cytokine release, compromises the immune response to cancer cells (56). Extensive research has underscored the association between hypoalbuminemia and poor survival across various cancer types (57, 58).

Moreover, lymphocytes play a pivotal role in the host's anticancer defense mechanisms. They secrete cytokines such as interferon- γ and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), which enhance prognosis by inducing apoptosis and impeding cancer cell proliferation, invasion, and migration (59, 60). Consequently, a decline in lymphocyte levels correlates with a poorer prognosis for cancer survivors.

Additionally, recent research suggests that platelets participate in various signaling pathways implicated in tumor immunity and progression (61). Several studies have demonstrated that elevated pretreatment platelet counts are associated with reduced survival rates in cancer patients (62–64). Taken together, these findings underscore the potential of the HALP score as a valuable prognostic tool for assessing cancer survivors.

The HALP score has demonstrated promising prognostic value across various cancer types, including gastric cancer (9), esophageal squamous cell carcinoma (65), colorectal cancer (19), renal cell carcinoma (66), bladder cancer (20), and small cell lung cancer (67). However, the association between HALP scores and the risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality across all cancer types remains unexplored. Using NHANES 1999-2018 data, our study unveiled a significant nonlinear relationship between HALP scores and all-cause and cause-specific mortality. Higher HALP scores were consistently associated with reduced all-cause and cause-specific mortality. Notably, HALP scores of 47.24, 42.47, and 45.04 were linked to the lowest levels of all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, and respiratory disease mortality, respectively. Our study bridges this gap in research and provides an invaluable tool for the treatment and management of cancer survivors.

Although survival rates for cancer survivors remain poor, improvements in treatment strategies and care have positively impacted the prognosis of cancer survivors. With increased survival, non-cancer causes of death have become more and more important. In Japan, the reported number of deaths from cancer in 2021 was 381,505 (26.5%) among cancer survivals, and cancer was still the leading cause of death, however, heart disease was the

TABLE 4 Subgroup analysis of HALP score and long-term mortality among cancer survivor in NHANES 1999–2018.

		HALP score P for trend			P for interaction
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3		
All-cause morta	ality				
Age					0.835
<60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.55 (0.31, 0.95)	0.52 (0.30, 0.87)	0.025	
>60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.62 (0.51, 0.75)	0.58 (0.47, 0.71)	<0.001	
Sex					0.719
Male	1.00 [Reference]	0.59 (0.45, 0.76)	0.56 (0.43, 0.74)	<0.001	
Female	1.00 [Reference]	0.69 (0.46, 1.03)	0.64 (0.41, 0.99)	0.037	
BMI					0.364
<25.0	1.00 [Reference]	0.56 (0.37, 0.85)	0.85 (0.55, 1.31)	0.024	
25.0-29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.71 (0.51, 0.98)	0.75 (0.53, 1.06)	0.079	
>29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.74 (0.50, 1.09)	0.55 (0.36, 0.82)	0.015	
Smoke	1	1	1	1	0.586
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.68 (0.53, 0.87)	0.61 (0.47, 0.78)	<0.001	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.58 (0.38, 0.87)	0.67 (0.43, 1.03)	0.021	
Diabetes	I	I	ł		0.389
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.75 (0.51, 1.09)	0.64 (0.43, 0.95)	0.037	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.61 (0.47, 0.79)	0.64 (0.49, 0.84)	<0.001	
Hypertension		ł	ł		0.158
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.73 (0.56, 0.96)	0.62 (0.46, 0.82)	0.002	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.55 (0.39, 0.76)	0.70 (0.49, 0.98)	0.001	
Cancer mortalit	у				
Age					0.711
<60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.80 (0.36, 1.69)	0.76 (0.36, 1.60)	0.700	
>60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.68 (0.51, 0.91)	0.90 (0.68, 1.18)	0.028	
Sex	I				0.640
Male	1.00 [Reference]	0.69 (0.49, 0.96)	0.81 (0.59, 1.13)	0.041	
Female	1.00 [Reference]	0.76 (0.50, 1.16)	1.03 (0.67, 1.57)	0.400	
BMI					0.306
<25.0	1.00 [Reference]	0.78 (0.47, 1.28)	1.14 (0.69, 1.84)	0.400	
25.0-29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.87 (0.55, 1.36)	1.19 (.76, 1.86)	0.500	
>29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.63 (0.39, 0.98)	0.73 (0.46, 1.13)	0.100	
Smoke					0.662
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.72 (0.52, 0.98)	0.86 (0.63, 1.17)	0.120	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.71 (0.44, 1.11)	1.07 (0.68, 1.67)	0.200	
Diabetes	!		!	!	0.263
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.86 (0.51, 1.44)	0.82 (0.47, 1.40)	0.700	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.69 (0.51, 0.93)	1.00 (0.75, 1.34)	0.032	

TABLE 4 Continued

Cancer mortality Hypertension Yes No	Tertile 1 1.00 [Reference] 1.00 [Reference] ar disease mortality	Tertile 2 0.76 (0.54, 1.05)	Tertile 3					
Hypertension Yes No Cardio-cerebrovascula	1.00 [Reference]							
Yes No Cardio-cerebrovascula	1.00 [Reference]							
No Cardio-cerebrovascula	1.00 [Reference]				0.921			
Cardio-cerebrovascula			0.95 (0.68, 1.31)	0.200				
	ar disease mortality	0.71 (0.46, 1.08)	0.96 (0.63, 1.45)	0.200				
Age		Cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality						
5					0.711			
<60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.46 (0.17, 1.14)	0.17 (0.04, 0.50)	0.004				
>60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.67 (0.51, 0.88)	0.65 (0.49, 0.87)	0.002				
Sex					0.640			
Male	1.00 [Reference]	0.65 (0.43, 0.97)	0.68 (0.44, 1.02)	0.045				
Female	1.00 [Reference]	0.77 (0.52, 1.11)	0.64 (0.41, 0.98)	0.044				
BMI					0.306			
<25.0	1.00 [Reference]	0.66 (0.39, 1.08)	0.85 (0.51, 1.38)	0.300				
25.0-29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.60 (0.36, 0.99)	0.67 (0.38, 1.15)	0.100				
>29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.85 (0.53, 1.35)	0.60 (0.36, 1.00)	0.150				
Smoke					0.662			
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.75 (0.52, 1.07)	0.78 (0.53, 1.12)	0.200				
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.66 (0.43, 0.98)	0.55 (0.34, 0.88)	0.016				
Diabetes					0.263			
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.61 (0.36, 1.01)	0.64 (0.37, 1.07)	0.094				
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.77 (0.54, 1.09)	0.70 (0.47, 1.02)	0.120				
Hypertension					0.921			
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.76 (0.55, 1.05)	0.71 (0.50, 1.01)	0.010				
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.60 (0.33, 1.08)	0.63 (0.33, 1.17)	0.200				
Respiratory disease mo	ortality							
Age					0.798			
<60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.22 (0.04, 0.90)	0.29 (0.08, 0.99)	0.035				
>60 years	1.00 [Reference]	0.47 (0.27, 0.79)	0.61 (0.35, 1.02)	0.010				
Sex					0.395			
Male	1.00 [Reference]	0.28 (0.12, 0.58)	0.39 (0.19, 0.77)	<0.001				
Female	1.00 [Reference]	0.67 (0.37, 1.17)	0.78 (0.43, 1.39)	0.300				
BMI					0.313			
<25.0	1.00 [Reference]	0.36 (0.14, 0.80)	0.40 (0.16, 0.88)	0.011				
25.0-29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.62 (0.22, 1.61)	0.71 (0.25, 1.86)	0.600				
>29.9	1.00 [Reference]	0.38 (0.11, 1.04)	0.76 (0.30, 1.80)	0.200				
Smoke					0.981			
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.49 (0.27, 0.87)	0.60 (0.33, 1.05)	0.030				
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.43 (0.08, 1.55)	0.64 (0.15, 2.14)	0.400				

TABLE 4 Continued

	HALP score			P for trend	P for interaction
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3		
Respiratory disease mortality					
Diabetes					0.077
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.90 (0.28, 2.66)	1.75 (0.65, 4,79)	0.400	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.39 (0.19, 0.72)	0.40 (0.19, 0.75)	0.001	
Hypertension	0.499				
Yes	1.00 [Reference]	0.36 (0.16, 0.75)	0.57 (0.28, 1.10)	0.016	
No	1.00 [Reference]	0.62 (0.31, 1.17)	0.59 (0.28, 1.17)	0.200	

Data are presented as HR (95% CI), which was adjusted as age (continuous), MET (continuous), sex (male or female), race/ethnicity (Mexican American, Other Hispanic, Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black or Other), education level (below high school, high school, or above high school), family poverty income ratio ($\leq 1.0, 1.1-3.0$, or >3.0), drinking status (nondrinker, drinker), smoking status (never smoker, former smoker, or current smoker), BMI (< 18.5, 18.5- 25.0, 25.0-29.9, or >29.9), self-reported diabetes (yes or no), and self-reported hypertension (yes or no). In addition, the corresponding subgroup analyses require the exclusion of the corresponding variables (e.g., age subgroup analyses require the exclusion of age).

TABLE 5 Subgroup analysis by cancer of HALP score and all-cause mortality among cancer survivor in NHANES 1999–2018.

		P for trend				
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3			
Breast and Thyroid	Breast and Thyroid					
No. deaths/total	118/639	48/639	37/639			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.65 (0.41, 1.01)	0.54 (0.36, 0.80)	0.005		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.76 (0.44, 1.31)	0.53 (0.32, 0.85)	0.031		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.67 (0.37, 1.19)	0.49 (0.29, 0.82)	0.021		
Urinary system						
No. deaths/total	174/773	98/773	81/773			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.77 (0.55, 1.08)	0.68 (0.48, 0.97)	0.075		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.76 (0.52, 1.10)	0.93 (0.63, 1.38)	0.3		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.71 (0.48, 1.05)	0.84 (0.56, 1.27)	0.2		
Digestive system						
No. deaths/total	103/363	46/363	32/363			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.70 (0.42, 1.14)	0.51 (0.30, 0.87)	0.038		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.59 (0.34, 1.03)	0.47 (0.26, 0.84)	0.023		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.54 (0.29, 1.00)	0.39 (0.20, 0.74)	0.009		
Reproductive system						
No. deaths/total	51/563	31/563	23/563			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.73 (0.44, 1.20)	0.52 (0.30, 0.89)	0.052		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.88 (0.48, 1.58)	0.75 (0.39, 1.40)	0.7		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.75 (0.34, 1.60)	0.48 (0.20, 1.13)	0.2		
Skin and Soft tissue						
No. deaths/total	190/1251	130/1251	114/1251			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.67 (0.51, 0.89)	0.57 (0.43, 0.76)	<0.001		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.75 (0.61, 1.07)	0.68 (0.56, 0.89)	0.03		

TABLE 5 Continued

	HALP score			P for trend		
	Tertile 1	Tertile 2	Tertile 3			
Skin and Soft tissue	Skin and Soft tissue					
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.78 (0.56, 1.08)	0.66 (0.47, 0.93)	0.047		
Other						
No. deaths/total	86/417	34/417	44/417			
Crude	1.00 [Reference]	0.53 (0.32, 0.87)	0.56 (0.35, 0.89)	0.011		
Model 1	1.00 [Reference]	0.67 (0.37, 1.20)	0.72 (0.41, 1.24)	0.3		
Model 2	1.00 [Reference]	0.68 (0.36, 1.26)	0.60 (0.33, 1.07)	0.2		

Data are presented as HR (95% CI); Model 1 was adjusted as age (continuous), MET (continuous), sex (male or female), and race/ethnicity (Mexican American, Other Hispanic, Non-Hispanic White, Non-Hispanic Black or Other); Model 2 was adjusted as model 1 plus education level (below high school, high school, or above high school), family poverty income ratio (\leq 1.0,1.1-3.0, or >3.0), drinking status (nondrinker, drinker), smoking status (never smoker, former smoker, or current smoker), BMI (<18.5, 18.5- 25.0, 25.0-29.9, or >29.9), self-reported diabetes (yes or no), and self-reported hypertension (yes or no).

second highest cause of death, accounting for as high as 214,710 (14.91%) recorded deaths, followed by cerebrovascular disease (104,595 deaths, 7.26%) (68). As a result, the proportion of noncancer mortality among cancer survivors will increase in the future. Thus, a valuable predictive parameter must properly predict not only the risk of all-cause and cancer mortality in cancer survivors but also the risk of non-cancer mortality. To our knowledge, our study represents the first comprehensive investigation into the relationship between HALP scores and all-cause and causespecific mortality among cancer survivors. Our findings demonstrate significant associations between HALP scores and all-cause mortality, cancer mortality, cardio-cerebrovascular disease mortality, and respiratory disease mortality in this population. Our study introduces a reliable monitoring metric for the management of cancer survivors, facilitating accurate prognosis prediction and enabling timely interventions that can markedly enhance their outcomes.

An interesting observation in our results is that we found a significant effect of the HALP score on all-cause mortality in patients with breast cancer, thyroid cancer, digestive system tumors, and skin and soft-tissue tumors, suggesting that its effect varies across tumor types. Consistent with prior research, Zhao et al. demonstrated the HALP score's independent prognostic value in early-stage breast cancer, correlating with poorer recurrence-free survival (69). Similarly, Duzkopru et al. identified the HALP score as a prognostic indicator in patients with metastatic gastric cancer (70). These findings underscore the tumor-specific impact of the HALP score on cancer survivors, warranting further investigation into its underlying mechanisms. In addition, in our subgroup analysis, we found a consistently robust correlation between HALP score and all-cause mortality in cancer survivors. However, certain specific mortality results did not reach significance, likely due to the limited data available. Therefore, additional validation through large-scale studies is necessary.

Our study demonstrates several strengths. Firstly, our cohort analysis draws from ten NHANES cycles spanning 1999 to 2018, ensuring robustness with ample data and a lengthy investigative period. Secondly, our choice of the HALP score as a parameter offers a comprehensive assessment of both inflammation and nutritional status, surpassing single inflammation metrics. This approach enriches the evaluation of cancer survivors' physical well-being and enhances outcome prediction reliability. Thirdly, our study pioneers the comprehensive examination of HALP scores' association with all-cause and specific mortalities in cancer survivors, including cancer, cardio-cerebrovascular disease, and respiratory disease mortalities. These findings provide invaluable insights for prognostic management in this population. Lastly, employing diverse analytical methodologies such as RCS nonlinear analysis, subgroup scrutiny, and Kaplan-Meier analysis further consolidates the HALP score's validity as a reliable mortality risk indicator for cancer survivors.

Several limitations must be acknowledged in our study. Firstly, NHANES data relies on self-reports from patients, which could introduce recall bias. Secondly, despite our efforts to adjust for known confounding factors such as age, gender, and smoking status, there may still be unidentified confounders affecting our results. Thirdly, the HALP score utilized in our study was derived from a single complete blood count parameter and serum albumin measurement, which may not fully capture individuals' overall health status, potentially leading to bias.

5 Conclusions

By conducting a comprehensive survey of cancer survivors across the United States, our study unveiled a significant nonlinear relationship between HALP scores and both all-cause and causespecific mortality. Elevated HALP scores were consistently associated with lower long-term mortality rates among cancer survivors. Therefore, the HALP score emerges as a practical and cost-effective tool for identifying high-risk groups within this population. Our findings underscore the promising potential of HALP scores in prognosticating outcomes for cancer survivors, offering valuable insights for clinical decision-making in this demographic.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material. Further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving humans were approved by the NCHS Ethics Review Committee. The studies were conducted in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin.

Author contributions

JF: Conceptualization, Data curation, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. XY: Formal analysis, Methodology, Validation, Writing – original draft. YZ: Methodology, Validation, Writing – original draft. JZ: Supervision, Validation, Writing – review & editing. XW: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. DZ: Conceptualization, Investigation, Methodology, Project administration, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article. This study was supported by the Project of medical and health technology development program of Shandong province (202204080217).

Acknowledgments

We appreciate the people who contributed to the NHANES data we studied.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, Soerjomataram I. The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. *Cancer*. (2021) 127:3029–30. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33587

2. Sedeta E, Sung H, Laversanne M, Bray F, Jemal A. Recent mortality patterns and time trends for the major cancers in 47 countries worldwide. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2023) 32:894–905. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-22-1133

3. Siegel RL, Giaquinto AN, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2024. CA Cancer J Clin. (2024) 74:12-49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21820

4. Arnold M, Sierra MS, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, Bray F. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. *Gut.* (2017) 66:683–91. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310912

5. Center MM, Jemal A, Lortet-Tieulent J, Ward E, Ferlay J, Brawley O, et al. International variation in prostate cancer incidence and mortality rates. *Eur Urol.* (2012) 61:1079–92. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2012.02.054

6. Culp MB, Soerjomataram I, Efstathiou JA, Bray F, Jemal A. Recent global patterns in prostate cancer incidence and mortality rates. *Eur Urol.* (2020) 77:38–52. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2019.08.005

 DeSantis CE, Bray F, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Anderson BO, Jemal A. International variation in female breast cancer incidence and mortality rates. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2015) 24:1495–506. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-15-0535

8. Torre LA, Siegel RL, Ward EM, Jemal A. International variation in lung cancer mortality rates and trends among women. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2014) 23:1025–36. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-13-1220

9. Chen XL, Xue L, Wang W, Chen HN, Zhang WH, Liu K, et al. Prognostic significance of the combination of preoperative hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet in patients with gastric carcinoma: a retrospective cohort study. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:41370–82. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5629

10. Zitvogel L, Pietrocola F, Kroemer G. Nutrition, inflammation and cancer. Nat Immunol. (2017) 18:843–50. doi: 10.1038/ni.3754

11. Coussens LM, Werb Z. Inflammation and cancer. Nature. (2002) 420:860-7. doi: 10.1038/nature01322

12. Ravasco P. Nutrition in cancer patients. J Clin Med. (2019) 8. doi: 10.3390/jcm8081211

13. Blasiak J, Chojnacki J, Pawlowska E, Szczepanska J, Chojnacki C. Nutrition in cancer therapy in the elderly-an epigenetic connection? *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:3366. doi: 10.3390/nu12113366

14. Matsushita M, Fujita K, Nonomura N. Influence of diet and nutrition on prostate cancer. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:1447. doi: 10.3390/ijms21041447

15. Shateri Z, Makhtoomi M, Mansouri F, Rajabzadeh-Dehkordi M, Nouri M, Rashidkhani B. The association between empirical dietary inflammatory pattern and colorectal cancer risk: a case-control study. *BMC Nutr.* (2023) 9:136. doi: 10.1186/s40795-023-00797-8

16. Chen K, Yang F, Zhu X, Qiao G, Zhang C, Tao J, et al. Association between proinflammatory diet and liver cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health Nutr.* (2023) 26:2780–9. doi: 10.1017/s1368980023002574

17. Dai YN, Yi-Wen Yu E, Zeegers MP, Wesselius A. The association between dietary inflammatory potential and urologic cancers: A meta-analysis. *Adv Nutr.* (2024) 15:100124. doi: 10.1016/j.advnut.2023.09.012

18. Siracusa F, Tintelnot J, Cortesi F, Gagliani N. Diet and immune response: how today's plate shapes tomorrow's health. *Trends Immunol.* (2024) 45:4–10. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2023.10.010

19. Jiang H, Li H, Li A, Tang E, Xu D, Chen Y, et al. Preoperative combined hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet levels predict survival in patients with locally advanced colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:72076–83. doi: 10.18632/ oncotarget.12271

20. Peng D, Zhang CJ, Gong YQ, Hao H, Guan B, Li XS, et al. Prognostic significance of HALP (hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet) in patients with bladder cancer after radical cystectomy. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:794. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-19146-y

21. Matsui Y, Matsuda A, Maejima A, Shinoda Y, Nakamura E, Komiyama M, et al. The clinical significance of perioperative inflammatory index as a prognostic factor for patients with retroperitoneal soft tissue sarcoma. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2022) 27:1093–100. doi: 10.1007/s10147-022-02150-8

22. Zipf G, Chiappa M, Porter KS, Ostchega Y, Lewis BG, Dostal J. National health and nutrition examination survey: plan and operations, 1999-2010. *Vital Health Stat 1*. (2013) 56):1–37.

23. Shen R, Zou T. The association between cardiovascular health and depression: Results from the 2007-2020 NHANES. *Psychiatry Res.* (2024) 331:115663. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2023.115663

24. Tian M, Li Y, Wang X, Tian X, Pei LL, Wang X, et al. The hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet (HALP) score is associated with poor outcome of acute ischemic stroke. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:610318. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2020.610318

25. Pan H, Lin S. Association of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score with risk of cerebrovascular, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality in the general population: results from the NHANES 1999-2018. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*. (2023) 14:1173399. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2023.1173399

26. Medina HN, Liu Q, Cao C, Yang L. Balance and vestibular function and survival in US cancer survivors. *Cancer*. (2021) 127:4022–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33787

27. Outland B, Newman MM, William MJ. Health policy basics: implementation of the international classification of disease, 10th revision. *Ann Intern Med.* (2015) 163:554–6. doi: 10.7326/m15-1933

28. Obesity: preventing and managing the global epidemic. Report of a WHO consultation. *World Health Organ Tech Rep Ser.* (2000) 894:1–253.

29. Qiu Z, Chen X, Geng T, Wan Z, Lu Q, Li L, et al. Associations of serum carotenoids with risk of cardiovascular mortality among individuals with type 2 diabetes: results from NHANES. *Diabetes Care.* (2022) 45:1453–61. doi: 10.2337/dc21-2371

30. Liang J, Huang S, Jiang N, Kakaer A, Chen Y, Liu M, et al. Association between joint physical activity and dietary quality and lower risk of depression symptoms in US adults: cross-sectional NHANES study. *JMIR Public Health Surveill*. (2023) 9:e45776. doi: 10.2196/45776

31. Schäfer M, Werner S. Cancer as an overhealing wound: an old hypothesis revisited. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2008) 9:628-38. doi: 10.1038/nrm2455

32. Nathan C, Cunningham-Bussel A. Beyond oxidative stress: an immunologist's guide to reactive oxygen species. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:349–61. doi: 10.1038/nri3423

33. Mittal D, Gubin MM, Schreiber RD, Smyth MJ. New insights into cancer immunoediting and its three component phases-elimination, equilibrium and escape. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2014) 27:16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2014.01.004

34. Solinas G, Marchesi F, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, Allavena P. Inflammationmediated promotion of invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* (2010) 29:243– 8. doi: 10.1007/s10555-010-9227-2

35. Greten FR, Grivennikov SI. Inflammation and cancer: triggers, mechanisms, and consequences. *Immunity*. (2019) 51:27–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.025

36. Xie H, Ruan G, Ge Y, Zhang Q, Zhang H, Lin S, et al. Inflammatory burden as a prognostic biomarker for cancer. *Clin Nutr.* (2022) 41:1236–43. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2022.04.019

37. Diem S, Schmid S, Krapf M, Flatz L, Born D, Jochum W, et al. Neutrophil-to-Lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and Platelet-to-Lymphocyte ratio (PLR) as prognostic markers in patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) treated with nivolumab. *Lung Cancer*. (2017) 111:176–81. doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2017.07.024

38. Matsubara T, Takamori S, Haratake N, Fujishita T, Toyozawa R, Ito K, et al. Identification of the best prognostic marker among immunonutritional parameters using serum C-reactive protein and albumin in non-small cell lung cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2021) 28:3046–54. doi: 10.1245/s10434-020-09230-x

39. Wei L, Xie H, Yan P. Prognostic value of the systemic inflammation response index in human Malignancy: A meta-analysis. *Med (Baltimore)*. (2020) 99:e23486. doi: 10.1097/md.00000000023486

40. Efil SC, Guner G, Guven DC, Celikten B, Celebiyev E, Taban H, et al. Prognostic and predictive value of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes in combination with systemic inflammatory markers in colon cancer. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol.* (2023) 47:102171. doi: 10.1016/j.clinre.2023.102171

41. Hébuterne X, Lemarié E, Michallet M, de Montreuil CB, Schneider SM, Goldwasser F. Prevalence of malnutrition and current use of nutrition support in patients with cancer. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2014) 38:196–204. doi: 10.1177/0148607113502674

42. Pressoir M, Desné S, Berchery D, Rossignol G, Poiree B, Meslier M, et al. Prevalence, risk factors and clinical implications of malnutrition in French Comprehensive Cancer Centres. *Br J Cancer.* (2010) 102:966–71. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6605578

43. Yang M, Zhang Q, Ge Y, Tang M, Hu C, Wang Z, et al. Prognostic roles of inflammation- and nutrition-based indicators for female patients with cancer. J Inflamm Res. (2022) 15:3573–86. doi: 10.2147/jir.S361300

44. Maumy L, Harrissart G, Dewaele P, Aljaber A, Bonneau C, Rouzier R, et al. Impact of nutrition on breast cancer mortality and risk of recurrence, a review of the evidence. *Bull Cancer*. (2020) 107:61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.bulcan.2019.08.009

45. Tufano A, Napolitano L, Barone B, Pezone G, Alvino P, Cilio S, et al. Preoperative albumin-to-alkaline phosphatase ratio as an independent predictor of lymph node involvement in penile cancer. *Medicina (Kaunas).* (2024) 60:414. doi: 10.3390/medicina60030414

46. Barone B, Napolitano L, Reccia P, De Luca L, Morra S, Turco C, et al. Preoperative fibrinogen-to-albumin ratio as potential predictor of bladder cancer: A monocentric retrospective study. *Medicina (Kaunas)*. (2022) 58(10):1490. doi: 10.3390/medicina58101490

47. Nøst TH, Alcala K, Urbarova I, Byrne KS, Guida F, Sandanger TM, et al. Systemic inflammation markers and cancer incidence in the UK Biobank. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2021) 36:841–8. doi: 10.1007/s10654-021-00752-6

48. Ouyang H, Wang Z. Predictive value of the systemic immune-inflammation index for cancer-specific survival of osteosarcoma in children. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:879523. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.879523

49. Kheirouri S, Alizadeh M. Prognostic potential of the preoperative controlling nutritional status (CONUT) score in predicting survival of patients with cancer: A systematic review. *Adv Nutr.* (2021) 12:234–50. doi: 10.1093/advances/nmaa102

50. Shi J, Liu T, Ge Y, Liu C, Zhang Q, Xie H, et al. Cholesterol-modified prognostic nutritional index (CPNI) as an effective tool for assessing the nutrition status and predicting survival in patients with breast cancer. *BMC Med.* (2023) 21:512. doi: 10.1186/s12916-023-03225-7

51. Varlotto J, Stevenson MA. Anemia, tumor hypoxemia, and the cancer patient. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. (2005) 63:25–36. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2005.04.049

52. Jing X, Yang F, Shao C, Wei K, Xie M, Shen H, et al. Role of hypoxia in cancer therapy by regulating the tumor microenvironment. *Mol Cancer*. (2019) 18:157. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-1089-9

53. Belcher DA, Ju JA, Baek JH, Yalamanoglu A, Buehler PW, Gilkes DM, et al. The quaternary state of polymerized human hemoglobin regulates oxygenation of breast cancer solid tumors: A theoretical and experimental study. *PloS One.* (2018) 13: e0191275. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0191275

54. Caro JJ, Salas M, Ward A, Goss G. Anemia as an independent prognostic factor for survival in patients with cancer: a systemic, quantitative review. *Cancer.* (2001) 91:2214–21. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(20010615)91:12<2214::AID-CNCR1251>3.0.CO;2-P

55. Xia L, Hu G, Guzzo TJ. Prognostic significance of preoperative anemia in patients undergoing surgery for renal cell carcinoma: A meta-analysis. *Anticancer Res.* (2017) 37:3175–81. doi: 10.21873/anticanres.11677

56. Lucijanic M, Veletic I, Rahelic D, Pejsa V, Cicic D, Skelin M, et al. Assessing serum albumin concentration, lymphocyte count and prognostic nutritional index might improve prognostication in patients with myelofibrosis. *Wien Klin Wochenschr.* (2018) 130:126–33. doi: 10.1007/s00508-018-1318-z

57. Liu X, Meng QH, Ye Y, Hildebrandt MA, Gu J, Wu X. Prognostic significance of pretreatment serum levels of albumin, LDH and total bilirubin in patients with non-metastatic breast cancer. *Carcinogenesis*. (2015) 36:243–8. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgu247

58. Oñate-Ocaña LF, Aiello-Crocifoglio V, Gallardo-Rincón D, Herrera-Goepfert R, Brom-Valladares R, Carrillo JF, et al. Serum albumin as a significant prognostic factor for patients with gastric carcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2007) 14:381–9. doi: 10.1245/s10434-006-9093-x

59. Lim JA, Oh CS, Yoon TG, Lee JY, Lee SH, Yoo YB, et al. The effect of propofol and sevoflurane on cancer cell, natural killer cell, and cytotoxic T lymphocyte function in patients undergoing breast cancer surgery: an *in vitro* analysis. *BMC Cancer*. (2018) 18:159. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4064-8

60. Mantovani A, Allavena P, Sica A, Balkwill F. Cancer-related inflammation. Nature. (2008) 454:436–44. doi: 10.1038/nature07205

61. Lyu J, Yang EJ, Head SA, Ai N, Zhang B, Wu C, et al. Pharmacological blockade of cholesterol trafficking by cepharanthine in endothelial cells suppresses angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Cancer Lett.* (2017) 409:91–103. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.09.009

62. Rao XD, Zhang H, Xu ZS, Cheng H, Shen W, Wang XP. Poor prognostic role of the pretreatment platelet counts in colorectal cancer: A meta-analysis. *Med (Baltimore).* (2018) 97:e10831. doi: 10.1097/md.000000000010831

63. Yuan Y, Zhong H, Ye L, Li Q, Fang S, Gu W, et al. Prognostic value of pretreatment platelet counts in lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2020) 20:96. doi: 10.1186/s12890-020-1139-5

64. Xin-Ji Z, Yong-Gang L, Xiao-Jun S, Xiao-Wu C, Dong Z, Da-Jian Z. The prognostic role of neutrophils to lymphocytes ratio and platelet count in gastric cancer: A meta-analysis. *Int J Surg.* (2015) 21:84–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.07.681

65. Cong L, Hu L. The value of the combination of hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte and platelet in predicting platinum-based chemoradiotherapy response in male patients with esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2017) 46:75–9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.02.027

66. Peng D, Zhang CJ, Tang Q, Zhang L, Yang KW, Yu XT, et al. Prognostic significance of the combination of preoperative hemoglobin and albumin levels and lymphocyte and platelet counts (HALP) in patients with renal cell carcinoma after nephrectomy. *BMC Urol.* (2018) 18:20. doi: 10.1186/s12894-018-0333-8

67. Shen XB, Zhang YX, Wang W, Pan YY. The hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet (HALP) score in patients with small cell lung cancer before first-line treatment with etoposide and progression-free survival. *Med Sci Monit.* (2019) 25:5630–9. doi: 10.12659/msm.917968

68. Fujii M, Morishima T, Nagayasu M, Kudo H, Ohno Y, Sobue T, et al. Cause of death among long-term cancer survivors: the NANDE study. *Healthcare (Basel)*. (2023) 11(6):835. doi: 10.3390/healthcare11060835

69. Zhao Z, Xu L. Prognostic significance of HALP score and combination of peripheral blood multiple indicators in patients with early breast cancer. *Front Oncol.* (2023) 13:1253895. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2023.1253895

70. Duzkopru Y, Kocanoglu A, Dogan O, Sahinli H, Cilbir E, Altinbas M. Hemoglobin, albumin, lymphocyte, and platelet score as a predictor of prognosis in metastatic gastric cancer. *World J Gastrointest Oncol.* (2023) 15:1626–35. doi: 10.4251/wjgo.v15.i9.1626

Frontiers in Pharmacology

Explores the interactions between chemicals and living beings

The most cited journal in its field, which advances access to pharmacological discoveries to prevent and treat human disease.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



